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Useful contact information 

Comments  
We welcome comments about this publication. 

Please contact: 
Chief Executive 
Trust Offices 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust 
Colchester General Hospital 
Turner Road 
Colchester CO4 5JL 

Tel: 01206 746433 | Email: info@colchesterhospital.nhs.uk

www.facebook.com/ColchesterGeneralHospital 
www.facebook.com/EssexCountyHospitalNHS/ 

@ColchesterNHSFT 

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)  
PALS offers confidential, on-the-spot advice and support, helping patients, 
relatives and other visitors to sort out any concerns they may have about their 
care. 
Freephone: 0800 783 7328. Email: pals@colchesterhospital.nhs.uk  

We care, do you?  
It's easy to show you care about the services we provide. Complete an application 
form and register to become a public member of the Trust. Visit our website or 
phone 01206 742347 during office hours. 

General information and inquiries 
Email: info@colchesterhospital.nhs.uk 

Full contact details and more contact information on our website: 
www.colchesterhospital.nhs.uk  

Copies can be provided in Braille,  
large print and foreign language formats 

http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/
mailto:info@colchesterhospital.nhs.uk
http://www.facebook.com/ColchesterGeneralHospital
http://www.facebook.com/EssexCountyHospitalNHS/
mailto:PALS@essexrivers.nhs.uk
mailto:info@essexrivers.nhs.uk
http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/
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“I’ve got my life back – thank you” 
Mary, orthopaedic patient, Great Tey Ward | Colchester General Hospital | March 2017 
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Welcome from the Chair   

 
David White 
Chair 

 

 
 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) has had a difficult few 
years, as outlined on the next page in the Chief Executive’s review of the year. 

Since the Chief Executive and I joined the Trust last May, we have been jointly focused 
on improving the quality and consistency of care given to patients against a more 
fundamental review of how the organisation operates. 

What we are clear about is that alongside a concentrated emphasis on internal 
improvements we must look wider afield to ensure the Trust’s future. To this end, we are 
developing a long-term partnership with Ipswich Hospital, an acute hospital of a broadly 
similar size and range of services. Closer links with Ipswich have continued to evolve 
throughout the year and both Boards separately have signalled their intention to 
formalise the arrangement going forward. This work is underway. 

It is important to stress that whilst a partnership with Ipswich will progress, we are clear 
that each hospital trust will need to continue to provide an Emergency Department 
(A&E), Maternity and Acute Medical Services on each site. 

We are having important conversations with our clinicians, commissioners and partners, 
and listening to their views, but no formal decisions have yet been made.  

In the year ahead, we will expand this conversation to patients and patient groups, and a 
wider group of stakeholders, as well as continuing to talk to our own staff about these 
ideas. 

Our approach to the long-term partnership between the trusts is neatly summed up by 
the new vision approved for Colchester by the Board of Directors in October – 
“Delivering great healthcare to every patient, every day”. This vision is underpinned by 
three corporate objectives: 

• acting in the best interests of every patient, every day 

• supporting our workforce to look after every patient, every day 

• achieving clinical, operational and financial resilience. 

There is no doubt that every day, some of our patients receive excellent care and have a 
great patient experience. However, for too long it has been a lottery and our focus is on 
delivering first-class healthcare to every patient consistently. This is the least that our 
patients deserve. 

Finally, I would like to finish by thanking our staff, governors and volunteers, and our 
partner organisations, including those in the third sector, for their enduring support 
throughout 2016/17. I would like to pay particular tribute to two of our governors who 
sadly died during the year. Elaine Smith, public governor for Colchester, and David 
Moore, staff governor, were active and engaged members of the Council whose 
contribution will be missed.  

Whilst it has been a tough year, we believe we have made tangible progress to benefit 
patients. We look forward to continuing to work with all of you on our journey of 
substantial improvement in the year ahead. 

Signed 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
David White    
Chair   
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Performance Report   

Purpose  

 

The purpose of the Performance Report is to inform users and readers of the Annual 
Report and Annual Accounts and to help them to assess how the directors performed in 
their duty to promote the success of the Trust. The report has been prepared in 
accordance with the relevant sections of the Companies Act 2006, as interpreted in the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual. We have also taken account of Monitor 
guidance and the Financial Reporting Council guidance on the Strategic Report 
(November 2015) to ensure that the report is fair, balanced, understandable, 
comprehensive but concise, and forward-looking. 

Chief Executive’s 
review of the year 

A summary of the 
Trust’s performance,  

the key risks to the 
achievements of its 

objectives and how it 
performed  

 

 
Nick Hulme 
Chief Executive 

 

There can be no doubt that 2016/17 was a challenging year for the Trust, having been in 
special measures for well over two years.  

In April, NHS Improvement (NHSI) and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
recommended a long-term partnership between the Trust and Ipswich Hospital. The 
regulators said this arrangement offered Colchester a better route to bring about the 
improvements that patients urgently needed and was the only way of securing services 
for patients long into the future. They made their recommendation after the preliminary 
findings of an unannounced CQC inspection of Colchester General Hospital on 4th-5th 
April showed that services were not of the required quality. 

The following month I was appointed Chief Executive at Colchester and David White was 
appointed Chair, the same roles that we have, and continue to have, at Ipswich Hospital. 
We have embarked on a significant transformation programme to address the CQC’s 
concerns at Colchester going back as far as 2013 and to establish a long-term clinically 
and financially viable plan for both trusts. Working in partnership with stakeholders 
across the health and social care spectrum, we are committed to providing high quality, 
affordable services to patients who use services provided by both organisations. 

During the year, the Trust placed a high priority on quality and quality improvement at 
board, committee and executive level. To take this partnership forward, we 
commissioned a thorough diagnosis and assessment of the Trust’s quality issues and 
carried out a root and branch review of the executive governance structure and the 
accountability and escalation arrangements for the quality of care. This review concluded 
that there were significant issues that needed focused leadership and direction to 
resolve and clear clinical, operational and financial benefits to be gained from 
progressing with the partnership. 

In September we launched Every Patient, Every Day, a transformation programme to 
provide safe, compassionate care to patients each and every day – see the next page. 

The Trust, in common with virtually all hospital trusts, faces many significant challenges, 
including financial and shortages of key clinical staff, including registered nurses, but we 
are not prepared to use these reasons as excuses for failing to achieve the significant 
improvements we must make for the patients we serve. Only by delivering tangible 
outcomes for improvement can the Trust hope to rebuild the public confidence of the 
people of Colchester and surrounding areas.  

In February we published a Strategic Outline Case into the long-term partnership. This 
describes the reasons why change is needed and different ways in which this can 
happen. The next steps will be for the approval of an Outline Business Case (OBC) in 
July 2017 and a Full Business Case (FBC) later in the year. 

The boards of the two trusts are looking at different ways in which the organisations can 
work together to improve care for patients and create a more sustainable future for both 
partners. This could happen through sharing some resources like staff, equipment or 
space. We are keen to exchange best practice in caring for our patients and for both 
trusts to get the best of what the other can offer. 

We have not yet achieved full compliance with the key national performance indicators 
but the Trust’s performance has, in the main, shown significant improvement and the 
position at the end of March is better than it was in March 2016 in most cases.  

Financially, the Trust has shown stronger performance, ending the year with a deficit of 
£18.9m, which was better than the 2015/16 deficit of £38.3m and £12.8m favourable to 
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plan.  

As well as the long-term partnership, the Colchester and Ipswich trusts are just two of 
the 26 organisations involved in the Suffolk and North East Essex Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP), which was published in November. This is about the 
health and social care sector working in a more joined-up way to make sure that by 2021 
the one million people living in Suffolk (excluding Waveney) and north east Essex will 
have healthier, happier lives and are better supported to look after their own wellbeing. 

We remain confident that by linking the Trust’s future with that of Ipswich Hospital, both 
organisations can learn from the best that the other has to offer, improve and sustain 
quality across all parts of both organisations and develop a strategy for a long-term 
sustainable future for health care for the communities we both serve. 

Signed 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Nick Hulme  
Chief Executive 
   

 

Every Patient, Every Day    

Every Patient, 
Every Day   

 
“Every Patient, Every Day” is the name of the transformation programme that the Trust 
established to provide safe, compassionate care to patients each and every day.  

It was launched in September as a programme of clinical, operational and financial 
improvement to improve the quality of care, increase efficiency and deliver financial 
sustainability. 

It has 11 workstreams and while it has resulted in improvements in some areas, we have 
been frustrated by the slow pace of progress in others.  

The programme has centred on three key modules of work: 

• quality and governance 
• operational turnaround and Cost Improvement Plan (CIP) delivery 
• cross-cutting improvements. 

http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/
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A state-of-the-art Mobile Chemotherapy Unit, provided by cancer charity Hope for 
Tomorrow, went into service in July to deliver treatment to patients closer to where they 
live.  

The units cost Hope for Tomorrow £260,000 to build and launch, and the East Essex unit was 
the 11th to be put into operation. It visits Tiptree, Clacton, Halstead and Stanway, with further 
locations to be added as the service develops. About 10 to 15 patients a day benefit from the 
new mobile service. 

TOP: The unit is named after Maureen Dore, a nurse and long-term supporter of the charity who 
died in 2010. ABOVE LEFT: Maureen's sister, Liz Burton, with her two sons, cutting the ribbon at 

the official launch. RIGHT: Some of the Trust staff who work on the unit. 
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Statement of Purpose and Activities  

Our vision and 
strategy 

 

The Trust's new vision was approved at a meeting of our Board of Directors on 27 
October 2016: 

"Delivering great healthcare to every patient, every day" 

The new vision is underpinned by three corporate objectives (see below) and is also 
aligned with Caring with pride, our three-year nursing and midwifery strategy which 
we launched in May 2015. 

Acting in the best interests of every patient, every day 

• to deliver care in the right place at the right time in line with national best 
practice 

• to ensure a positive patient experience at every contact by providing safe, 
effective, kind and compassionate care 

• to achieve sustainable quality improvements in the delivery of care. 

Supporting our workforce to look after every patient, every day 

• to deliver a positive patient-centred culture of great care for patients 

• to engage, support and develop staff to achieve their potential 

• to train and support all staff to take personal responsibility and accountability 
for their actions and the actions of others to drive organisational success. 

Achieving clinical, operational and financial resilience 

• to develop constructive relationships with partner organisations to deliver 
sustainable and effective care for patients 

• to deliver consistently and sustainably against national and local priorities 

• to maximise value for money in delivering healthcare in our locality. 

We use our "Friends and Family Test" to measure this vision. 

The people we serve 
 

Colchester is the largest town in north east Essex. It is a largely affluent area with 
relatively low unemployment and above average life expectancy. The Tendring 
peninsula is more rural and has a much higher concentration of elderly and 
economically less well-off people. Colchester is home to one of the largest UK 
garrisons. The Trust values its relationship with the garrison and has developed a 
number of collaborative arrangements to provide services to service personnel and 
their families and to integrate garrison clinical staff into service provision at the Trust.  

The Trust has developed good relationships with members and officers at Essex 
County Council, Colchester Borough Council, Tendring District Council and MPs in 
the area it serves. The Trust serves a local population of about 370,000, 
predominantly from the local authority areas of Colchester, Tendring and part of 
Braintree. 

Our services 

 

 

The Trust provides a range of patient services: 

 2016/17 2015/16 
Outpatient attendances*1 428,221 493,958 

Accident & Emergency patients* 87,313 82,189 
Inpatient and day case admissions*† 95,728 95,339 

Babies born 3,628 3,726 

*Source: figures taken from Trust commissioned activity  

 Outpatient attendances include first, follow-up appointments and procedures 

                                                           
1 The reduction in attendances is due mainly to some services (eg outpatient physiotherapy, pain management) 
transferring from the Trust on 1 April 2016 (the Care Closer to Home project) 
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carried out on an outpatient basis 

 † Inpatient and day case admissions include day cases, electives, non-electives and 
regular day attenders (RDAs) 

Our staff  
 

The Trust is one of the largest employers in north east Essex, employing 4,314 
people on 31 March 2017.  

History of the Trust  

Our sites 
 

The Trust owns and manages Colchester General Hospital, which opened in 1984, 
and Essex County Hospital, which was established in 1820. It has long been the 
strategy of this Trust and our predecessor organisations to centralise acute services 
at Colchester General Hospital. The transfer of services from Essex County Hospital 
to Colchester General Hospital and into the community is scheduled to be completed 
in 2018. 

Our pathology laboratory services were provided by the Pathology Partnership, a joint 
venture between six NHS trusts in the East of England, including Colchester, that 
came together to modernise delivery of pathology services for hospitals, GPs and 
patients. During the course of the year, pathology services that had been provided on 
the site of the former Severalls Hospital were relocated to Colchester General 
Hospital. For more information about pathology services, see The Pathology 
Partnership on page 38. 

The Trust also provides some services, such as outpatient and maternity services, at 
the community hospitals in Clacton, Harwich and Halstead, community midwifery 
services and a limited range of other community services. 

Our history as a 
Foundation Trust 

The Trust became an NHS foundation trust in May 2008 when the former Essex 
Rivers Healthcare NHS Trust, which had been in place since 1992, was authorised to 
become Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust. 
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Key Issues and Risks  

Key issues  
 

Achieving our strategic objective of long-term financial sustainability and 
organisational resilience has been challenging. The Trust has not delivered the 
quality and safety standards demanded by the CQC, is not delivering national 
performance standards and our long-term financial health is challenging.  

In April 2016, the CQC’s Chief Inspector of Hospitals wrote to the Secretary of State 
for Health to outline continuing concerns about culture, practice and leadership at the 
Trust, raising significant concerns regarding the lack of improvement and stating that 
he did not have confidence in the ability of the Trust’s Board of Directors to address 
the issues highlighted in his letter. 

The Trust responded by working with NHS Improvement and Ipswich Hospital to 
develop a credible plan for a sustainable future for the services we provide to the 
370,000 population we serve. Following an in-depth diagnostic, an improvement 
programme called “Every Patient, Every Day” was established to tackle the main 
priorities to improve patient care and to develop a long-term partnership between the 
Trust and Ipswich Hospital in order to secure sustainable improvements in patient 
care and organisational resilience. 

Risks The causes of the risks and the mitigating actions are described in more detail in the 
Annual Governance Statement on page 99 but, in brief, the principal risks to the 
Trust’s strategic objectives are as follows: 

• growth in activity in excess of planned capacity, resulting in missed targets, 
breached standards and attendant fines 

• failure to mitigate the variance and volatility in financial performance against 
plan  

• failure to ensure that patients who are near to the end of life and those who 
are close to them are being supported adequately 

• failure of the Pathology Partnership, leaving the Trust vulnerable to 
inadequate or absent pathology services 

• failure to deliver the necessary remedial action to exit special measures  

• failure to ensure sufficient staff are recruited to meet the requirements of 
increased activity and acuity. 

Going Concern Disclosure  

Going concern 
statement 

 

 

The directors have made an assessment of the Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. For 
the financial year beginning 1 April 2017, the Trust has forecast a deficit of £22.1m 
and within this forecast is a cost improvement programme requiring £17m of 
efficiencies and savings. In order to fund this deficit, the directors are seeking interim 
financial support for 2017 of at least £22.5m from the Department of Health through 
NHS Improvement, confirmation of which is awaited at the time of producing this 
report.  

Although these factors represent material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, the directors, having 
made appropriate inquiries, still have reasonable expectation that the Trust will have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
As directed by the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual 2016/17, the 
directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis as they 
consider that the services currently provided by the Trust will continue to be provided 
in the foreseeable future. On this basis, the Trust has adopted the going concern 
basis for preparing the accounts and has not included the adjustments that would 
result if it was unable to continue as a going concern. 
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Five extra clinic rooms were opened at Colchester General Hospital following a £120,000 
investment.  

The extension increased the total number of outpatient clinic rooms in the hospital’s Children’s 
Unit to 14 and means that more children can see specialists in a purpose-built, child-friendly 
environment. 

TOP: Tracy Girling, Children's Outpatients Supervisor, in the reception area. LEFT: Healthcare 
Assistant Hayley Jeffries (left) and Louise Whiten, Deputy Sister, in one of the five new rooms. 

RIGHT: Dr Andrea Turner, Consultant Paediatrician and Lead Paediatrician. 
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Performance Analysis  

Introduction  
 

This section provides more detail about the Trust’s performance and provides more 
information on our most important performance metrics, including finance, activity, 
quality and our future plans, including plans relating to regulatory compliance. 

 CQC Inspections  

Background  The CQC carried out a comprehensive inspection of the Trust in September 2015 
and published its findings in January 2016. 

Findings  

 

The inspection assigned an overall rating of “Inadequate” for the Trust. There were 
concerns about capacity and staffing and a failure to have fully addressed the 
improvements identified at the previous comprehensive inspection in May 2014, 
particularly with regard to the maintenance of medical equipment. The inspectors 
also noted a deterioration in outpatient service provision and end of life care.  

Section 29A and Section 
31 letters  

On 30 December 2015, the Trust was served with a Section 29A letter relating to 
the findings of the September inspection requesting significant improvements by 18 
February 2016.  

A CQC follow-up visit in April 2016, focusing on A&E, Surgery, Medical Care and 
End of Life Care, concluded that the Trust had not made sufficient progress in a 
number of key areas. The CQC continued to have significant concerns about the 
completion of the Five Steps to Safer Surgery checklist, a continuing lack of 
awareness over when to place a patient on the individual care plan for the last days 
of their life and leadership in A&E. Two Section 31 letters were issued, in relation to 
A&E and the safer surgery checklist. These remained in place throughout the year. 

  

Looking ahead to 
2017/18 

The priority actions arising from the CQC report have been incorporated in the 
Trust’s Every Patient, Every Day programme with the aim of establishing and 
maintaining consistent standards of care across the Trust and achieving the 
outcomes associated with such standards. This will ensure safe staffing levels, 
further improvements in governance and leadership, and the continuing 
implementation of measures to ensure all staff are aware of their responsibilities to 
deliver safe, effective, caring and responsive care.  

Monitor Enforcement Undertakings  
Background  

 

The Monitor Enforcement Notices issued to the Trust in 2015/16 remained in force 
during 2016/17. The requirements made in those notices were ongoing throughout 
the year and included the revised Quality Improvement Plan, supported by a 
governance framework and attendance at meetings or conference calls at regular 
intervals, as stipulated by Monitor, to discuss the Trust’s progress on delivering the 
improvement plan. Monitor’s duties transferred to NHS Improvement on 1 April 2016. 
NHSI remains concerned about the Trust’s performance against access targets, 
particularly A&E, and its scope for financial recovery. 

Looking ahead to 
2017/18  

 

The Trust continues to meet the terms of the enforcement undertakings. Achieving 
financial sustainability remains one of the Trust’s biggest challenges and, although 
we have demonstrated an improving position against most national access targets 
relative to other trusts, we are not yet achieving those targets across the board. The 
aim for the Trust in 2017/18 is to continue to make those improvements, supported by 
its leadership team and the involvement and engagement of staff. 

http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/
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Financial Outlook   

Background 

 

  

The Trust incurred a deficit of £18.9m, which was significantly better than its planned 
deficit of £31.7m. This was mainly due to support from the Sustainability and 
Transformation Fund (STF). In 2016/17 the Department of Health introduced STF 
which was to be distributed to providers to support movement to a sustainable 
financial footing based on their financial and operational performance. As a result of 
its good financial performance in 2016/17, the Trust received £16.5m. However, this 
funding is non-recurrent and under the current guidance, the maximum the Trust can 
achieve in 2017/18 is £8.8m. 

Cost Improvement Plans It is the ambition of the Trust to deliver its control total of a deficit of £22.1m in 
2017/18 although it recognises this will be extremely challenging. To reach this 
control total, it will be necessary for the Trust to achieve a £17m cost improvement 
saving (in 2016/17, £7.1m was achieved).  

Recognising the size of the challenge that it is facing, in September 2016 the Trust 
launched the Every Patient, Every Day programme with the objective of improving the 
quality of patient care and experience by addressing clinical, performance, 
operational and financial issues. Robust governance has been applied to the 
programme in order to ensure that we transform into a sustainable and stable 
organisation with a relentless focus on providing the highest quality of care to our 
patients and the local population.  

The Trust set itself ambitious targets, which are measured at a high level by 41 key 
performance indicators (KPIs) and a number of supporting KPIs that sit below these. 
Nine months into the programme, solutions are being implemented following 
diagnosis and improvement is being seen.  

There is still a long way to go to achieve the ambition of the programme. The 
programme of work in 2017/18 will be a continuation of the work delivered in 2016/17 
but, importantly, there will be a step change in focus on sustainability and embedding 
the work into “business as usual”. To support this there will be a relentless focus on 
designing and developing a workforce capable of leading and sustaining the 
improvements, with the ultimate objective of the Trust regaining control of its own 
destiny and reducing the need for external support and scrutiny.  

A range of measures has already been implemented to re-establish financial grip, 
with a particular focus on agency staffing expenditure. 

Looking ahead to 
2017/18 

At the same time as aiming to deliver its financial targets, the Trust will remain under 
regulator and stakeholder scrutiny to deliver the quality, efficiency and transformation 
agenda. As the Trust embraces these challenges, it will be important to achieve a 
balance of quality, access and the financial position. There continues to be workforce 
deficits and as the population demand grows, it is not expected that the Trust will 
return to a surplus financial position for several years. Therefore, the Trust will 
continue to look at ways in which sustainable clinical services can be afforded and 
the drivers of the deficit reduced. 

In January both our Trust and Ipswich Hospital identified that a long-term partnership 
is essential to their sustainability. They have agreed a Strategic Outline Case to work 
together in a long- term partnership and the boards of the two trusts are looking at 
different ways in which the organisations can work together to improve care for 
patients and create a more sustainable future for both organisations. No decisions 
have yet been made on how this partnership will work, but the trust boards noted that 
there will need to be Emergency Department (A&E), Maternity and Acute Medical 
Services at both Colchester and Ipswich hospitals in the future. 

 

Cash funding Due to the scale of the deficit from previous years and the planned deficit in 2017/18, 
the Trust continues to be reliant on Department of Health (DH) funding through a 
government loan arrangement. It is necessary for the Trust to seek external cash 
financing via the DH. For 2017/18 the Trust requires £30.7m. NHS Improvement will 
review the plans of the Trust to ensure that financial support is provided only for 
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necessary costs of running a safe organisation. Discretionary spending and 
investments will be reviewed as part of the conditions of the Trust accessing funding 
from the DH. There are other conditions, such as the use of capital, which the Trust is 
required to abide by. This means the Trust is under increased scrutiny financially and 
there are a number of constraints in its ability to incur significant costs or capital 
commitments. 

Longer term planning Longer term, the Trust will need to do more than deliver cost improvement plans and 
efficiency savings to return to a financially sustainable position and improve 
standards of care. A longer term view is needed to ensure it has plans in place to 
address the demand pressure on services due to an increasing local population, with 
particular growth in the patient categories that rely most heavily on health services 
(such as young and old people) and service delivery and demand challenges due to 
increasing prevalence of long-term conditions. The challenges these present mean 
there will need to be closer working with other health and care bodies.  

Key to this is the establishment of Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs). 
National health and care bodies in England published details on 15 March 2016 of 
the 44 “footprint” areas that will bring local health and care leaders, organisations and 
communities together to develop local blueprints for improved health, care and 
finances over the next five years, delivering the NHS Five Year Forward View. 

One of the footprints is Suffolk (with the exception of Waveney) and north east Essex 
and the Trust is an active member of this group. The Trust will work closely with its 
commissioners and partners to ensure that service transformation objectives are 
aligned and will take a whole system view, while at the same time are compliant with 
national and regional clinical and governance policy developments. 
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“The support we got was far more than expected” 
Sally, Mark and baby Alice, Lexden Ward | Colchester General Hospital | March 2017 
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Cost Improvement Programme 
Cost improvement  

 

The Trust was set a target to deliver a deficit of no more than £45.7m in 2016/17. Our 
Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) needed to achieve £9.1m of cost improvements, 
either in the form of planned cost reductions, as set out at the start of the year, or 
through cost avoidance, which may be necessary to mitigate any under achievement of 
the plan during the year.  

Recognising the size of the cost reductions, the Trust re-introduced a Programme 
Management Office (PMO) and established a delivery board, chaired by the Chief 
Executive, which monitored and provided support and challenge. Escalation and 
recovery arrangements were put in place to mitigate identified slippage to delivery.  

A summary of divisional CIP targets for 2016/17 is as follows: 

Division  2016/17 
Target £m  

2016/17 % of 
Target 

Surgery Division £2.43m 26.5% 

Medicine Division £1.51m 16.7% 

Urgent Care Division £1.67m 18.4% 

Women’s & Children’s Division £1.03m 11.3% 

Cancer & Clinical Support Services Division £1.41m 13.9% 

Corporate Division £1.01m 13.1% 

Total £9.06m 100% 

The PMO created a new robust CIP tracker giving new information at a Service, 
Division and/or Trust level. It also allowed the PMO to better forecast schemes against 
plan; therefore, on a monthly basis, we were able to react to any negative variations 
that impacted against the planned £9.1m delivery. The new tracker also provided 
visibility of recurrent versus non-recurrent savings schemes. 

The PMO also developed and implemented a new CIP Governance Gateway process 
which focused on reinforcing an organisational culture that promotes the interest of 
patients as well as financial, performance and quality targets.  

Part of the deliverables associated with the introduction of the Every Patient, Every Day 
programme (see page 101 and the Quality Report) was a restructuring of the clinical 
divisions. These were reduced from five to three (including the Corporate Division, see 
next page), mirroring the divisional structure of our long-term partner, Ipswich Hospital. 

Looking ahead  
to 2017/18 

 

 

The Trust needs to achieve £17m of cost improvements which may be in the form of 
planned cost reductions, as set out at the start of 2017/18, or through cost avoidance, 
which may be necessary to mitigate any under-achievement of the plan during the 
year. The challenge remains the scale of the programme and to sustain the cost 
reductions. 

Recognising the size of the cost reductions, the Trust has requested EY (Ernst & 
Young), a professional services firm, to review the current PMO and Transformation 
Office and propose a better fit for purpose model, which will monitor and provide 
support and challenge. In particular, escalation and recovery arrangements will be put 
in place to mitigate slippage of delivery.  

A summary of divisional targets for 2017/18 is on the next page: 
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Divisional targets  
for 2017/18  

 

Division  Target £m  

Surgery, including Cancer £6.0m 

Medicine, including Emergency Care £3.5m 

Women, Children & Clinical Support Services £4.6m 

Corporate £2.9m 

Total £17.0m 

In addition to the CIP, the Trust has a number of Every Patient, Every Day cross-cutting 
workstreams that will continue delivery into 2017/18. 

The Every Patient, Every Day programme has been an important step on the Trust’s 
road to recovery but it will take several more years of similarly challenging programmes 
to bring our spending into line with the income achieved from commissioned activities. 
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Innovation and Excellence  

Innovation in our 
portfolio of clinical 

services  

Among the many developments, the following are of note: 

• a new type of healthcare professional called “physician associates” (PAs) 
started at Colchester General Hospital (see page 68) 

• five extra clinic rooms were opened in the Children’s Unit Outpatient 
Department at Colchester General Hospital following a £120,000 investment 
(see page 15) 

• free “Singing for Lung Health” classes were established at Colchester General 
Hospital for people who suffer from breathlessness. There’s increasing 
evidence to show that singing regularly as part of a group is good for general 
health and wellbeing, and research suggests group singing also benefits 
people living with a long-term condition such as COPD or asthma 

• more than 40 staff relocated from the Severalls Hospital site to a new Cellular 
Pathology Department at Colchester General Hospital (see page 119) 

• a state-of-the-art Mobile Chemotherapy Unit, provided by cancer charity Hope 
for Tomorrow, went into service to deliver treatment to patients closer to 
where they live (see page 11) 

 

Families of all babies delivered by the Trust’s Maternity 
Department became the first in East Anglia to be offered 
“Baby Boxes”, which are made from very thick cardboard 
and come with a firm foam mattress, waterproof mattress 
cover and a cotton sheet. It is thought the small size of the 
Baby Box prevents babies from rolling onto their tummies, 
which experts think can contribute to sudden infant death 
syndrome. 

It means that the families of all babies born at Colchester 
General Hospital and in the midwife-led units at Clacton 
Hospital and Harwich Hospital, as well as babies delivered 
at home by the Trust’s midwives, were issued with a Baby 
Box for newborns to sleep in, free of charge.  

The Baby Box programme encourages early engagement 
with maternity services and access to care for all pregnant 
women. 

 • “Survivorship afternoons”, devised by urology cancer nurses, were introduced 
at Colchester General Hospital to help people who have recently completed 
treatment for bladder or prostate cancer to return to everyday life. Sponsored 
by the North East Essex Urology Cancer Support Group, they include talks by 
a dietitian, a physiotherapist and a representative of Macmillan Cancer 
Support 

• a midwife, who is also a trained counsellor, was appointed to the new post of 
“Bereavement Midwife” to support families who have lost a baby at any point 
between 13 weeks of pregnancy and birth (see page 36) 

• the Trust became only the fifth NHS organisation to appoint a “Chemotherapy 
Nurse Consultant” to support the delivery of the highest standards of care for 
chemotherapy patients (see page 40) 

• a “one-stop shop” information service for palliative care patients, their families 
and other carers was established at Colchester General Hospital. Experts, 
including a palliative care nurse, a counsellor and a Macmillan Support and 
Information Manager, are available at the hour-long weekly drop-in sessions 
to help patients and families with any worries or concerns they may have. 
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A project began to roll out self-service check-in kiosks to outpatient areas, with the first 
three being launched in November in the Children’s Outpatient Department at Colchester 
General Hospital.  

Seven-year-old Keira Hennessey won a competition to come up with a design for the new 
checking-in system. Her brightly coloured butterfly design features on the three kiosks. 

Patients are able to book themselves in, which leads to reduced check-in queues. Calling 
screens inform patients when they are ready to be seen and are also used to make them aware 
of any clinic delays.  

TOP: Keira using one of the kiosks. LEFT: Keira and her sister Lauren with members of the 
Trust’s partner organisation, Intouch with Health, a Gloucestershire-based healthcare IT 

company. RIGHT: Keira's winning drawing and how it has been tweaked  
for use on the kiosks. 
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Financial Performance   

Our financial 
performance 

 

 
 

The Trust reported a deficit of £18.9m (excluding charitable funds).  

Compared with the previous year, income increased by 11.8%, from £269.8m to 
£301.6m. In 2016/17 the Department of Health introduced the Sustainability and 
Transformation Fund which was to be distributed to providers to support movement to 
a sustainable financial footing. As a result of its performance in 2016/17, the Trust 
received £16.5m of STF which contributed significantly to the increase in income 
compared to 2015/16. NHS commissioned income rose by £8.5m (3.9%). Whilst the 
Trust's Market Forces Factor was unchanged, there was a national tariff increase of 
1.1% in 2016/17 relative to 2015/16. The resultant increases in income have been 
supplemented by growth in the volume of activity (notably, emergency care). The 
level of contractual penalties incurred by the Trust has also fallen, with the Trust’s 
decision to accept and agree to the control total and conditions associated with the 
STF.  

The Trust’s expenditure rose by 4.7% from £293.5m in 2015/16 to £307.2m in 
2016/17. Significant cost increases included the Trust's contribution to the overspend 
of the Pathology Partnership (£2.3m) and secondary commissioning (£2.4m) where it 
was necessary for the Trust to outsource dermatology and endoscopy services to 
provide the capacity needed. Clinical Negligence Scheme costs also increased by 
£1.1m from 2015/16. The engagement of EY to support transformational projects at 
the Trust incurred an additional £4.1m, of which £3m was funded by the Department 
of Health. Pay costs increased by £1.3m, largely as a result of the national 1% pay 
increase. 

  2016/17 £m 2015/16 £m 

Operating income 301.6 269.8 

Operating costs (307.2) (293.5) 

EBITDA* (5.6) (23.7) 

Non-operating costs (13.3) (14.5) 

Impairment of non-current assets Nil (0.1) 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (18.9) (38.3) 
 

*EBITDA is Earnings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation 

Consolidated 
accounts  

 

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard 10, the Trust has 
included the Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Funds 
as a subsidiary and has produced a set of consolidated accounts. Further details of 
the consolidation and the impact on the Trust’s reported financial position can be 
found in note 1.3 of the Annual Accounts. 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Funds (Colchester 
Hospitals Charity or CoHoC) raises funds to provide additional equipment and 
amenities to enhance the care and treatment of patients. 

The charity was created by the declaration of the Trust on 1 November 1995 and is 
an NHS umbrella charity. It includes funds in respect of Colchester General Hospital, 
Essex County Hospital and Clacton Hospital, and is registered with the Charity 
Commission under charity number 1051504. 

The corporate trustee is the Trust. The charitable funds are administered by the 
Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee, which is a sub-committee of the 
Board of Directors. Further details of the charity’s annual report and accounts can be 
found on the Charity Commission’s website at www.charitycommission.gov.uk 
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Operational Service Standards   

A&E four-hour 
standard 

 

A&E has faced some challenges in meeting performance targets due to various 
issues across the Trust, especially during the winter. The Trust was required to meet 
the target of 95% of patients spending four hours or less from arrival to admission, 
transfer or discharge. We achieved 84.13% (82.14% in 2015/16). 

Our performance 
against the challenging 

national access 
standards was as 

shown in the table on 
the right:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Standard Performance 
Maximum waiting time of two weeks from 

urgent GP referral to first outpatient 
appointment for all urgent suspected cancer 

referrals 
 

93% 94.05% 

Two-week wait for symptomatic breast 
patients (cancer not initially suspected) 

 
93% 78.15% 

All cancers: 62-day wait for the first treatment 
from national screening service referral 

 
90% 81.96% 

All cancers: 62-day wait for the first treatment 
from urgent GP referral to treatment 

 
85% 72.89% 

All cancers: 31-day wait from diagnosis to first 
treatment 

 
96% 95.21% 

All patients who have operations cancelled for 
non-clinical reasons to be offered another 

binding date within 28 days 
 

100% 94.60% 

Percentage of patients on an incomplete 
pathway with a maximum of 18 weeks waiting 

time 
 

92% 86.56% 

MRSA 0 2 
Incidence of Clostridium difficile infection - 35 

Number of C. diff cases resulting from 
breaches in key policy 18 11 

 
*Source: Performance Framework  

Research & Development  

Introduction 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Research & Development (R&D) was re-branded as Research & Innovation (R&I) 
with a remit to promote, support and help develop innovation and projects following a 
successful Dragons’ Den style innovation scheme in 2015 in addition to the research 
services provided.  

Two working groups have been established to oversee R&I activity. They are the 
Research Group, chaired by the Director of Research, and the Innovation Group, 
chaired by the Clinical Lead for Innovation. These groups report to the R&I Strategic 
Group, which is chaired by the Medical Director. The day-to-day service is facilitated 
by three specialist teams under the umbrella of R&I. The remit of these teams 
focuses on governance, assurance, specialist advice, clinical feasibility, delivery, 
training, performance and financial management.  

Although research is still not core business at the Trust, R&I continues to promote 
research for clinical staff and our patients with the simple objective of increasing 
opportunities for patients to take part in clinical research. 

Challenges within the Trust persist in terms of giving all hospital patients the right to 
take part in research. The Trust’s research teams continue to participate mainly in 
National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) portfolio studies as this is the main 
criteria for funding, but also take part in non-portfolio studies including student 
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projects.  

The NIHR is the clinical research delivery arm of the NHS and operates nationally 
across England through a national co-ordinating centre through 15 local Clinical 
Research Networks delivering research in the NHS across all disease areas, with 
boundaries based on the geographical footprints of the Academic Health Science 
Networks. 

This Trust is a member of the NIHR Clinical Research Network: Eastern (CRNE), 
hosted by Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The host 
is responsible for ensuring the effective delivery of research in the trusts, primary 
care organisations and other qualified NHS providers throughout the Eastern area.  

The NIHR Local Clinical Research Network Funding Allocations 2016/17 set out 
national guidance for host CRNs to determine budget setting for each financial year 
to provide stability to their partner NHS trusts. This Trust received an allocation of 
£865,000. In addition, funding is received from the Department of Health’s Research 
Capability Funding stream (£20,000) which is based on NIHR criteria for achieving 
500 participants recruited in the previous financial year and income generated from 
clinical trials. Without this level of funding, it would not be sustainable to continue 
with the level of service provided. For 2017/18 the Trust is at risk of a budget 
reduction which will have implications for patients, services and staff.  

Research funding has provided the Trust with an established research infrastructure 
that supports the clinical divisions to participate in research. 

Our contribution is included in the overall publication and to the body of evidence of a 
disease area through research critique and evaluation. 

Maximise engagement 
in research 

 

 

 

 

 

R&I looks to develop Trust-sponsored research onto the national portfolio as well as 
supporting academic research. We successfully opened a Trust sponsored study 
called MAVEN (Management of People with Venous Ulceration: Feasibility Study). 
This interventional study compares two types of compression bandaging for patients 
with venous ulcers.  

Research at the Trust takes place in anaesthetics and intensive care, the breast unit, 
cardiovascular surgery, gastroenterology, haematology, obstetrics, oncology, 
ophthalmology, paediatrics, renal, rheumatology, stroke and urology. There still 
remain areas where research is not carried out. 

Research activities are supported by the Mary Barron chemotherapy suite, the 
Electro-Biomedical Engineering Department (EBME), Cardio-Respiratory 
Department, Nuclear Medicine Department, Radiotherapy Centre, Pathology, 
Pharmacy and Radiology. Engagement within the Trust and with the public to 
continue to profile research takes place at specialty meetings, through internal 
communication and articles in the local press. The R&I Manager is a committee 
member of the CRNE Communications Strategy Group and the Patient and Public 
Involvement Steering Group, attends meetings of regional R&D managers and 
regional network events. The Clinical Research Nurse Manager is a regional Good 
Clinical Practice (GCP) facilitator, and delivers GCP training in the Trust; is lead for 
the regional informed consent in research course working group; a member of the 
steering group of the Advance Research in Practice (ARIP), a three-day residential 
training course; chair of the research team leaders’ group; and a member of the 
regional workforce development steering group. 

Raising the profile of research at the Trust, encouraging clinicians and the Board of 
Directors to embed a research agenda across the organisation and allowing 
research in departments and highlighting patient engagement will continue to be a 
focus. The Trust is currently involved in 158 studies on the NIHR portfolio as 
recorded on the Local Portfolio Management System (EDGE), of which 73 were 
open to participant recruitment and 85 studies closed to recruitment and are in 
participant follow-up status. Clinical research team managers are required to identify 
NIHR portfolio studies, engage with potential principal investigators and perform 
detailed site feasibility and the set-up of a research study alongside the R&I 
Department. Collaborations need further development through links with the 
University of Essex and Anglia Ruskin University. 

The Essex Biomedical Sciences Institute (EBSI) highlights successful ongoing 
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collaborations between academics and clinicians and showcases emerging research 
areas where future collaborations can be formed.  

The Trust’s R&I team works with Health Enterprise East in the exploration of 
potential commercialisation of intellectual property and the Research Design Service 
to develop innovation and support staff with design, methodology, grant applications, 
statistics and research. 

The winner of the Dragons’ Den style innovation scheme in 2015 – Falls Prevention 
Education & Support Group for Inpatients and their Relatives, which was developed 
by staff – was supported by R&I to implement an in-house training session for 
patients and carers. This was then adapted to create a video which will be available 
via iPads to be used by staff to demonstrate the intervention to patients. 

Research governance 

 

 

The Trust should remain committed to the integration of research in clinical practice 
to provide all patients access to research trials, as stated by the NHS Constitution. 
Research not only improves the quality of patient care but can also attract new 
staff and nourishes innovation. All research is delivered in accordance with the 
Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care (2005) to ensure 
research governance is one of the core standards that all organisations should apply 
to work managed in a formal research context. The R&I Department ensures that the 
research has undergone robust research governance processes, and Trust 
assurance is required before any research can start at the organisation. 

All clinical trials at the Trust are delivered in accordance with a number of 
organisations that work together in the UK to regulate and approve different aspects 
of health and social care research. Locally, we ensure all research projects have 
been fully assessed to ensure compliance, capacity to deliver and address any risks 
and to ensure appropriate authorisations have been received from clinical and 
support departments.  

The Trust has a trained facilitator to deliver International Conference Harmonisation 
– Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP) training for clinicians and research staff to 
ensure standards and best practices are maintained. The Trust ran four ICH-GCP 
refresher courses and intends to maintain this schedule in future years. ICH-GCP 
training is valid for two years with 129 researchers holding a current certificate and 
40 updating their training in 2016/17.  

We had a Medicines & Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) study 
specific site inspection. Overall, there were a few areas for development and 
improvement but no critical findings. However, the inspection highlighted the need for 
additional formal processes to be put in place to further ensure the robustness of 
research practice across the organisation. 

Performance metrics 

 

 

 

 

The CRN Eastern High Level Objectives (HLO) for research in 2016/17 were:  

• HLO1: Number of participants recruited into NIHR CRN Portfolio studies 

• HLO2a: Commercial sites recruiting to time and target (RTT) 

• HLO2b: Non-commercial studies achieving RTT 

• Value for money: Activity based funding model using a study complexity 
weighted score to determine budget setting. 

The NIHR continues to publish outcomes against contract NIHR benchmarks. The 
Trust holds one of these contracts – NIHR: Performance in Initiating and Delivering 
(PID) Clinical Research. These outcomes include an initial benchmark of 70 days or 
less from the time a provider of NHS services receives a valid research application to 
the time when that provider recruits the first patient for that study (performance in 
initiating clinical research). It also includes the NHS provider’s performance in 
recruiting to time and target for commercial contract clinical trials (performance in 
delivery of clinical research). These reports are available on the R&I page of the 
Trust website. The Operational Capability Statement is also available on the website 
and identifies research resources and capabilities the Trust offers.  

Life sciences industry  The NIHR promotes industry studies adopted onto its portfolio via an Expression of 
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 Interests (EOIs) system and through consultant collaborations with pharmaceuticals. 
The Trust receives expressions of interest from CRN Eastern which are reviewed 
locally to determine feasibility. Additionally, through clinicians and research 
associations with industry, the Trust has been pre-selected for industry studies. 

Research income generated approximately £332,000 to contribute to Trust 
overheads, research infrastructure and re-investment into research activities. 

Pharmacy drug-saving costs as a result of pharmaceuticals supplying trial drugs free 
of charge provide substantial savings to the Trust.  

Patient involvement  Based on local data, there were 860 participants recruited into NIHR portfolio studies 
compared to 768 participants the previous year. National data reports 716 
participants with a cut-off date for 2016/17 of 28 April 2017. 

Through the patient experience questionnaires, we have identified and appointed a 
number of clinical trial patients as Patient Research Ambassadors (PRA) to help 
promote research within the local community and at Trust events led by research 
staff. We meet quarterly to explore what initiatives we can focus on and they can 
contribute to. One of the PRAs also represents the group at regional meetings with 
partner NHS trusts also involved in the PRA programme.  

A Promoting Research event took place in May to highlight research at the Trust 
which included our PRAs giving an account of their clinical trial experience. The 
guest speaker was Dr Jonathan Sheffield OBE, Chief Executive of the National 
Institute for Health Research, Clinical Research Network. 

Environmental Sustainability   

Commitment to 
sustainability 

The Trust takes its responsibility as a major employer and consumer of energy and 
resources seriously and is committed to continuous improvement in reducing the 
adverse effects of its operations on the wider environment and the health of the 
population it serves. The Trust recognises that sustainable development can be 
achieved only in conjunction with the wider Colchester community. The Trust is a 
member of Colchester Travel Plan Club and is actively exploring how it can work more 
effectively with other local organisations. 

Sustainability strategy  
of the Trust  

The Trust has a board-approved Sustainable Development Management Plan 
(SDMP) which is broadly consistent with the NHS Sustainable Development Strategy 
2014-2020. The plan identifies the key aspects in which the Trust’s activities impact 
on the environment and seeks to provide a framework for measurable improvement in 
each area. However, the Trust recognises there is a need to bring its overall 
sustainability agenda up to date and to reflect the new partnership with Ipswich 
Hospital. The SDMP will be revised in 2017/18 to define more specific targets and 
measurable outcomes. The Trust recruited a new Energy and Sustainability Manager 
to drive the sustainability agenda forward. The Trust has previously used the Good 
Corporate Citizen model to measure our performance. This will be brought up to date 
and used to set up a framework for improvement.  

Activities in 2016/17 The Trust carried out a number of activities which addressed specific objectives in the 
SDMP. In particular we invested £100k in energy-saving schemes that will reduce our 
carbon footprint and ensure year-on-year cost savings. These included replacing 
fluorescent lighting with LED, insulation and the installation of energy-efficient pumps. 

In partnership with Essex County Council, public transport access has been improved 
by providing new bus stops near Colchester General Hospital in Northern Approach 
Road for the Colchester park and ride service. 

The Trust also plans to install 12 electric car charging points at Colchester General 
Hospital to reduce carbon emissions and improve local air quality, as well as providing 
infrastructure to encourage the uptake of electric vehicles in the Colchester area. 

The SDMP will be fully updated in 2017 to define new measurable targets and metrics 
– and to reflect the Trust’s partnership with Ipswich Hospital. 

Governance to support Chris Howlett, Director of Estates and Facilities, is the Trust’s executive lead for 
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sustainability  sustainable development and carbon reduction.  

Energy 

 

The Trust’s energy consumption increased in 2016/17, driven largely by a colder 
winter than 2015/16, resulting in a small increase in carbon emissions. 

In 2015 the Trust moved away from its “green” electricity tariff. Under modern 
environmental reporting principles, these tariffs are regarded as having no impact on 
overall carbon emissions. The Trust has chosen to focus its efforts on energy 
efficiency to achieve carbon reductions.  

Resource 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Gas 
Use (kWh) 24,971,134 20,913,996 24,180,661 

tCO2e 5,239 4,377 5,053 

Oil 
Use (kWh) 1,161,491 523,657 1,406,948 

tCO2e 372 167 446 

Coal 
Use (kWh) 0 0 0 

tCO2e 0 0 0 

Electricity 
Use (kWh) 0 7,008,472 14,406,026 

tCO2e 0 4,029 7,445 

Green 
electricity 

Use (kWh) 13,345,551 7,078,886 0 

tCO2e 8,265 4,070 0 

Total energy CO2e 13,876 12,643 12,945 

The Trust will invest a further £400k in energy-saving measures in 2017/18. They will 
include the complete replacement of fluorescent lighting with LED at Colchester 
General Hospital, building fabric insulation and replacing fans and pumps with modern 
energy-efficient models.  

Carbon emissions - 
energy use 

 

Water Water consumption increased above 2015/16 levels but was still lower than 2014/15. 

Water 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
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Mains 
water 

m3 114,602 96,899 109,771 

tCO2e 104 88 100 
 

Renewable energy Colchester General Hospital has two sets of solar photovoltaic (PV) panels. These 
generated a total of 31,700 kWh, reducing the amount of grid-supplied electricity used 
by the Trust and generating income. 

Waste 

 

Waste proportions have changed in recent years in line with the transfer of services 
from Essex County Hospital to Colchester General Hospital and into the community.  

Waste 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17* provisional 

Recycling 
(tonnes) 460.36 256.61 376.53 

tCO2e 9.67 5.13 7.91 

Other 
recovery 

(tonnes) 266.94 179.83 33.02 

tCO2e 5.61 3.60 0.69 

High 
temp 
disposal 

(tonnes) 233.94 268.52 392.48 

tCO2e 51.47 58.81 86.34 

Landfill 
(tonnes) 413.50 339.92 420.34 

tCO2e 101.07 83.08 130.30 

Non burn 
treatment 

(tonnes) 303.60 392.12 380.68 

tCO2e 6.38 7.84 7.99 

Total waste (tonnes) 1,678.34 1,436.99 1,222.36 

% Recycled or re-used 27% 18% 31% 

Total waste tCO2e 174.18 158.46 233.24 
 

Waste breakdown 

 

Travel In June, the Trust carried out a survey of staff about the different ways they travelled 
to work. The results showed the majority travel by car: 
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Drive alone 83.0% 

Walk 5.8% 

Car share 3.7% 

Bus 3.2% 

Cycle 2.6% 

Train 1.2% 

The Trust has carried out a number of initiatives to promote sustainable travel, with a 
view to reducing the proportion of staff who drive alone. The survey will be repeated 
annually in order to measure changes over time. 

In partnership with Essex County Council, public transport access was improved in 
early 2017 with the provision of new bus stops on the Northern Approach Road near 
Colchester General Hospital for the town’s park and ride service. 

In March the Trust was awarded Bronze Accreditation by Essex County Council for its 
Travel Plan and is keen to achieve improved accreditation in 2017/18. 

We are pursuing a new car parking partnership to improve parking arrangements and 
produce revenue which will allow investment in improved sustainable transport 
initiatives.  

Procurement The Trust seeks to reduce its energy consumption through careful equipment 
purchasing. For example, the Trust is installing new pedestrian crossings which are 
solar powered. The Estates Department is drawing up a standard materials list in 
which energy efficiency is a key criterion for all new equipment. 

Social, Community and Human Rights Issues  

Our place in the 
community  

 

The Trust as a NHS provider and employer operates within the requirements of UK 
and European law, including its responsibilities for equity of access to services, 
employment and opportunities.  

The Trust operates within the NHS Constitution and has employment and service 
policies which address equality and human rights issues. 

Information to, and 
consultation with, 

employees 

 

The Trust has consulted with staff to implement organisational change where services 
have been re-designed or are being transferred either to or from an external service 
provider. Where formal consultation is necessary, the Trust is very careful to ensure 
that communication takes place before the formal consultation period. Once that 
period is closed, informal communication and consultation continue towards the 
implementation of change. Throughout any period of consultation and change, staff 
have an opportunity for both individual and group communication in a variety of 
forums. This methodology enhances and supports harmonious change for the staff 
affected and, ultimately, the service provided to patients. 

In partnership with the Trust and its trade unions, a fortnightly consultation sub-group 
meets to progress formal consultations. Trust staff have access to the organisation’s 
intranet and email system which are used as rapid methods of communication. 
Screensavers provide a simple method of communication. The Trust publishes a 
monthly online magazine on its website. 

There is an established monthly briefing by the Chief Executive and members of the 
Executive Team which is cascaded through the organisational management structure. 
A Staff Involvement Group meets monthly to discuss current issues and how 
relationships and services can improve.  

The Board encourages managers to engage with staff members in changing and 
improving the way in which services are provided. 
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Equality and diversity 
 

There have been a number of developments regarding equality and diversity for 
patients, service users and the workforce. The equality and diversity governance 
framework for NHS trusts features the Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2). Within 
EDS2, there are four goals which the Trust has adopted as equality objectives: 

• better health outcomes 

• improved patient access and experience 

• a representative and supported workforce 

• inclusive leadership. 

The Trust reviewed the governance arrangements in place to embed the equality 
agenda, and introduced the role of Diversity Champions.  

Working with Stonewall 

 

 

The Trust also became one of Stonewall’s Diversity Champions, and has started 
working in partnership with Stonewall on Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
(LGBT) developments and issues, which began with a training session in January 
provided by Stonewall. 

Workforce Race Equality 
Standard 

 

It was the second year of the national Workforce Race Equality Standard, with 
benchmarking analysis comparing the Trust favourably to many other trusts. The 
standard consists of nine metrics, three of which are workforce data and five relate to 
the national staff survey indicators. There is also an indicator which requires board of 
directors to be representative of the communities they serve. 

Helping patients with a 
disability, impairment or 

sensory loss  

 

People with disabilities can now benefit from improved health and care after new 
requirements came into force on 31 July, ensuring they receive easily accessible 
information and support. The Accessible Information Standard aims to ensure that 
people who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss are provided with information 
that they can easily read or understand with support so they can communicate 
effectively with services.  

In line with the Accessible Information Standard, patients can contact our Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) to let us know if we can communicate with them 
more effectively (see page 6). 

Disabled employees 
and equal 

opportunities 
 

 

It can be difficult to dispense with preconceived ideas about the range or type of work 
disabled people can do, but it will be of mutual benefit to individuals and the Trust to 
make sure that disabled applicants are always fully and fairly considered on their 
merits. All disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for selection will 
normally be invited for interview. 

If an employee becomes disabled, the Trust will maintain regular contact with the 
employee to monitor progress and, at an appropriate stage, consider possible courses 
of action and the effect any disability might have on future employment. The 
Redeployment Policy & Procedure ensures that redeployment to an alternative post is 
supported compassionately and practically.  

It is important for disabled people to have equal opportunities to develop new skills 
and advance their careers Therefore, judgement about an employee’s potential to 
undertake more demanding work or to carry out greater responsibilities should be 
based on realistic assessment of their aptitudes and abilities, disregarding any 
preconceived ideas about the nature of the disability or the limitations imposed.  

The Trust has developed its policy on disabled people in employment in order to 
maintain a working environment which is supportive and inclusive of current and 
prospective employees, whether they are currently disabled or may become disabled 
in the future. The Trust seeks to offer terms and conditions of service which will enable 
suitably qualified persons with a disability to seek and maintain employment with the 
organisation wherever practicable. 
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Health and safety 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Trust has well-developed health and safety arrangements as part of its overall risk 
management strategy. The Trust’s Health and Safety Policy was approved in July by 
the Health and Safety Committee. The policy has been inspected previously by the 
Health and Safety Executive and is compliant with Section 3 (2) of the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974.  

All ward/departments have: 

• access to a hard copy of the Health and Safety Policy within their Health and 
Safety Folder. All ward/department risk assessments can also be located 
within this folder 

• COSHH (Control of Substances Hazardous to Health) manuals which contain 
clear risk assessments of how to use the substance safely. 

All reportable incidents to Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 
Regulations (RIDDOR) have been controlled by the Patient Safety and Quality Team 
(PSQ). PSQ members have completed investigations where members of staff or 
visitors have been injured due to a health and safety issue. All reports have been 
uploaded onto the Trust’s electronic incident reporting system.  

All departments at the Trust, including all satellite sites, have been audited in 
compliance with HSG 65. Any safety failures were addressed immediately with the 
department or escalated to line managers. PSQ members have continued to deliver 
mandatory training which is at 86% compliance. All annual manual handling audits 
have taken place in clinical areas. Time-bound action plans have been issued to areas 
where improvement is required. Follow-up audits take place every April. Areas of 
concern included documented competency assessments, provision of consistent basic 
equipment levels and progress with action plans from 2015/16. Trust-wide compliance 
with Manual Handling Part 1 stands at 86% and Part 2 at 81.7%. 

Health and wellbeing 

 

The Trust provides a Health and Wellbeing (H&W) service which can be accessed by 
all staff. It is provided by a multidisciplinary team and includes specialist practitioners 
in occupational health, a registered mental health nurse, an occupational therapist, 
clinical nurses, technicians and a part-time consultant.  

All staff have direct rapid access to physiotherapy to enable them to receive treatment 
and advice speedily. In addition the H&W service’s occupational therapist undertakes 
home and work assessments, providing aids to staff to enable them to manage their 
chronic health conditions more effectively and reducing sickness. 

The Trust has achieved the Staying Healthy at Work Award, which has a focus on 
supporting staff with mental health issues. The Trust has also signed up to being a 
“mindful employer”.  

The H&W service facilitates mental health first aid, providing mangers with the skills to 
recognise and support staff with mental health issues. In addition, emotional resilience 
sessions are provided for all staff, enabling them to identify their stressors and how 
they react to stress and by employing cognitive behavioural techniques to manage 
their stress. 

External trainers attend to provide yoga, mindfulness and relaxation sessions for staff.  

A number of wellbeing events were arranged and articles published on wellbeing that 
followed the national wellbeing agenda. 

Schwartz Rounds  

 

The Trust introduced Schwartz Rounds in September 2015, and 558 staff attended 
before 31 March. Schwartz Rounds provide a confidential environment and an 
opportunity for staff to talk about the emotional challenges they experience when 
caring for patients. The rounds are held monthly with a panel of three or four who 
provide a synopsis of an event and how they felt about it. Once all panellists have told 
their story, the facilitators open the discussion to the floor, enabling others to resonate 
with what they have heard and how they have felt in similar situations. Studies have 
shown that Schwartz Rounds lead to an increase in confidence in dealing with difficult 
and sensitive issues, both clinical and non-clinical.  

Ten rounds were held in 2016/17 on the following topics: 
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• mental capacity where a patient chooses not to be treated and is supported in 
their final weeks  

• resuscitation 

• on the other side – staff being a patient 

• end of life dilemmas  

• a patient says thank you  

• “working without cure” – the chronic pain patient  

• most memorable patient  

• child safeguarding issue  

• why I come to work  

• living will. 

Pop-up Schwartz Rounds have also been facilitated in areas where staff have found it 
difficult to attend events. 

Employee assistance 

 

Staff continue to have access to an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) for 
psychological support and a data base for non-psychological problems. A helpline is 
available to support managers with work issues. 

Zero tolerance policy 
against violence and 

abuse 
 

 

The Trust will not hesitate to seek the prosecution of anybody who attacks members of 
staff while at work. The vast majority of assaults are verbal, and on rare occasions 
staff have been subject to assault which we take very seriously and will involve the 
police if required. The safety of the Trust’s workforce is paramount and a number of 
procedures are in place to minimise any potential risk to members of staff. The Trust 
has an accredited security adviser who runs in-house training courses on how to deal 
with violent and aggressive situations and how to manage conflict successfully. These 
courses are mandatory for all frontline staff. 

Fraud and corruption 

Information on policies 
and procedures with 

respect to countering 
fraud and corruption 

 

The Trust supports the continued establishment and maintenance of a strong anti-
fraud culture among all staff, contractors and patients. Fraud is taken seriously and 
staff are made aware of how to identify and report fraud correctly. The Trust endorses 
the right and duty of individual members of staff to raise any matters of concern they 
may have with the delivery of care or services to a patient or client of the Trust, or 
about financial malpractice, unlawful conduct, dangers to health and safety or the 
environment. It believes that a culture of openness and dialogue is in the best interests 
of patient care. However, this must be set in the context of the Trust’s duty of 
confidentiality to patients. Our Freedom to Speak Up or “whistleblowing” policy sets 
out the procedures put in place for staff if they wish to raise their concerns, and the 
responsibilities managers at all levels have to ensure these are dealt with thoroughly 
and fairly. 

Overview and scrutiny 

 
 

Essex County Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) took a 
keen interest in the Trust throughout the year. Several senior staff, including the Chair, 
David White; Chief Executive, Nick Hulme; and Shane Gordon, Director of Integration; 
appeared before councillors. The HOSC took a particular interest in the long-term 
partnership with Ipswich Hospital as well as the Suffolk and North East Essex 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership. It also conducted a review of 
complaints and PALS arrangements across all NHS provider organisations in Essex. 
Colleagues also attended Tendring District Council’s Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Public consultations  In November, the Board of Directors agreed that the Trust would stop providing 
birthing services at the midwife-led unit at the Fryatt Hospital, Harwich, from 1 April 
2017. Before the final decision was made, the Trust heard from patients and the 
community at two public meetings and through written, verbal and online submissions.  

The Trust did not undertake any other public consultations during 2016/17. 

Other patient and 
public involvement 

The Head of Patient Experience attended meetings of the North East Essex Health 
Forum Committee to engage with local service members and to listen to their 
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activities 

 

experiences. Some committee members take part in Trust walkabouts and have 
become members of the newly-established Patient User Group. 
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Midwife and counsellor Sue Armstrong was appointed in September to the new post of 
“Bereavement Midwife” to support families who have lost a baby at any point between 
13 weeks of pregnancy and birth.  

The role involves co-ordinating services so that the physical and psychological needs of 
families who have lost a baby can be fully met. 

It includes informing parents of their choices regarding funeral arrangements and examinations 
offered to try and establish a cause of their loss, and liaising with the bereavement suite (The 
Rosemary Suite) and funeral directors on their behalf. 

Sue is pictured outside The Rosemary Suite at Colchester General Hospital, a purpose-built 
area where families can be cared for in a private, calm and comfortable environment. 

Towards the end of the year, she and two midwife colleagues set up the Butterfly Bereavement 
Group, a support group for parents from north east Essex who have suffered the loss of a baby 
after 20 weeks of pregnancy, in labour or during the first month of life. 
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties   

Managing risk  

 
 

The Trust is committed to providing high quality patient services in an environment that 
is safe and secure. The Board of Directors monitors the key risks to the Trust through 
its review of the Board Assurance Framework, which maps the high-level risks 
associated with the achievement of our corporate objectives. Its principal aim is to 
provide a mechanism for the Trust’s Board of Directors to regularly assess the level of 
risk against the controls in place to mitigate the risks and to also consider the 
adequacy of the assurance. 

Risk Management 
Strategy 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Trust is committed to delivering continuous improvement to its risk management 
arrangements. The Trust has in place a risk management strategy which is 
underpinned by the following: 

• an assurance and escalation policy and framework. This sets out the 
principles to ensure there are effective communication lines from the frontline 
of service delivery right through to divisional leadership teams, the senior 
executive team and the Board of Directors itself to improve organisational risk 
management from ward to board 

• a clear Risk Appetite Statement, which had been agreed by the Board 
following a risk workshop in January 2016, where it considered its tolerance 
for risk and its risk appetite. This was later drafted into a Risk Appetite 
Statement that was incorporated into the Risk Management Strategy agreed 
by the Board at its February 2016 meeting and was used as the basis for its 
risk discussions in 2016/17 

• a comprehensive review of the design and content of its governance 
arrangements as part of the Every Patient, Every Day programme, supported 
by EY. This programme ran from September until the end of the year and 
beyond, resulting in a review of the content and structure of the Board 
Assurance Framework to ensure it is an effective tool for board assurance on 
the principal risks to the Trust’s strategic objectives 

• a comprehensive review of “Ward to Board” and executive risk management 
arrangements as part of the Every Patient, Every Day programme to ensure 
effective identification and escalation of risks at service level. This resulted in 
a revised executive risk management structure and process to ensure that the 
Executive Team and the Board are sighted on emerging and increasing risks. 

The Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee routinely receives information on 
all Serious Incidents and the lessons learnt from them.  

This reinforces the Trust’s approach to developing a safety and risk management 
culture across the organisation.  

Staff are encouraged to report any incidents that occur so we learn from them and 
improve practice. All incidents identified as moderate, major or extreme undergo 
detailed investigation to establish their root cause and are written into a formal report 
with an action plan, which is reviewed by the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance 
Committee. 

Principal risks as at 31 
March 2017  

The Trust’s principal risks are summarised on page 14, with further detail in the Annual 
Governance Statement on page 99. 

Effectiveness of 
systems of internal 

control 

The Board’s arrangements for its review and evaluation of the effectiveness of its 
systems of internal control to manage its principal risks and meet regulatory 
requirements are also explained in the Annual Governance Statement. 

Contractual or Other Arrangements 
 

Summary of 
contractual 

relationships 

This section gives information about organisations with whom we had contractual or 
other arrangements which were essential to the business of the Trust (unless 
disclosure would, in the opinion of the directors, be seriously prejudicial to that 
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 organisation and contrary to the public interest): 

• North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) (healthcare 
commissioning) 

• NHS England (specialised healthcare commissioning) 

• Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust (plastic surgery services) 

• North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (mental health 
services) 

• Anglian Community Enterprise (clinical services) 

• Ramsay Healthcare Ltd (clinical services). 

Overview of other 
procurement 

arrangements 

 

The Trust had a number of other procurement arrangements, including: 

• National Blood Service (blood products) 

• Serco (Payroll) 

• Alliance Medical (MRI services) 

• Opcare (orthotic and prosthetic services) 

• GE Capital (equipment leasing) 

• Diaverum (renal services) 

• Community Outpatients (dermatology) 

• Gutcare and 18 Week Support (Gastroenterology) 

• The Pathology Partnership – see below. 

Joint ventures and  
partnership 

arrangements 

 

 

The Trust has always worked in partnership with a number of organisations for the 
delivery of services. The most significant of these are: 

• a Section 31 partnership under the Health Act 1999 with Essex County 
Council, Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust, NHS Mid Essex, NHS North 
East Essex, NHS South East Essex, NHS South West Essex and Thurrock 
Council for an integrated community equipment service 

• partnership arrangements with Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust and Mid Essex 
Hospital Services NHS Trust for a range of clinical services 

• partnership with Anglia Ruskin University for the development and 
management of The ICENI Centre for training and research and development 
in laparoscopic surgical techniques. 

Long-term partnership 
with Ipswich Hospital   

In April, NHS Improvement and the CQC recommended a long-term partnership 
between the Trust and Ipswich Hospital (see the Chief Executive’s review of the year 
on page 9). In February we published a Strategic Outline Case into the long-term 
partnership. This describes the reasons why change is needed and different ways in 
which this can happen. The next steps will be for the approval of an Outline Business 
Case (OBC) in July 2017 and a Full Business Case (FBC) later in the year. 

A more formal partnership with Ipswich Hospital will continue to be pursued in 
2017/18 as part of the Trust’s plan with NHS Improvement to bring about changes to 
improve quality and financial sustainability. 

The Pathology 
Partnership 

In February, the Pathology Partnership formally announced a re-organisation and 
change of management structures. This came after several months of work to 
develop a new approach following the announcement by Cambridge University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) in June of its intention to leave the 
partnership.  

A new model for the partnership was agreed which means that from 5 May 2017 
services in the east of the partnership (Colchester, Ipswich and West Suffolk hospital 
trusts) will be managed locally as a stand-alone network, with the hub laboratory 
remaining at Ipswich Hospital and our Trust acting as host. In the west, CUH, East 
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and North Hertfordshire, Hinchingbrooke and Papworth will be managed as a network 
with the hub laboratory remaining at Addenbrooke’s Hospital. 

We have set up the East Restructuring Board to develop our services in the east with 
strong clinical leadership and the aim of delivering innovative, high performing 
pathology services that will underpin the excellent work of our three hospital trusts. 

The Board is chaired by Dawn Scrafield, Director of Finance and includes colleagues 
who are leading on each of the 11 programmes of work needed for a successful 
transition. 

Trust Business Model  

 

 

The Trust operates a devolved management structure, which was reviewed during 
the year to establish four new divisions: three clinical divisions and one corporate 
division. The divisions have delegated authority for governance, performance and 
expenditure/income and are accountable through the Accountability Framework to 
the Executive Team, led by the Chief Executive. 

Post-Year End Events  

Important events since 
the end of the financial 

year  

 

As mentioned on the previous page, the Trust has taken over hosting responsibilities 
for the Pathology Partnership in the East on 5 May 2017. The partnership will be 
managed as a fifth division of the Trust. 

On 12 May 2017, the Trust was badly hit by a cyber attack which affected a number 
of its IT systems. Immediate action was taken to check and restore affected 
terminals, with ICT staff from the Colchester and Ipswich hospital trusts working 
tirelessly to support users across all of the Trust’s locations. Business continuity 
measures put in place involved reverting to paper-based systems to minimise the 
impact on patient care. There is no evidence that patient data was compromised and 
there was no risk to patients as a result of what happened. 

There will be an independent investigation into the Trust’s information security 
management arrangements early in 2017/18 in order to better understand the 
vulnerabilities in its systems’ security. 
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In September, the Trust became only the fifth NHS organisation to appoint a 
“Chemotherapy Nurse Consultant”.  

Experienced cancer nurse Lesley Sheen’s role is to support the delivery of the highest 
standards of care for chemotherapy patients. 
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Accountability Report   

Purpose  
 

The accountability report pulls together all of the statutory disclosures relating to NHS 
foundation trusts and comprises the directors’ report, remuneration report, staff 
report, FT Code of Governance disclosures, regulatory ratings, statement of 
accounting officer’s responsibilities and the Annual Governance Statement. 

Directors’ Report  

Introduction The Directors’ report comprises the details of the individuals undertaking the role of 
director during 2016/17 and the statutory disclosures required to be part of that report 
and information relating to quality governance. 

 The Directors’ report is presented in the name of the following directors who occupied 
Board positions during the year (it also incorporates the operating and financial 
review): 

 
 

Name Title 

Susan Aylen-Peacock Non-Executive Director  

Barbara Buckley Managing Director (from 1 December) 

Jude Chin Deputy Chair/Non-Executive Director  

Tim Fenton Non-Executive Director (from 8 December) 

Tom Fleetwood Non-Executive Director (to 1 December) 

Julie Fryatt Director of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development  

Shane Gordon Director of Integration  

Nick Hulme Chief Executive (from 17 May) 

Diane Leacock Non-Executive Director 

Julie Parker Non-Executive Director 

Alison Power Director of Operations (from 23 January) 

Alan Rose Chairman (to 5 May) 

Dawn Scrafield Director of Finance  

Frank Sims Chief Executive (to 16 May) 

Jan Smith  Non-Executive Director  

Catherine Morgan Director of Nursing (from 23 January) 

David White Chair (from 6 May) 

Dr Angela Tillett Medical Director  
 

Statement as to 
disclosure to auditors 

So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
auditors are unaware and the directors have taken all of the steps that they ought to 
have taken as directors in order to be aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 

Planned developments 
at the Trust 

 

 

 

The Trust agreed its Annual Plan for 2017/18 at its December 2016 Board of 
Directors’ meeting and submitted it that month to NHS Improvement. This was 
followed by a Trust Budget for 2017/18 which was agreed at a meeting of the Trust 
Board held in public in February 2017. 

The key points to note from the 2017/18 Annual Plan and Budget are: 

• planned income and expenditure deficit of £22.1m, requiring a CIP delivery of 

http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/


Annual Report, Annual Accounts & Quality Report | 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017 

 www.colchesterhospital.nhs.uk Page 42   

 
 

 £17m. This CIP target represents 5.6% of all pay and non-pay budgets and 
will be stretching 

• capital programme of £15.8m, funded through internal resources, third parties 
and brought forward planned support.  

Overall, this will require a revenue support loan of £22.5m and a capital support loan 
of £8.2m (a total cash support requirement of £30.7m). 

Statutory Income Disclosures   

Non NHS income 

 

 

Under the requirements of Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the 
Health & Social Care Act 2012) the Trust can confirm that income from the provision 
of goods and services for the purpose of health services in England is greater than 
the income generated from the provision of goods and services for any other 
purpose. 

Income to the Trust from non-NHS sources has a positive impact on the provision of 
goods and services for the purposes of the Health Service, as all income to the Trust 
is used for the benefits of NHS care. 

Other Public Interest Disclosures  

Better Payment 
Practice Code  

 

The Trust is required to pay trade creditors in accordance with the Better Payment 
Practice Code. This simple code sets out the following obligations of a business to its 
suppliers:  

• bills are paid within 30 days, unless covered by other agreed payment terms 

• disputes and complaints are handled by a nominated officer  

• payment terms are agreed with all traders before the start of contracts 

• payment terms are not varied without prior agreement with traders 

• a clear policy exists of paying bills in accordance with contract. 

The Trust aims to pay at least 95% of its invoices in accordance with these 
obligations. However, cash constraints caused by the Trust’s in-year deficit 
necessitated that the Trust increase payment terms to 35 days wherever possible 
without causing a detrimental impact on the supply of goods and services it receives. 

HM Treasury cost 
allocation compliance 

The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in 
HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information guidance. 

Fixed assets 

 
 

Although there is no pre-determined frequency at which property, plant and 
equipment (PPE) assets must be re-valued, accounting standards require that asset 
values should be kept up-to-date. Therefore, the frequency of revaluation needs to 
reflect the volatility of asset values and, in Monitor’s view, property assets are likely to 
require revaluation at least every five years.  

The last full valuation of the Trust’s land and building assets was undertaken as at 31 
March 2015 by the DVS (the commercial arm of the Valuation Office Agency). 

For 2016/17 the valuation basis for the Trust's land and building assets has been 
changed to that of an alternative site basis. In selecting the alternative site on which 
the modern equivalent asset would be situated, the valuer has considered whether 
the actual site remains appropriate for use by the Trust in accordance with Section 7 
of UKGN 2. For public sector bodies, HM Treasury guidance is that the choice of 
whether to value an alternative site will normally hinge on whether the proposed 
alternative site will meet the locational requirements of the service that is being 
provided (Treasury Guidance Note paragraphs 1.14 to 1.16). 

Political or charitable 
donations 

The Trust made no political or charitable donations.  

Interest rate or The Trust does not have any significant exposure to interest rate or exchange rate 
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exchange rate risks  

 

risks and therefore does not hold any complicated financial instruments to hedge 
against such risks. Details of the Trust’s financial instruments are shown in the 
Annual Accounts. 

Accounting policy for 
pensions and details 
of senior employees’ 

remuneration 

The accounting policy for pensions can be found in notes 1.5 and 4.1 of the accounts. 

Details of senior employees’ remuneration can be found on pages 72 to 74 
(Remuneration Report). 

Quality Governance  

Quality governance 
reporting  

 

The Trust’s approach to quality governance is outlined in the Annual Governance 
Statement (page 99) and its performance against its quality priorities and key quality 
metrics are shown in the Quality Report. 

The executive governance structure supporting the quality agenda was reviewed and 
two executive groups (Clinical Effectiveness and Patient Safety and Experience) 
report through to the Executive Team and the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance 
Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of Directors. Further details on the 
responsibilities of the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee are shown on 
pages 64-65. 

Well-led framework  

 

The Board carried out a self-assessment of the Trust’s performance against the 
Monitor Well-led Framework in March 2016. This was reviewed alongside an 
observational review of the Board of Directors and its committees by NHSI during 
April and May and identified opportunities to strengthen board and committee 
reporting, engagement and accountability arrangements.  More work will be 
undertaken in 2017/18 to explore these findings further in order to strengthen 
leadership and governance going forward. 

Consistency of 
evaluation  

 

The Trust has reviewed the consistency of its Annual Governance Statement against 
other disclosure statements made during the year as required by the Risk 
Assessment Framework, the disclosure statements required as part of this report, the 
Quality Report and the Annual Plan and against the reports arising from the CQC 
planned and responsive reviews of the Trust, and we have identified no material 
inconsistencies to report. 
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The Trust extended its tobacco-free policy to include the grounds of Colchester General 
Hospital and Essex County Hospital from national No Smoking Day (8 March).  

Vaping, using e-cigarettes, is allowed only in designated places in the hospitals’ grounds.  

The Trust has restricted staff smoking on site for some time and the new policy is a natural 
extension of this. 

We aim to promote and develop a culture between staff, patients and visitors, in which smoking is 
seen as unacceptable and everyone respects this. The required culture change will be achieved if 
everybody commits to tobacco-free becoming a reality and responds to situations when this does 
not happen as an opportunity to engage. 
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Patient Safety  

Patient safety  Our ultimate aim is to deliver the highest quality healthcare services to our patients. 
This is part of the Trust’s commitment to deliver great healthcare to every patient, 
every day. Each area is responsible for the setting and delivery of Trust-approved 
improvement targets. Performance against internal and external quality indicators is 
monitored by the Patient Safety Group. Assurance is provided to the Quality and 
Patient Safety Assurance Committee on a monthly basis. 

Patient safety 
walkabouts 

 
 

During 2016/17 the patient safety walkabouts underwent a review to ensure that the 
immediate actions required for maintaining patient safety were undertaken. 

The non-executive directors and governors undertook regular walkabouts to wards, 
speaking with patients and staff. These walkabouts were reported through to the 
Patient Safety and Quality Committee, with immediate actions being reported back to 
service area leads for completion.  

Peer reviews 

 

It was accepted that the methodology used during previous CQC and Monitor 
reviews, with a focus on the five key domains (Safe, Effective, Caring, Responsive 
and Well-Led), was recognised best practice. Subsequent peer reviews and “deep 
dives” into concerns raised internally and externally continue to be led by the Quality 
Assurance and Compliance Team. 

Mortality 

 

The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) and Summary Hospital-level 
Mortality Indicator (SHMI) give an indication of whether the mortality ratio of an 
organisation is higher or lower than expected when compared to the national 
(England) baseline.  

Statistical models indicate that the Trust is one of nine trusts in the East of England 
peer group of 17 trusts with a “higher than expected” HSMR. 

• the HSMR for the 12 months to February 2017 was 112.77 

• the latest SHMI (which includes deaths within 30 days of discharge) for the 
12 months ending September 2016 was 108.62, placing the Trust 107th out of 
136 acute trusts. Statistical models indicate that the result is “as expected”.  

Recognition of the deteriorating inpatient remains a key concern for the Trust. This is 
one of the main workstreams in the Every Patient, Every Day programme, with 
increased monitoring of the accuracy and frequency of patient observations 
producing early warning scores and the prompt identification and escalation of the 
deteriorating patient. As part of the Trust’s commitment to its ongoing quality priority 
to ensure that sepsis is identified and treated in line with the Sepsis Six programme, 
the Sepsis Nurse Specialist undertakes bi-monthly audits which indicate where 
medical and nursing staff may need additional training, advice and support in the 
identification and treatment of the septic patient. 

Falls prevention 
 

There were 1,048 inpatient falls in 2016/17, eight fewer than the previous year (a 
0.8% reduction). There were 31 falls resulting in serious harm, a 29% increase on the 
previous year (24). The Trust continues to implement cohort nursing which, through 
the commitment of staff, has demonstrated a reduction of falls as much as 60% in 
one ward. The Trust continues to deliver care often at maximum capacity and cares 
for an increased number of frail and elderly patients, often with complex needs. 
Confusion in such patients often leads to unpredictable behaviour which can be 
challenging to manage. The Trust strives to promote and maximise patient safety 
through early identification of risk of falls on admission and continual monitoring until 
discharge. 

Pressure ulcers  

 
 

Pressure ulcers remain an unwanted complication associated with healthcare and it 
is widely acknowledged that they are largely preventable. They are costly in terms of 
human suffering, treatment and rising litigation costs due to them being regarded as 
an indicator of clinical negligence. Despite many national prevention campaigns in 
recent years, pressure ulcer incidence rates continue to rise.  
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Wounds are graded in accordance with European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel 
(EPUAP) guidelines from Stage 1 to Stage 4, with Stage 4 being the most severe due 
to the extent of tissue damage that occurs. The number of pressure ulcers graded at 
Stage 2-4 was 111, an increase of 42% on the previous year (78). There was a 36% 
increase in pressure ulcers noted on admission (1,870 compared with 1,377 in 
2015/16), which is indicative of the increasing frailty of patients and contributing 
factors, such as reduced funding in the social care sector. 

The Trust continues to promote the use of the ASKIN* care bundle as an effective 
model of pressure ulcer prevention by ensuring staff embed the model principles into 
their everyday nursing care. Assessment ensures that patients who are at risk of 
developing pressure ulcer damage are identified early and appropriate care 
interventions are implemented to prevent pressure ulcers.  

* Assessment, Surface, Keep moving, Incontinence/moisture, Nutrition/hydration. 

Improvements in 
patient information 

 

Our patient information strategy continued to ensure healthcare professionals were 
able to deliver accurate, up-to-date, easy-to-understand, informative and timely 
information to patients. More than 1,000 different leaflets were available, which were 
compliant with Department of Health guidelines.  

Infection Control   

Overview  

 

The Trust continued to perform well with regard to controlling and preventing hospital-
acquired infections. Rigorous clinical and environmental hygiene measures, controls 
on the prescribing of antibiotics, isolation of infected patients and root cause analysis 
of cases, supported by learning and implementing changes, continue to have a 
significant impact. The Trust will continue this vigilant approach in 2017/18. 

Clostridium difficile 

 

Clostridium difficile incidence is assessed as cases detected more than 72 hours 
after admission (these are considered to be attributable to an infection acquired in 
hospital). A new system of reviewing cases was introduced to determine whether 
cases were associated with or without breaches of local protocols, the latter being 
deemed unavoidable. The agreed maximum ceiling of cases with breaches for the 
Trust was 18. Of the 35 cases reported, we had 9 cases with breaches and 26 cases 
with no breaches. Continuing with a low number of cases is testament to the vigilance 
of staff and compliance with best practice.  

MRSA bacteraemia  

 

MRSA incidence is assessed as cases detected more than 48 hours after admission 
which are considered to be attributable to an infection acquired in hospital or cases 
where MRSA is considered to be a contaminant in blood cultures. The Trust’s target 
was to have no cases of MRSA bacteraemia. There was one case in an inpatient and 
one case was a contaminant. The cases were subject to thorough review and in the 
patient case there was an issue relating to the sub-optimal care of the patient’s 
intravenous line. There has been a drive through education to minimise the risk of a 
recurrence. 

Surgical site infection 

 

Orthopaedic surgical site infection data reporting has been mandatory since 2005. 
The Trust participates in non-mandatory continual vascular surgical site infection 
surveillance. We have consistently achieved rates well below the national 
benchmark. The Surgical Site Infection Group continues to meet and monitors 
surgical site infections across the Trust. 

Hand hygiene 
monitoring  

The Trust monitored hand hygiene compliance with best practice in all clinical areas 
every month. Compliance overall remained at 96%-98%. 
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Improving our Patients’ Experience  

Your experience is 
our responsibility 

 

The Trust remains fully committed to improving patient experience and providing high 
quality, safe and effective services. We put patients, relatives and carers at the heart of 
everything we do. The Trust continues to welcome complaints as a tool for learning and 
making improvements. Additional staff were recruited into the Patient Advice and Liaison 
Service (PALS) to support local resolution of concerns and issues. In addition, the Trust 
is committed to learning from incidents. We ensure teams are aware of all lessons to be 
learnt for their areas in order to minimise the risk of Serious Incidents, never events and 
serious complaints. The Trust continues to work in partnership with Healthwatch Essex 
and our commissioners, which are represented on the recently-formed Patient User 
Group. We collect patient feedback from many sources and use this information to 
inform service development and improvement programmes. 

Privacy and dignity 

 
 

Maintaining patients’ privacy and dignity is fundamental to providing a high standard of 
care. According to the 2016 national adult inpatient survey, 81% of Trust patients said 
they were treated with dignity and respect and 90% stated there was always enough 
privacy when being examined or treated.  

Dignity training designed by the Royal College of Nursing is included on the extended 
Trust induction for nurses, midwives, healthcare assistants and allied health 
professionals. 

Delivering  
same-sex 

accommodation 

 
 
 
 

The NHS Constitution confirms a patient’s right to dignity and respect. The Trust is 
committed to treating all patients with privacy and dignity in a safe, clean and 
comfortable environment. The Trust is compliant with the Government requirement to 
eliminate mixed-sex accommodation, except when it is in the patient’s overall best 
interest or reflects their personal choice. We have the necessary facilities, resources and 
culture to ensure that patients who are admitted to our hospitals will share only the room 
where they sleep with members of the same sex, and that same-sex toilets and 
bathrooms will be close to their bed area. Sharing with members of the opposite sex will 
happen only when clinically necessary (for example, where patients need specialist 
equipment such as in Intensive Care or when patients actively choose to share, such as 
the Renal Unit). If our performance falls short of the required standard, this is reported to 
North East Essex CCG. We also have an audit mechanism to make sure we do not 
misclassify any of our reports. We record the results of that audit as part of our patient 
experience audits. There were no breaches during the year and the Trust has declared 
full compliance with delivering same-sex accommodation. The Trust undertakes 
continuous monitoring. 

Patient and public 
involvement 

 

 

As an NHS foundation trust, we have remained committed to the principle of public, 
patient and staff involvement. Public and staff members have elected governors to 
represent their views and to work with the Trust to ensure service user views are taken 
into consideration at all times. Governors have remained involved in many aspects of 
Trust monitoring to ensure there are adequate standards in place for their communities. 
Governor representation continues on the Patient-led Assessments of the Care 
Environment (PLACE). Governors participate in a schedule of visits and all governors 
feed-back issues of immediate concern directly to the Chief Executive and the Director of 
Nursing for their attention and action. Furthermore, feedback from governor walkabouts 
is included in the patient experience report that goes to the Quality and Patient Safety 
Assurance Committee and to the Trust’s commissioners, thereby ensuring services 
commissioned for the population we serve are fit for purpose. 

How the Trust 
monitors the patient 

experience 

 

Patient experience feedback is gathered in many ways. 

The NHS Friends and Family Test (FFT) is well established across the adult inpatient, 
maternity and Emergency Department (A&E) pathways. Leaflets are the main collection 
method but the FFT question is also included in the electronic surveys used on the 
wards.  

Public governors support patients in completing forms and also use these opportunities 
as a further way of engaging with patients, relatives and carers.  

FFT reports are sent to the Trust’s divisions and wards on a weekly and monthly basis. 
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The information is reported to the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee in 
the patient experience report which is also shared with the Trust’s commissioners. 

Patient experience boards are on display in all clinical areas. They show the area’s FFT 
results as well as “You said, We did” comments to demonstrate what actions have been 
taken in response to feedback from patients. 

The Head of Patient Experience undertakes walkabouts of all wards and departments, 
speaking to patients and staff to learn about their experiences. This information is also 
shared with the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee. 

Patient Experience 
Group 

 

The Patient Experience Group works on ensuring that the patient’s voice is heard. A 
Public and Patient User Group was formed to support the needs of the public, patients, 
relatives and carers. It includes representatives from North East Essex CCG and 
Healthwatch Essex. 

"Got something  
to say?"  

The Trust continued its "Got something to say?" campaign, which highlights to patients 
how they can raise a concern. We want patients, relatives and carers to make sure they 
tell us if they have a comment, compliment or complaint (see also next page). 

Using online and 
social media to 

engage and 
communicate 

 

The Trust’s Communications Team uses social media, such as Facebook and Twitter, and 
websites such as NHS Choices and Patient Opinion, to further engage and communicate 
with service users.  

You can read more about how the Trust’s Communications Team uses social media on our 
website under News: www.colchesterhospital.nhs.uk/press_office.shtml 

Twitter The Trust’s Twitter page had 3,951 followers on 31 March (2,931 on 31 March 2016) and 
the team tweeted 934 times in 2016/17.  

Facebook At 31 March, our Facebook page for Colchester General Hospital had 5,063 likes – the 
number of unique people who have liked our page – compared with 3,679 on 31 March 
2016. Our Facebook page for Essex County Hospital had 505 likes (436). 

 

 
Facebook encourages people to rate and review services based on personal experience. 
At 31 March, of the 1,000 ratings for Colchester General Hospital, 535 gave five stars (the 
highest) and 191 gave one star (the lowest), giving an overall score of 3.7 out of 5.  

A year ago there were 721 reviews: 307 five star reviews and 170 one star reviews, giving 
an overall score of 3.4. 

The Communications Team responds to all reviews on its Facebook pages, positive or 
negative, escalating any issues as appropriate.  

NHS Choices 

 
The NHS Choices website (www.nhs.uk) allows people to give compliments or feedback 
about our hospitals and services. This can help people make important decisions about 
where they choose to receive treatment. 

Based on 442 ratings on NHS Choices, Colchester General Hospital’s users' overall rating 
is 4.5 out of 5, including for cleanliness, staff co-operation, dignity and respect, involvement 
in decisions and same-sex accommodation.Based on 50 ratings, Essex County Hospital 
scores 3.5 out of 5. 

Our PALS Team responds to reviews on NHS Choices, escalating issues appropriately. 
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Patient-led 
Assessments of the 

Care Environment 
 

Staff from the Trust’s facilities management team, together with patient assessors 
(members of the public), carried out six PLACE “lite” assessments. 

The official PLACE assessment took place over four days in April and was reported at a 
national level. 

The teams which carried out the assessments included patient assessors who must 
make up at least 50% of the team. 

Together with staff, they considered how clean the environment was, the condition of the 
environment, how well the organisation met the food and hydration needs of patients, 
and how well the organisation and the environment supported patients’ privacy and 
dignity. 

The assessment also included how dementia-friendly the environment was and, for the 
first time, how accessible the environment was. 

PLACE focuses entirely on the care environment and does not cover clinical care or how 
well staff are doing their job. 

Colchester General Hospital scored above the national average for “Cleanliness”, “Food 
and Hydration”, “Privacy, Dignity and Wellbeing” and “Condition, Appearance and 
Maintenance” but below average in the “Dementia” and “Accessibility” categories. 

Engaging our staff 
in developing a 

patient experience 
approach 

 

The Trust continued to engage staff in developing a personal approach that improves the 
patient experience. In recruitment, all job descriptions, person specifications, adverts and 
questions at interview reflected the attitudes, behaviours and standards the Trust 
expects of employees.  

All new staff attended a corporate induction where a half-day was dedicated to patient 
experience and what all staff must do in terms of behaviours to ensure the Trust is at its 
best consistently. 

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)  

Patient Advice  
and Liaison Service  

(PALS)  

 

Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) helps patients, carers, relatives and 
families resolve problems as quickly and easily as possible by putting them in touch with 
the appropriate member of staff. A total of 2,931 PALS contacts were recorded (1,845 in 
2015/16).  

Compliments  

 

The Trust received nearly 300 more compliments than in the previous year: 18,814 
compared with 18,542 in 2015/16. Compliments are received in different ways, including 
letters, cards, gifts, emails and through the local press. The ratio of compliments to 
complaints was 23:1. Emails praising staff, the Trust or our services are forwarded to the 
Chief Executive and relevant directors, managers and matrons and, where possible, to 
any named staff.  

Complaints  
 

The Trust is committed to learning from experience to improve the service offered to 
patients and visitors. We encourage patients and visitors to help by telling us what they 
think of their experience. 

Information on 
complaints handling  

 

A total of 685 complaints were received by the Trust, compared with 799 the previous 
year, representing a 14% reduction. The Trust views the receipt of complaints positively 
because it is an opportunity to learn lessons and improve patient experience. The Trust 
re-opened 37 complaints because the complainants were not satisfied by the first 
response they received. 

Local resolution of 
complaints  

 

 

Where complainants are not satisfied with the local resolution of issues and concerns, 
they are taken forward as formal complaints which receive a written response. The Trust 
has worked extremely hard on providing improved responses. The reasons for 
complaints being re-opened are that complainants have concerns that were either not 
addressed completely the first time or because further questions are raised. The number 
of complaints that re-opened fell compared to the previous year, indicating an 
improvement in the information given to complainants. 
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Referrals to the 
PHSO 

The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) made contact with the Trust 
regarding 21 complaint cases compared with 22 the previous year, all requiring 
assessment and further investigation by the PHSO. 

Acting to improve our 
complaints process  

 

During office hours all complainants receive a call within 24 hours of their complaint and 
an acknowledgement letter within 48 hours. This is followed up with a full 
acknowledgement detailing the concerns that will be investigated and giving the 
complainant a time frame. The complaints process has been reviewed with a view to 
making it less onerous so that complainants can be assured they receive timely 
responses. 

Service 
improvements 

following complaints  

The Trust ensured that complaints were reviewed at local clinical governance meetings 
and that action plans were implemented and reviewed so that learning and changes in 
practice could be made. 
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Helen Newman was appointed in March as the first consultant breast radiographer in 
Essex.  

She will divide her time between the breast units at Essex County Hospital and Broomfield 
Hospital, near Chelmsford. 

As a consultant radiographer, she is able to undertake tasks that have previously been carried 
out exclusively by doctors (radiologists), such as assessing mammograms, performing breast 
ultrasound and taking biopsies.  

As well as running clinics in Colchester and Chelmsford, she will be involved in training 
radiographers and in research. 
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Our Board of Directors   

Board of Directors’ 
responsibility  

 

The Board of Directors functions as a corporate decision-making body. The duty of 
the board and of each director individually is to ensure the long-term success of the 
Trust in delivering high quality health care. As a board, all directors have the same 
status and as non-executive and executives sitting on a single board, operate on the 
principle of a “unitary board”. 

All the powers of the Trust shall be exercised by the Board of Directors on behalf of 
the organisation. The rules and regulations within which the board is expected to 
operate are captured in the Trust’s corporate governance documents, which include 
the organisation’s constitution (which contains the standing orders for the Board of 
Directors), its schedule of matters reserved for board decision, standing financial 
instructions and scheme of delegation. These documents explain the respective roles 
and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and Council of Governors, the matters 
which require board and/or council approval and matters which are delegated to 
committees or executive management.  

Disagreements between the Board of Directors and Council of Governors are 
resolved through a process which aims to achieve informal resolution in the first 
instance, following which a formal process will be taken which involves a resolution 
for discussion at a board meeting.  

The limitations set on the delegation to executive management require that any 
executive action taken in the course of business does not compromise the integrity 
and reputation of the Trust and takes account of any potential risk, health and safety, 
patient experience, finance and working with partner organisations. 

Appointment and 
composition of the 
Board of Directors 

 

 

The Board of Directors comprises full-time executive directors and part-time non-
executive directors, all of whom are appointed because of their experience, business 
acumen and/or links with the local community. The Trust considers all of its non-
executive directors to be independent. 

The board comprises a Chair, six further non-executive directors and six voting 
executive directors. The Council of Governors appointed the Chair and other non-
executive directors in accordance with the constitution and in line with paragraphs 
19(2) and 19(3) respectively of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
The non-executive directors were appointed by the Council of Governors following 
national recruitment. In line with the Trust’s constitution, these appointments and 
reappointments were approved by the Council of Governors. In May, the Council 
appointed David White as Chair when Alan Rose stepped down to enable the 
partnership between the Colchester and Ipswich hospital trusts to be progressed 
under a single leadership. In December, the Council also appointed a new non-
executive director, Tim Fenton, when Tom Fleetwood resigned to take up the role of 
Freedom to Speak Up Guardian for both trusts. 

Disclosures of the remuneration paid to the Chair, non-executive directors and 
executive directors are given in the Remuneration Report (pages 72-74). 

The board is content that its balance, completeness and effectiveness meet the 
requirements of an NHS foundation trust. 

Register of interests 

 

All directors are asked to declare any interests on the register of directors’ interests at 
the time of their appointment. This register is reviewed and maintained by the 
Company Secretary, and is available for inspection by members of the public. 
Anyone who wishes to see the register should contact Trust Offices at the address on 
page 6. 

None of the executive directors was released by the Trust to serve as non-executive 
directors elsewhere during the year. 
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About the Non-Executive Directors 
  

 

David White 

 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: 6 May 2016 

Term of office: Expires 5 May 2019 

Chair of the Board of Directors, the 
Council of Governors, the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee and 
Appointments and Performance 
Committee.  

The Chair's main role is to provide clear 
leadership to the Trust's Board of Directors and 
Council of Governors. David has extensive 
leadership experience as both a chief executive 
and non-executive director in the public sector. 
He moved from Nottinghamshire to live and 
work in Suffolk in 1994 as Chief Executive of 
Suffolk Health Authority, a post he held until 
2002. He was then Chief Executive of Thurrock 
Council for four years until 2006 followed by 6½ 
years as Chief Executive of Norfolk County 
Council. He retired in April 2013. He has been 
Chair of Ipswich Hospital since November 
2015. 

Susan Aylen-
Peacock 

 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: 9 November 2015 

Term of office:  
Expires 8 November 2018 

Chair of the Charitable Funds and 
Sponsorship Committee and Quality and 
Patient Safety Assurance Committee 
from 1 December 2016; member of the 
People and Organisational Development 
Assurance Committee, and the 
Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. 

Susan, who lives in Great Bromley, has worked 
for the NHS for the past 14 years in project 
management, service improvement and various 
corporate governance roles. She is a qualified 
chartered secretary and has 30 years' 
experience as a governance and risk 
professional, spanning health, local 
government and work with the third sector. 

Jude Chin 

 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: 13 September 2011 
Reappointed: 13 September 2014 

Term of office: 
Expires 12 September 2017 

Chair of the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee; member of the Finance and 
Performance Assurance Committee and 
the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee.  

Jude has extensive commercial and 
international experience gained from a 30-year 
career with the professional services firm 
KPMG, auditing and advising on mergers and 
acquisitions. 

He also has extensive experience of the 
education sector as Chair of SSAT (The 
Schools, Students and Teachers network) and 
a number of voluntary roles on school 
governing bodies. 

Jude is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales and a 
biochemistry graduate of the University of 
Bristol. 

Tim Fenton 

 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: 8 December 2016 

Term of office:  
Expires 7 December 2019 

Member of the People and 
Organisational Development Assurance 
Committee, the Quality and Patient 
Safety Assurance Committee and the 
Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. 

Tim enjoyed a 19-year career at the BBC, 
starting in Colchester as a reporter, producer 
and newsreader for BBC Essex. His other roles 
at the corporation included being a political and 
parliamentary correspondent (1988-1995) and 
managing editor of BBC News Online (2000-
2004). 

Since September 2006, he has worked as an 
independent news industry consultant and 
interim manager. The son of a GP and a nurse, 
Tim was Chair of governors at Holbrook 
Academy between 2013 and 2015. 
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About the Non-Executive Directors 
  

 

Diane Leacock 

 

Non-Executive Director/Senior 
Independent Director 

Appointed: 1 April 2014 

Term of office: Reappointed for a 
second term of office in April 2017 

Expires: 31 March 2020 

Trust non-executive director lead for 
safeguarding and children. Chair of the 
People and Organisational Development 
Assurance Committee and member of 
the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
and Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. 

Diane, who lives in the local area, served as a 
non-executive director at NHS North East 
Essex from July 2009 to November 2011, and 
is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants. 

Currently the Director of Finance of a regional 
law firm, she has considerable experience in 
senior finance roles within commercial 
organisations, most recently as Finance 
Director within the professional services and 
publishing arenas. In addition, Diane served as 
a school governor for over 10 years, retiring as 
Vice Chair in 2015. 

Julie Parker 

 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: 1 April 2014 

Term of office: Reappointed for a 
second term of office in April 2017 

Expires: 31 March 2020  

Trust non-executive director lead for 
eProcurement. Chair of the Finance and 
Performance Assurance Committee; 
member of the Quality and Patient Safety 
Assurance Committee and Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee. 

Julie, who has lived all her life in the area 
served by the Trust, is a qualified accountant. 
She has significant experience working as a 
director of resources and finance at three 
London councils over a period of 10 years. 

She is currently a board member at Colchester 
Borough Homes; a member of the Joint Audit 
Committee of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Essex Police. Julie also 
serves on the audit committees of two national 
bodies (the Health & Care Professions Council 
and the Housing Ombudsman). 

Jan Smith 

 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: 9 November 2015 

Term of office: Expires 8 November 
2018 
Member of the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee, Finance and Performance 
Assurance Committee and the 
Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. 

Jan, who lives near Coggeshall, has run her 
own company since 1998 – a marketing 
consultancy and service provider – working 
either as a consultant or interim board director 
with a focus on strategy development, 
marketing and communication, sales and 
customer experience. She has been a non-
executive director on a number of boards 
during the past 18 years in both the public and 
private sectors. For more than two years, 
between 2009 and 2011, she was a non-
executive director of Mid Essex Hospital 
Services NHS Trust. 

Former Non-Executive Directors   
 

Alan Rose Appointed Chair: 1 April 2015 Alan stood down on 5 May to help accelerate 
the long-term partnership between the Trust 
and Ipswich Hospital. 

Tom Fleetwood 

 

Appointed: 12 October 2012 

Reappointed: 12 May 2015 

Tom stepped down as non-executive director 
following his appointment as Freedom to Speak 
Up Guardian on 1 December (see page 80). 
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About the Executive Directors   
 

Nick Hulme  

 

@Nickhulme61 

Chief Executive 

Appointed  

17 May 2016 
Term of office: Permanent 

Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months 

Trust Accounting Officer. Responsible for 
corporate strategy, external relations, 
transformation plan, regulation and 
compliance, leadership. 

 

Nick Hulme has worked in the NHS for 
more than 30 years.  

He was appointed Chief Executive of 
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust in January 
2013, and in May 2016 also became 
Chief Executive of our Trust. In addition, 
he leads the Suffolk and North East 
Essex STP.  

Barbara Buckley 

 

 

Managing Director/ 
Deputy Chief Executive 

Started at the Trust 

17 May 2016 

Appointed Board Director 

1 December 2016 

Term of office: Permanent 
 
Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

 

Formerly the Medical Director of Ipswich 
Hospital, Barbara has over 15 years’ 
experience of board leadership as 
Medical Director in three previous 
organisations, and has a wealth of 
knowledge in leading change and 
transformation through clinical 
engagement. 

Catherine Morgan 

 

Director of Nursing  

Appointed  
23 January 2017 

Term of office: 
Permanent 

Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  
 

Catherine previously worked at Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn, where 
she was Director of Nursing for three 
years. Before that, she was Deputy 
Director of Nursing at Ipswich Hospital. 
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About the Executive Directors   
 

Dr Angela Tillett 

 

@angela_tillett 

Medical Director  

Appointed Medical Director  
9 March 2015 

Term of office: 
Permanent 

Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

 

Angela trained at University College 
London and qualified in 1987. She 
trained as a GP but went on to complete 
paediatric training, starting as a 
consultant in Colchester in 2001. Roles 
include Lead Clinician for Paediatric 
Oncology Services and from March 
2011 to December 2013 Divisional 
Director for Women’s and Children’s 
Services. She is an instructor for 
Resuscitation UK courses and supports 
life support training and the paediatric 
critical care group at the Trust. 

As well as her Medical Director role, 
Angela continues with her specialty 
clinical work in paediatric oncology and 
paediatric cardiology. 

Dawn Scrafield 

 

@DawnScrafield 

Director of Finance  

Appointed  
2 February 2015 

Term of office: 
Permanent 

Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

Dawn has 18 years' experience in the 
NHS, predominately as an accountant 
and ultimately as a Finance Director. 

She spent two years at NHS England's 
Essex Area Team as Director of 
Finance and Deputy Area Director. Prior 
to that, from 2010-11 she was Director 
of Finance at NHS South West Essex 
and worked at South East Essex PCT 
from 2006 to 2009.  

Julie Fryatt 

 

@julesfryatt 

Director of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development 

Appointed 

2 November 2015 

Term of office: Permanent 
 
Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

 

Julie was the executive lead for 
leadership and workforce supply at 
Health Education East of England. 
Before this, she spent seven years at 
Ipswich Hospital where she held the 
posts of Human Resources Director and 
Foundation Trust Director. 
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About the Executive Directors   
 

Alison Power 

 

Director of Operations* 

Appointed 

23 January 2017 
Term of office: 
Permanent 

Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months 

Alison was previously the Deputy Chief 
Operating Officer and Head of 
Operations at Ipswich Hospital. 

 

Shane Gordon 

 

@DrShaneGordon 

Appointed Chief Operating Officer 
2 March 2015 

Chief Operating Officer until 18 April when 
Jeremy Tozer was appointed (see below) 

Director of Integration* from 19 April  

Deputy Chief Executive until 30 November 
2016 when Barbara Buckley was appointed 

Term of office: Permanent 
 
Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

Shane was previously Clinical Chief 
Officer of North East Essex Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG). 

He was Associate Medical Director of 
the East of England Strategic Health 
Authority and is a member of the Royal 
College of General Practitioners and the 
Royal College of Surgeons. 

 

Rachel Webb 

 

Director of Strategy & Transformation* 

Appointed 

May 2015 

Term of office: Permanent 
 
Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

Rachel left the Trust on 24 April 2017 to work 
for NHS England 

Previously, Rachel was the Director of 
Business Development at South Essex 
Partnership NHS Trust for six years. 

She leads on developing the Trust's 
clinical strategy with clinical teams and 
provides leadership for the delivery of 
the Trust's transformation programme. 
Rachel also works with a range of local 
and regional health and social care 
partners to redesign and develop new 
services for north east Essex. 

Chris Howlett 

 

Director of Estates and Facilities* 

Appointed 

June 2015 

Term of office: Permanent 
 
Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

Chris started in the NHS as an 
engineering apprentice at the Norfolk 
and Norwich Hospital over 30 years 
ago. He has worked in estates 
management roles in mental health and 
community services in Dorset and East 
Sussex. 

In 2010 Chris attained his first director 
role at South Essex Partnership NHS 
Trust and has a track record of 
delivering high quality estates and 
facilities services and capital 
developments.  
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About the Executive Directors   
 

Ann Alderton 

 

@Tredaran 

Company Secretary* 

Appointed 

June 2015 

Term of office: Permanent 
 
Notice period: 
Trust: six months 
Employee: three months  

Ann was previously Company Secretary 
at Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust and Director of Audit 
Services of an NHS internal audit 
consortium. 

She is a qualified accountant and 
chartered secretary. She is responsible 
for the corporate governance of the 
Trust and advising the Board of 
Directors and Council of Governors 
about their duties and responsibilities. 

Former Executive Directors   
 

Frank Sims 

 

Chief Executive 

Appointed: 19 October 2015 
Frank stood down on 16 May to help 
accelerate the long-term partnership 
between the Trust and Ipswich Hospital 

Barbara Stuttle 

 

Director of Nursing and Patient Experience  

Appointed: 3 November 2014 

Term of office: Permanent from 1 May 2015 

Barbara retired on 31 December 

 

Jeremy Tozer* 

 

Chief Operating Officer  

Appointed: 18 April 2016 

Term of office: Interim  

Jeremy left the Trust on 19 January 
2017 

 

* = non-voting member of the Board of Directors   
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About the Divisional Directors   
 

Restructure of the 
five clinical 

divisions 

 

A restructure of the five clinical divisions took place on 23 January following an extended 
consultation carried out from the end of August until October.  

The three new divisions are: 

• Surgery including Cancer 

• Medicine including Emergency  

• Women, Children & Clinical Support Services 

Mr Chris 
Backhouse 

 

Appointed  
Divisional Director, Surgery 
March 2015 
Appointed  
Divisional Clinical Director 
Surgery including Cancer 

25 November 2016 

Chris qualified in 1976. Having obtained the 
Fellowship of the Royal College of Surgeons, he 
returned to Charing Cross Hospital as a registrar, then 
lecturer in surgery before a senior registrar rotation in 
the West Midlands. He was appointed Consultant 
General and Vascular Surgeon in Colchester in 1992. 
He has held various positions over the years, including 
surgical tutor, Chairman of the Theatre Management 
Group, Vascular Lead Clinician and Associate Clinical 
Director in Surgery, before his appointment as 
Divisional Director. Chris continues his clinical role as 
a vascular and endocrine surgeon. 

Miss Jo Osborne 

 

Appointed  
Divisional Director  
Women’s and Children’s 
Services 
March 2015 

Starts in post as joint 
Divisional Clinical Director  
Women, Children & Clinical 
Support Services 

1 April 2017 

Jo qualified in 1990. She trained in obstetrics and 
gynaecology, completing her training at Colchester in 
2001. She was appointed Consultant Obstetrician and 
Gynaecologist at Colchester the following year. Jo 
held the position of Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists College Tutor from 2001 to 2006. She 
became Clinical Lead in Obstetrics and Gynaecology 
in 2012 and held this position until taking up the role of 
Divisional Director in April 2015. Jo completed an NHS 
Senior Leadership modular training programme in May 
2014. She continues her clinical work in obstetrics and 
gynaecology alongside her role as Divisional Director. 

Lou Notley 

 

Appointed  
Divisional Clinical Director  
Medicine including Emergency 
Care: 
25 November 2016 

Lou has been a nurse in Colchester for more than 25 
years and was Matron for Specialist Medicine for four 
years before becoming Nurse Consultant for Older 
People in 2010. In 2014 she was appointed Associate 
Director of Nursing (ADN) for the Women’s and 
Children’s Division and in April 2015 was appointed 
ADN for Medicine. 

Dr Arun Sebastian Started in post as joint 
Divisional Clinical Director,  
Women, Children & Clinical 
Support Services 

1 April 2017 

 

Dr Charles Bodmer 

 

Appointed  
Divisional Director, Medicine 
December 2013 

Stepped down: November 2016 
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About the Divisional Directors   
 

Dr Gillian Urwin 

 

Appointed  
Divisional Director, Cancer and 
Clinical Support Services 
December 2013  

Stepped down: August 2016 

Dr David Gannon 

 

Appointed  
Divisional Director 
Urgent Care (A&E, EAU)  
April 2015 

Stepped down: April 2016 

 

At the time of their appointment, all directors are asked to declare any interests on the register of directors’ interests. They are 
asked to register any changes to their declarations and to confirm, in writing, on an annual basis that the declarations made are 
accurate. The register is maintained by the Trust’s Company Secretary and is available to anyone who wishes to see it. 
Inquiries should be made to the Company Secretary at the address on page 6. 
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Staff based in the Critical Care Unit at Colchester General Hospital became the first at 
the Trust to start training on “SimMan”, a hi-tech £42,725 manikin, in order to improve 
their clinical skills. 

The advanced patient simulator can make noises when in pain, bleeds, sheds tears, has 
blood pressure that can rise or fall and its lips turn blue when deprived of oxygen. 

Its computer technology allows staff to rehearse both common clinical scenarios, such as the 
management of patients who have epilepsy, acute asthma, blocked airways and allergic 
reactions to drugs, and critical incidents to improve real patient outcomes. 

SimMan can be used by a wide range of health professionals, including healthcare 
assistants, medical students and consultants, and in different parts of the Trust, such as 
operating theatres and the maternity department. 
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Evaluation of the Board of Directors' performance  

The Board of Directors’ 
meetings 

 The Board of Directors met monthly.  

There were 12 general meetings of the Board, five of which were held in public 
(each with a private session to discuss confidential matters): 28 April, 26 May, 30 
June, 27 July, 25 August, 28 September, 27 October, 23 November, 21 December, 
31 January, 28 February, 28 March.  

 Name Title Attended 

Susan Aylen-Peacock Non-Executive Director  8/12 

Barbara Buckley Managing Director (from 1 December) 9/10 

Jude Chin Non-Executive Director 10/12 

Tom Fleetwood Non-Executive Director (until 7 December) 7/8 

Tim Fenton Non-Executive Director (from 8 December) 3/4 

Julie Fryatt Director of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development  

11/12 

Shane Gordon Director of Integration  12/12 

Nick Hulme Chief Executive (from 17 May) 10/11 

Diane Leacock Non-Executive Director 12/12 

Catherine Morgan Director of Nursing (from 23 January)  3/3 

Julie Parker Non-Executive Director 12/12 

Alison Power Director of Operations (from 23 January) 3/3 

Alan Rose Chairman (until 5 May)  1/1 

Dawn Scrafield Director of Finance 11/12 

Frank Sims  Chief Executive (until 16 May) 1/1 

Jan Smith Non-Executive Director  10/12 

Barbara Stuttle Director of Nursing (to 31 December)  8/9 

Dr Angela Tillett Medical Director  10/12 

David White Chair (from 6 May)  10/11 
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Board development Board development takes place in workshops and seminars on the days when the 
board meets. Two of the sessions were governance related, involving a review of 
Trust objectives and the Board’s Risk Appetite Statement.  Other workshops and 
seminars covered transformation (Every Patient, Every Day), equality and diversity, 
and mortality.   

Ongoing development The Chair holds team and one-to-one meetings with the Chief Executive and non-
executive directors as required and has frequent individual meetings with executive 
directors.  

Appraisal process for the 
Chair and non-executive 

directors 

The Chair and Company Secretary worked with the Council of Governors to 
maintain the appraisal process for the Chair and non-executive directors.  

The Chair is formally appraised by the Senior Independent Director in conjunction 
with the Council of Governors via its Appointments & Performance Committee. 
Appraisal of non-executive directors is carried out by the Chair, advised by the Lead 
Governor, and reported to the Council of Governors via the Appointments & 
Performance Committee.  

Appraisal process for 
executive directors 

An appraisal process is in place for the Chief Executive and other executive 
directors. The Chair appraises the Chief Executive and the Chief Executive 
appraises the executive directors, reporting to the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee on the process and outcome of the appraisals.  

Board and committee 
effectiveness 

 

Following the appointment of a new Chair and Chief Executive in May 2016, the 
planned independent review of board effectiveness was put on hold until 2017/18. 
The Company Secretary prepared an evaluation of the Board’s performance against 
the NHSI “Well-led framework” in March 2017.   

All of the Board committees completed self-assessment surveys of their own 
effectiveness. Areas for potential improvement were identified and actioned with 
immediate effect through reviews of administration procedures and updates to the 
committees’ terms of reference. The committees were observed by EY as part of 
the governance worksteam of the Every Patient, Every Day programme in March 
2017 and by NHS Improvement the next month. Feedback from these observations, 
the “Well-led framework” review, along with the results of a follow-up of the 
committee self-assessment surveys, will be reported back to the Board early in 
2017/18. 

Governance 
arrangements 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Further review and development of the Trust’s governance arrangements took place 
during the year as part of the governance workstream of the Every Patient, Every 
Day programme. 

Changes made to Executive Management Team governance included: 

• a new Patient Safety and Experience Group and Clinical Effectiveness 
Group, meeting monthly and reporting to the Executive Management 
Committee 

• a monthly quality and risk meeting of the Executive Management Committee, 
comprising the Executive Team, Deputy Director of Nursing and divisional 
leads 

• a clear line of reporting to the Executive Management Committee and the 
Board through a revised executive and committee structure. 

Other arrangements have included a divisional integrated performance meeting for 
each of the divisions, where the executive directors meet monthly with each division 
to oversee the business of the division – focusing on ensuring the delivery of the 
corporate objectives and the division’s performance against the accountability 
framework. Core members include the Divisional Director, executive board directors 
and the Head of Operations, Head of Nursing and the human resources and finance 
business partners for the divisions. Operational and financial performance and high 
risk issues highlighted at these meetings are reported to the Executive Management 
Committee and to the Board assurance committees.   
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The board finished the year with six committees. All are chaired by a non-executive 
director and meet regularly, based on an agreed business cycle, and report to the 
Board of Directors. With the exception of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee, governors have been assigned as observers to these committees and 
provide their feedback to the Council of Governors on their effectiveness.  

The committees of the Trust Board are: 

• Audit and Risk Assurance Committee  

• Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee 

• Finance and Performance Assurance Committee  

• People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee  

• Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee 

• Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee 

  

 

This committee is responsible for reviewing the establishment and maintenance of an 
effective system of integrated governance, risk management and internal control 
across the whole of the Trust’s activities (both clinical and non-clinical) that support 
the achievement of the organisation’s objectives.  

It also ensures there is an effective internal audit function, established by 
management, which meets mandatory NHS internal audit standards and provides 
independent assurance to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee, Chief Executive 
and Board of Directors.  

The committee also reviews the work and findings of the external auditors appointed 
by the Council of Governors and considers the implications of their findings and 
recommendations and related management responses. 

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee held five meetings:  

10 May, 24 May, 29 July, 4 November, 8 February.  

Members and meetings 
attended in brackets 

Jude Chin, Committee Chair (5/5), Diane Leacock (5/5), Jan Smith (5/5).  

Executive directors (voting and non-voting) in attendance: Dawn Scrafield, Jeremy 
Tozer (May only), Julie Fryatt, Ann Alderton.  

Internal auditors The Trust’s internal auditors are Mazars Public Sector Internal Audit Ltd. Their role is 
to provide independent assurance that our risk management, governance and 
internal control processes are operating effectively. 

External auditors 

 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP will be the Trust’s external auditors for 2017/18, having been 
appointed by the Council of Governors in March 2011 for three years from 1 April 
2012, with a contract extension to 31 March 2017.   

Following a joint procurement with Ipswich Hospital, the Council of Governors have 
appointed BDO UK LLP as the Trust’s external auditors from 1 April 2017 for three 
years. 

The responsibility of the Trust’s external auditors is to independently audit the 
financial statements and the part of the remuneration report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). They also provide independent assurance 
on the Quality Report. 

The Trust ensures that the external auditors’ independence is not compromised by 
work outside the Audit Code by having an agreed protocol for non-audit work. Non-
audit work may be performed by the Trust’s external auditors where the Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee’s approved procedure is followed, which ensures all such 
work is properly considered and the auditors’ objectivity and independence are 
safeguarded. 

Quality and Patient 
Safety Assurance 

This committee’s main duties are to: 

http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/


Annual Report, Annual Accounts & Quality Report | 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017 

 www.colchesterhospital.nhs.uk Page 65   

 
 

Committee • oversee the development and implementation of a quality strategy with a 
clear focus on improvement, drawing on and benchmarking against ideas 
and best practice from external organisations 

• review trends in patient safety, experience and outcomes (effectiveness) to 
provide assurance to the Board on performance against key quality 
performance indicators and undertake “deep dives” as appropriate 

• receive reports on significant concerns or adverse findings highlighted by 
external bodies in relation to clinical quality and safety and the actions being 
taken by management to address them. These should include mortality 
outlier alerts 

• oversee the implementation of improvement plans relating to reports of 
regulators and other external review bodies with responsibility for quality and 
safety 

• oversee the development and implementation of action plans arising from 
both inpatient and other care related surveys with recommendations to the 
Board as appropriate 

• consider the impact of Quality Impact Assessments of Cost Improvement 
Programmes on quality, patient safety and wider health and safety 
requirements 

• oversee the effectiveness of the clinical systems established by the Trust to 
ensure they maintain compliance with the CQC’s Essential Standards of 
Quality and Safety 

• monitor and review the systems and processes in place at the Trust in 
relation to infection control and to review progress against identified risks to 
reducing hospital-acquired infections 

• review aggregated analyses of adverse events (including Serious Incidents), 
complaints, claims and litigation to identify common themes and trends and 
gain assurance that appropriate actions are being taken to address them 

• advise the Board of key strategic risks relating to quality and patient safety 
and consider plans for mitigation as appropriate. 

The Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee held 12 meetings:  

22 April, 20 May, 24 June, 22 July, 19 August, 23 September, 21 October, 18 
November, 16 December, 27 January, 24 February, 24 March. 

Members and meetings 
attended in brackets 

Tom Fleetwood, Committee Chair until November (7/8); Susan Aylen-Peacock, 
Committee Chair from December (10/12); Julie Parker (9/12), Tim Fenton (from 
December) (4/4). 

Executive directors (voting and non-voting) in attendance: Catherine Morgan (from 
January), Ann Alderton, Chris Howlett, Dr Angela Tillett, Barbara Buckley, Barbara 
Stuttle (until December). 

Finance and 
Performance Assurance 

Committee 

This committee’s remit is to:  

• oversee the development and implementation of the Trust’s financial and 
performance strategy to deliver the service objectives as set out in the 
Forward Plan and to ensure delivery of financial and performance targets 

• monitor delivery of the Trust’s Cost Improvement Programme and the 
development of efficiency and productivity processes 

• oversee the investment and borrowing strategy and policy, reviewing 
performance against Treasury management benchmarks and targets and 
ensuring compliance with Trust policies and procedures in respect of limits, 
approved counterparties and types of investment 

• receive monthly reports on financial and operational performance, including 
Cost Improvement Programmes, noting any trends, exceptions and variances 
against plans on a Trust-wide and divisional basis and undertaking “deep 
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dives” as appropriate 

• under direction from the Board, oversee and scrutinise the investment 
appraisal of business cases and wider business development opportunities 

• oversee the contracting and planning mechanisms in place with 
commissioners of health 

• care to agree annual or longer term contracts as may be appropriate, seeking 
to ensure that any financial or operational risks arising from those contracts 
are identified and mitigated as appropriate 

• oversee the rolling capital programme, including scrutiny of the prioritisation 
process, and monitor its delivery 

• advise the Board of key strategic risks relating to financial and operational 
performance and consider plans for mitigation as appropriate. 

The Finance and Performance Assurance Committee held 12 meetings:  

20 April, 18 May, 22 June, 20 July, 24 August, 21 September, 19 October,  
16 November, 18 December, 25 January, 22 February, 22 March. 

Members and meetings 
attended in brackets 

Julie Parker, Committee Chair (12/12), Jude Chin (11/12), Jan Smith (7/12).  

Executive directors (voting and non-voting) in attendance: Dawn Scrafield, Rachel 
Webb, Jeremy Tozer, Alison Power, Ann Alderton, Barbara Buckley, Julie Fryatt. 

People and 
Organisational 

Development Assurance 
Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

This committee’s main duties are to: 

• oversee the Trust’s strategy and plans on workforce issues, including the 
efficient deployment of staff to meet service requirements, including advising 
the Board on strategic and operational risks and opportunities relating to 
workforce, staff engagement and employment practice 

• oversee the Trust’s strategy and plans for workforce education, learning and 
development, and provide assurance to the Board that individual training and 
development approaches are fit for purpose 

• receive details of workforce planning priorities that arise from the annual 
business planning process and to receive exception reports on any significant 
issues/risks 

• ensure that effective workforce enablers are put in place to drive high 
performance and quality improvement 

• review performance indicators relevant to the remit of the committee 

• monitor and evaluate the Trust’s compliance with the Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

• mandate the scope of negotiations on changes to reward systems within the 
Trust and to keep oversight and impact of benefits management 

• receive and review regular reports on organisational development, including 
leadership capability, workforce planning, cost management, regulation of the 
workforce and its health and wellbeing 

• receive and review reports on the NHS Staff Survey and other staff 
engagement data and ensure that action plans support improvement in staff 
experience and services to patients 

• advise the Board of key strategic risks relating to workforce and employment 
practice and consider plans for mitigation as appropriate. 

The People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee met 12 times:  

20 April, 18 May, 21 June, 20 July, 18 August, 21 September, 19 October,  
16 November, 21 December, 25 January, 22 February, 22 March.  

 
Members and meetings 

attended in brackets 
Diane Leacock, Committee Chair (12/12), Susan Aylen-Peacock (9/12), Tim Fenton 
(4/4), Tom Fleetwood (until November) (6/8).  
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 Executive directors in attendance (voting and non-voting): Julie Fryatt, Ann Alderton, 
Dr Angela Tillett, Catherine Morgan (from 16 January), Barbara Stuttle (until 16 
December), Chris Howlett (October only), Dawn Scrafield (June only) and David 
White (July only). 

Charitable Funds and 
Sponsorship Committee 

The Board of Directors is 
the corporate trustee of 

the charities that are 
together registered with 
the Charity Commission 
under number 1051504  

The Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee has delegated responsibility from 
the Board of Directors to adhere to the principles and responsibilities of trusteeship 
as defined by the Charity Commission and the Trustee Act 2000, Section 11. In the 
main, the committee reviews the policies and procedures for fundraising, acceptance 
and expenditure, including the internal control arrangements operating within the 
Trust for charitable funds. 

The committee includes representation from operational senior managers from 
across the Trust. Two formal meetings of the committee were held: 11 August, 10 
November.  

Members and meetings 
attended in brackets 

Susan Aylen-Peacock, Committee Chairman (2/2), Diane Leacock (2/2). 

Executive directors in attendance (voting and non-voting): Dawn Scrafield, Ann 
Alderton.  

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee also fulfils the role of a nomination 
committee and reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board of Directors 
and makes recommendations for changes where and when appropriate. It also 
considers succession planning arrangements, taking into account the challenges and 
opportunities facing the Trust and the skills and expertise required on the Board of 
Directors. This committee is responsible for advising on the appointment and/or 
dismissal of executive directors. It is also responsible for the approval of their 
remuneration and terms of service and the monitoring of their performance against 
delivery of organisational objectives.  

The Trust Chair is the Chair of the committee and the membership comprises all the 
non-executive directors. The Chief Executive, Director of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development and the Company Secretary are routinely invited to 
attend these meetings except when their own terms and conditions are under 
discussion. An appointments panel of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
is convened when permanent executive appointments are to be made. All 
appointments are by public advertisement. External assessors are part of the 
recruitment process.  

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee held three meetings: 16 May, 23 
June, 17 January.  

Appointments panels were convened to appoint to the posts of Managing Director, 
Director of Nursing and Director of Operations. 

Members and meetings 
attended in brackets 

David White, Chair (3/3), Tom Fleetwood (2/2), Susan Aylen-Peacock (2/3), Jude 
Chin (3/3), Julie Parker (2/3), Diane Leacock (2/3), Jan Smith (2/3).  

Advice or services to the 
committee 

The Trust commissioned the NHS Leadership Academy to assist in the organisation 
and facilitation of the recruitment process for the Director of Operations. The total fee 
paid for this support was £17,000. 

 
  

http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/


Annual Report, Annual Accounts & Quality Report | 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017 

 www.colchesterhospital.nhs.uk Page 68   

 
 

 

A new type of healthcare professional called “physician associates” (PAs) started in 
September at Colchester General Hospital.  

Working under the supervision of a doctor, PAs carry out important day-to-day tasks including 
taking medical histories, diagnosing illnesses and analysing test results.  

Four PAs are spending most of a 12-month period at the hospital while they complete the 
second and final year of their physician associate MSc degree, awarded by Anglia Ruskin 
University. 

The PAs have placements in different specialties, including medicine, surgery, paediatrics, 
and obstetrics and gynaecology, and spend a limited amount of time back at university. 

PAs have to meet a nationally approved standard of training and practice. This is a 
requirement of the competence and curriculum framework for physician associates as laid 
down by the Faculty of Physician Associates. 

Although PAs are a relatively new type of healthcare professional in the NHS, they have 
existed for much longer in other parts of the world, such as the United States where there are 
more than 100,000 of them, and Australia. 

 

Pictured on their first day at Colchester General Hospital are physician associates  
(from left to right) Ghulam Akbar, Tara Gharti Magar, Harbans Sandhu and Sarah Khan. 
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Remuneration Report (unaudited)  

Introduction and 
purpose 

 

The purpose of the Remuneration Report is to provide a statement to stakeholders on 
the decisions of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee relating to the 
executive directors of the Board of Directors. In preparing this report, the Trust has 
ensured it complies with the relevant sections of the Companies Act 2006 and related 
regulations and elements of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance. 

Annual Statement on Remuneration 
 
 

Statement of the Chair 
of the Remuneration 

and Nomination 
Committee 

New appointments were made to the roles of Chief Executive, Managing Director, 
Director of Nursing and Director of Operations.  

Decisions on their remuneration were based on available benchmarking information 
from a NHS Providers survey, the advice of the executive search firm supporting the 
appointments and other market intelligence relating to trusts in special measures.  

Directors are employed on service contracts whose provisions are consistent with 
those relating to other employees within the Trust. 

Following publication of NHS Improvement’s Guidance on Pay for Very Senior 
Managers, all new appointments to the Trust where the salary was over £142,500 are 
subject to an element of earn-back pay. This means that a percentage of base pay 
(normally at least 10%) is placed at risk, subject to the individual meeting agreed 
performance objectives. 

Senior Managers’ Remuneration Policy 
 

 

Remuneration and 
performance conditions 

 

With the exception of those individuals subject to earn-back pay, the remuneration of 
the directors and non-executive directors does not include any individual 
performance-related component. Their remuneration is subject to an annual review 
which takes into account a benchmarking comparison with other similar 
organisations, general labour market conditions and the Board’s collective 
achievement of organisational objectives. The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee reviewed benchmarked data at its meeting on 23 June.  

Service contracts for directors do not contain any obligations which could give rise to 
or impact on remuneration payments or payments for loss of office. 

The remuneration of the Chair and non-executive directors is decided by the Council 
of Governors following advice from its Appointments & Performance Committee. To 
determine the remuneration, the committee uses the data from an annual survey 
undertaken by NHS Providers. The level of remuneration for non-executive directors 
is based on an average expected workload of a minimum of four days a month and a 
minimum of three days a week for the Chair.  

To determine executive directors’ salary levels, the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee uses mainly the data from the annual NHS Providers survey along with 
the benchmarking information provided by external search organisations supporting 
executive director recruitment. Decisions relating to salary levels in the rest of the 
organisation are factored into the Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s 
discussion of executive director salaries and the Appointments & Performance 
Committee’s discussion of non-executive director salaries. The committee does not 
consult with employees when considering its policy on senior managers’ 
remuneration. 

Other than the Trust’s Medical Director, amendments to annual salary are decided by 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The annual salary of the executive 
directors is inclusive of all cash benefits other than business mileage. The Medical 
Director’s salary is in accordance with the Medical and Dental Consultants’ Terms 
and Conditions of Service. The special allowance for undertaking the role of Medical 
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Director is approved by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  

Three of the Trust’s six executive directors are currently paid more than £142,5001, 
only one of whom (Managing Director) was appointed by the Trust following the 
introduction of the requirement to seek approval, via NHS Improvement, from the 
Chief Secretary to the Treasury for the remuneration package.  

The Trust followed the approval procedure for the remuneration of Barbara Buckley 
on her appointment to the role of Managing Director. The remuneration was 
benchmarked with all trusts of similar size and complexity and reflected that as an 
organisation in special measures, there was a need to set a competitive salary to 
attract candidates of sufficient calibre. Nick Hulme is also on a remuneration package 
which is greater than £142,500 but as his contract is held by Ipswich Hospital, the 
application to the Treasury was made by that trust. There have been no changes to 
report relating to other senior managers’ remuneration. No payments were made for 
loss of office or to past senior managers. 

Contractual compensation 
provisions for early 

termination of executive 
directors’ contracts 

There are no special contractual compensation provisions for early termination of 
executive directors’ contracts. Early termination by reason of redundancy is subject to 
the normal provisions of the Agenda for Change: NHS Terms and Conditions of 
Service Handbook (Section 16); or, for those above the minimum retirement age, 
early termination by reason of redundancy is in accordance with the NHS Pension 
Scheme. Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request 
termination by reason of early retirement are subject to the normal provisions of the 
NHS Pension Scheme. Principles on which the determination of payments for loss of 
office, an indication of how each component will be calculated and whether, and if so 
how, the circumstances of the loss of office and the senior manager’s performance 
are relevant to any exercise of discretion are considered on a case by case basis by 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  

Annual Report on Remuneration  

Duration of contracts, 
 notice periods and  

termination payments 

Details of directors’ contracts and notice periods are summarised in the Board of 
Directors’ profiles section (pages 55-58). With the exception of the Medical Director, 
executive directors are appointed to substantive contracts. During 2016/17, one 
director role, that of Chief Operating Officer (non-voting), was covered by an interim 
appointment. 

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 

Details on the workings of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are 
provided on page 67. The committee has a clear policy on the remuneration ranges 
for every executive director position. Any decisions that fall outside the parameters of 
the policy, eg due to exceptional circumstances, are subject to further discussion and 
approval by the committee. 

Median salary as a 
multiple of highest paid 

director salary 

The Trust is required to disclose the ratio of the highest paid senior manager to the 
median remuneration of its staff. This disclosure is based on the requirement to 
annualise the data, which means that this figure is higher than what was actually paid 
to the postholder. The median salary paid in the Trust is £25,298. This figure includes 
agency costs which cannot be separately identified. The annualised pay for the 
highest paid officer was £433,550 (actual pay £325,129) which is a multiple of 17.14 
times the median.  

Salary and pension 
entitlement of the Board 

of Directors 

The Chief Executive has determined that “senior managers”, being those persons in 
senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major 
activities of the NHS foundation trust, are the executive and non-executive directors. 
Detailed on pages 72-74 are the remuneration, salary and pension entitlements of the 
Board of Directors. These disclosures have been audited. 

 

                                                           
1 £142,500 is the threshold used in the Civil Service for approval by the Chief Secretary to the Treasury, as set out in guidance 
issued by the Cabinet Office. This currently equates to the Prime Minister’s ministerial and parliamentary salary. 
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Directors and  
governors expenses  

Information on the expenses of directors and governors is required by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012. 

The Trust had a total of 19 directors eligible to claim expenses, compared with 17 in 
2015/16. 

Year Number of directors 
claiming expenses Total claimed £ 

2015/16 17 36,052 

2016/17 14 11,526 
 

 
 The Trust had a total of 27 governors eligible to claim expenses. This was the same 

number as in 2015/16. 

 Year Number of governors 
claiming expenses Total claimed £ 

2015/16 10 2,387.30 

2016/17 6 2,198.86 
 

  
 
 
 

Signed 

 
 

 
 
Nick Hulme 

Chief Executive 

 
30 May 2017 
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Salary and Allowances of Senior Managers 

The Financial Reporting Manual requires NHS foundation trusts to prepare a remuneration report in their Annual Report and accounts which complies with: 
- Sections 420 to 422 of the Companies Act 2006 (section 420(2) and (3), section 421(3) and (4) and section 422(2) and (3) do not apply to NHS foundation trusts); 

- Regulation 11 and Parts 3 and 5 of Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/410) (“the Regulations”); 

- Parts 2 and 4 of Schedule 8 of the Regulations as adopted by the Manual; and, 

- Elements of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance. 

  2016/17  2015/16  

Name Title Salary Expense Payments All Pension 
Related Benefits 

    Total 

 

 

 

 

 

Salary Expense 
Payments 

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits 

    Total 

 

 

 

 

 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(taxable) total to 
nearest £100 (bands of £2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(taxable) total to 
nearest £100 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

   £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 

Aylen-Peacock, S 
 

Non-Executive 
Director 10 – 15 – – 10 – 15          0 – 5 – – 0 – 5 

Buckley, B 
from 1 December 2016 

Managing Director/ 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

65 – 70 – 105 – 107.5 170 – 175 – – – – 

Chin, J Non-Executive 
Director/Deputy Chair 15 – 20 – – 15 – 20 15 – 20 – – 15 – 20 

Fenton, T 
from 8 December 2016 

Non-Executive 
Director 0 – 5 – – 0 – 5 – – – – 

Fleetwood, T 
to 1 December 2016 

Non-Executive 
Director 5 – 10 – – 5 – 10 10 – 15 – – 10 –15 

Fryatt, J 
 

Director of Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 

125 – 130 – 60 – 62.5 185 – 190 50 – 55 – 57.5 – 60 110 – 115 
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Gordon, S 
until 16 January 2017 

Director of 
Integration/Deputy 
Chief Executive 

145 – 150 – 82.5 – 85 225 – 230 185 – 190 – 10 – 12.5 195 – 200 

Hulme, N 
from 17 May 2016 

Chief Executive 100 – 105 – 25 – 27.5 125 – 130 – – – – 

Leacock, D Non-Executive 
Director 10 – 15 – – 10 – 15 10 – 15 – – 10 – 15 

Morgan, C 
from 23 January 2017 

Director of Nursing 20 – 25 – 5 – 7.5 30 – 35 – – – – 

Parker, J Non-Executive 
Director 10 – 15 – – 10 – 15 10 – 15 – – 10 – 15 

Rose, A 
from 1 April 2015 to      
5 May 2016 

Chair 15 – 20 – – 15 – 20 40 – 45 – – 40 – 45 

Scrafield, D Director of Finance 130 – 135 – 30 – 32.5 165 – 170 130 – 135 – 115 – 117.5 250 – 255 

Sims, F 
from 19 October 2015 
to 16 May 2016 

Chief Executive 20 – 25 – 27.5 – 30 50 – 55 85 – 90 – 190 – 192.5 275 – 280 

Smith, J 
 

Non–Executive 
Director 10 – 15 – – 10 – 15 0 – 5 – – 0 – 5 

Stuttle, B 
until 31 December 2016 

Director of Nursing  115 – 120 – – 115 – 120 165 – 170 – – 165 – 170 

Thorpe, G 
from 1 January 2017 to 
22 January 2017 

Acting Director of 
Nursing 0 – 5 – 2.5 – 5 5 – 10 – – – – 
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Tillett, A1 Medical Director 205 – 210 – 117.5 – 120 325 – 330 120 – 125 – 20 – 22.5 140 – 145 

White, D 
from 6 May 2016 

Chair 30 – 35 22 – 30 – 35 – – – – 

 
1. A Tillett receives a salary for her role as a medical consultant. The salary for working as a medical consultant in this period in bands of £5,000 is £65,000 - £70,000 (2015/16, £70,000 to £75,000). 

 

Pension Benefits 

Name Real increase in 
pension at pension 

age* 

Lump sum at pension 
age related to real 

increase in pension* 

Total accrued 
pension at 31 March 

2017* 

Lump sum at pension 
age related to 

accrued pension at 
31 March 2017* 

Cash equivalent 
transfer value at 1 

April 2016* 

Cash equivalent 
transfer value at 31 

March 2017* 

Real increase in cash 
equivalent transfer 

value* 

 (bands of £2,500) (bands of £2,500) (bands of £5,000) (bands of £5,000)    

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Buckley, B 5 – 7.5 15 – 17.5 75 – 80 230 – 235 1,276 1,634 119 

Fryatt, J 2.5 – 5 – 15 – 20 – 174 228 54 

Gordon, S 2.5 – 5 5 – 7.5 20 – 25 40 – 45 197 284 70 

Hulme, N 0 – 2.5 5 – 7.5 50 – 55 150 – 155 954 1,053 87 

Morgan, C 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 30 – 35 100 – 105 509 563 10 

Scrafield, D 2.5 – 5 – 35 – 40 90 – 95 411 442 31 

Sims, F 0 – 2.5 2.5 – 5 60 – 65 190 – 195 1,060 1,323 33 

Thorpe, G 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 10 – 15 30 – 35 156 176 1 

Tillett, A 5 – 7.5 17.5 – 20 40 – 45 130 – 135 723 862 139 

*The financial information in the table above is derived from information provided to the Trust from the NHS Pensions Agency. Whilst the Trust accepts responsibility for the disclosed values, the Trust is 
reliant upon NHS Pensions Agency for the accuracy of the information provided to it, and has no way of auditing these figures. The figures are therefore shown in good faith as an accurate reflection of the 
senior managers’ pensions information. 
 
As non-executive directors do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for non-executive directors. 

http://www.essexrivers.nhs.uk/


Annual Report, Annual Accounts & Quality Report | 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017 

   

 www.colchesterhospital.nhs.uk Page 75   

 
 

 
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s 
accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or 
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of 
any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual had transferred to the NHS Pension Scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result 
of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
 
Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any 
benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
Accounting policy for pensions can be found in notes 1.5 and 4.1 of the accounts. 
 
Key management compensation can be found in note 4.2 of the accounts. 
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“I had the best care that I could wish for” 
Michael, Cardiac Rehabilitation patient, Cardiac Rehab Clinic 

Colchester General Hospital | March 2017 
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Staff Report  

Number of staff  

 

 

 

  

 

 

On 31 March the Trust directly employed 4,314 staff (4,346 full-time equivalents (FTE)). 
The number of FTE staff in post was 58 fewer than 12 months earlier.  

The Trust also reviewed its acuity staffing levels on the wards, resulting in an increase in 
the establishment required to meet patient need safely. 

 

Number of Trust staff 

 

Headcount Establishment (FTE) Staff in post (FTE) 

31 March 2016 4,387 4,327 3,792 

31 March 2017 4,314 4,346 3,734 
 

Average staff 
numbers 

The average staff numbers by staff group is shown below.  This calculation is based on the 
whole time equivalent (WTE) number of employees in each week in the financial year, 
divided by the number of weeks in the financial year. 

Average number of employees (WTE basis) 2015/16 2016/17 

Medical and dental  453 466 

Ambulance staff 0 0 

Administration and Estates 776 792 

Healthcare Assistants and other Support Staff 822 822 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,136 1,102 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 0 0 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 586 337 

Healthcare science staff 0 220 

Social care staff 0 0 

Agency and contract staff 339 304 

Bank staff 107 144 

Other 0 0 

Total average numbers 4,219 4,187 
 

 
 The data in the table below is sourced from the Trust's membership database and therefore 

analyses staff members, not just employees. “Staff” includes any qualifying Trust employee 
and hospital volunteers so the number in the table below is greater than the number of staff 
employed by the Trust.  

  
Age 

Staff 
members 
2015/16 

Staff 
members 
2016/17 

Public 
members 
2015/16 

Public 
members 
2016/17 

0 to 16 years 0 1  0 0  

17 to 21 years 48 41  13 5 

22+ years 4,751 4,846  5,212 5,155  
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Not specified 1 1  975 938  

Total 4,800 4,889  6,200 6,098  

Ethnicity         

Not specified 304 293  2104 2,065  

White 3,857 3,892  3,872 3,781  

Mixed 55 59  36 41  

Asian or Asian British 396 470  114 126  

Black or Black British 124 129  51 58  

Other Ethnic Group 64 46  23 27  

Other 0 0  0 0  

Total 4,800 4,889  6,200 6,098  

Gender          

Male 1,142 1,172  2,196 2,157  

Female 3,658 3,717  3,758 3,704  

Transgender  0 0  0 0  

Not specified/  
Prefer not to say 0 0  246 237  

Total 4,800 4,889  6,200 6,098  
 

Sickness absence  

 
  

 

The health of our staff is important, and providing support through what may be difficult 
times due to ill health is another way in which we demonstrate our values to staff.   

The Trust’s rolling 12 month sickness rate for the year is 3.64% (12 months to 31 March 
2017).  This compares to 3.65% in March 2016 and is similar to neighbouring acute trusts. 
This figure is lower than 3.78%, being the most recently published data for acute medium 
trusts. During the rolling period, at its highest it rose to 3.6% and at its lowest was at 3.5%. 

Increased absence monitoring aims to reduce absence levels to an acceptable minimum 
consistent with genuine illness. The Trust has successfully implemented robust systems 
and processes to manage sickness absence at divisional and manager level with support 
from the HR and Health and Wellbeing teams. 

Staff sickness absence 2016/17 2015/16 

Total WTE calendar days lost 49,687 50,147 

Total WTE days available 1,366,388 1,372,201 

Total staff years lost (days lost/365) 135.76 137.01 

Total staff years available  4,314 4,387 

Total staff employed in period*  5,108 5,084 

Total staff employed in period with absence*  2,829 2,889 

Total staff employed in period with no 
absence* 2,279 

2,195 

Average working days lost per employee 11.52 11.43 
* headcount, including starters and leavers Source: Electronic Staff Record 
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Gender equality 

 

 

The table below shows the breakdown of male and female directors, other senior 
managers and employees. The non-executive directors and directors who were on 
interim off-payroll contracts as at 31 March are not classed as employees and are not 
therefore covered in the total number of staff employed by the Trust figure of 4,314.  

Role Female Male Notes 

Non-executive directors 4 3 Includes Chair 

Executive directors 5 1 Includes Chief Executive 

Other senior managers 10 8 Bands 8d and above 

Employees 3,293 990 
 

Total 3,312 1,002 
  

Staff Engagement  

Organisational 
Development  

 

The organisational development strategy that was approved in 2015/16 has been used to 
support organisational change and the start of a leadership development suite of 
interventions which launched in December 2016. 

Staff involvement  The Staff Involvement Group, which is led by the Director of Finance, met monthly. The 
group seeks to find solutions to issues that affect staff and patients.  

The group suggested minute and note taking courses for staff which were developed and 
began in February. 

Leadership  

 

In September a leadership event took place where about 100 leaders met to review and 
discuss progress with the Every Patient, Every Day workstreams and Red to Green weeks 
(see Quality Report), and to look at and learn from a series of patient complaints.  

2016 staff survey  

 

The overall indicator for staff engagement comprises three key findings in the NHS Staff 
Survey: 

• staff members perceived ability to contribute to improvements at work (KF7) 

• their willingness to recommend the Trust as a place to work or receive treatment 
(KF1) 

• staff motivation at work (KF4).  

The Trust is still in the bottom 20% when compared to other trusts of a similar size and our 
score fell from 3.72 in 2015 to 3.70.  

 

 
Read more about the Staff Survey on page 82 

Priority outcomes and 
context 

 

It is disappointing that there has not been an improvement in the results and feedback in 
the 2016 staff survey. This reflects that the Trust remains in special measures and that 
there has been an organisational restructure resulting in uncertainly and upheaval for some 
staff.  

3.64 3.66 3.68 3.7 3.72 3.74 3.76 3.78 3.8 3.82

National 2016 average for acute
trusts

Trust score 2015

Trust score 2016
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 The Every Patient, Every Day programme has a number of workstreams, as detailed in the 
Quality Report. There are activities in each workstream that involve divisions, departments, 
teams and individuals across the Trust. Staff engagement and input into these workstreams 
are key to the success of the overall programme.  

It is time for a step change at the Trust, a time when we must all step up to demonstrate 
that we can deliver on our promises to our patients and can consistently provide safe, high 
quality care with compassion. 

Progress on the individual workstreams was regularly communicated to staff. 

Principles when 
developing plans to 

improve 
organisational 
effectiveness 

The Trust has a set of underpinning principles it uses when developing plans to improve 
organisational effectiveness. These include: 

• multi-professional – all professions are required to deliver together to achieve our 
objectives. In order to build relationships and learning across the Trust, our plans 
will include access for all staff groups  

• centrally organised – we will invest time, money and resources into developing 
individuals and teams to create a sense of one organisation/one team. This will 
mean that we will not invest resources in activities which are outside of this plan 

• we recognise that leadership takes place at many levels within the Trust and our 
plans will include a broad cross section of staff at a range of levels 

• organisations do not exist in a vacuum and we will work with others in our health 
economy to support system effectiveness and development. When considering 
training and development, a 70/20/10 principle will be adopted. This model calls for 
70% of development to consist of on-the-job learning, supported by 20% coaching 
and mentoring and 10% classroom training. 

Multi-professional learning has increased with the launch of a Licence to Lead programme. 
The Trust continues to be part of the Anglia Ruskin Health Partnership and supported 
clinical leaders to take part in an integrated leadership programme. 

Staff Partnership 
Forum  

 
 

The Staff Partnership Forum, comprising management and staff side union representatives, 
meets every six weeks with an agenda that includes business updates, future strategy and 
a review of key performance indicators.  

The agenda is agreed jointly between staff side and management.  

A complete redesign of how the Trust’s key employee relations policies are created, 
managed and implemented is ongoing in order that they meet current service needs and 
are simpler to use and understand by all staff. 

Freedom to  
Speak Up 

 

A key recommendation from Sir Robert Francis' Freedom to speak up report into the culture 
of raising concerns within the NHS, published in February 2015, was the introduction of 
Freedom to Speak Up Guardians with responsibility for ensuring staff feel confident about 
raising concerns. 

Tom Fleetwood was appointed in December as the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian for the 
Colchester and Ipswich hospital trusts. Until then, the Trust had its own Guardian. He had 
previously been a non-executive director at Colchester for four years where his duties had 
included chairing the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee. 

The intention at both Colchester and Ipswich is to create an environment where speaking 
up is business as usual for all.  

The principal driver is the requirement to encourage staff to raise concerns because this is 
good practice, will create a safer and better working environment and we will therefore look 
after our patients better.  
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It is recognised that this 
cultural change cannot 
happen without leaders 
being open and 
responsive to staff when 
they speak up. This needs 
to become a feature of our 
organisation, normal 
practice to all and 
applicable at every level.  

In essence we aspire to 
have a Freedom to Speak 
Up culture embedded 
within both trusts that: 

• supports staff in 
raising concerns 

• reacts to and 
actions those concerns  

• feeds back and 
learns 

• does not victimise 
or hold to account those 
who speak up. 

This is our unifying 
purpose and we must embed this at every level at both organisations. 

Success will be demonstrated within our own staff surveys. We will never achieve full 
confidence from all of our employees in raising concerns but, clearly, there is scope for 
improvement. Staff will have more confidence about speaking up if line managers regularly 
remind and encourage those with concerns to raise them. If we regard concerns raised as 
problems averted, we will be on the right lines. We will succeed if the Board of Directors 
welcomes the hard intelligence gained through concerns raised and reacts to them. The 
best outcome will be an open and respected organisation that acknowledges that it can be 
at fault but that will put these faults right once they are identified and learns. 
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Staff Survey  

Introduction Since 2003, the Trust has surveyed staff as part of the annual national NHS Staff 
Survey. On 21 February the NHS published the results of the 2016 survey for all trusts in 
England. Questionnaires were sent to 1,250 randomly selected staff, of which 414 were 
returned, giving a response rate of 33% compared to 31% the previous year. 

The results from the 2016 survey showed a fall in overall staff engagement compared to 
2015, both internally and when compared to other acute trusts. 

Results  The Trust increased its scores in two of the 31 key finding indicators compared to 2015 
and did better than average in four. There were no statistically significant changes to the 
key finding indicators. However, the Trust scored in the worst 20% of acute trusts for 15 
of the 31 key finding indicators. 

Due to changes between the 2015 and 2016 surveys, not all key findings are 
comparable to the previous year but those where the change can be measured are 
shown below.  

Further explanation of what this comprises and the Trust’s actions to address the 
underlying causes are given on page 79 (Staff Engagement).  

This overall indicator of staff engagement was calculated using the questions that make 
up Key Findings (KF) 1, 4 and 7. These Key Findings relate to the following aspects of 
staff engagement: staff members’ perceived ability to contribute to improvements at work 
(KF7); their willingness to recommend the Trust as a place to work or receive treatment 
(KF1); and the extent to which they feel motivated and engaged with their work (KF4). 

The table below shows how the Trust compares with other acute trusts on each of the 
sub-dimensions of staff engagement, and whether there has been a significant change 
since the 2015 survey. 

Change and ranking  Change since 
2015 survey 

Ranking, compared 
with all acute trusts 

Overall Staff Engagement No change Lowest (worst) 20% 

KF1. Staff recommendation of the 
Trust as a place to work or receive 
treatment 

(the extent to which staff think care of 
patients/service users is the Trust’s top 
priority, would recommend their trust to 
others as a place to work, and would be 
happy with the standard of care provided 
by the Trust if a friend or relative needed 
treatment) 

No change Lowest (worst) 20% 

KF4. Staff motivation at work 

(the extent to which they look forward to 
going to work, and are enthusiastic about 
and absorbed in their jobs) 

No change Above (better than) 
average 

KF7. Staff ability to contribute towards 
improvements at work 

(the extent to which staff are able to make 
suggestions to improve the work of their 
team, have frequent opportunities to show 
initiative in their role, and are able to make 
improvements at work) 

No change Lowest (worst) 20% 
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Comparison between 
2015 and 2016 – key 

findings 

 

 
 

 

Continues overleaf/… 
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Comparison between 
2015 and 2016 – key 

findings 

Continued from previous page. 

 
 

Continues on next page/… 
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Staff Survey key findings 2015 survey  2016 survey   

Trust 
change 
on 2015 
results  

 Trust National 
average 

Trust National 
average 

Top five ranking scores  

KF23. Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence 
from staff in last 12 months (the lower the score the 
better)  

3% 2% 2% 2% 
No 

statistically 
significant 

change 

KF4. Staff motivation at work (the higher the score the 
better) 3.89 3.94 

 

3.97 

 

3.94 

No 
statistically 
significant 

change 

KF32. Effective use of patient/service user feedback (the 
higher the score the better) 

3.71 3.70 3.75 3.72 No 
statistically 
significant 

change 

KF18. Percentage of staff attending work in the last three 
months despite feeling unwell because they felt pressure 
from their manager, colleagues or themselves (the lower 
the score the better) 

61% 59% 54% 56% No 
statistically 
significant 

change 

KF11. Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months 
(the higher the score the better) 

79% 86% 88% 87% Increase 
(better than 

15) 

Bottom five ranking scores  

KF24. Percentage of staff / colleagues reporting most 
recent experience of violence (the higher the score the 
better) 

57% 53% 49% 67% No 
statistically 
significant 

change 

KF27. Percentage of staff / colleagues reporting most 
recent experience of harassment, bullying or abuse (the 
higher the score the better) 

21% 37% 37% 45% Increase 
(better than 

15) 

KF8. Staff satisfaction with level of responsibility and 
involvement (the higher the score the better) 

3.88 3.91 3.79 3.92 No 
statistically 
significant 

change 

KF21. Percentage of staff believing that the organisation 
provides equal opportunities for career progression or 
promotion (the higher the score the better) 

79% 79% 78% 87% No 
statistically 
significant 

change 

KF5. Recognition and value of staff by managers and the 
organisation (the higher the score the better) 

3.43 3.42 3.29 3.45 No 
statistically 
significant 

change 
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Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees  

Review of tax 
arrangements of public 

sector appointees 

The Trust now publishes information in relation to the number of off-payroll 
engagements following the review of tax arrangements of public sector appointees 
published by the Chief Secretary to the Treasury on 23 May 2012.  

For all off-payroll 
engagements as of  

31 March 2017, for more 
than £220 per day and 

that last for longer than 
six months 

 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017 5 

Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting 3 

Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of 
reporting 

1 

Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of 
reporting 

0 

Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of 
reporting 

1 

Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting 0 
 

All new off-payroll 
engagements, or those 

that reached six months 
in duration, between  

1 April 2016 and  
31 March 2017, for more 

than £220 per day and 
that last for longer than 

six months 

 

 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 

7 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the Trust 
the right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National 
Insurance obligations 

2 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 2* 

Of which: 

Number for whom assurance has been received 2 

Number for whom assurance has not been received 0 

Number terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 

* The figure of 2 above reflects only those individuals who are contracting directly with the 
Trust and have been in post for six months or more. It includes individuals sourced through an 
agency (NHS procurement contracts require agencies to seek assurance as to individuals’ tax 
obligations) and individuals who have not yet been in post for six months. 

Off-payroll 
engagements of board 

members, and/or senior 
officials with significant 
financial responsibility, 

between 1 April 2016 
and 31 March 2017 

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Board members and/or 
senior officials with significant financial responsibility” during the financial 
year. This figure should include both off-payroll and on-payroll 
engagements 

14 

 

Details of the 
exceptional 

circumstances that led 
to each of these 

engagements 

As an organisation subject to enforcement action by Monitor and the CQC, the Trust 
was in a position that required it to have a leadership team with a track record of 
delivering effective improvement strategies in the immediate term. The appointment 
of an interim Chief Operating Officer fulfilled this requirement until the permanent 
Director of Operations was appointed in January. 

Details of the length of 
time each of these 

exceptional engagements 
lasted 

Jeremy Tozer – Chief Operating Officer 
(18 April 2016 to 19 January 2017) 
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Expenditure on 
consultancy  

Trust expenditure on consultancy during 2016/17 was £4.317m, up from £2.15m the 
previous year. Consultancy is commissioned when the Trust does not have its own 
internal resource or expertise to undertake the work in-house or when specific 
additional resource is required for a project. During the year, this included 
expenditure on the Every Patient, Every Day continuous improvement programme. 

 
Staff exit packages: 

compulsory 
redundancies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                               
Exit Package 
Cost Band 

2016/2017 2015/2016 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies  

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
£000 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
£000 

<£10,000 

 

11 50 0 0 

£10,001 -
£25,000 

6 102 2 30 

£25,001 -
£50,000 

1 43 0 0 

£50,001 -
£100,000 

0 0 4 296 

£100,001 -
£150,000 

1 101 0 0 

Total 19 296 6 326 

Exit packages:  
non-compulsory 

departure payments 

 
 
 

 
 
 

2016/2017 2015/2016 

Number Cost 
£000 

Number Cost 
£000 

Contractual 
payments in 
lieu of notice 

5 24 9 150 

Total 5 24 9 150 
 

NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance  

Introduction 

 

The Trust has applied the principles of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance on a comply or explain basis. The code, most recently revised in July 
2014, is based on the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 
2012. The Board considers that it has complied with the provisions of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance with two exceptions. Between 1 December 
and 16 January, the Trust did not comply with the requirement that at least half the 
Board, excluding the Chair, should comprise non-executive directors determined by 
the Board to be independent. The appointment of the Managing Director on 1 
December resulted in there being seven voting members of the executive team 
compared to the six voting members of the non-executive team. This was addressed 
when the new executive and divisional structures were confirmed on 16 January and 
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the Director of Integration was confirmed as a non-voting position. 

The Trust has not fully complied with the requirement that the governors, led by the 
Chair, should periodically assess its own performance. However, it does report at all 
of its public meetings on how it has discharged its responsibilities in holding the non-
executive directors to account and engaging with members. 

Board of Directors and 
Council of Governors 

Disclosures relating to the Board of Directors and its committees are in the Directors’ 
Report, pages 41-43. Disclosures relating to the Council of Governors and its 
committees are in this section, pages 93-95. 
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Our Membership 
 

Eligibility requirements for 
joining different 

membership 
constituencies 

Our Trust has two types of member: public and staff. Public members are people 
aged 16 years or over who live in Essex or Suffolk and have registered to become a 
member. Staff members are automatically registered when they join the Trust. They 
include any employee and volunteers. Public membership is falling and staff 
membership rising.  

See also earlier section entitled: “Staff Report” (page 78). 

 

 

2016 2017 New members Leavers 

Public 6,200 6,098 78 180 

Staff 4,800 4,889 561 472 
 

Information on the 
number of members and 

the number of members in 
each constituency 

 

 

 

Public constituency 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 

Colchester 2,863 2,708  

Halstead & Colne Valley 700 667  

Rest of Essex  340 325  

Suffolk and south Norfolk 263 255  

Tendring 2,032 1,951  

Catchment not found 2 192  

Total 6,200 6,098  
 

Staff constituency 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 

Allied Health Professionals/Healthcare scientists 949 1,004  

Medical or dental practitioners 520 590  

Not known 7 7  

Nurses/midwives 1,370 1,354  

Support staff 1,954 1,934  

Total 4,800 4,889  
 

Age profile of our  
public members 

 

 

 

 As with many NHS foundation trusts, there is under-representation of public members 
between the ages of 16 and 49 years. We have more public members aged 60 years 
and above than is representative of the geographical area served. Ideally, each pair 
of columns in the above chart would be the same height to be truly representative of 
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our population. 

Public membership 
demography 

 

 

According to population data, we have far more public members than is 
representative in middle class and skilled working class categories, and too few in 
other classification groups. Ideally, each pair of columns in the chart below would be 
the same height to be truly representative of our population.  

 
The National Readership Survey social grades are a system of demographic 
classification. 
A = Higher managerial, administrative or professional 
B = Intermediate managerial, administrative or professional 
C1 = Supervisory or clerical and junior managerial, administrative or professional 
C2 = Skilled manual workers 
D = Semi-skilled and unskilled manual workers 
E = Casual or lowest grade workers or those who depend on the welfare state 

Location of members  

 

More of our public members are in north east Essex – see below – with a decline 
towards the boundaries of the catchment area of Essex, Suffolk and south Norfolk.  

Map of Essex, Suffolk and 
south Norfolk showing 

public member distribution 
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Map of Essex, Suffolk and 
south Norfolk showing 

staff member distribution 

Our staff members are more evenly spread across the catchment area (and beyond), 
but with a high concentration in the Colchester area as shown on the map below. 

 

 
Contact procedures for 

members  
People can contact governors or directors via the Membership Office on 01206 742347 
during office hours or email ft.membership@colchesterhospital.nhs.uk 

We also have a Membership Helpline, 0800 051 51 43, weekdays, 9.30am-5pm. 

All of this information can be found on our website under About Us. See also page 6. 
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Council of Governors 
Responsibility 

 

The Council of Governors represents the interests of the public and employees through 
its elected governors and its appointed stakeholder governors.  

The Council of 
Governors and the 
Board of Directors  

 

 

Directors and Governors working together   

Overview The Council of Governors continues to provide an effective local accountability role for 
the Trust, ensuring that patients, service users, staff and stakeholders are linked in to the 
Trust’s strategic direction. It has proved to be an effective and highly-valued critical 
friend of the organisation, working with the Board of Directors to develop plans for the 
Trust. The Council of Governors acts as a consultative and advisory forum to the Board 
of Directors. It provides a steer on how the Trust can carry out its business and helps it 
to develop long-term strategic plans consistent with the needs of the community it 
serves. The Council also acts as guardian to ensure that the Trust operates in a way that 
fits with its statement of purpose and is expected to hold the non-executive directors, 
individually and collectively, to account for the performance of the Board of Directors. 
The other statutory duties of the Council of Governors are: 

• the appointment and, if appropriate, removal of the Chair 

• the remuneration and allowances and other terms and conditions of office of the 
Chair and the other non-executive directors 

• the approval of the appointment of the Chief Executive 

• the appointment and, if appropriate, removal of the auditor 

• the receiving of the Trust’s Annual Accounts, any report of the auditors on them 
and the Annual Report at a general meeting of the Council of Governors 

• the approval of a significant transaction as defined in the Trust’s constitution, or 
an application by the Trust to enter into a merger, acquisition, separation or 
dissolution 

• a decision on whether the Trust’s non-NHS work would significantly interfere 
with its principal purpose, which is to provide goods and services for the Health 
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Service in England, or performing its other functions 

• approval of amendments to the Trust’s constitution. 

The programme of joint non-executive director and governor hospital walkabouts 
continued to evolve. Individual non-executive directors and governors accompany one 
another on tours which give an insight into the operational issues facing the Trust. 
Feedback is then documented and reported in the patient experience report that goes to 
the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee.  

Membership 
engagement 

The current Council of Governors has been in place since April 2014. During its tenure, 
the Trust’s forward planning process was driven by improvement notices from the 
regulators, providing minimal opportunity for governors to canvass the opinion of the 
Trust’s members and the public on its objectives, priorities and strategy. Regulatory input 
continues to inform forward plans for quality improvement. Governors are encouraged to 
engage with the membership through participation in local health forums and patient 
groups and internally within the Trust through a programme of activities which includes 
ward walkabouts, assisting with the collection of NHS Friends and Family Test surveys, 
task and finish groups, the Patient User Group and links to staff engagement initiatives. 

Committees and panels There are two sub-committees of the Council of Governors: the Appointments & 
Performance Committee and the Standards Committee. Governors are invited to 
informal meetings with the Chair and Chief Executive to discuss planning and 
operational issues and with the Chair and non-executive directors to discuss governance 
and accountability arrangements relating to the Board of Directors. Along with 
attendance at Council of Governor meetings, this helps members of the Board develop 
an understanding of the views of governors and members. The Lead Governor or, in his 
absence, his designated deputies, have an open invitation to attend the private as well 
as the public meetings of the Board of Directors, reporting back to the Council of 
Governors. In addition, two individual governor representatives attended the following 
board committees as observers: 

• Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee 

• Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 

• Finance and Performance Assurance Committee 

• People and Organisational Development Committee  

• Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee. 

Governors also meet regularly at the following working groups: 

• Membership Engagement Panel 

• Patient Care and Assurance Panel 

• End of Life Steering Group 

• Patient User Group. 

Governors take part in monthly Patient-led Assessments of the Care Environment 
(PLACE) inspections. 

Standards Committee The Standards Committee is responsible for reviewing the Governors’ Code of Conduct 
and enforcing it through: 

• receiving and reviewing complaints and grievances against individual or groups 
of governors 

• considering any allegations of failure by a governor to comply with the Trust’s 
constitution or guidance issued by any regulatory authority 

• assessing allegations that governors have breached the Governors’ Code of 
Conduct. 

There was one meeting of the Standards Committee, held on 12 April. 

Members and meetings 
attended in brackets 

Alan Rose (1/1), Janet Brazier (1/1), Ralph Nation (1/1), Andrew May (1/1), Barry 
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Wheatcroft (1/1), Lynda McWilliams (1/1), David Linghorn-Baker (0/1). 

Appointments & 
Performance 

Committee 

 

 

 

The Appointments & Performance Committee is responsible for advising the Council of 
Governors on the appointment, termination, performance and remuneration of the non-
executive directors (including the Chair). 

Chair appointment: When Alan Rose stepped down as Chairman to support the 
development of a potential partnership with Ipswich Hospital, the committee appointed 
David White as Chair from 6 May. 

New non-executive director appointment: The committee’s main priority was the 
appointment of Tim Fenton as a new non-executive director. 

Non-executive director reappointments: Julie Parker and Diane Leacock were 
reappointed for a second term of office in March.  

Chair’s remuneration: Following the appointment of David White as Chair on 6 May, 
the committee, working with NHS Improvement, considered the appropriate 
remuneration for a Chair operating across two sites and how that remuneration should 
be shared across both organisations.  

Non-executive director remuneration: Following review in April, it was confirmed that 
the NEDs’ remuneration remains in line with the median for acute foundation trusts and a 
decision was made for no further change.  

There were three meetings of the Appointments & Performance Committee: 12 April,     
5 May, 8 November. 

Members and meetings 
attended in brackets 

Alan Rose (1/1), Jude Chin (Acting Chair 1/1), David White (1/1), David Linghorn-Baker 
(1/2), Michael Horley (1/1), James Chung (3/3), Barry Wheatcroft (3/3), Lynda 
McWilliams (3/3), Janet Brazier (3/3), Ralph Nation (3/3).  

Advice or services to the 
committee 

The Trust did not commission any search firms to assist in the organisation and 
facilitation of the recruitment process for non-executive directors. 

About the Governors  

Elected public 
governors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public governors: representing and elected by public members of the Trust for a period 
of three years plus 12 months*, effective from 10 April 2014: 

Colchester Tendring Halstead & Colne Valley 

Janet Brazier (Deputy 
Lead Governor) 

James Chung Pauline Aldridge**  

Michael Horley (Lead 
Governor)  

Lesley Clancy David Gronland 

Andrew May Ken Guyton Rosemary Hunt 

Robin Rennie (Deputy 
Lead Governor)  

David Rutson** (until 
September) 

 

Elaine Smith** (until July)  Barry Wheatcroft  

Rest of Essex Suffolk and south 
Norfolk 

 

David Linghorn-Baker Jane Young   
 

Elected staff 
governors 

 

 

 

Staff governors: representing and elected by staff members of the Trust for a period of 
three years, effective from 10 April 2014: 

Medical & dental Nursing & 
midwifery 

Allied health 
professionals/ 

healthcare 
scientists 

Support staff 
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David Moore** 
(until September 
2016) 

Jenny Edwards 
Anna Swan 

Andy Nash Ralph Nation  
Nick Bailey 

* The last full elections were held in April 2014, so were due again in April 2017. But the 
announcement in May 2016 of a long-term partnership between our Trust and Ipswich 
Hospital meant it would be beneficial to have the same governors present for the 
duration of this process. Therefore, at the meeting of the Council of Governors in 
December, it was agreed to extend its members' term of office for 12 months and to run 
a by-election where there were vacancies. 

** A by-election took place in spring 2017 to fill three public governor posts and one staff 
governor vacancy on the Council. 

Appointed stakeholder 
governors 

 

 
 

 

Appointed governors do not have a fixed term. 

Colchester Borough Council: Cllr Helen Chuah was appointed in August 2015.  

Tendring District Council: Cllr Lynda McWilliams was appointed in September 2010. 

Essex County Council: This post is vacant following the resignation of Cllr Anne Brown 
in November 2015.  

Colchester Garrison: Major Gareth Mason was appointed in November 2016, replacing 
Major Simon Rothwell.  

University of Essex and Anglia Ruskin University: Professor Jo Jackson was 
appointed in August 2016 to represent both universities, replacing Professor Ruth 
Jackson.  

Register of interests 

 

 

All governors are asked to declare any interests on the register of governors’ interests at 
the time of their appointment or election. This register is reviewed and maintained by the 
Foundation Trust Office, and is available for inspection by members of the public. 
Anyone who wishes to see the register or communicate with a governor should contact 
the Foundation Trust Office at the address on page 6. 

Council of Governors 
meetings 

There were six formal meetings of the Council of Governors:  

5 May, 16 May (extraordinary meeting), 14 July, 22 September, 8 December, 16 
February.  

The meetings were chaired by Alan Rose (1/1), Jude Chin (1/1) and David White (4/4) 

Governor attendance 
at Council of 

Governors meetings 

 

 

 

 

Name Attended Name Attended 

Pauline Aldridge 4/6 Ruth Jackson 1/3 

Nick Bailey 4/6 Major Simon Rothwell  2/4 

Jane Young  6/6 David Linghorn-Baker 2/5 

Janet Brazier 6/6 Andrew May 3/6 
Rosemary Hunt 5/6 Lynda McWilliams 6/6 

Cllr Helen Chuah 4/6 Jo Jackson  2/3 

James Chung  5/6 Andy Nash 5/6 

Lesley Clancy 3/6 Ralph Nation 3/6 

Michael Horley 5/6 Robin Rennie 5/6 

Jenny Edwards 3/6 Major Gareth Mason  2/2 

Ken Guyton 4/6 David Moore 0/2 

David Gronland 5/6 Elaine Smith 1/1 

Anna Swan 6/6   

Barry Wheatcroft 5/6   
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David Rutson 0/3   
 

  
Directors are not required to attend Council of Governors’ meetings routinely but do 
attend by invitation. During the year, Council of Governors’ meetings were attended by 
the following directors: Chris Howlett, Shane Gordon, Dawn Scrafield, Barbara Buckley, 
Ann Alderton, Nick Hulme, Jude Chin, Julie Parker, Jan Smith and Susan Aylen-
Peacock.  
The Council of Governors did not exercise its power under the Health and Social Care 
Act to require one or more of the directors to attend a governors’ meeting for the purpose 
of obtaining information about the foundation trust’s performance of its functions or the 
directors’ performance of their duties. 

Regulatory Ratings  

NHSI Single Oversight 
Framework for NHS 

providers  

 

Since 1 April 2013 all NHS foundation trusts need a licence from NHS Improvement 
(NHSI) stipulating specific conditions they must meet to operate, including financial 
sustainability and governance requirements. 

Since October 2016, NHSI has overseen compliance with these arrangements through 
the Single Oversight Framework for NHS providers. The framework is used to assess 
Trust’s compliance across five themes: 

• quality of care 
• finance and use of resources 
• operational performance 
• strategic change 
• leadership and improvement capability. 

Using this approach, NHSI segments individual trusts according to the level of support 
each trust needs. The Trust has been placed in Segment 4, which reflects its position as 
a provider in special measures, with breach of licence and very serious and complex 
issues. The Provider Regulation Committee of NHSI has agreed it meets the criteria to 
go into special measures. 

The aim of an NHSI assessment under the Single Oversight Framework is to ensure that 
the regulator identifies the level of support each trust needs across the five themes. 
This, in turn, will provide the Trust and NHSI with the information it needs to help us 
attain and maintain CQC ratings of “Good” or “Outstanding”. 

Section 106 
enforcement 
undertaking  

 

The Section 106 enforcement undertaking issued by Monitor in February 2015 remains 
in place, and the Trust continues to be in special measures. The letters stated quality, 
financial and governance breaches – “a failure of governance arrangements”; “a 
failure…to establish and effectively implement systems and/or processes for effective 
financial decision-making, management and control,… including to manage through 
forward plans, material risks…” 

The actions to address these issues have formed part of the Trust’s Every Patient, Every 
Day programme, which has identified the main areas where we need to improve in order 
to exit special measures. These include key areas of performance, such as the 
Emergency Department (A&E) waiting times, referral to treatment times, through 
improvements in patient flow, areas where the Trust had been found wanting in terms of 
the quality of care, such as the management of the deteriorating patient and end of life 
care, as well as its financial sustainability through supporting its CIP.  

Risk of any other  
non-compliance with  

terms of authorisation  

 

The Trust was found to be in breach of the following conditions of the foundation trust’s 
licence: FT4(2); FT4(5)(a),(c) and (f); FT4(6)(a),(c), (d), (e) and (f); and FT4(7). These 
terms are detailed in the licence which can be found at this website: 
www.gov.uk/government/groups/colchester-hospital-university-nhs-foundation-trust 

The recovery programme and related activity are designed to address the deficiencies 
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which led to the Trust being put into special measures and to return the organisation to 
full regulatory compliance. The ongoing review of risks did not identify any further 
significant risks to compliance with the Trust’s terms of authorisation. 

Mandatory service risk  

 

The Trust’s Board of Directors is satisfied that: 

• all assets needed for the provision of mandatory goods and services are 
protected from disposal  

• plans are in place to maintain and improve existing performance 

• the Trust has adopted organisational objectives and is now measuring 
performance in line with these objectives 

• the Trust is investing in change and capital estate programmes which will 
improve clinical processes, efficiency and, where required, release additional 
capacity to ensure it meets the needs of patients.  

CQC compliance  

 

Following a comprehensive inspection on 15-18 September 2015, the CQC gave the 
Trust an “Inadequate” rating overall, with individual services at Colchester General 
Hospital being rated as follows: 

 
As well as the comprehensive Quality Improvement Plan which the Trust developed to 
address the concerns raised and to improve standards to “Good” or “Outstanding” for 
future inspections, there are key workstreams in the Every Patient, Every Day 
programme that focus on driving up standards and, therefore, achieving better ratings. 
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Statement of the Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities   

Statement of the  
Chief Executive's 

responsibilities as the 
Accounting Officer of 

Colchester Hospital 
University NHS 

Foundation Trust 

 

 

  

 

The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the Trust. 
The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for 
the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the 
keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum issued by Monitor. 

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form 
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of 
its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the 
financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain 
any material departures in the financial statements 

• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, 
delegated authorities and guidance 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and to 
enable him to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above-
mentioned act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities 
set out in Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.  

Signed 

 
Nick Hulme  

Chief Executive  

30 May 2017 
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Annual Governance Statement   

Scope of responsibility The Board is accountable for internal control. As Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also 
responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

The purpose of the 
system of internal 

control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims 
and objectives of Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system 
of internal control has been in place at Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval 
of the Annual Report and Annual Accounts. 

Capacity to handle risk The overall responsibility for risk management within the Trust rests with me and 
the Executive Management Team, along with requirements to meet all statutory 
requirements and adhering to the guidance issued by NHSI and the Department of 
Health in respect of governance. 

The Trust has established a Quality and Risk Executive Management Committee 
with a remit to ensure the adequacy of structures, processes and responsibilities 
for identifying and managing key risks facing the organisation prior to discussion at 
the Board. This includes oversight of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF), the 
Trust-wide risk register and divisional risk registers. This committee is chaired by 
the Director of Nursing who is the Board lead for risk management.   

The Trust’s principal and strategic risks are captured in the BAF, which is used to 
inform the risk priorities of the Board and the four main assurance committees, the 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee, the Finance and Performance Assurance 
Committee, the People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee 
and the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee. The Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee has a further duty to review the Trust’s internal financial 
controls and the Trust’s internal control and risk management systems. 

Day-to-day management of risks is undertaken by operational management, who 
are charged with ensuring that risk assessments are undertaken proactively 
throughout their area of responsibility, and remedial action is carried out where 
problems are identified and incidents reported indicating a potential weakness in 
internal control. These are captured in divisional risk registers, which are 
discussed in divisional governance meetings and the Quality and Risk Executive 
Management Committee, ensuring that the issues facing the divisions are being 
recognised and captured corporately. Trust-wide issues are captured in the Trust-
wide risk register which, when discussed concurrently with the divisional risk 
registers in Quality and Risk Executive Management Committee meetings, ensure 
that there is appropriate escalation to the BAF, ensuring that it remains an up-to-
date tool to inform the Board of Directors and its assurance committees for risks 
where there are difficulties in implementing mitigations. 

 All staff members are trained in risk management at a level relevant to their role 
and responsibilities. Members of staff have had access to additional support and 
education to ensure they have the necessary skills and knowledge and are 
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competent to identify, control and manage risk within their work environment. All 
newly-appointed staff receive training at the compulsory corporate induction day. 
This includes their personal responsibilities as well as the necessary information 
and training to enable them to work safely and to recognise risk. 

All policies relating to risk management are accessible and available to staff on the 
Trust intranet policy section with supporting information available under the risk 
management department section. The BAF and Corporate Risk Register (CRR) 
are in the public domain as part of the papers discussed in public board meetings, 
enabling public stakeholders to be sighted on potential risks which impact on 
them. 

The Risk and Control 
Framework 

The risk management strategy (see page 37) sets out the Trust’s approach to 
managing risk, describes the structures for the management and ownership of risk 
and explains its risk management processes. Leadership for risk is driven by the 
Board of Directors through the BAF which keeps the Board informed of the key 
strategic risks affecting the Trust. The BAF was reviewed in terms of its content 
and the way it is used in order to provide greater clarity to the Board and the 
Board’s committees over the Trust’s principal risks, key controls, gaps in control, 
gaps in assurance, movements in the risk profile and actions to reduce risks to an 
acceptable level. As a result of this review, there is now greater clarity over risk 
ownership, which assurance committee oversees each risk and the Trust’s risk 
priorities.  

The Board has considered and agreed the principles regarding the risk that the 
Trust is prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in the pursuit of its objectives and has 
captured these in a Risk Appetite Statement.  

Financial 

The Trust is keen to ensure a sustainable future for its services and is mainly 
cautious in its approach to financial risk. It is, however, prepared to invest for 
return where the case for investment is strong and will minimise the possibility of 
financial loss by managing risks to a tolerable level through prudent financial 
control measures and optimising the use of resources.   

Compliance/Regulatory 

The Board has a cautious risk appetite when it comes to compliance and 
regulatory issues. Where the laws, regulations and standards are about the 
delivery of safe, high quality care, it will make every effort to meet regulator 
expectations and comply with them and will challenge them only if there is strong 
evidence or argument to do so. 

Innovation 

The Board has a flexible view of innovation that supports quality, patient safety 
and operational effectiveness. This means that it is eager to pursue innovation and 
challenge current working practices, and views new technologies as a key enabler 
of operational delivery. However, decision making authority will be carefully 
managed to ensure that prioritisation and focus is on the identification and delivery 
of innovations with transformative potential and will be devolved only on the basis 
of earned autonomy.   

Quality 

The Board has a cautious view of risk when it comes to patient safety, patient 
experience or clinical outcomes and places the principle of “no harm” at the heart 
of every decision it takes. It is prepared to accept some risk if, on balance, the 
benefits are justifiable and the potential for mitigation actions are strong. When 
taking decisions involving choices between a wide range of outcomes, it will 
prioritise the option resulting in the greatest benefit for the most patients. 

Reputation 

The Board has a flexible view over the management of the Trust’s reputation. The 
Board is willing to take decisions that are likely to bring scrutiny of the organisation 
in those circumstances where potential cost, efficiency and quality benefits to the 
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widest group of stakeholders outweigh the risk consequences of making an 
unpopular decision. 

Commercial 

The Board has a predominantly cautious view of commercial risk. It will support 
low-risk opportunities in established business areas and markets and in areas 
where it has significant commercial strength over its competitors and/or wishes to 
secure continuity to the benefits and outcomes to the Trust’s patients and the 
wider community it operates in. It is prepared to be ambitious when opportunity 
presents itself, but will not actively pursue business and commercial opportunities 
in new areas as part of its strategy. 

The Risk Appetite Statement was agreed in a public meeting of the Board in April 
2017 and is incorporated in the Trust’s Risk Strategy.  

During 2016/17, the Trust saw its principal risks as follows: 

• a failure to maintain effective patient flow as a result of insufficient bed 
capacity in the Trust and insufficient step-down and social care provision 
in the community  

• a failure to mitigate the variance and volatility in financial performance 
against plan caused by lack of effective organisational financial 
management  

• a failure to ensure patients who are near to the end of life are being 
supported adequately due to an inconstant culture of care 

• a risk that the Pathology Partnership fails, leaving the Trust vulnerable to 
inadequate or absent pathology services 

• failure to deliver the necessary remedial action to exit special measures 
through the Every Patient, Every Day programme 

• failure to ensure sufficient staff are available to meet the requirements of 
increased activity and acuity requirements. 

These risk issues, the key controls in place to manage them and the actions in 
hand to further reduce their likelihood and impact were discussed at the Trust’s 
weekly Executive Team meetings, monthly Executive Management Committee 
meetings, monthly Board meetings and at every meeting of the Board’s assurance 
committees.  

Risks are identified through many sources such as risk assessments, clinical 
benchmarking, audit data, clinical and non-clinical incident reporting, complaints, 
claims, patient and public feedback, stakeholder and partnership feedback and 
internal/external assessment, including the CQC inspection reports.  

At Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust, we believe that every 
incident offers an opportunity to learn. The reporting of incidents is a fundamental 
building block in achieving an open, transparent and fear-free way of fulfilling this 
aim. Our structures and frameworks promote learning, escalation, treatment and 
mitigation of, or from, risk. 

Regulatory action The foundation trust was not fully compliant with the registration requirements of 
the CQC and was in breach of conditions of its licence with NHSI, the foundation 
trust regulator, in 2016/17. 

The Trust was first placed in special measures in November 2013 by Monitor, the 
predecessor to NHSI, as a result of alleged governance breaches relating to 
cancer services, Board effectiveness and governance. Monitor imposed 
discretionary requirements under Section 105 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 (“the Act”) to address concerns raised following an inspection of cancer 
services by the CQC. Monitor also imposed an additional licence condition under 
Section 111 of the Act to ensure that it established an effectively functioning Board 
and Board committees and sufficient and effective Board, management and 
clinical leadership capacity and capability to enable it to successfully meet those 
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discretionary requirements. Further Section 106 enforcement undertakings were 
imposed in August 2014 and February 2015 as a result of quality and governance 
breaches identified through CQC inspections and concerns about financial 
sustainability. These remained in force during 2016/17.  

Following their inspections of the Trust, there are currently two Section 31 notices 
in place. These are conditions placed by the regulator on our registration as a 
service provider. The first relates to the Emergency Department to ensure that 
patients attending ED are streamed to the appropriate pathways. The second 
relates to the surgical theatre department to ensure that the safer surgery checklist 
is being consistently used in accordance with the recommendations of the World 
Health Organisation. The Trust provides weekly evidence to the CQC on 
compliance against these notices.  

A Section 29a warning notice was served on the Trust in December 2015, 
following which, in April, the CQC’s Chief Inspector of Hospitals wrote to the 
Secretary of State outlining continuing concerns about culture, practice and 
leadership at the Trust, raising significant concerns regarding the lack of 
improvement and stating that he did not have confidence in the ability of the 
Trust’s Board to address the issues highlighted in his letter. As a result of this 
letter, a long-term partnership with Ipswich Hospital was recommended, resulting 
in a change of Chair and Chief Executive. Following a diagnostic phase to identify 
the main priorities for improvement, the Trust has been working with the support of 
consultants from EY to implement and embed a new programme of continuous 
improvement, called Every Patient, Every Day.  

Throughout the year, there were regular meetings between the Chair, Chief 
Executive and other members of the Executive Team with public stakeholders 
which included North East Essex CCG, Healthwatch Essex, committees of the 
district, borough and county councils and with partners in the local health care 
economy. 

Discussions in these meetings included the long-term partnership with Ipswich 
Hospital as well as the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)  for 
Suffolk and north east Essex. Essex County Council’s Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee also took an interest in the management of complaints and 
PALS arrangements across all Essex NHS provider organisations.  

Our governors are also informed about the regulatory challenges and those risks 
which impact upon the public and members through regular meetings at which the 
Trust’s performance is presented and discussed. Governors are also involved in 
the development of our Quality Report and Annual Plan. 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within 
the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records 
are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the 
regulations. 

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations 
under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. This 
includes undertaking equality impact assessments to provide assurance that 
consultations relating to changes to any of our functions and services are not 
discriminatory. Where any remedial action is identified by the assessment, we 
develop and implement an action plan to address this. 

The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments, and carbon reduction 
delivery plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure 
that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the 
adaptation reporting requirements are complied with. 

Corporate 
Governance 

The Trust’s risk and governance frameworks as described in this statement 
ensure that the organisation can confirm the validity of its corporate governance 
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Statement statement as required under NHS foundation trust condition 4(8)(b). The Trust 
Executive Team carries out regular risk assessments of its compliance with these 
conditions and flags for the Board’s attention those areas where action is required. 
The corporate governance statement itself, with a summary of the evidence 
supporting it, is reviewed by the Board of Directors. This was last reviewed by the 
Board at its meeting on 30 May 2016. All remedial actions are incorporated in the 
Every Patient, Every Day programme and the CQC improvement plan. 

Never events Never events are “serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents that should 
not occur if the available preventative measures have been implemented by the 
healthcare provider”. 

The Trust reported three never events in 2016/17. These related to wrong site 
surgery, misplaced naso- or oro-gastric tubes and wrong implant/prosthesis. The 
Trust responded by developing an e-learning module for junior doctors for naso-
gastric tube verification and management and introducing a more robust process 
for checking placement. The Trust has introduced a more robust method of 
prosthesis verification prior to insertion, utilising the whiteboard in theatre as an 
added assurance measure. The Cancer Peer Review Group is undertaking a 
review of the Lung Cancer Multidisciplinary Team Operational Policy to ensure all 
lessons learned have been captured within the policy. 
 
The Trust continues to report proactively on a monthly basis to the Board and the 
Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee on its never events and 
compliance rates against the WHO Safer Surgery Checklist. There is also a never 
event framework used by the consultant body and divisions for review and 
training. 

Review of economy, 
efficiency and 

effectiveness of the 
use of resources 

The Trust has a range of processes in place to ensure that resources are used 
economically, efficiently and effectively. This includes clear and effective 
management and supervision arrangements for staff, regular reporting to the 
Board on quality, operational performance and finance, with further review and 
scrutiny on a monthly basis at meetings of the Quality and Patient Safety 
Assurance Committee, the Finance and Performance Assurance Committee and 
the People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee.  

The Trust was assessed as “Inadequate” by the CQC in 2015/16 and this rating 
remained the same during 2016/17. This tells us that although the organisation’s 
systems and standards of governance have been designed to deliver an effective 
system of internal control, historically there were weaknesses in compliance and in 
the escalation and flow of risk and compliance issues to the Board and assurance 
committees. A governance workstream was established as part of the Every 
Patient, Every Day programme in order to further review Board governance and 
ward-to-board escalation arrangements to address these issues. 

The Trust has an agreed risk-based annual audit programme with its internal 
auditors. These audit reports are aimed at evaluating the Trust’s effectiveness in 
operating in an efficient and effective manner and are focused on reviewing its 
operational arrangements for securing best value and optimum use of resources in 
respect of the services the organisation provides. 

In 2016/17 the Trust was in financial deficit of £18.9m. The plan for 2017/18 is a 
deficit of £22.1m, with a requirement of £30.7m in cash support from the 
Department of Health. To deliver the planned deficit, a cost improvement 
programme of £17m needs to be delivered which may be in the form of planned 
cost reductions, as set out at the start of the financial year, or through cost 
avoidance, which may be necessary to mitigate any underachievement of the plan 
during the year. Recognising the size of the cost reductions, the Trust has geared 
up robust measures for monitoring and in particular escalation and recovery 
arrangements to mitigate slippage of delivery. 

As a result of the CQC intervention and our establishment of the Every Patient, 
Every Day programme to address the main areas of concern identified by the 
regulators, the Trust has been able to identify and initiate the implementation of 
solutions to the identified weaknesses in its arrangements to secure economy, 
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efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources, particularly with regard to its 
decision-making processes and sustainable resource deployment. The 
progression of a long-term partnership with Ipswich Hospital is a key component of 
this solution, the development of which is likely to progress at pace during 
2017/18. This, as a long-term solution, along with the implementation of tighter 
management and control over quality, operational efficiency and finance has 
strengthened the Board’s confidence in the Trust’s strategy and operational 
delivery.   

Information 
governance 

As part of NHS information governance rules, details of Serious Incidents involving 
data loss or a breach of confidentiality have to be reported. Patients and the public 
can be reassured that the Trust takes security and patient confidentiality very 
seriously. The Trust reported 90 level 0 and 11 level 2 incidents relating to 
breaches of patient confidentiality, compared with 122 in 2015/16. The majority of 
these incidents were near misses (level 0 and level 1 incidents). Information 
governance training and awareness have increased to prevent level 2 incidents 
which are reportable to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). 

All level 2 incidents were reported to the ICO, four of which related to 
inappropriate access to patient data. Following investigations, three members of 
staff were dismissed and one resigned. The ICO is considering legal action 
against two members of staff. The ICO has confirmed it is happy with the policies, 
training and actions the Trust has taken with all incidents to date, and no action is 
proposed against the Trust. 

The Trust carried out an assessment of its compliance with the Department of 
Health information governance toolkit, the outcome of which was a compliance 
score of 88% (2015/16, 87%). 

Annual Quality Report The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality 
Reports for each financial year. NHSI has issued guidance to NHS foundation 
trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate 
the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual. The Trust set 12 quality priorities for 2016/17, reflecting the areas of high 
risk implications and the impact of regulatory pressures. The delivery of these 
priorities was monitored monthly by the Board of Directors. Details on the Trust’s 
performance against these priorities is analysed and reported in the Quality 
Report. 

In setting its priorities, the Trust consulted with its Council of Governors and Board 
of Directors, and appropriate internal and external audit arrangements were put in 
place to ensure the accuracy of the data. The Director of Nursing is the executive 
director responsible for patient safety and patient experience and the Medical 
Director is responsible for clinical effectiveness. The Deputy Director of Nursing 
provides further leadership and support for the quality and governance agenda. 
The Deputy Director of Nursing reports to the Director of Nursing and is 
responsible for quality and clinical and non-clinical risk management across the 
Trust. 

The executive governance structure supporting the quality agenda was reviewed 
as part of the governance workstream of Every Patient, Every Day, ensuring that 
all aspects of quality governance report through the Patient Safety and Experience 
Group and the Clinical Effectiveness Group through to the Executive Management 
Committee, the Quality and Risk Executive Management Committee, the Quality 
and Patient Safety Assurance Committee and the Board. This replaces the 
previous structure and was in place by February 2017. 
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As reported in the Quality Report, other plans to improve quality have included the 
following: 

• Every Patient, Every Day, details of which are summarised in the Quality
Report

• plans to deliver the key performance indicators (KPIs) in the CQUINs
agreed with commissioners

• initiatives to reduce errors in surgery through improving compliance with
the World Health Organisation Safer Surgery Checklist

• ward-to-board leadership, staff engagement and communication
programme

• actions to deliver improvements in the key national performance
indicators, including RTT, cancer targets and the A&E waiting time.

The Trust reported an end-of-year position of 86.56% of patients waiting under 18 
weeks on incomplete pathways against a target of 92%. 

The Trust assures the quality and accuracy of its elective waiting time data 
through a regular validation process internally, with additional checks by the 
Business Informatics Team to ensure the data reported is accurate, which 
includes ensuring all 52 week breaches have been confirmed by the service, 
checks on large movements and triangulation with other recording systems. 
Further independent assurances are made through internal audits of data quality, 
national validation programmes and third party support from specialist 
organisations with validation expertise. 

Review of As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
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effectiveness system of internal control. My review is informed by the work of the internal 
auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads within the 
NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the 
Quality Report attached to this Annual Report and other performance information 
available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have been advised on the 
implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control by the Board, the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and other 
assurance committees of the Board, and a plan to address weaknesses and 
ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

My review is also informed by: 

• the report of the CQC’s inspection of the Trust in September 2015 and 
April 2016, the associated improvement plans and the reports on their 
delivery status 

• due diligence undertaken by EY on the quality of care and patient safety in 
order to inform the priorities of the Every Patient, Every Day programme 
reported to the Board in September 2016 

• assessment of financial reports submitted to NHSI 

• opinions and reports made by external auditors 

• reports made by internal auditors, including specific audit reports on 
governance and risk management 

• the Head of Internal Audit opinion 

• clinical audit reports, as detailed in the Quality Report, used to change 
and improve clinical practice 

• Clinical Pathology Accreditation (CPA) held for designated pathology 
services 

• Infection Control Annual Report and associated monthly reporting 

• other annual reports relating to statutory reporting requirements, which 
include radiation safety, safeguarding, health and safety etc 

• investigation reports and action plans following serious and significant 
incidents 

• departmental and clinical risk assessments and action plans 

• results of national patient surveys 

• results of the national NHS Staff Survey 

• information governance toolkit 

• Patient-Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) inspections 

• the work undertaken by the Trust and supported by investment from NHSI 
as part of the Every Patient, Every Day programme. 

The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control has been reviewed by: 

• the Board; through consideration of key objectives and the management 
of principal risks to those objectives within the BAF, and by reviewing all 
policies relating to governance and risk management and monitoring the 
implementation of arrangements within the Trust 

• the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee; by reviewing and monitoring the 
opinions and reports provided by both internal and external audit 

• the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee; by implementing 
and reviewing clinical governance arrangements and receiving reports 
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from all operational clinical governance related committees 

• external assessments of services including the reports of the CQC
following its inspections, the Emergency Care Intensive Support Team to
develop best practice models of care and various peer reviews including a
review of the WHO checklist and Five Steps to Safer Surgery by Professor
Jane Reid.

Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion 

The Trust received a significant assurance statement in the Head of Internal Audit 
opinion on the basis of an assessment of the design and operation of the 
underpinning assurance framework and supporting processes and of the range of 
individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments contained within 
internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year.  

In particular, the auditors raised concerns regarding the following operational 
processes: 

• data quality (A&E), relating to accuracy and consistency of data

• Datix – transportation of specimens, relating to compliance with
procedures

• locums, relating to pre-employment checks

• medical devices, relating to planned preventative maintenance checks

• ward visits, relating to the accuracy and completeness of patient property
registers.

Conclusion The foregoing statement identifies a number of significant internal control issues 
that have been identified both through internal reviews and through external 
scrutiny from NHSI, the CQC and other sources. 

In addition, the disruption caused by the cyber attack on the Trust’s IT systems on 
12 May 2017 has exposed vulnerabilities in both the Trust’s preventative 
information security controls and in its business continuity arrangements, which 
will require further investigation and resolution during 2017/18.     

The actions in the Every Patient, Every Day programme, the long-term financial 
plan and the governance framework established for assuring the Board are 
addressing the underlying issues highlighted in this statement, along with the 
steps being taken to progress the long-term partnership between the Trust and 
Ipswich Hospital. This will be underpinned by the ongoing embedding of the risk 
management strategy and related assurance and escalation framework put in 
place to ensure all staff understand and fulfil their responsibilities for risk and 
internal control and that there are appropriate mechanisms in place for escalation 
and mitigation. 

The Trust has taken the first steps to securing sustained improvements in quality 
and a strategy for a long-term sustainable future for health care for the community 
we serve through the approval of a Strategic Outline Case for a partnership with 
Ipswich Hospital. During 2017/18, we hope to progress these arrangements 
further through an Outline Business Case and Full Business Case, which will 
require the agreement of both boards of directors and Colchester’s Council of 
Governors. Until these business cases are concluded and confirmed, the ability of 
the partnership to secure a sustainable solution for both the Colchester and 
Ipswich hospital trusts and the regulators have revisited this Trust’s “special 
measures” status, there will remain uncertainties about the future of Colchester 
Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust. The prospect of a special 
administration regime remains as an alternative scenario if the plans to exit special 
measures and partnership do not materialise. Alongside the Trust’s deficit position 
of £18.9m for the year ended 31 March 2017 and budgeted deficit position of 
£22.1m for 2017/18, there remains a material uncertainty which may cast doubt on 
the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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Signed 

 

 
 
Nick Hulme 

Chief Executive  

 

30 May 2017 

 
Signed 

 
The directors consider that this Annual Report, Annual Accounts and Quality 
Report taken as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the 
information necessary for our patients, regulators and stakeholders to assess 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust’s performance, business 
model and strategy. 
 
 

 
 
Nick Hulme 
Chief Executive 
 
30 May 2017 
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“Even though I’m unwell, I still get to do interesting things  
as there is a school room and a play room” 

Kaitlen, aged 11, Children’s Ward | Colchester General Hospital | March 2017 
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Independent auditor's report to the Trust’s Council of Governors  

Our opinion on the 
financial statements is 

unmodified 

  

In our opinion:  

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) and 
group as at 31 March 2017 and of the Trust's and group's expenditure and 
income for the year then ended; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 2006. 

Emphasis of matter – 
going concern 

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have 
considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in note 1.1 to the financial 
statements concerning the group's and the Trust's ability to continue as a going 
concern. The Trust has a forecast deficit of £22m for 2017/18, after £17m of 
estimated efficiencies and other savings. To fund this deficit, the Directors are 
seeking additional interim financial support from the Department of Health for 
2017/18 of £22.5m. As disclosed in note 1.1 to the financial statements, the 
Department of Health has not, at the date of our report, confirmed this support. 
These conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 1.1 to the financial 
statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast 
significant doubt about the group's and the Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if 
the group and the Trust were unable to continue as a going concern. 

Who are we reporting 
to 

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in 
accordance with Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Trust's Council of 
Governors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Trust's Council of 
Governors, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed. 

What we have audited We have audited the financial statements of Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2017 which comprise the group and 
Trust statements of comprehensive income, the group and Trust statements of 
financial position, the group and Trust statements of changes in taxpayers equity, 
the group and Trust statements of cash flows and the related notes.  

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual 2016/17. 

Overview of our audit 
approach 

Overall group materiality: £6.325m, which represents 2% of the group's gross 
operating expenses.  

• We performed a full-scope audit of Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust and targeted audit procedures at its component, the 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund 

• Key audit risks were identified as:  
o Going concern material uncertainty disclosures; 
o Occurrence of income from patient care activities; 
o Occurrence of other operating revenue and existence of associated 

receivables – Sustainability and Transformation Fund; and, 
o Valuation of property, plant and equipment 
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Our assessment of 
risk 

In arriving at our opinions set out in this report, we highlight the following risks that, 
in our judgement, had the greatest effect on our audit and how we tailored our 
procedures to address these risks in order to provide an opinion on the financial 
statements as a whole. This is not a complete list of all the risks we identified: 
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 AUDIT RISK HOW WE RESPONDED TO THE RISK 

Going concern material uncertainty 
disclosures  

The Trust has received a working 
capital loan facility of £73.4m during the 
2016/17 financial year.  

The Trust incurred a £18.9m financial 
deficit in delivering its services in 
2016/17 and has forecast a deficit of 
£22.1m in 2017/18. The Trust will 
therefore require further cash support to 
pay its expenses in 2017/18. The 
source and value of this support has yet 
to be confirmed. 

In the prior year, the Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16 did 
not explicitly require disclosure in the 
financial statements of material 
uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. In the current year, 
the Department of Health Group 
Accounting Manual 2016/17 explicitly 
requires these disclosures. 

Given the sensitive nature and the 
updated requirements specifically 
requiring these disclosures in the 
financial statements, we have identified 
this as an area of focus in our audit. 

We therefore identified the adequacy of 
disclosures relating to material 
uncertainties that may cast doubt on the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in the financial statements as a 
significant risk requiring special audit 
consideration. 

Our audit work included, but was not 
restricted to: 

• determining whether the 
procedures performed by 
management for identifying 
material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt on the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern were appropriate 

• assessing the appropriateness of 
the assumptions and judgements 
underpinning the cash-flow 
forecasts used by management to 
assess the existence of material 
uncertainties related to going 
concern 

• verifying that the disclosures within 
the financial statements explaining 
the material uncertainty that casts 
significant doubt on the Trust’s 
ability to continue as a going 
concern are appropriate and 
accurately explain the events and 
conditions that gave rise to the 
uncertainty and the assumptions 
and judgements made by 
management in its assessment 

• verifying that the disclosures within 
the financial statements comply 
with the reporting requirements 
detailed in the Department of 
Health Group Accounting Manual 
2016/17. 

The Trust's accounting policy in respect of 
the going concern basis of preparation is 
shown in note 1.1 to the financial 
statements.   
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 AUDIT RISK HOW WE RESPONDED TO THE RISK 

Occurrence of income from patient 
care activities 

85% of the group’s income is derived 
from contracts with NHS commissioners 
for patient care activities. These 
contracts include the rates for and level 
of patient care activity to be undertaken 
by the Trust. 

The Trust recognises patient care 
activity income during the year based 
on the completion of these activities. 
Patient care activities provided that are 
additional to those incorporated in the 
contracts with NHS commissioners are 
subject to verification and agreement by 
the NHS commissioners. As such, there 
is the risk that income is recognised for 
these additional services that is not 
subsequently agreed to by the NHS 
commissioners.  

We therefore identified occurrence of 
income from patient care activities as a 
significant risk requiring special audit 
consideration. 

 Our audit work included, but was not 
restricted to:  

• evaluating the group's accounting 
policy for recognition of income 
from patient care activities for 
appropriateness 

• gaining an understanding of the 
group's system for accounting for 
income from patient care activities 
and evaluating the design of the 
associated controls 

• obtaining an exception report from 
the Department of Health (DoH) 
that details differences in reported 
income and expenditure between 
NHS bodies; agreeing the figures 
in the exception report to the 
group’s financial records; and for 
differences calculated by the DoH 
as being in excess of £250,000, 
obtaining corroborating evidence 
to support the amount recorded in 
the financial statements of the 
group 

• agreeing, on a sample basis, 
amounts recognised as income 
from patient care activities in the 
financial statements to signed 
contracts, contract variations and 
invoices or supporting 
documentation. 

The group's accounting policy on 
recognition of income, including income 
from patient care activities, is shown in 
note 1.4 to the financial statements and 
related disclosures are included in note 2.   
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 AUDIT RISK HOW WE RESPONDED TO THE RISK 

Occurrence of other operating income 
and existence of associated receivables 
– Sustainability and Transformation 
Fund 

14% of the Trust's income is from non- 
healthcare sources. 

The Trust’s other operating income 
includes £16.538m from the national 
Sustainability and Transformation Fund 
(the Fund).  

Eligibility for income from the Fund is 
determined based on the Trust meeting 
quarterly financial targets determined by 
NHS England. Income is paid quarterly 
in arrears, when the Government bodies 
(including the Department of Health, HM 
Treasury, NHS Improvement and NHS 
England) verify the Trust’s achievement 
of these financial targets. At the year-
end, income from the Fund for the final 
quarter is accrued before the 
achievement of the financial target has 
been verified. As such, there is the risk 
that income is recognised in the final 
quarter of the year may be misstated. 

We therefore identified the occurrence 
of other operating revenue and 
existence of associated receivables as 
a significant risk requiring special audit 
consideration. 

Our audit work included, but was not 
restricted to: 

• evaluating the group's accounting 
policy for  recognition of other 
operating income for 
appropriateness and evaluating 
the appropriateness of changes 
from the prior year 

• gaining an understanding of the 
group's system for accounting for 
other operating income and 
evaluating the design of the 
associated controls 

• agreeing (for the remaining 
population), on a sample basis, 
amounts recognised in other 
operating revenue in the financial 
statements to invoices 

• agreeing income for the first three 
quarters of the year from the Fund 
recognised in the financial 
statements to cash receipts 

• assessing the validity of the 
income and the associated 
receivables relating to the fourth 
quarter 

• agreeing the total income from the 
Fund (including any finance 
incentive, bonus payments or 
additional income from the final 
distribution) to communications 
from NHS England. 

The group's accounting policy on 
recognition of income, including other 
income, is shown in note 1.4 to the 
financial statements and related 
disclosures are included in note 2.   
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Our application of 
materiality and an 

overview of the scope 
of our audit 

 

Materiality 

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements 
that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable 
person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality in determining the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit work and in evaluating the results of that work.  

We determined materiality for the audit of the group financial statements as a whole 
to be £6.325m, which is 2% of the group's gross operating expenses. This 
benchmark is considered the most appropriate because we consider users of the 
group's financial statements to be most interested in how it has expended its 
revenue and other funding.  

Materiality for the current year is at the same percentage level of gross revenue 
expenditure as we determined for the year ended 31 March 2016 as we did not 
identify any significant changes in the group’s operations or the environment in 
which it operates. 

We use a different level of materiality, performance materiality, to drive the extent of 
our testing and this was set at 75% of financial statement materiality for the audit of 
the group financial statements. We also determine a lower level of specific 
materiality for cash and cash equivalents and salary and pension entitlements of 
Senior Managers. 

We determined the threshold at which we will communicate misstatements to the 
Audit Committee to be £250,000. In addition we will communicate misstatements 
below that threshold that, in our view, warrant reporting on qualitative grounds. 

Overview of the scope of our audit 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of:  

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust's and group's 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed  

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Chief 
Executive as Accounting Officer 

• the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual 
Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies, we consider the implications for our report. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs) (UK and Ireland), having regard to the Financial Reporting Council’s Practice 
Note 10 “Audit of financial statements of public sector bodies in the United 
Kingdom”. Our responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice published by the 
National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code) 
and those standards are further described in the “Responsibilities for the financial 
statements and the audit” section of our report (see page 117). We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

We are independent of the group in accordance with the Auditing Practices Board's 
Ethical Standards for Auditors, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with those ethical standards. 

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the group's 
business and is risk based, and in particular included:  
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• evaluation by the group audit team of the identified components (the Trust 
and the Charity) to assess the significance of each component and to 
determine the planned audit response based on a measure of materiality 

• an interim visit to evaluate the group's internal control relevant to the audit, 
including relevant IT systems and controls over key financial systems 

• performance of targeted audit procedures on the financial records of the 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund, 
focusing on investments and cash balances 

• performance of audit procedures and evaluation of the consolidation 
process by which the components were consolidated into the group 
financial statements.  

Overview of the scope 
of our review of 

arrangements for 
securing economy, 

efficiency and 
effectiveness in the 

use of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 
November 2016, as to whether the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it took 
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor 
General determined these criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the 
Code in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2017, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code. Based on our risk assessment, 
we undertook such work as we considered necessary.   

Other reporting 
required by 
regulations 

Our opinion on other matters required by the Code is unmodified. 

In our opinion:  

• the parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff Report to be audited have 
been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 

•  the other information published together with the audited financial 
statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial statements. 

Matters on which we 
are required to report 

by exception 

Under the ISAs (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, 
information in the annual report is: 

• materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial 
statements; or 

• apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our 
knowledge of the group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or 

• otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to report to you if: 

• we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired 
during the audit and the Directors' statement that they consider the Annual 
Report is fair, balanced and understandable; or  

• the Annual Report does not appropriately disclose those matters that we 
communicated to the Audit Committee which we consider should have been 
disclosed. 

Under the Code, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure 
requirements set out in the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual 
2016/17 or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we 
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are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the 
Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks 
are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls; or 

• we have reported a matter in the public interest under Schedule 10 (3) of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 in the course of, or at the conclusion 
of the audit; or 

•  we have referred a matter to the regulator under Schedule 10 (6) of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 because we had reason to believe that 
the Trust, or a director or officer of the Trust, was about to make, or had 
made, a decision which involved or would involve the incurring of 
expenditure that was unlawful, or was about to take, or had taken a course 
of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to 
cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.   

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except for the following: 

Basis for adverse 
value for money 

conclusion 

Our review of the Trust's arrangements identified a number of matters: 

• the Trust reported a deficit of £18.9m. The original planned deficit for the 
year was £31.7m. The improvement in the position from budget largely 
relates to the receipt of a Sustainability and Transformation Fund incentive 
payment of £5.9m. The Trust’s 2017/18 budget presented to the Trust 
Board in November 2016 shows a forecast deficit of £22.1m for the 2017/18 
financial year 

• the Trust remains in special measures and continues to be graded as 
“Inadequate” by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). The CQC notified the 
Trust on 25 April 2016 that it would be placed into Trust Special 
Administration unless a credible plan for the future could be implemented. 
During 2016/17, the Trust has progressed with its long-term partnership 
with Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, with the Chair and Chief Executive of the 
Trust resigning to be replaced by the Chair and Chief Executive of Ipswich 
Hospital. At the time of writing, no further CQC inspections have taken 
place, therefore, as such, any benefits of the partnership have not been 
verified   

• sample testing performed of the data that underlies the indicator of 
“percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways” reported in the Trust's Quality Report has identified 
significant data quality issues around the indicator for 2016/17. 

These identify weaknesses in the Trust's arrangements for: 

• setting a sustainable budget with sufficient capacity to absorb emerging 
cost pressures due to the current configuration of services 

• responding to service delivery issues, including deployment of workforce 
and governance arrangements raised by regulators as required 
improvements to services have not been achieved 

• the overall governance arrangements around the production of the Quality 
Report, including the data indicators. 

These issues are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for informed 
decision-making and sustainable resource deployment in: 

• planning finances effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic 
priorities and maintain statutory functions 

•  acting in the public interest through demonstrating and applying the 
principles of good governance to support informed decision-making. 
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Adverse value for 
money conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in December 2016, because of the significance of the matters 
described in the Basis for adverse value for money conclusion paragraph above we 
are not satisfied that, in all significant respects, Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

Responsibilities for 
the financial 

statements and the 
audit 

What the Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for:  

As explained more fully in the Chief Executive’s responsibilities, the Chief 
Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Account Directions included in 
the NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual 2016/17 and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for the 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the 
Trust's resources. 

What we are responsible for: 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law, the Code and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

We are required under Section 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where 
we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required 
to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 

Certificate We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with the 
requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the 
Code. 

Signed  
Paul Dossett 
 
 
Paul Dossett 
Partner 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Grant Thornton House 
Melton Street 
Euston Square 
London 
NW1 2EP 
 
Date: 31 May 2017 
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More than 40 staff relocated to a new Cellular Pathology Department at Colchester General 
Hospital – created in a six-month £1.9m project to refurbish and extend a disused villa.  

The department relocated from the Severalls Hospital site and consists mainly of scientific staff 
involved in the diagnosis of diseases, including cancer. 

It has been created in what had previously been an empty two-storey villa built in the 1930s, which 
is next to The ICENI Centre, a purpose-built research and education centre. 

The work included a two-storey infill of what had previously been an outside courtyard in order to 
increase the space available for staff. 

TOP: The completed Cellular Pathology Department building. 

LEFT: At the start of the six-month project. 

RIGHT: The main laboratory in the new department. 
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The Trust has developed a financial plan for 2017/18 which forecasts a deficit of £22.1 million. Within this forecast is £17.0 million of

planned cost improvements and efficiency gains in addition to £22.5 million of interim working capital support from the Department of

Health. 

Although contracts for 2017/18 have been signed with commissioners, the Trust has not yet received formal confirmation in respect of the

interim financial support at the time of signing the accounts. This represents a material uncertainty for the Trust and there is a presumption

that additional working capital support will again be required in 2018/19. However, the Trust has made no decision to request dissolution

from the Secretary of State and has no reason to believe that financial support will not be provided.

Whilst the Trust is facing some significant challenges, the Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, still have reasonable expectation

that the Trust will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to

adopt the going concern basis for preparing the accounts.

Grant Thornton UK LLP have issued an emphasis of matter paragraph in the course of their audit due to the significant reliance on interim

financial support for 2017/18 and beyond and the material uncertainties over the timing of that support.

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts to 31 March 2017

FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust

The Trust's accounts for 2016/17 have recorded a deficit of £18.9 million (before the consolidation of charitable funds). The deficit

represents an improvement in the Trust’s financial position compared to the prior reporting period (2015/16 deficit, £38.3 million).

Significant variances contributing to this deficit include:

In accordance with the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17, management have assessed the organisation's ability to

continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. Significant work is ongoing with NHS Improvement, local commissioners and

stakeholders to provide safe and sustainable services across the North East Essex area and no decision has been made to transfer services or

significantly amend the structure of the organisation.

The Trust’s expenditure rose by 4.7% from £293.5m in 2015/16 to £307.2m in 2016/17. Significant cost increases included the Trust's

contribution to the overspend of the Pathology Partnership (£2.3m) and secondary commissioning (£2.4m) where it was necessary for

the Trust to outsource Dermatology and Endoscopy services to provide the capacity needed. The engagement of Ernst & Young to

support transformational projects within the Trust incurred an additional £4.1m, of which £3m was funded by the Department of

Health. Pay costs increased by £1.2m largely as a result of the national 1% pay increase. Clinical negligence scheme spending also

increased by £1.1m.

Compared with the previous year, income increased by 11.8 %, from £269.8m to £301.6m. In 2016/17 the Department of Health

introduced the Sustainability and Transformation Fund which was to be distributed to providers to support movement to a sustainable

financial footing. As a result of its performance in 2016/17 the Trust received £16.5m which drove the significant increase in income

compared to 2015/16. NHS commissioned income has risen by £8.5m (3.9%). Whilst the Trust's Market Forces Factor was unchanged,

there was a national tariff increase of 1.1% in 16/17 relative to 15/16. The resultant increases in income have been supplemented by

growth in the volume of PbR activity (notably non-elective care), allied to large increases in PbR excluded drug spend and activity and

block funding (the Trust agreed to act as partner to Essex County Council’s Section 75 agreement for Integrated Equipment Services in

16/17). The level of contractual penalties incurred by the Trust has fallen massively, with the Trust’s decision to accept and agree to the

control total and conditions associated with the Sustainability and Transformation Fund. Contrastingly, downward pressure on the

Trust’s income has stemmed from the impact of the ‘Care Closer to Home’ initiative that has meant that a proportion of the therapy

work has shifted to the community, and the Trust also reached an agreement with its main commissioner to cap the level of emergency

income received.

These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2017, have been prepared by Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust in

accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006.
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30th May 2017

No decisions have yet been made on how this partnership will work, but the Trust boards have noted last year that there will need to be

A&E, Maternity and Acute Medical Services at both Colchester and Ipswich hospitals in the future.

In January 2017, the Trust Board agreed a decision to repatriate the work of the Pathology Partnership to an eastern "hub" hosted by

CHUFT, following the notice of intent by Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to withdraw their hosting arrangements. The

"hub" will provide pathology services to The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust and West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust with effect from 5th May

2017.

The transfer of this service will see approximately 300 WTE members of staff joining the CHUFT payroll. For 2017/18, this reconfigured

pathology service has planned income of £31m, with pay and non-pay costs of £15m and £23m respectively. Any surplus or deficit delivered

by the service will be shared with the partners on a risk-share basis.

The Trust remains in special measures following the last inspection by the Care Quality Commission in 2016. A further inspection is expected 

during 2017.

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts to 31 March 2017

Future Direction of the Trust

In January 2017, both Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust (CHUFT) and The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust (IHT) identified that

a Long-Term Partnership (LTP) is essential to their sustainability. They have agreed a Strategic Outline Case to work together in a long-term

partnership and the Boards of the two trusts are looking at different ways in which the organisations can work together to improve care for

patients and create a more sustainable future for both organisations.

Nick Hulme, Chief Executive
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2016/17 2015/16

Note £000 £000

Operating Income 2 301,646          269,781          

Operating Expense 3 (316,265) (302,584)

Operating Deficit (14,619) (32,803)

Finance Costs

Finance income 6 24 35                     

Finance expense - financial liabilities 6.1 (1,662) (799)

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions 16 (13) (14)

PDC dividends payable (2,680) (4,727)

Net Finance Costs (4,331) (5,505)

Gains of disposal of assets 6.2 8                       1                       

Deficit from continuing operations (18,942) (38,307)

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR (18,942) (38,307)

Other Comprehensive Income:

Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses property, plant 

and equipment *
(45,192) 7,519               

Other reserve movements -                   1                       

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR (64,134) (30,787)

The notes on pages 14 to 48 form part of these accounts.

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2017

* In 2016/17 the Trust undertook a revlaution of its land and building assets using the alternative site valuation methodology. Further

information regarding this change in valuation basis can be found in note 1.7.
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31 March 

2017

31 March 

2016

Note £000 £000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets 7 6,288               5,534               

Property, plant and equipment 8.1 147,049          190,463          

Total Non-Current Assets 153,337          195,997          

CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets held for sale 8.2 4,100               6,107               

Inventories 10 4,874               5,019               

Trade and other receivables 11.1 30,250            12,696            

Cash and cash equivalents 17.1 5,442               2,025               

Total Current Assets 44,666            25,847            

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 12.1 (30,178) (29,816)

Borrowings 15 (5,364) (1,538)

Provisions 16 (910) (409)

Other liabilities 13 (1,864) (2,153)

Total Current Liabilities (38,316) (33,916)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 159,687          187,928          

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Borrowings 15 (93,626) (57,359)

Provisions 16 (905) (953)

Other liabilities 13 (2,605) (2,931)

Total Non-Current Liabilities (97,136) (61,243)

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED 62,551            126,685          

TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

Public Dividend Capital 76,764            76,764            

Revaluation Reserve 21,132            66,485            

Other Reserves 754                  754                  

Income and Expenditure Reserve (36,099) (17,318)

TOTAL TAXPAYER'S EQUITY 62,551            126,685          

Nick Hulme, Chief Executive

30th May 2017

The financial statements on pages 3 to 48 were approved by the Board and signed by:

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT

31 MARCH 2017
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2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating deficit from continuing operations (14,619) (32,803)

Operating deficit (14,619) (32,803)

Non-cash income and expense:

Depreciation and amortisation 9,048               9,006               

Impairments -                   98                     

Non-cash donations credited to income (29) (89)

Amortisation of PFI credit (326) (326)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (16,625) (2,171)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 145                  (35)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 234                  1,949               

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (289) 674                  

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 440                  (6)

Net cash generated from operations (22,021) (23,703)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 24                     35                     

Purchase of intangible assets (1,650) (329)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7,897) (9,879)

Sales of property, plant and equipment 15                     62                     

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities (9,508) (10,111)

Cash flows from  financing activities

Public dividend capital received 1,750               44                     

Public dividend capital repaid (1,750) (100)

Loans received from the Department of Health 41,765            47,286            

Loans repaid to the Department of Health (1,264) (15,118)

Capital element of finance lease rental payments (408) (368)

Interest paid (1,510) (713)

Interest element of finance lease (28) (69)

PDC dividend paid (3,609) (4,897)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 34,946            26,065            

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,417               (7,749)

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April 2,025               9,774               

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March 5,442               2,025               

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2017
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Total

Public 

Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 

Reserve

Other 

Reserves

Income and 

Expenditure 

Reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2015 157,528          76,820            59,188            754                  20,766            

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (38,307) -                   -                   -                   (38,307)

Revaluation gains and impairment losses 

property, plant and equipment
7,519               -                   7,519               -                   -                   

Transfers to the income and expenditure 

account in respect of assets disposed of
-                   -                   (223) -                   223                  

Public Dividend Capital received 44                     44                     -                   -                   -                   

Public Dividend Capital repaid (100) (100) -                   -                   -                   

Other reserve movements 1                       -                   1                       -                   -                   

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2016 126,685          76,764            66,485            754                  (17,318)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (18,942) -                   -                   -                   (18,942)

Revaluation gains and impairment losses 

property, plant and equipment
(45,192) -                   (45,192) -                   -                   

Transfers to the income and expenditure 

account in respect of assets disposed of
-                   -                   (161) -                   161                  

Public Dividend Capital received 1,750               1,750               -                   -                   -                   

Public Dividend Capital repaid (1,750) (1,750) -                   -                   -                   

Other reserve movements -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2017 62,551            76,764            21,132            754                  (36,099)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY AS AT

31 MARCH 2017
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2016/17 2015/16

Note £000 £000

Operating Income 2 302,127          270,628          

Operating Expense 3 (316,466) (302,836)

Operating Deficit (14,339) (32,208)

Finance Costs

Finance income 6 28                     39                     

Finance expense - financial liabilities 6.1 (1,662) (799)

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions 16 (13) (14)

PDC dividends payable (2,680) (4,727)

Net Finance Costs (4,327) (5,501)

Gains of disposal of assets 6.2 8                       1                       

Deficit from continuing operations (18,658) (37,708)

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR (18,658) (37,708)

Other Comprehensive Income:

Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses property, plant and 

equipment
(45,192) 7,519               

Other reserve movements -                   1                       

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR (63,850) (30,188)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2017

* The Trust is a corporate trustee of Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund. In accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 10 and the requirements of Monitor's Annual Reporting Manual, the Trust has consolidated the financial

statements of the Charity with those of the Foundation Trust for the reporting period ending 31st March 2017.

A reconciliation of the impact of this consolidation on the Trust's surplus/(deficit) can be seen in note 1.3.

CONSOLIDATED FOR CHARITABLE FUNDS *
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31 March 

2017

31 March 

2016

Note £000 £000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets 7 6,288               5,534               

Property, plant and equipment 8.1 147,049          190,463          

Total Non-Current Assets 153,337          195,997          

CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets held for sale 8.2 4,100               6,107               

Inventories 10 4,874               5,019               

Trade and other receivables 11.2 30,218            12,917            

Cash and cash equivalents 17.1 7,333               3,355               

Total Current Assets 46,525            27,398            

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 12.2 (30,271) (29,885)

Borrowings 15 (5,364) (1,538)

Provisions 16 (910) (409)

Other liabilities 13 (1,864) (2,153)

Total Current Liabilities (38,409) (33,985)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 161,453          189,410          

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Borrowings 15 (93,626) (57,359)

Provisions 16 (905) (953)

Other liabilities 13 (2,605) (2,931)

Total Non-Current Liabilities (97,136) (61,243)

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED 64,317            128,167          

TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

Public Dividend Capital 76,764            76,764            

Revaluation Reserve 21,132            66,485            

Other Reserves 754                  754                  

Income and Expenditure Reserve (36,099) (17,318)

Charitable Funds Reserve 1,766               1,482               

TOTAL TAXPAYER'S EQUITY 64,317            128,167          

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT

31 MARCH 2017

CONSOLIDATED FOR CHARITABLE FUNDS
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2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating deficit from continuing operations (14,339) (32,208)

Operating deficit (14,339) (32,208)

Non-cash income and expense:

Depreciation and amortisation 9,048               9,006               

Impairments -                   98                     

Income recognised in respect of capital donations (cash and non-cash) (15) (42)

Amortisation of PFI credit (326) (326)

Increase in trade and other receivables (16,593) (2,183)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 145                  (35)

Increase in trade and other payables 234                  1,949               

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (289) 674                  

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 440                  (6)

NHS charitable funds - net working capital movements 245                  (173)

Other movements in operating cash flows -                   -                   

Net cash used in operations (21,450) (23,246)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 24                     35                     

Purchase of intangible assets (1,650) (329)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7,911) (9,926)

Sales of property, plant and equipment 15                     62                     

NHS charitable funds - investment income 4                       4                       

Net cash used in investing activities (9,518) (10,154)

Cash flows from  financing activities

Public dividend capital received 1,750               44                     

Public dividend capital repaid (1,750) (100)

Loans received from the Department of Health 41,765            47,286            

Loans repaid to the Department of Health (1,264) (15,118)

Capital element of finance lease rental payments (408) (368)

Interest paid (1,510) (713)

Interest element of finance lease (28) (69)

PDC dividend paid (3,609) (4,897)

Net cash generated from financing activities 34,946            26,065            

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,978               (7,335)

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April 3,355               10,690            

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March 7,333               3,355               

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2017

CONSOLIDATED FOR CHARITABLE FUNDS
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Total

Public 

Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 

Reserve

Other 

Reserves

Income and 

Expenditure 

Reserve

Charitable 

Funds Reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 

2015
158,411          76,820            59,188            754                  20,766            883                  

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year (37,708) -                   -                   -                   (38,479) 771                  

Revaluation gains and 

impairment losses property, 

plant and equipment

7,519               -                   7,519               -                   -                   -                   

Transfers to the income and 

expenditure account in 

respect of assets disposed of

-                   -                   (223) -                   223                  -                   

Public Dividend Capital 

received
44                     44                     -                   -                   -                   -                   

Public Dividend Capital 

repaid
(100) (100) -                   -                   -                   -                   

Other reserve movements 1                       -                   1                       -                   -                   -                   

Other reserve movements in 

respect of charitable funds
-                   -                   -                   -                   172                  (172)

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 

March 2016
128,167          76,764            66,485            754                  (17,318) 1,482               

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year (18,658) -                   -                   -                   (19,111) 453                  

Revaluation gains and 

impairment losses property, 

plant and equipment

(45,192) -                   (45,192) -                   -                   -                   

Transfers to the income and 

expenditure account in 

respect of assets disposed of

-                   -                   (161) -                   161                  -                   

Public Dividend Capital 

received
1,750               1,750               -                   -                   -                   -                   

Public Dividend Capital 

repaid
(1,750) (1,750) -                   -                   -                   -                   

Other reserve movements in 

respect of charitable funds
-                   -                   -                   -                   169                  (169)

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 

March 2017
64,317            76,764            21,132            754                  (36,099) 1,766               

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY AS AT

31 MARCH 2017

CONSOLIDATED FOR CHARITABLE FUNDS
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2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM:

Donations and legacies:

Donations 590                  974                  

Legacies 13                     1                       

Grants received 20                     8                       

Other trading activities:

Fundraising events 24                     31                     

Sponsorship and lotteries 3                       5                       

Investment income 4                       4                       

Other income -                   -                   

Total 654                  1,023               

EXPENDITURE ON:

Raising funds:

Fundraising costs 104                  154                  

Charitable activities:

Patients - welfare and amenities 161                  115                  

Staff - welfare and amenities 61                     66                     

Contributions to NHS 5                       50                     

Governance costs 39                     39                     

Total 370                  424                  

Net Income/(Expenditure) 284                  599                  

Reconciliation of Funds

Opening funds brought forward 1,482               883                  

Total funds carried forward 1,766               1,482               

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2017

COLCHESTER HOSPITAL UNIVERSITY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST CHARITABLE FUND
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31 March 

2017

31 March 

2016

£000 £000

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors 2                       223                  

Cash 1,891               1,330               

Total Current Assets 1,893               1,553               

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors (127) (71)

Total Current Liabilities (127) (71)

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED 1,766               1,482               

THE FUNDS OF THE CHARITY

Restricted income funds 859                  475                  

Unrestricted income funds 907                  1,007               

TOTAL CHARITY FUNDS 1,766               1,482               

COLCHESTER HOSPITAL UNIVERSITY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST CHARITABLE FUND

BALANCE SHEET AS AT

31 MARCH 2017
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Public Dividend Capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of

establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. Additional PDC may also be issued to NHS foundation trusts by the Department of Health.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public

dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation Reserve

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they

reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent

downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised

unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Other Reserves

Other reserves represent the balance of working capital, inventories, and plant and equipment assets transferred to the Trust as part

of the disaggregation and dissolution of Essex and Herts Community NHS Trust in 2001. The reserve is held in perpetuity and cannot be

released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Income and Expenditure Reserve

The income and expenditure reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the NHS foundation trust. It is held in perpetuity and

cannot be released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Charitable Funds Reserve

The charitable funds reserve represents those funds which are available to the Charity to be spent at the Trustees' discretion in

furtherance of the Charity's objectives and which are not yet spent or committed.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. Accounting Policies

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is responsible for issuing an accounts direction to NHS

foundation trusts under the NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the

accounting requirements of the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual (DH GAM) which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State.

Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the DH GAM 2016/17 issued by the Department of

Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow IFRS and HM Treasury’s FReM to the extent that they are meaningful and

appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in

relation to the accounts.

In accordance with IAS 8, the most suitable accounting policies have been selected which provide the most relevant and reliable information in

respect of the Trust's activities.

1.1  Accounting Convention and Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and

equipment, intangible assets, inventories, and certain financial assets and liabilities.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In accordance with IAS 1, management have made an assessment of the

Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. For the financial year commencing 1st April 2017 the Group as well as the Trust has forecast a

deficit of £22.1 million and within this forecast is a cost improvement programme requiring £17.0 million of efficiencies and savings. In order to

fund this deficit, the Directors are seeking interim financial support for 2017/18 of £22.5 million from the Department of Health. At the time of

writing, an interim working capital loan facility of £73.4 million has been provided to the Trust and discussions are on-going with regard to the

further support required.

Although contracts for 2017/18 have been signed with commissioners, the Trust has not yet received formal confirmation in respect of the

interim financial support at the time of signing the accounts. This represents a material uncertainty for the Trust and there is a presumption that

additional working capital support will again be required in 2018/19. However, the Trust has made no decision to request dissolution from the

Secretary of State and has no reason to believe that financial support will not be provided.

In January 2017, both Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust (CHUFT) and The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust (IHT) identified that a

Long-Term Partnership (LTP) is essential to their sustainability. They have agreed a Strategic Outline Case to work together in a long-term

partnership and the Boards of the two trusts are looking at different ways in which the organisations can work together to improve care for

patients and create a more sustainable future for both organisations.

No decisions have yet been made on how this partnership will work, but the Trust boards have noted last year that there will need to be A&E,

Maternity and Acute Medical Services at both Colchester and Ipswich hospitals in the future.

Although these factors represent material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern,

the Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, still have reasonable expectations that the Trust will have adequate resources to continue in

operational existence for the foreseeable future. As directed by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17, the Directors

have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis as they consider that the services currently provided by the Trust will continue

to be provided in the foreseeable future. On this basis, the Trust has adopted the going concern basis for preparing the accounts and has not

included the adjustments that would result if it was unable to continue as a going concern.

1.2 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, IAS 1 requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based

on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates

and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is

revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.
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1.3  Consolidation

Subsidiaries

• benefits from the NHS charitable fund.

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Trust deficit for year (18,942) (38,307)

Less:

Charitable contributions previously credited to Trust income (155) (125)

Receipt of donated assets previously credited to Trust income (14) (47)

Plus:

NHS charitable funds income 650        1,019         

NHS charitable funds investment income 4            4                 

Less:

NHS charitable funds expenditure (198) (249)

NHS charitable funds audit fee (3) (3)

Consolidated deficit for year (18,658) (37,708)

1.4 Income

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that income is deferred.

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts to 31 March 2017

Reconciliation of Trust surplus/(deficit) to pre-consolidated accounts:

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured at the fair value of

the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services.

Partially completed clinical spells are valued using a methodology based on the estimated value of the proportion of the spell completed as a

proportion of the total estimated spell value. These are recorded under income.

The Trust is a corporate trustee of Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund. The Trust has assessed its

relationship to the charitable fund and determined it to be a subsidiary because the Trust has the power to govern the financial and

operating policies of the charitable fund so as to obtain benefits from its activities for itself, its patients or its staff.

Consolidated Accounts - NHS Charitable Funds

Where a foundation trust is a corporate trustee of an NHS charity, the foundation trust needs to consider whether that fund represents a

subsidiary. This is likely to be the case where the NHS foundation trust both:

• has control of the NHS charitable fund (as determined by IFRS 10); and

Subsidiary entities are those over which the Trust has the power to exercise control or a dominant influence so as to gain economic or other

benefits. The income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of subsidiaries are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial

statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable to minority interests are included as a separate item in the Statement of Financial

Position.

The Trust considers that the valuation of property, plant and equipment assets poses the largest risk relating to estimates and assumptions

about their carrying value. To mitigate the risk of material misstatement, the Trust engages the professional services and advice of the

Valuation Office Agency (VOA) to provide estimated values for these assets. The VOA is recognised as a suitable provider of a range of

valuation and surveying services to public sector bodies and their estimates can be relied upon in respect of these services.

There are no other sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is measured as the

sums due under the sale contract.

Lease income from operating leases is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term, irrespective of when the payments

are due.

The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to whom

personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, e.g. by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it receives notification

from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income is

measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and

doubtful debts.

1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits

Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of

annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent

that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

Pension Costs

NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme

that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It

is not possible for the NHS foundation trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as

a defined contribution scheme.

Employer's pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is due to ill-health.

The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time the Trust commits itself to the

retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

National Employment Savings Scheme (NEST)

NEST is a defined contribution pension scheme that was created as part of the government’s workplace pensions reforms under the Pensions

Act 2008.

1.6 Expenditure on Other Goods and Services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is measured at the fair value of

those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such

as property, plant and equipment.

1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment

Recognition

Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised if it is capable of being used for a period which exceeds one year and it:

• individually has a cost of at least £5,000; or

• collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally

  interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and

  are under single managerial control; or

• form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual or collective

  cost.

The finance costs of bringing fixed assets into use are not capitalised.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, e.g. plant and

equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

Capital expenditure on strategic schemes, i.e. those schemes which are of a longer-term nature such as building or large infrastructure

projects, is initially charged to assets in the course of construction during the construction phase. Capital schemes are regularly assessed for

progress, and once completed, costs are transferred from assets in the course of construction to the appropriate asset category and are

recognised as coming into full use.

Measurement

Valuation

In accordance with IAS 16, all property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable

to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner

intended by management.

IFRS 13 Fair Value is adopted in full; however, IAS 16 and IAS 38 have been adapted and interpreted for the public sector context which limits

the circumstances in which a valuation is prepared under IFRS 13. An item of property, plant and equipment which is surplus with no plan to

bring it back into use is valued at fair value under IFRS 13 if it does not meet the requirments of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.

All assets are measured subsequently at current value. All land and buildings are restated to current value using professional valuations at

least every five years, with an interim valuation at 3 years. All plant and equipment is valued using a depreciated historical costs basis as a

proxy for current value.

For land and building assets, professional valuations are carried out by the District Valuer Service of the Valuation Office Agency. The

valuations are carried out in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation - Professional Standards 2014 UK

edition, in so far as these terms are consistent with the agreed requirements of HM Treasury, Monitor and the National Health Service.

A desktop valuation of land and buildings was prepared by the District Valuer Service as at 31 March 2017. 

For 2016/17 the valuation basis for the Trust's land and building assets has been changed to that of an alternative site basis. In selecting the

alternative site on which the modern equivalent asset would be situated, the valuer has considered whether the actual site remains

appropriate for use by the Trust, in accordance with section 7 of UKGN 2. For public sector bodies, HM Treasury guidance is that the choice of

whether to value an alternative site will normally hinge on whether the proposed alternative site will meet the locational requirements of the

service that is being provided (Treasury Guidance Note paragraphs 1.14 to 1.16).

Following discussions with the District Valuer Service, it has been determined that alternative sites would be appropriate for certain assets,

and these instances the land has been valued assuming the benefit of planning permission for development for a use, or a range of uses,

prevailing in the vicinity of the selected site.

The significant reduction in the valuation of land and buildings has been driven by two main factors:

     - The reduction in land price values in relocating to a commercial development from a prime residential location

     - A reduction in gross internal area of approximately 15% which arises through the rationalisation of the Trust's existing properties

       into a single, purpose-built, hospital facility

The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost for specialised operational property and Existing Use

Value for non-specialised operational property. The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed at Existing Use Value. For non-

operational properties including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at Open Market Value. In accordance with Treasury guidance, all

revaluations undertaken since 1 May 2008 have been based on "modern equivalent assets".
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Medical Equipment and Engineering Plant and Equipment 5 to 15 years

Furniture & Fittings 10 years

Mainframe Information Technology Installations 8 years

Office and Information Technology Equipment 5 years

Software 5 to 10 years

Set-up Costs in New Buildings 10 years

Revaluation gains and losses

Impairments

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use.

Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life of the asset:

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse

an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.

Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset

concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘Other

Comprehensive Income’.

In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the asset are charged to

operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal

to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset

before the impairment.

An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that

gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it

would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the

time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is

transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains.

Finance-leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic life or the lease term, unless the FT expects to acquire the asset 

at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are depreciated in the same manner as owned assets above.

Assets in the course of construction are valued at current cost. These assets include any existing land or buildings under the control of a

contractor.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the

consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset

when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such

item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably.

Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying

amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service

potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
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De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met:

• the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary for

   such sales;

• the sale must be highly probable, i.e.:

        - management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;

        - an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;

        - the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;

        - the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and

        - the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 

Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying 

amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is 

retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

Donated, Government Grant and Other Grant Funded Assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation/grant is credited

to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be

consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future

financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and equipment.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Transactions

PFI transactions which meet the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12 definition of a service concession, as

interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust. The underlying assets are

recognised as property, plant and equipment at their fair value. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 17.

The Trust's PFI arrangement for staff accommodation is accounted for as a service concession in accordance with IFRIC 12. The operator

receives all of its income from individual users rather than in the form of unitary payments from the Trust. As such there is no service charge

but the asset is recognised under non-current assets on the balance sheet with a corresponding deferred income balance. 

The deferred income balance is released to operating income over the life of the concession.

1.8 Intangible Assets

Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s

business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will

flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in the Trust's activities for more than one year; they can be valued; and

they have a cost of at least £5,000.

Internally generated intangible assets

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
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Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:

• the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use;

• the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it;

• the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the presence of a market for

   it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset;

• adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to complete the development and sell or use the

   asset; and

• the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

Software

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant

and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset

where expenditure of at least £5,000 is incurred, and are amortised over the shorter of the term of the licence and their useful economic

lives.

Measurement

Intangible fixed assets held for operational use are valued at historical cost and are amortised over the estimated life of the asset on a straight-

line basis. The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full year following acquisition and in other

periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to

the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, intangible assets are valued at

the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is income generating. Revaluation gains and losses and

impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring

it back into use is valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or

service delivery benefits.

1.9 Inventories

Inventories are valued at current cost. Current cost is considered to be a reasonable approximation to the lower of cost and net realisable

value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.10 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when

the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been

transferred.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss; held to maturity investments;

available for sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and

is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Classification and Measurement

The Trust's financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables.
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Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market.

After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost less any impairment.

The Trust's loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and other receivables.

At the end of the reporting period, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at 'fair value through profit and loss'

are impaired.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying

amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised

in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring

after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the

carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had

the impairment not been recognised.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the trust becomes party to the contractual provisions of the

financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised

when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost.  Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

Other Financial Liabilities

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured subsequently at amortised

cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly the estimated future cash payments

through the expected life of the financial liability, or when appropriate a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date, which

are classified as long-term liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to finance costs. Interest

on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those

assets.

Impairment of Financial Assets

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through

income and expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on

the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying

amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised

in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

The Trust holds a bad debt provision for potentially irrecoverable debts but does not write off amounts to the Statement of Comprehensive

Income until there is reasonable certainty that the debt is irrecoverable.

1.11 Leases

Finance Leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and

equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the

present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which

produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability.
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The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or

expires. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost. The annual finance cost is calculated by applying

the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability and is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Operating Leases

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the

lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Leases of Land and Buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the classification for each is

assessed separately. Leased land is treated as an operating lease.

1.12 Provisions

The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable

that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in

the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value

of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published and mandated by HM

Treasury.

Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which,

in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal

liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at

note 16 but is not recognised in the Trust's accounts.

Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under

which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.

The annual membership contributions, and any "excesses" payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when

the liability arises.

1.13 Contingencies

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future events not wholly

within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in note 21 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 20, unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are defined as; possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of

one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Trust; or, present obligations arising from past events but for which

it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient

reliability.

1.14 Public Dividend Capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment 
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An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as public dividend capital

dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust during the

financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets, (ii)

average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. The average

carrying amount of assets is calculated as a simple average of opening and closing relevant net assets. In accordance with the requirements

laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets

as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets

occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.

1.15 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not

recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.

Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.16 Corporation Tax

Foundation Trusts currently have a statutory exemption from corporation tax on all of their core healthcare activities. No significant

commercial activity on which corporation tax would be applicable is undertaken.

1.17 Foreign Exchange

The functional and presentational currencies of the Trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of

the transaction.

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date:

• monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’) are translated at

  the spot exchange rate on 31 March;

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date the fair value

  was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the Statement of Financial

Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains and losses on these items.

1.18 Cash at Bank, Overdrafts and Cash Equivalents

Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at the current values of these balances in the Trust's cash books. Account balances are only

set off where a formal agreement has been made with the bank to do so. In all other cases overdrafts are disclosed within borrowings.

Interest earned on bank accounts and interest charged on overdrafts is recorded as, respectively, "interest receivable" and "interest payable"

in the periods to which they relate. Bank charges are recorded as operating expenditure in the periods to which they relate.

Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known

amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.19 Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme

The CRC scheme is a mandatory cap and trade scheme for non-transport CO2 emissions. Where NHS foundation trusts are registered with the

CRC scheme, they are required to surrender to the Government an allowance for every tonne of CO2 they emit during the financial year.

Therefore, registered NHS foundation trusts should recognise a liability and related expense in respect of this obligation as CO2 emissions are

made.
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Further information on segmental reporting is presented at note 26 "segmental analysis".

The liability will be measured at the amount expected to be incurred in settling the obligation. This will be the cost of the number of

allowances/tonnes required to settle the obligation.

The carrying amount of the liability at 31 March will, therefore, reflect the CO2 emissions that have been made during that financial year,

less the allowances (if any) surrendered voluntarily during the financial year in respect of that financial year.

The Trust has determined that the Chief Operating Decision Maker is the Board of Directors, on the basis that all strategic decisions are

made by the Board. Segmental information is not provided to the Board of Directors and therefore it has been determined that there is only

one business segment, that of Healthcare.

1.22 Segmental Reporting

1.21 Early Adoption of Accounting Standards, Amendments and Interpretations

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2016/17.

1.20 Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted in the FReM

The following changes to standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have not yet been adopted within the

FReM, and are therefore not applicable to Department of Health group accounts in 2016-17. None of these are expected to impact upon the

Trust financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted by the 

FReM: early adoption is therefore not permitted.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts: Not yet European Union-endorsed. Applies to first time adopters of IFRS after 1 January 2016. 

Therefore not applicable to DH group bodies.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not 

yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.

IFRS 16 Leases: Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early 

adoption is therefore not permitted.
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2. Operating Income

2.1 Operating Income (by classification)

2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000

2.1.1 Income from Activities

Elective income 42,861     36,987     42,861     36,987     

Non-elective income 81,669     80,028     81,669     80,028     

Outpatient income 43,482     45,003     43,482     45,003     

A&E income 11,362     10,431     11,362     10,431     

Other activity income 73,518     71,471     73,518     71,471     

Additional income for delivery of healthcare services -            100           -            100           

Private patient income 836           855           836           855           

Other non-protected clinical income 3,971       3,657       3,971       3,657       

Total Income from Activities 257,699   248,532   257,699   248,532   

2.1.2 Commissioner Requested Services and Continuity of Services

2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000

Commissioner Requested Services 252,892   243,920   252,892   243,920   

Other services 4,807       4,612       4,807       4,612       

257,699   248,532   257,699   248,532   

2.1.3 Other Operating Income

2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000

Research and development 1,158       1,175       1,158       1,175       

Education and training 6,891       6,562       6,891       6,562       

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 157           127           2               2               

Receipt of donated assets 29             89             15             42             

Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,071       3,890       4,071       3,890       

Sustainability and Transformation Fund Income 16,538     -                16,538     -                

Car parking 1,133       968           1,133       968           

Staff recharges 3,358       3,192       3,358       3,192       

Drug sales 1,565       1,763       1,565       1,763       

Clinical Excellence Awards -                45             -                45             

Other 8,610       3,006       8,610       3,006       

Rental revenue from operating leases 111           106           111           106           

Amortisation of PFI deferred credits 326           326           326           326           

Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets -                -                

NHS charitable funds -                -                650           1,019       

Total Other Operating Income 43,947     21,249     44,428     22,096     

2.1.4 Total Operating Income

2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income from activities 257,699   248,532   257,699   248,532   

Other operating income 43,947     21,249     44,428     22,096     

Total Operating Income 301,646   269,781   302,127   270,628   

ConsolidatedFoundation Trust

Commissioner Requested Services are defined in the provider licence and are the services that commissioners believe must continue to be

delivered to local patients should the provider be unable to carry on as a going concern.
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2.2 Private Patient Income
2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Private and overseas patient income 836                  855                  

Total patient related income 257,699          248,532          

2.3 Operating Lease Income
2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Rents recognised as income in the period 111                  106                  

Total 111                  106                  

Future Minimum Lease Payments Due

-not later than 1 year 86                     85                     

-later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 217                  281                  

-later than 5 years -                        13                     

Total 303                  379                  

2.4 Income from Activities (by type)
2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

NHS Foundation Trusts 24                     255                  

NHS Trusts 160                  -                   

Clinical Commissioning Groups 252,365          243,407          

Local Authorities (22) 2,768               

Private patients 715                  746                  

Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 121                  109                  

Injury Cost Recovery* 1,027               773                  

Other 3,309               474                  

257,699          248,532          

2.5 Overseas Visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the Trust)

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Income recognised this year 121                  109                  

Cash payments received in-year 64                     20                     

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables 25                     52                     

Amounts written off in-year 49                     40                     

*Injury cost recovery income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts to reflect expected rates of collection.

The Trust's operating lease income is from the annual rents charged by the Trust for the use of its premises.
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3. Operating Expenses

3.1 Operating Expenses (by type)

2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000

Services from NHS trusts (74) 148             (74) 148             

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 10,613       8,197          10,613       8,197          

Executive Directors' costs 1,547          1,701          1,547          1,701          

Non-Executive Directors' costs 148             118             148             118             

Staff costs 190,747     189,542     190,747     189,542     

Drug costs 28,004       28,585       28,004       28,585       

Supplies and services - clinical 32,973       29,668       32,973       29,668       

Supplies and services - general 3,954          4,138          3,954          4,138          

Establishment 1,807          1,938          1,807          1,938          

Research and development - 1 - 1 

Transport 841             1,113          841             1,113          

Premises 8,470          8,527          8,470          8,527          

Increase/(decrease) in bad debt provision 539             303             539             303             

Increase in other provisions 424             99 424             99 

Change in provisions discount rate 70 (5) 70 (5)

Inventories written down 140             122             140             122             

Depreciation 9,048          9,006          9,048          9,006          

Fixed asset impairments - 98 - 98 

Rentals under operating leases 3,326          2,513          3,326          2,513          

Audit fees in respect of the statutory audit 64 50 64 50 

Audit fees in respect of the charitable funds audit - - 3 3 

Clinical negligence 12,350       11,227       12,350       11,227       

Legal fees 169             194             169             194             

Consultancy costs 4,317          319             4,317          319             

Internal audit costs 54 66 54 66 

Training, courses & conferences 811             570             811             570             

Patient travel 27 31 27 31 

Car parking & security 451             272             451             272             

Redundancy 296             315             296             315             

Insurance 317             304             317             304             

Other services, e.g. external payroll 822             854             822             854             

Losses, ex gratia & special payments 44 46 44 46 

Other 3,966          2,524          3,966          2,524          

NHS charitable funds - - 198             249             

Total 316,265     302,584     316,466     302,836     

3.2 Arrangements Containing an Operating Lease

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Minimum lease payments 3,326          2,513          

Total 3,326          2,513          

Future Minimum Lease Payments Due

-not later than 1 year 1,744          1,545          

-later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 600             702             

-later than 5 years 367             417             

Total 2,711          2,664          

Total of future minimum sublease lease payments to be received as at 31 March 2017. - - 

Foundation Trust Consolidated

The Trust's operating leases include rentals for the use of NHS premises, lease car contracts and the hire of medical and laboratory

equipment. The leases have been reviewed and classified as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17.
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3.3 Limitation on Auditor's Liability

The limitation on auditor's liability is £2,000,000 (£2,000,000 in 2015/16).

4. Staff Costs

4.1 Employee Benefits

 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Salaries and wages 135,997          134,191          

Social Security costs 12,737            10,167            

Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme* 15,657            15,286            

NEST pension contributions 7                       4                       

Termination benefits 296                  315                  

Agency/Contract Staff 28,044            31,713            

Total 192,738          191,676          

* Pension Costs

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

b) Accounting valuation

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April

2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act

2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this

"employer cost cap" assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary

of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS

Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are

published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules

of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded, defined benefit

schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England

and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme

assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of

participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period between formal valuations shall

be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of these follows:

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account

their recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates payable by employees and employers.

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary's Department) as at

the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial

reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on the valuation data as at 31 March 2016,

updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the

methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been

used.

The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent

of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as

deemed appropriate.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.
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4.2 Key Management Compensation

 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,015               1,074               

Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme 110                  79                     

Total 1,125               1,153               

4.3 Staff Benefits in Kind

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Subsidised travel permits 50                     45                     

                              
Total 50                     45                     

4.4 Retirements Due to Ill-health

The key management of the Trust are the Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The compensation paid or payable to key

management for employee services is shown below:

During 2016/17 there were 4 early retirements from the Trust on the grounds of ill-health (7 in 2015/16). The estimated additional

pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £207,907 (2015/16, £605,774). The cost of these ill-health retirements will be

borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
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5. Better Payment Practice Code

5.1 Better Payment Practice Code - Measure of Compliance

Number £000 Number £000

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 75,143           178,087           78,757           144,281           

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 9,739              88,521              53,550           102,801           

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 13% 50% 68% 71%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 1,401              36,519              1,335              35,547              

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 311                 27,646              905                 32,125              

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 22% 76% 68% 90%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

-                       7                        

Total -                       7                        

6. Finance Income 

 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Interest income on short-term bank deposits 24                   35                      

NHS charitable funds - investment income 4                      4                        

                              
28                   39                      

               

6.1 Finance Costs - Interest Expense

 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Finance Leases 28                   69                      

Loans from the Department of Health 1,634              723                    

Other -                       7                        

                              
1,662              799                    

6.2 Gains/Losses on Disposal/Derecognition of Non-Current Assets

 2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Profit on disposal of non-current assets 15                   23                      

Loss on disposal of non-current assets (7) (22)

                              
Net profit on disposal of non-current assets 8                      1                        

2016/17

Amounts included within interest payable (note 6.1) arising from claims made 

under this legislation

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt

of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

2015/16
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7. Intangible Assets

Software 

Licences 

£000

Gross cost at 1 April 2015 10,123               

Transfers from assets under construction/reclassification 24                       

Additions purchased 233                    

Disposals (3)

Gross cost at 31 March 2016 10,377              

Amortisation at 1 April 2015 3,750                 

Charged during the year 1,094                 

Transfers from assets under construction/reclassification 2                         

Disposals (3)

Amortisation at 31 March 2016 4,843                 

Net book value

- Purchased at 31 March 2016 5,534                 
- Total at 31 March 2016 5,534                 

Gross cost at 1 April 2016 10,377               

Additions purchased 1,689                 

Disposals (3)

Gross cost at 31 March 2017 12,063              

Amortisation at 1 April 2016 4,843                 

Charged during the year 935                    

Disposals (3)

Amortisation at 31 March 2017 5,775                 

Net book value

- Purchased at 31 March 2017 6,288                 
- Total at 31 March 2017 6,288                 
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment

8.1 Property, Plant and Equipment at the Statement of Financial Position Date Comprise the Following Elements:

Land Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Assets under 

construction and 

payments on 

account

Plant and 

machinery 

Information 

technology 

Furniture & 

fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2015 29,084                  130,201               1,281                    38,847                  6,366                    218                       205,997               

Additions purchased -                             30                          8,450                    1,200                    131                       7                            9,818                    

Additions donated -                             -                             -                             42                          -                             -                             42                          

Impairments charged to operating expenses -                             (98) -                             -                             -                             -                             (98)

Transfers from assets under construction -                             7,123                    (9,435) 1,513                    775                       -                             (24)

Revaluation surpluses (614) 4,268                    -                             -                             -                             -                             3,654                    

Disposals -                             -                             -                             (3,311) (168) (2) (3,481)

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2016 28,470                  141,524               296                       38,291                  7,104                    223                       215,908               

Depreciation and impairments at 1 April 2015 -                             -                             -                             20,789                  3,913                    113                       24,815                  

Provided during the year -                             3,865                    -                             3,099                    926                       22                          7,912                    

Reclassifications -                             -                             -                             (2) -                             -                             (2)

Revaluation surpluses -                             (3,865) -                             -                             -                             -                             (3,865)

Disposals -                             -                             -                             (3,245) (168) (2) (3,415)

Depreciation and Impairments at 31 March 2016 -                             -                             -                             20,641                  4,671                    133                       25,445                  

Net Book Value

Owned at 31 March 2016 28,470                  133,305               296                       17,482                  2,146                    90                          181,789               

Finance Lease at 31 March 2016 -                             1,879                    -                             -                             254                       -                             2,133                    

On-balance-sheet service concession contracts -                             6,340                    -                             -                             -                             -                             6,340                    

Donated at 31 March 2016 -                             -                             -                             168                       33                          -                             201                       
Total at 31 March 2016 28,470                  141,524               296                       17,650                  2,433                    90                          190,463               
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8.1 Property, Plant and Equipment at the Statement of Financial Position Date Comprise the Following Elements (continued):

Land Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Assets under 

construction and 

payments on 

account

Plant and 

machinery 

Information 

technology 

Furniture & 

fittings 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016 28,470                  141,524               296                       38,291                  7,104                    223                       215,908               

Additions purchased -                             670                       6,095                    959                       138                       -                             7,862                    

Additions donated -                             -                             -                             22                          7                            -                             29                          

Transfers from assets under construction -                             3,418                    (3,797) -                             379                       -                             -                             

Revaluation surpluses (16,095) (31,208) -                             -                             -                             -                             (47,303)

Disposals -                             -                             -                             (2,410) (1,553) (48) (4,011)

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017 12,375                  114,404               2,594                    36,862                  6,075                    175                       172,485               

Depreciation and impairments at 1 April 2016 -                             -                             -                             20,641                  4,671                    133                       25,445                  

Provided during the year -                             4,118                    -                             3,144                    830                       21                          8,113                    

Revaluation surpluses -                             (4,118) -                             -                             -                             -                             (4,118)

Disposals -                             -                             -                             (2,403) (1,553) (48) (4,004)

Depreciation and Impairments at 31 March 2017 -                             -                             -                             21,382                  3,948                    106                       25,436                  

Net Book Value

Owned at 31 March 2017 12,375                  107,724               2,594                    15,342                  2,037                    69                          140,141               

Finance Lease at 31 March 2017 -                             1,542                    -                             -                             64                          -                             1,606                    

On-balance-sheet service concession contracts -                             5,138                    -                             -                             -                             -                             5,138                    

Donated at 31 March 2017 -                             -                             -                             138                       26                          -                             164                       
Total at 31 March 2017 12,375                  114,404               2,594                    15,480                  2,127                    69                          147,049               

Of the totals at 31 March 2017, no land or buildings were valued at open market value.
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Land

£000

Non-current assets held for sale at 1 April 2015 6,107                        

Non-current assets held for sale at 31 March 2016 6,107                        

Non-current assets held for sale at 1 April 2016 6,107                        

Revaluation of non-current assets held for sale (2,007)

Non-current assets held for sale at 1 April 2017 4,100                        

 2016/17  2015/16

£000 £000

Buildings 41                             38                             

Plant & equipment 191                           191                           

Total 232                           229                           

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Buildings 1,542                        1,879                        

Information technology 64                             254                           

Total 1,606                        2,133                        

  31 March 2017 31 March 2016

 £000 £000

 

Freehold 124,199                   167,880                   

 
Total  124,199                   167,880                   

9.1 The Total Amount of Depreciation Charged to the Income and Expenditure Account in Respect of Assets Held Under Finance 

Leases:

9.3 The Net Book Value of Land and Buildings:

9.2 The Net Book Value of Assets Held Under Finance Leases Comprises:

8.2 Net Book Value of Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
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9.4 Impairment of Assets

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Changes in market price -                                 98                              

Total -                                 98                              

9.5 Donated Assets

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Donations of property, plant and equipment received 29                              42                              

Total 29                              42                              

In 2016/17 a desktop valuation exercise of the Trust's land and buildings was undertaken by the District Valuer Service, having regard to

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as interpreted and applied by the DH Group Accounting Manual, which is compliant

with HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) guidance for the United Kingdom public sector.

In accordance with IAS 16, the valuation of the Trust's land and buildings has been undertaken on a fair value basis, where fair value is

the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arms length transaction.

The valuations also accord with the requirements of the RICS Valuation - Professional Standards 2014 UK edition (known as "the Red

Book"), including the International Valuation Standards, in so far as these are consistent with IFRS and the above mentioned guidance;

RICS UKVS 1.14 refers.

The valuation assumes that the properties valued will continue to be held for the foreseeable future having regard to the prospect and

viability of the continuance of that occupation.
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10. Inventories

10.1 Inventories

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Drugs 2,143                        2,320                        

Consumables 2,480                        2,398                        

Energy 47                              40                              

Other 204                            261                            

Total 4,874                        5,019                        

10.2 Inventories Recognised in Expenses

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Inventories recognised in expenses 42,086                      43,189                      

Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense 140                            122                            

Total 42,226                      43,311                      
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11. Receivables

11.1 Trade Receivables and Other Receivables

Total Financial Assets Non-Financial Total Financial Assets Non-Financial 

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current Trade and Other Receivables

NHS receivables 3,144                    3,144                    -                             2,773                    2,773                    -                             

Receivables due from NHS charities 34                          34                          -                             2                            2                            -                             

Other receivables with related parties 151                       151                       -                             418                       418                       -                             

Provision for impaired receivables (1,369) (777) (592) (894) (361) (533)

Prepayments 1,910                    -                             1,910                    1,860                    -                             1,860                    

Accrued income 22,340                  19,759                  2,581                    5,810                    3,384                    2,426                    

PDC receivable 943                       -                             943                       14                          -                             14                          

VAT receivable 724                       -                             724                       1,245                    -                             1,245                    

Other receivables 2,373                    2,373                    -                             1,468                    1,468                    -                             
Total 30,250                  24,684                  5,566                    12,696                  7,684                    5,012                    

11.2 Trade Receivables and Other Receivables (consolidated)

Total Financial Assets Non-Financial Total Financial Assets Non-Financial 

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current Trade and Other Receivables

NHS receivables 3,144                    3,144                    -                             2,773                    2,773                    -                             

Other receivables with related parties 151                       151                       -                             418                       418                       -                             

Provision for impaired receivables (1,369) (777) (592) (894) (361) (533)

Prepayments 1,910                    -                             1,910                    1,860                    -                             1,860                    

Accrued income 22,340                  19,759                  2,581                    5,810                    3,384                    2,426                    

PDC receivable 943                       -                             943                       14                          -                             14                          

VAT receivable 724                       -                             724                       1,245                    -                             1,245                    

Other receivables 2,373                    2,373                    -                             1,468                    1,468                    -                             

NHS charitable funds: trade and other receivables 2                            2                            -                             223                       223                       -                             
Total 30,218                  24,652                  5,566                    12,917                  7,905                    5,012                    
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11.3 Provision for Impairment of Receivables

Total Total

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

At 1 April 894                       845                       

Increase in provision 724                       331                       

Amounts utilised (64) (254)

Unused amounts reversed (185) (28)
At 31 March 1,369                    894                       

11.4 Analysis of Impaired Receivables

Total Total

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Aging of Impaired Receivables

Up to 1 month 44                          1                            

In 1 to 2 months 38                          8                            

In 2 to 3 months 4                            136                       

In 3 to 6 months 430                       38                          

Over 6 months 853                       711                       
Total 1,369                    894                       

Total Total

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Aging of Non-Impaired Receivables Past their Due Date

Up to 1 month 2,515                    1,849                    

In 1 to 2 months 910                       672                       

In 2 to 3 months 263                       347                       

In 3 to 6 months 689                       599                       

Over 6 months 546                       862                       
Total 4,923                    4,329                    
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12.1 Trade and Other Payables comprise the following:

Financial Non-Financial Financial Non-Financial

Total Liabilities Liabilities Total Liabilities Liabilities

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current Trade and Other Payables

NHS payables 2,918                    2,918                    -                             3,548                    3,548                    -                             

Amounts due to other related parties 3,622                    1,391                    2,231                    3,617                    1,418                    2,199                    

Trade payables - capital 1,570                    1,570                    -                             1,566                    1,566                    -                             

Other trade payables 6,280                    6,280                    -                             6,128                    6,128                    -                             

Other taxes payable 3,489                    -                             3,489                    3,210                    -                             3,210                    

Accruals 12,299                  12,299                  -                             11,747                  11,747                  -                             
Total 30,178                  24,458                  5,720                    29,816                  24,407                  5,409                    

12.2 Trade and Other Payables (consolidated) comprise the following:

Financial Non-Financial Financial Non-Financial

Total Liabilities Liabilities Total Liabilities Liabilities

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current Trade and Other Payables

NHS payables 2,918                    2,918                    -                             3,548                    3,548                    -                             

Amounts due to other related parties 3,622                    1,391                    2,231                    3,617                    1,418                    2,199                    

Trade payables - capital 1,570                    1,570                    -                             1,566                    1,566                    -                             

Other trade payables 6,280                    6,280                    -                             6,128                    6,128                    -                             

Other taxes payable 3,489                    -                             3,489                    3,210                    -                             3,210                    

Accruals 12,299                  12,299                  -                             11,747                  11,747                  -                             

NHS charitable funds: trade and other payables 93                          93                          -                             69                          69                          -                             
Total 30,271                  24,551                  5,720                    29,885                  24,476                  5,409                    

12. Trade and Other Payables
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13. Other Liabilities

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

Current

Deferred income 1,538               1,827               

Deferred PFI credits 326                  326                  

Sub Total 1,864               2,153               

Non-Current

Deferred PFI credits 2,605               2,931               

Sub Total 2,605               2,931               

Total 4,469               5,084               

14. Finance Lease Obligations

14.1 Future Finance Lease Obligations

14.2 Finance Lease Obligations

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross Lease Liabilities 1,151               1,976               914                  1,323               

of which liabilities are due

not later than 1 year 121                  437                  97                     291                  

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 240                  689                  157                  331                  

later than 5 years 790                  850                  660                  701                  

Finance charges allocated to future periods (237) (653) -                        -                        

Net Lease Liabilities 914                  1,323               914                  1,323               

14.3 PFI Obligations

The deferred income is released to operating income over the life of the concession.

  Present Value of Minimum Lease 

Payments

The Trust has future finance lease obligations for which the minimum payments at 31 March 2017 are £1,151k over a 19 year period of

commitment (£1,976k over 20 years at 31 March 2016). These leases relate to the Trust's MRI Unit, the Iceni training facility and some

network infrastructure equipment.

The Trust's PFI arrangement for staff accommodation is accounted for as a service concession in accordance with IFRIC 12. The operator

receives all of its income from individual users rather than in the form of unitary payments from the Trust. As such there is no service charge

but the asset is recognised under non-current assets on the balance sheet with a corresponding deferred income liability (see note 13). 
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15. Borrowings

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

Current 

Capital loans from Department of Health 5,267               1,247               

Obligations under finance leases 97                     291                  

Total Current Borrowings 5,364               1,538               

Non-current

Capital loans from Department of Health* 19,424            24,270            

Working capital loans from Department of Health 73,385            32,057            

Obligations under finance leases 817                  1,032               

Total Other Non-Current Liabilities 93,626            57,359            

The interest rate on the second loan (amount outstanding at 31 March 2017, £4,000k (31 March 2016, £4,000k) is 0% per annum, and the

loan will be repaid in full in April 2017.

The interest rate on the third loan (amount outstanding at 31 March 2017, £1,661k (31 March 2016, £1,299k) is 1.61% per annum, and the

loan will be repaid in full by February 2038.

The interest rate on the fourth loan (amount outstanding at 31 March 2017, £73,385k (31 March 2016, £32,057k) is 1.5% per annum. This

loan represents the combined working capital advances provided by the Department of Health to the Trust. These loans will be repaid in full

by March 2020.

*In 2014/15 the Trust received a £4.0 million capital loan to assist with the relocation of services from Essex County Hospital. The loan

provided working capital to allow replacement infrastructure to be built ahead of the sale. The loan period has previously been extended to

accommodate the timing of the sale of Essex County Hospital and is now repayable in April 2017.

Borrowings include four single currency term loans from the Secretary of State for Health.

The interest rate on the first loan (amount outstanding at 31 March 2017, £19,030k (31 March 2016, £20,218k) is 2.18% per annum, and the

loan will be repaid in full by March 2033.
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16. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges
Current Current Non-Current Non-Current

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions - early departure costs 105                           117                           905                           953                           

Other legal claims 60                              33                              -                                 -                                 

Redundancy 391                           -                                 -                                 -                                 

Other 354                           259                           -                                 -                                 
Total 910                           409                           905                           953                           

Pensions - early 

departure costs

Legal claims Redundancy Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2015 1,201                             83                              -                                 70                              1,354                        

Change in the discount rate (5) -                                 -                                 -                                 (5)

Arising during the year 14                                  23                              -                                 218                           255                           

Utilised during the year (124) (48) -                                 (3) (175)

Reversed unused (30) (25) -                                 (26) (81)

Unwinding of discount 14                                  -                                 -                                 -                                 14                              

At 31 March 2016 1,070                             33                              -                                 259                           1,362                        

At 1 April 2016 1,070                             33                              -                                 259                           1,362                        

Change in the discount rate 70                                  -                                 -                                 -                                 70                              

Arising during the year 112                                52                              391                           248                           803                           

Utilised during the year (117) (14) -                                 (78) (209)

Reversed unused (138) (11) -                                 (75) (224)

Unwinding of discount 13                                  -                                 -                                 -                                 13                              

At 31 March 2017 1,010                             60                              391                           354                           1,815                        

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 105                                60                              391                           354                           910                           

Between one and five years 359                                -                                 -                                 -                                 359                           

After five years 546                                -                                 -                                 -                                 546                           

1,010                             60                              391                           354                           1,815                        

Other provisions relate to the new Staff and Associate Specialists contract. The provision was calculated on a person-by-person basis. Legal claims represent a number of miscellaneous legal claims. The Trust is

defending these claims and expects agreement to be reached within the coming year based on the timing of court and other negotiation arrangements.
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17. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

17.1. Cash and Cash Equivalents

At 1 April 2016 Other changes 

in year

At 31 March 

2017

£000 £000 £000

Cash with the Government Banking Service 1,448               3,762               5,210               

Commercial cash at bank and in hand 577                  (345) 232                  

NHS charitable funds cash and cash equivalents 1,330               561                  1,891               

                              
3,355               3,978               7,333               

18. Capital Commitments

19. Events After the Reporting Period

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts to 31 March 2017

Commitments under capital expenditure contracts at 31 March 2017 were £1,386k (£4,004k, 31 March 2016).

On 5 May 2017 the Trust took over hosting responsibilities for the Pathology Partnership. The Partnership will be managed as a fifth division

of the Trust.

On 12 May 2017, the Trust was badly affected by a cyber-attack which affected a number of its IT systems. Immediate action was taken to

check and restore affected terminals, with ICT staff from both Colchester and Ipswich Hospitals working to support users across all of the

Trust’s locations. Business continuity measures put in place involved reverting to paper-based systems to minimise the impact on patient

care. There is no evidence that patient data has been compromised and there has been no risk to patients as a result of what happened.

£135,349k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2017 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the

Trust (£118,023k, 31 March 2016).
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20. Contingencies

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Contingent liabilities (68) (40)

21. Movement in Public Dividend Capital

£000

Public Dividend Capital as at 1 April 2015 76,820             

Public Dividend Capital received 44                    

Public Dividend Capital repaid (100)

Public Dividend Capital as at 31 March 2016 76,764             

Public Dividend Capital as at 1 April 2016 76,764             

Public Dividend Capital received 1,750               

Public Dividend Capital repaid (1,750)

Public Dividend Capital as at 31 March 2017 76,764             

22. Related Party Transactions and Balances

     - North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group

     - Mid-Essex Clinical Commissioning Group

     - NHS Litigation Authority

     - NHS Business Services Authority (NHS Pension Scheme)

     - HMRC (National Insurance Fund)

     - NHS Professionals

     - NHS England

     - Health Education England

The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust is considered a related party due to the shared appointments of the Trust's Chief Executive and Chairman

between both trusts.

North Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (merged with South Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust on 31st

March 2017 to form Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust) is a related party due to the marital relationship which exists

between the Finance Directors of each organisation.

Neither of these associations has resulted in transactions outside of the normal business of the Trust.

Contingent liabilities relate solely to claims for personal injury and property expenses which are being handled by the NHS Litigation Authority. 

NHS foundation trusts are deemed to be under the control of the Secretary of State, in common with other NHS trusts. The Department of

Health is considered to be the Trust's parent organisation and other NHS bodies are therefore classed as related parties. During the financial

period, the Trust had a number of material transactions with NHS bodies, all of which were at arms length. None of the Trust's balances with

related parties are held under security or guarantee.

In addition, Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation trust has had a number of material transactions with other government

departments and other central and local government bodies during the year:

During the period, none of the members of the Board of Directors, Board of Governors or members of the key management staff, or parties

related to them, have undertaken any material transactions with the Trust.

The disclosure required by IAS 24 in relation to the compensation of key management can be found at note 4.3.

Page 44



23. Financial Instruments

Financial risk management

Currency risk

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Interest-rate risk

The Trust borrows from Government for capital expenditure subject to affordability. The borrowings are for 1-25 years, in line with the life of

the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. Alternatively, the Trust can borrow 

on a commercial basis and would only take such loans on a fixed rate basis. The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate

fluctuations.

Due to the fact that the majority of the Trust's income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low exposure to

credit risk. The maximum exposure as at 31 March 2017 is in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the receivables note.

The NHS Trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service contracts with local clinical commissioning groups, which are financed

from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts to 31 March 2017

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or

changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with

local clinical commissioning groups and the way those clinical commissioning groups are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of

financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be

typical of the listed companies to which these standards mainly apply. The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and

financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in

undertaking its activities.

The Trust's treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the

Trust's Standing Financial Instructions and policies agreed by the Board of Directors. Trust treasury activity is routinely reported and is subject

to review by the Trust's internal auditors.

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling

based. As such, the Trust does not undertake transactions in currencies other than sterling and is therefore not exposed to movements in

exchange rates over time. The Trust has no overseas operations.
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23.1a  Financial Assets by Category

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Assets as per Statement of Financial Position £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables 24,650                  7,682                    

Cash at bank and in hand 5,442                    2,025                    

NHS charitable funds: financial assets 1,893                    1,553                    

Total 31,985                  11,260                  

23.1b  Financial Liabilities by Category

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Liabilities as per Statement of Financial Position £000 £000 

Obligations under finance leases 914                       1,323                    

Borrowings 98,076                  57,574                  

Trade and other payables 24,457                  24,408                  

Provisions under contract 745                       259                       

NHS charitable funds: financial liabilities 93                          69                          

Total 124,285               83,633                  

24. Fair values

Loans and receivables

Other financial liabilities

As at 31 March 2017 there are no significant differences between fair value and carrying value of any of the Trust's financial instruments.

The fair value for provisions is not significantly different from book value since in the calculation of book value the expected cash flows have

been discounted by the Treasury discount rate of 0.24% in real terms.
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25. Losses and Special Payments

Losses Number Value Number Value

£000 £000

Cash losses 9                            3                            19                          12                          

Fruitless payments 3                            9                            -                             -                             

Bad debts 52                          70                          42                          44                          

Stores losses 5                            140                       5                            125                       

Total Losses 69                          222                       66                          181                       

Special Payments

Compensation under legal obligation 1                            38                          -                             -                             

Loss of personal effects 24                          16                          28                          9                            

Personal injury claims 5                            13                          20                          74                          

Ex gratia payments 86                          11                          68                          8                            

Total Special Payments 116                       78                          116                       91                          

Total Losses and Special Payments 185                       300                       182                       272                       

However, the losses and special payments note is complied directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on an accruals

basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

2016/17 2015/16

Losses and special payments are transactions that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or

passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures

compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into differemt categories, which govern the way that individual cases are

handled.                                                                                                                                                                 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including loses which would

have been made good through insurance cover had NHS foundation trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums being

included as normal revenue expenditure).
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2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000

Income 301,617        269,804        

Expenditure

    Pay (192,455) (191,361)

    Non-pay (114,775) (102,141)

Total Expenditure (307,230) (293,502)

EBITDA (5,613) (23,698)

    Depreciation, PDC dividend, etc. (13,329) (14,511)

Deficit before non-current asset impairments (18,942) (38,209)

Non-current asset impairments -                      (98)

Deficit after non-current asset impairments (18,942) (38,307)

IFRS 8 defines the term chief operating decision maker as a group or individual whose 'function is to allocate resources to, and assess the

performance of, the operating elements of the entity'. For the Trust, the most appropriate interpretation is that the Board of Directors

represents the chief operating decision maker.

26. Segmental Analysis

IFRS 8 prescribes the accounting and disclosures required for an entity’s operating segments, products and services, and the geographical

areas in which it operates and its major customers. It requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable

segments. Reportable segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria. Operating

segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief

operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

There is one major income stream for the Trust's activities: NHS funding for healthcare provision. This comprises 98% of the Trust's total

income from activities, and 84% of its total operating income. Only one customer of the Trust, NHS North East Essex CCG, makes up more

than 10% of the Trust's income from activities (72%, 186,042k).

Revenues from countries outside of England are small (£5k received from Welsh and Scottish Commissioners). The Trust received £121k in

relation to overseas visitors.

The Trust has only one segment - the provision of healthcare. The Trust Board of Directors only receives information on this segment. Whilst

the Trust has a number of divisions and departments, information on the financial performance of these individual elements is not received

by the Trust Board. Financial information reported to the Board is compliant with IFRS.

A reconciliation between the published accounts and the information presented to the Board of Directors is shown below.
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Part 1 - Statement on quality 

Chief Executive’s commentary 

This is our account to you about the quality of services provided by Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust in 2016/17. It looks back at our performance over the 
last year and gives details of our priorities for improvement in 2017/18. 

Nick Hulme 

Chief Executive 

The challenges faced by Colchester 
have been well documented over 
the past three years. I began as 
Chief Executive in May to support 
the staff to address the concerns 
raised by our regulators and others. 
Whilst some staff did not recognise 
the issues that had been raised, 
many expressed frustration that we 
have not been able to provide 
consistently high quality care to the 
people we serve. 
 
After my appointment, the Trust 
carried out a very detailed review of 
our service which found challenges 
in terms of governance, access 
targets, quality, safety, finance and 
culture. 
 
As Chief Executive, my prime focus 
is the safety of patient services, 
ensuring they are consistently 
accessible, consistently of high 
quality and continually meeting the 
operational standards expected. My 
first task was to assure the public 
by working with clinicians and all 
the staff to address some 
immediate concerns, such as 
concerns about safety and quality 
in theatres, about patient flow in our 
Emergency Department (A&E) and 
about the Emergency Assessment 
Unit (EAU). 
 
When the CQC report was 
published in July, I publicly 
apologised to the people of north 
east Essex because the care we 
had been providing had not been 
good enough and we had been 
letting them down for years. For 
me, it was a watershed where we 
could draw a line under those areas 
at the Trust that delivered 
unacceptable levels of care. There 
is no doubt that every day people 
received great care at our Trust, but 
it is not consistent and we did not 
have the governance systems and 
processes in place to always know 

where we got it wrong.  It was time 
for a step change at the Trust, a time 
when we all had to step up to 
demonstrate that we could deliver on 
our promises and commitments to 
our patients and that we could 
consistently provide safe, high 
quality care with compassion. We 
had become over-reliant on external 
assessors to help identify safety and 
quality failings, and needed to take 
ownership and be held to account by 
the people we serve. I pledged to 
make the Trust truly patient-centred, 
which was a reference not only to 
those patients who were already 
here but also to those waiting to 
come in. 
 
We developed a significant 
transformation approach of 
continuous improvement called 
“Every Patient, Every Day” which 
includes support from expert 
external advisers funded by NHS 
Improvement. It involves all staff and 
is about providing safe, 
compassionate care to patients, both 
as an organisation and as individual 
members of staff, each and every 
day, in a systematic and caring way. 
 
“Every Patient, Every Day” has 11 
workstreams, including End of Life 
Care, Deteriorating Patients, 
Governance, Workforce, and Urgent 
& Emergency Care. It has started to 
address our many challenges – for 
example, I’m pleased with the 
progress we’ve made on 
deteriorating patients and there has 
been significant improvement with 
end of life care. We have looked at 
our booking processes which have 
been described as chaotic by our 
patients and put in new systems. We 
have significantly reduced the waits 
for diagnostic tests and our cancer 
pathways have been reviewed. 
 
 

One of my priorities has been to 
accelerate the long-term 
partnership with Ipswich Hospital. 
The boards of the two trusts are 
looking at different ways in which 
the organisations can work 
together to improve care for 
patients and create a more 
sustainable future. Of course, 
there is a financial element to it 
but, fundamentally, the 
partnership is about how we can 
improve care for patients and 
drive up quality. 
 
I am grateful to our many partner 
organisations, including health, 
social care and voluntary 
organisations, for their support 
and contributions to the Trust. 
 
To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, the information contained in 
this Quality Account is accurate. 
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Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance  

2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient safety priority 1: 
To continue a reduction in 

healthcare-related infections 

 
Why was this a priority? 
 
The Trust is committed to 
reducing the number of avoidable 
infections and the harm they may 
cause, there is a focus on MRSA 
bacteraemia and C difficile in 
particular.  Whilst, the main focus 
is in these areas they are not the 
sole focus given the increasing 
incidence nationally on gram 
negative resistant organisms.  
  
In reducing the number of our 
patients affected by these 
infections, we decrease the length 
of hospital inpatient stay together 
with the potentially more complex 
care or surgery required as a 
result of infection. 
 
 
Lead Director 
Director of Nursing 
 
 
What was our target? 
0 cases of MRSA bacteraemia. 
 
No more than 18 cases of 
Clostridium Difficile (C-Diff). 
 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
Patients identified as carriers are 
monitored closely and managed in 
much the same way as patients 
with CDI. 
 
Patients whom are identified with 
CDI are given a credit card size 
information card to show to other 
healthcare professionals to 
highlight the need for prudence in 
antibiotic prescribing for these 
individuals. 
 
 

The incidence of cases of  
Clostridium difficile is higher in 
Medicine and Care of the Elderly 
Wards, 7 of the 8 Wards have had 
a significant investment in 
refurbishments in the past 3 years 
with a plan for the final COTE 
Ward to be refurbished in 2017/18. 
 
Antimicrobial management training 
was added as a mandatory 
element of the Trust Infection 
Control E-learning.  
 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
The performance was monitored at 
Bi monthly Hospital Infection 
Control Committee, Monthly 
Divisional Governance Meetings, 
reported on the monthly Trust 
Quality and patient safety 
dashboard.  
 
 
Did we achieve our intended 
target? 
 
We partially achieved our target 
with 33  C Difficile cases in year, 
23 of which the CCG determined 
as non-trajectory (not avoidable) 
as care delivered had been to the 
best standard it could be.  This 
leaves 10 cases as potentially 
avoidable against a ceiling of 18. 
 
We did not achieve our target of 0 
cases of MRSA bacteraemia as 2 
cases were confirmed during 
2016/17. 
 
 
How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
Bi-Monthly reporting through the 
Hospital Infection Control 
Committee, Monthly reporting 
through Patient Safety Group and 
Quality and Patient Safety 
Committee. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Our key achievements 
 

 The Trust participated in 
the 5th UK and European 
Healthcare Associated 
Infection (HCAI) and 
Antimicrobial study which 
was completed during 
October 2016.  The Trust 
has taken part in the four 
previous studies and have 
been able to utilise the 
local and comparative data 
to progress best practice.  
The Trust had an overall 
infection rate of 4.85% 
against a national infection 
rate of 7%.  Antimicrobial 
usage Trust 36% and 
national  rate 38%. 

 

 Medicine and Care of the 
Elderly Wards, 7 of the 8 
Wards have had a 
significant investment in 
refurbishments in the past 
3 years with a plan for the 
final COTE Ward to be 
refurbished in 2017/18. 

 

 The blood culture taking 

procedure was refreshed 
and new packs were 
introduced to reduce the 
risk of contamination of  
blood culture samples. 
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2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient Safety Priority 2 

A reduction in missed doses 

of medication for non-

clinical reasons by 50% by 

31 March 2017 

Why was this a priority? 

The Trust ensures that patients 

receive the medications they 

require for pre-existing and new 

conditions.  When patients miss 

medication doses this can impact 

upon their recovery. 

In reducing the number of missed 

doses, we support patients in their 

journey through the hospital, 

without unnecessary delays, whilst 

ensuring their safety at all time.  

Lead Director 

Director of Nursing 

2016/17 performance 

For the Medication Safety 

Thermometer there was a 69% 

reduction in missed doses 

excluding a valid clinical reason 

and patient refusal, from  April to 

November 2016 (data currently 

available  from the web based 

database).  

What was our target? 

A reduction in missed doses for 

non-clinical reasons by 50% by 

31st March 2017.  

What did we do to improve our 

performance? 

Local improvement work focusing 

on education and professional 

standards for the safe 

administration of medicines. 

 

 

How did we measure and 

monitor our performance? 

The Medication Safety 

Thermometer monthly audit data 

is collected at ward level (4 wards) 

and uploaded onto a web-based 

system held nationally.  

Reporting internally via the Patient 

Safety Report to the Quality and 

Patient Safety Committee to 

Board.  

Did we achieve our intended 

target? 

Yes for the period April to 

November (data has not been 

available to be uploaded from 

November due to changes in 

national software packages).  

How and where was progress 

reported? 

The medication safety audit data 

is reported back to the clinical 

teams directly for local review and 

action.  

It is included in the Patient Safety 

report that escalates through the 

organisation to the Trust Board.  

 

Our key achievements 

 Local improvement work 

focusing on education 

about professional 

standards.   

 Creation of medication link 
nurse roles for local ward 
issues. 
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Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance  

2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient safety priority 3: 

To achieve compliance with 
all steps for safer surgery 
using the WHO checklist as 
per the 100% benchmark by 

31 March 2017 

 
Why was this a priority? 
 
Following an unannounced visit by 
the Care Quality Commission in 
April 2016 a Section 31 notice, 
which is a warning notice telling 
an organisation that they are not 
complying with a condition of their 
registration was issued to the 
Surgical Theatre department. The 
notice was issued to ensure the 
Trust operates effective audit and 
monitoring system that provides 
accurate assurance that the safer 
surgery checklist is being 
consistently carried out in 
accordance with the 
recommendations of the World 
Health Organisation Safer Surgery 
Checklist (2016), and the NHS 
Central Alert System (CAS) 
reference NPSA/2009/PSA002/U1 
(Issue date 26 January 2009).   
 
Lead Director 
Medical Director 
 
What was our target? 
100% compliance with the surgical 
safety (WHO) checklist. 
 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
A more focused approach was 
introduced for the compliance of 
the 5 Steps to Safer Surgery.  
 
These 5 steps are comprised of 
briefing, sign in, time out, sign out 
and de-briefing.  This is a 
combination of the WHO Checklist 
(sign in, time out, Sign out) and 
the additional two steps which are 
briefing and debriefing.  
 

An additional feedback monitoring 
process was introduced in which 
Recovery staff audit every patient 
attending theatre with compliance 
of the WHO checklist.  
 
A retrospective weekly audit of 20 
medical records which are 
randomly selected are reviewed to 
monitor the WHO checklist.  
 
An observational audit to monitor 
the ‘human factor’s’ element of the 
5 steps to Safer Surgery 
conducted on a weekly basis.  
 
Human Factors training has been 
introduced, which is a programme 
of change which has been 
designed to focus on the culture 
and behaviour within the Theatre 
environment.  
 
Monthly analysis is reported at 
Divisional Governance meetings 
and the Integrated Performance 
meeting with the Executive team. 
 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
Reported Daily 
 
Recording of Compliance 
 
Theatre staff record completion of 
each element of the 5 steps to 
safer surgery. All steps are signed 
as soon as possible following 
completion of that step.   
 
Recovery staff assess the Surgical 
Safety Checklist document for 
completion:  The recovery staff 
monitor WHO compliance.   
 
Reported Monthly 
 
Environmental Audit within 
Theatres: 
 
Each of the 17 theatres has been 
audited on a rotational basis.   
 
An audit performed by the theatre 
manager and matron looks at the 
environment, staff behaviours, 

safety measures and management 
of medications; encompassing the 
whole of theatres. 
 
Reported every 6 weeks  
 
Peer review: 
 
Every 6 weeks a senior theatre 
nurse/ODP and clinician visits 
another theatre to directly observe 
procedures, practices and 
behaviours to ensure that this type 
of activity is owned and nurtured in 
all staff irrespective of grade.  The 
objective is to enhance the cultural 
environment of theatres. 
As a result of these audits ‘in situ’ 
training will be offered to teams felt 
in need of support by nurses and 
consultants trained in teaching 
human factors. 
 
Human Factors training 
 
A programme of change has been 
designed with a focus on culture 
and behaviour in the form of 
human factors training. 
 
Did we achieve our intended 
target? 
 
Yes, the Trust achieved its target 
of 100% regularly over a sustained 
period. 
 
How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
The evidence of compliance is 
reported to the hospital executives 
and CQC on a weekly basis.  
 
Quality Patient Safety Committee 
(Board Assurance Committee).   
 
Our key achievements 
 

 Good quality Briefing and 
debriefings 

 Good compliance rate with 
WHO Checklist  

 Good Staff Engagement  

 Good attendance rate for 
human factors training. 
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2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient safety priority 4: 
 
To achieve greater than 95% 
of serious incident 
investigations within correct 
timescale and 100% 
compliance with the Duty of 
Candour 
 
Why was this a priority? 

 

Serious incidents are events in 

health care where the potential for 

learning is so great, or the 

consequences to patients, families 

and carers, staff or organisations 

are so significant, that they 

warrant using additional resources 

to mount a comprehensive 

response. The occurrence of a 

serious incident demonstrates 

weaknesses in a system or 

process that need to be 

addressed to prevent future 

incidents leading to avoidable 

death or serious harm to patients 

or staff, future incidents of abuse 

to patients or staff, or future 

significant reputational damage to 

the organisations involved.  

Lead Director 

Director of Nursing 

What was our target? 

95% compliance with serious 

incident investigation completion. 

100% compliance with Duty of 

Candour. 

What did we do to improve our 

performance? 

 Root Cause Analysis 
training programme which 
includes Duty of Candour 
training implemented in 
2016 

 

Key changes to Divisional Clinical 

Governance support structures 

will enable an increase in 

compliance in 2017/18. 

Duty of Candour compliance at 

100% was also not achieved 

consistently throughout the year, 

however internal  improvements 

and training have resulted in an 

increase in compliance with recent 

evidence of sustainability since 

January 2017 at 100% and being 

sustained for the remainder of the 

year. 

How and where was progress 

reported? 

Regular reports to: 
 

 Patient Safety & 
Experience Group 

 Quality and Patient Safety 

Committee 

 Divisional Integrated 
Performance Meetings 

 Quality and Risk Executive 
Management Committee. 

 

Our key achievements 

 More than 130 RCA trained 

investigating officers 

 A robust Procedure for the 

management of incidents 

and serious incidents  

 A robust process for 

reviewing all incidents 

regardless of  harm caused 

with resulting escalation 

 Embedded SI Panel  

 Harm Free Panel 

established for weekly 

review of Pressure Ulcers 

& Falls. 

 

 40 day draft submission for 
Serious Incident 
Investigations as an 
internal KPI 

 Initial Meeting offer to 

Investigating Officers with 
Patient Safety Managers 
for expert advice and 
guidance 

 Duty of Candour E-
Learning and face to ace 
training 

How did we measure and 

monitor our performance? 

 Performance tracked  by 
the Patient Safety & 
Quality Team 

 Monitored twice weekly 
through SI Panel, including 
40 day draft compliance, 
60 day compliance and 
Duty of Candour 
compliance 

 Performance data is sent 
to the Divisions on a 
monthly basis  

 Performance escalated 
through the monthly 
Patient Safety Report 
produced by the Corporate 
Team 

 Performance is reported 

quarterly through the 
Complaints, Litigation, 
Incidents and Claims report 
(available on the Trust 
intranet). 

 

Did we achieve our intended 

target? 

60 day compliance has not been 

achieved consistently by the Trust 

however improvements have been 

made since June 2016 as a result 

of internal improvements to the 

process as identified.   

Changes to Divisions in January 

and February 2017 as well as a 

more robust approval process has 

resulted in a drop in compliance 

over these months.   
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Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance  

2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient experience priority 

1: 

Percentage of admitted 
patients where My Care 
Choices is accessed will be 

more than 85%. 

 
Why was this a priority? 
 
My Care Choices Register 
(MCCR) is the North East Essex 
Electronic Palliative Care Co-
ordination System (EPaCCS).   
 
It is a secure database that holds 
details of people’s end of life 
preferences including any cultural 
or religious wishes, the choice of 
where they would like to receive 
end of life care as well as key 
information regarding the patient’s 
diagnosis, their condition and the 
medical treatment they are 
receiving.   
 
As part of the EOL improvements 
across CHUFT using MCCR was 
a priority to ensure patient's 
wishes were considered and to 
improve end of life care. 
 
By accessing MCCR the 
information held can help facilitate 
discussions regarding the patient’s 
care whilst at CHUFT and also 
their discharge planning and on-
going admission avoidance. 
 
Lead Director 
Medical Director 
 
 
 
 
 

What was our target? 
 
Greater than 85% access to My 
Care Choices register for admitted 
patients. 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
My Care Choices access was 
made easily accessible for all 
ward sisters via the Trust’s 
intranet. 
 
Training was provided to all ward 
areas to ensure that staff were 
able to access MCCR on a daily 
basis, so that discussions could 
be held with the multidisciplinary 
team to identify any care decisions 
and conversations that would be 
required during the admission 
period. 
 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
Monitoring was undertaken on a 
daily basis by cross-checking 
those patients who were admitted 
to hospital that met the criteria for 
accessing the My Care Choices 
Register.  Monitoring was 
undertaken by the Specialist 
Palliative Care Team and the End 
of Life Care Facilitator. 
 
Did we achieve our intended 
target? 
 
Our target of 85% was not always 
achieved and we have continued 
to work on this though there is 
evidence of increased access over 
2016  (see Chart 1 below).   
 
 

 
The priority now is training key 
staff to input onto MCCR so that 
the database has the most 
accurate information regarding key 
areas such as DNACPR and 
Preferred place of Death.  
 
 
How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
Progress was reported each 
month to the EOL Steering group 
as part of our internal KPI.  We will 
continue to monitor the access to 
MCCR and to continue working 
with high use areas such as EAU 
and ED. 
 
 
Our key achievements 
 
 

 Following the CQUIN for 

2016/2017 on using SPICT 

(Supportive and Palliative 

Care indicator tool) to 

identify patients who have 

the potential to be in the 

last year of life, Stroke have 

commenced adding their 

own patients to MCCR 

instead of the GP.  This 

process will be rolled out to 

further specialist areas at 

CHUFT; 

 We now have a dedicated 
Palliative nurse in EAU/ED 
to support the staff there to 
access and use the 
information held on MCCR.   

 

 Chart 1—Compliance with My Care Choices Register Access against patients identified—2016/17 YTD 
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2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient experience priority 
2: 
 
Achieve upper quartile 
results for the NHS Friends 
and Family Test  across all 
services 
 
Why was this a priority? 
 
Receiving feedback from patients 
is a valuable tool in supporting 
and understanding what the 
patient is experiencing whilst 
using our hospital services. 
Achieving results in the upper 
quartile assists in validating the 
quality of care delivered by our 
organisation.  
 
 
Lead Director 
Director of Nursing 
 
 
What was our target? 
Upper quartile FFT results across 
all services (Inpatients, 
Outpatients, Emergency 
Department, Maternity). 
 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
Weekly reporting ensured clinical 
teams were aware and could 
locally act on their individual 
compliance, response rates and 
patient feedback comments. A 
Friends and Family champion was 
implemented within each area to 
assist in maintaining and 
increasing response rates.  
 
The Head of Patient Experience 
worked with all wards and 
departments at utilising ways to 
support improvement. Displays in 
clinical areas of “you said, we did” 
boards demonstrated the local 
actions taken in response to 
patient feedback, to show 
patients, family members and 
visitors that we have listened and 
acted upon comments received.  

 
Presentations at Sisters and 
Matrons meetings were delivered 
periodically to highlight patient 
feedback and improve response 
rates.  
 
 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
FFT responses are received within 
the Clinical Audit Team for data 
collation, thematic analysis and 
reporting. Weekly cumulative 
reports are circulated to all the 
clinical teams supplying FFT data. 
Information is represented in the 
Trust’s performance framework.  
 
 
Did we achieve our intended 
target? 
 
Yes the Trust achieved upper 
quartile results for the NHS 
Friends and Family Test across all 
services (data validated 
externally). 
  
How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
The local governance process of 
“2 at the top” meetings have 
patient experience as an agenda 
item. Results are also discussed 
at Divisional Governance 
Meetings, the Patient Experience 
Group Meeting, Quality & Patient 
Safety Committee and Board of 
Directors.  
 
Our key achievements 
 

 Improved response rates 
being recognised nationally 
across the organisation 

 

 Listening to patient 

feedback and making 
improvements 

 
 
 
 
 

 Using and understanding 
patient comments to 
produce displays at ward 
level to inform patients, 
family members and 
visitors of local 
acknowledgement and 
actions.  
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Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance  

2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient experience priority 

3: 

More than 90% of 
complaints will be 

responded to within time 

 
Why was this a priority? 
 
Complaints are seen as a valuable 
source of feedback about the 
services provided at Colchester 
Hospital.  
 
Complaints are treated extremely 
seriously as they inform us when 
we have failed to provide the 
correct service to our patients, 
relatives and carers.  
 
Every complaint is an opportunity 
to learn and improve services to 
meet our target of being the most 
caring healthcare provider. 
 
Lead Director 
Director of Nursing 
 
 
What was our target? 
 
90% of complaints to be 
responded to within agreed 
timescales. 
 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
Every complaint co-ordinator was 
brought back into a centralised 
area where they could be 
managed and supported 
appropriately.  

The Divisions took responsibility 
for their complaints and met 
regularly with their complaints 
coordinator who updated them on 
potential breaches and required 
work for further improvement.  

Complaints were welcomed by the 
Division to enable them to 
highlight areas of concern, any 

themes or issues that they had in 
their areas.  

Complaints were highlighted as a 
key quality concern and treated 
extremely seriously. Time was 
taken to read and digest the 
nature of the complaints. 

A process by which initial 
telephone calls were made to 
complainants by the Divisional 
leadership teams within 24 hours 
of the complaint being received 
was introduced by the Trust, to 
ensure that no area was missed 
and that any immediate actions 
could be taken to support the 
complainant. 

A process of ‘Never Complaints’ 
was introduced to the Trust, 
whereby specific complaint types 
were identified as something that 
does not wish to be seen in the 
Trust on any occasion.   The 
categorisation of Never 
Complaints is made by an 
Executive Director, who will then 
seek assurance from the 
Divisional leadership team that 
appropriate actions has been 
taken to support the complainant 
and undertake immediate actions 
to prevent a similar occurrence 
from happening again. 

The complainants are contacted 
regularly to ensure that they were 
kept informed throughout the 
process and that the central team 
understood the questions they 
actually wanted answering. 

 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
Weekly reports were provided to 
measure the performance and 
notify the Divisions of any gaps or 
areas of concern.  

Did we achieve our intended 

target? 

Yes— detailed evidence of our 
compliance with the standard is 
shown graphically on page 67. 
 

How and where was progress 
reported? 
 

Divisional Governance Meetings 

Patient Experience Group  

Quality & Patient Safety 
Committee 

Board of Directors.  

 
 
Our key achievements 
 

 Improved Compliance 
 

 Patient kept informed of 
their complaints 

 

 Patient, relative and carer 
concerns listened to and 
responded to appropriately 

 

 A more improved response 
addressing the concerns of 
the patient and informing 
them of learning and 
outcomes 

 

 Divisions taking 
responsibility for their own 
complaints 

 

 Improved morale in the 
complaints service. 
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2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Patient experience priority 
4: 
 
More than 95% of patients 
will receive information 
about their condition when 
they are discharged from 
hospital 
 
Why was this a priority? 
 
Completion of Electronic 
Discharge Summery (EDS) is part 
of our normal clinical practice and 
part of our promise to patients in 
terms of providing high quality 
care.  
 
Completing an EDS every time 
improves continuity of care on 
discharge so that patients, 
relatives and our clinical 
colleagues in primary care know 
what treatment has been given 
and what further treatment and 
investigation should be provided in 
the community. 
 
A key activity of the discharge 
process is to ensure that patients 
are communicated with as part of 
the completion of the EDS.  
Patients are given a copy of their 
discharge letter, which enables 
staff an opportunity to provide 
clarity regarding patients’ 
conditions either to patients 
directly or to identified next of kin/
carers if patients do not have 
capacity, with on-going plans for 
follow up care either within the 
hospital outpatient system, or with 
community partners and local 
services. 
 
Lead Director 
Director of Operations 
 
 
What was our target? 
95% of patients receive 
information regarding their 
condition on discharge. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
We worked with clinical teams,  
highlighting areas of good practice 
and targeting under-performing 
areas.  
 
We used the quality bulletin 
published monthly to spread the 
message that all patients should 
go home with a copy of their 
competed discharge letter, 
alongside an explanation of their 
condition with additional 
information provided to them, 
where required. 
 
 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
Through daily, weekly and 
monthly reports circulated to all 
those involved in the discharge 
process and in monitoring 
performance. 
 
 
Did we achieve our intended 
target? 
 
Monthly performance currently 
varies between 92-94% of 
discharge letters sent within 24 
hours of hospital discharge.  
 
Our aim is to be consistently  
above 95% of letters sent within 
24 hours of discharge. 
 
 
How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
EDS performance is reported as 
part of the quality scorecard.  
 
Results from each division are 
presented at the Trust’s Risk and 
Compliance (now Clinical 
Effectiveness) group monthly. 
 
 
 

 
 
Reports are included in papers 
presented to Quality and Patient 
Safety Committee and the Trust 
Board. 
 
Our key achievements 
 

 Consistent  performance 

maintained throughout 
doctor handover period 

 

 Excellent clinical 

engagement both in 
timeliness and  in 
improving quality of EDS 

 

 Offer of  support from CCG 
to guide junior doctors in 
writing  discharge letters in 
a way that best informs 
primary care. 
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Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance  

2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Clinical effectiveness  

priority 1: 

Reduce Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Ratio 

to below 100 

Why was this a priority? 
 
Monitoring HSMR allows us to 
identify areas of clinical care that 
may require further attention in 
terms of quality and patient safety. 
It provides a benchmark to 
compare us with other Trusts both 
nationally and regionally.  
 
While the headline figure gives us 
an overall indicator of the Trust’s 
performance, the breakdown into 
individual diagnostic groups allows 
us to target the mortality review 
work more effectively. 
 
Lead Director 
Medical Director 
 
What was our target? 
HSMR of less than 100. 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
We are currently working on a 
number of areas highlighted as 
requiring further attention. 
 
Respiratory conditions frequently 
trigger as alerts and we are 
working with the respiratory team 
to develop clear clinical pathways, 
in particular for COPD as part of 
the national COPD audit and for 
pneumonia. In the past heart 
failure has been an areas of 
concern and we are again 
developing local guidelines based 
on NICE guidance. 
 
We investigate all CUSUM alerts 
received and have been working 
in particular on an alert for  
 
‘intestinal obstruction without 

hernia’. We have been linking this 

with the work on the National 

Emergency Laparotomy Audit 

(NELA) and the surgical team 

have developed guidelines for the 

management of small bowel 

obstruction. We are currently 

focusing on how we can improve 

medical input to elderly patients 

admitted with an emergency 

surgical condition. 

We hold weekly mortality review 

meetings where clinical teams 

present cases of patients who 

have died in the hospital. We look 

at how care could be improved 

and feedback the learning to 

clinical teams. We also have a 

monthly peer review meeting in 

medicine where clinicians review 

the notes of other teams. 

Deaths are also reviewed within 

clinical teams as part of the 

governance process. 

How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
We hold a monthly mortality 

review group where all the 

information from across the 

divisions and from  Dr Foster and 

other sources is brought together 

and the processes  for 

investigation of deaths and any 

alerts or statistical outliers are 

reviewed. 

The meeting, chaired by the 

medical director, has input from 

divisional representatives, 

clinicians, business informatics, 

the clinical audit and effectiveness 

team and coding. It informs the on

-going workplan for mortality 

review. 

Data is regularly reviewed from a 

number of sources to  pro-actively 

highlight any areas of concern 

which require further investigation. 

 

Did we achieve our intended 
target? 
 
HSMR for December 2015 to 

November 2016 was 108.2 ‘higher 

than expected. 

While HSMR peaked in March and 

June 2016, over recent months it 

has been falling and for November 

2016 stood at 93.3. 

How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
Progress with HSMR is monitored 

monthly at the mortality review 

group.  Result are reported to QPS 

and to the Trust Board. 

Our key achievements 
 

 Progress with clinical 

pathways, especially for 

emergency surgical 

patients where audit data 

(NELA) has shown 

dramatic improvements in 

clinical care over recent 

years. Following the 

CUSUM alert and 

implementation of the new 

small bowel obstruction 

pathway we have seen a 

significant improvement in 

the HSMR statistics in this 

area; 

 Dynamic mortality review 

meetings  which are 

clinically led and provide a 

focus for on-going work, 

identifying areas of concern 

and bringing together key 

themes across the 

divisions; 

 Joined up working by 

linking in different areas 
across the Trust such as 
NEWS escalation, 
management of sepsis, 
provision of 7 day services, 
end of life care, use of My 
Care Choices register. 
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2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Clinical effectiveness 
priority 2: 
Mortality case review of all 
deaths will be undertaken by 
clinical teams 
 
Why was this a priority? 
 
By reviewing all our deaths we 
can make sure we learn the 
lessons which help us provide 
safe, high quality care for all our 
patients. 

 

Lead Director 

Medical Director 

 

What was our target? 

100% of deaths will have mortality 
case reviews undertaken. 

 

What did we do to improve our 

performance? 

 

We asked all clinical areas to 
review all their deaths. A lead 
clinician in each area is 
responsible for co-ordinating the 
review of deaths. 

 

The majority of deaths occur in the 
medical specialties, particularly 
Care of the Elderly and there is 
comprehensive process in place 
led by a consultant to co-ordinate 
the reviews and to disseminate 
the learning points that arise. 

 

As a result over the last year we 
have dramatically increased the 
number of reviews to 80% of 
deaths across medicine. 

 

How did we measure and 

monitor our performance? 

Monitoring of performance is led 

by the clinical audit team who 

receives all the completed 

 
 

mortality review forms and collates 

the responses and key themes. 

As well as the feedback to the 

divisions, the key themes are 

presented each month at the 

mortality review group. 

Did we achieve our intended 

target? 

 

Although we didn’t achieve the 

target of 100% of deaths reviews, 

the 80% we achieved compares 

very favourably with other Trusts. 

 

How and where was progress 

reported? 

 

Results from mortality review are 

reported each month to the 

mortality review group chaired by 

the medical director. 

More generally mortality data is 

shared with the Quality and 

Patient Safety Committee and 

also in the monthly Board report. 

Our key achievements 

 

 Sustained improvement in 

the percentage of deaths 

reviewed in the Trust 

 Widespread engagement 

in learning lessons from 

hospital deaths 

 Robust system across 

medical specialties to 

disseminate lessons 

across the division 

 Development of new 

mortality review app which 

will allow online review of 

deaths, linking in with 

rollout of electronic patient 

records 

 Preparations well 

advanced for 

implementation of national 

mortality review 

programme from April 

2017. 
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Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance  

2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Clinical effectiveness  

priority 3: 

Venous Thromboembolism 
(VTE) assessments will be 

above 95% compliance 

 
Why was this a priority? 
 
Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) 
is a leading cause of mortality.  
 
Carrying out VTE Risk 
Assessments (RA) is a priority for 
patient’s safety in preventing VTE 
events. VTE RA assesses a 
patient’s individual VTE risk and 
bleeding risk. This assists with 
making safe clinical decisions with 
regards to safest treatment 
options for the patient. 
 
Lead Director 
Medical Director 
 
 
What was our target? 
Greater than 95% of patients will 
have a VTE assessment 
completed. 
 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance? 
 
The on-going provision of 
education and training for doctors 
and nurses by the VTE nurse 
team. 
 
A weekly report is generated and 
sent to the medical director, 
divisional directors and associate 
directors of nursing to inform them 
of any issues around VTE RA non
-compliance and this is addressed 
with those individuals responsible. 
 
The divisions also receive a 
weekly and monthly VTE RA 
report which identifies their 
performance looking at elective 
and non-elective admissions, they 
can then deal with any 
performance issues in their area.  

 
 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 
Performance Calculation: 
 
VTE assessment details for 
patients admitted are entered on 
the online VTE assessment Tool 
which includes key assessment 
details as well as Patient Identifier 
and assessment dates and times.  
 
For reporting, admission data is 
extracted from Medway Clinical 
Portal for the respective period. 
This is then matched with the 
corresponding VTE assessment 
using Patient Identifier and dates 
of admission against date of 
assessment as per the rules.  
 
Further rules are applied flagging 
agreed cohorts where an 
assessment is not required.  
Using this data, performance is 
calculated and presented at 
various levels such as Consultant/
Ward/Specialty/Division etc. 
 
Did we achieve our intended 
target? 
 
Yes, to date the performance for 
VTE RA has been continuously 
above 95%. 
 
How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
External reporting: 
 
Trust level VTE assessment 
figures are submitted to DoH via 
UNIFY2 website Quarterly 
(showing monthly breakdown). 
 
 
Internal reporting: 
 
Performance reports are 
distributed weekly and monthly 
from Business Informatics team 
showing detailed breakdown 
VTE performance is also included 
on various Trust reports such as 

Accountability Framework, 
Performance Framework as well 
as on Division reports. 
 
A daily list is also made available 
via an online self-service report 
showing patients who have not 
been VTE assessed for the 
previous day. 
 
Quarterly reports to QCPM. 
 
Weekly and monthly VTE RA 
reports to the Divisions. 
 
Our key achievements 
 

 Attaining greater than 95% 

compliance in undertaking 
VTE RA on all admitted 
patients 18 years and 
above for 2016/17 year to 
date 

  

 Redesign of bespoke VTE 

RCA template for any 
cases that require review 

 

 Ongoing Trust-wide 

communication to engage 
staff with VTE RA 
compliance, evidenced 
through improved 
performance. 
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2016/17 quality improvement priorities 
Progress against the priorities we set as a Trust 

Clinical effectiveness 
priority 4: 
Quarterly review of re-
admissions by each 
specialty 
 
Why was this a priority? 

 

The Trust is committed to ensure 
that patients are not re-admitted to 
hospital unnecessarily. 

 

It is important that patients receive 
full treatment pathways, and a 
safe discharge process to their 
place of discharge, be that their 
home, community care services or 
to another hospital environment. 

 

Therefore, key services within the 
Trust have focussed on reviewing 
all re-admissions that have not 
been due to new or worsening 
existing clinical conditions.  

 

Lead Director 

Director of Operations 

 

 

What was our target? 

All re-admissions will be reviewed 
at specialty level on a quarterly 
basis. 

 

 

What did we do to improve our 

performance? 

 

Within the Division of Surgery all 
weekly consultant and managerial 
meetings are held to review all re-
admissions from the previous 
week. 

 

How did we measure and 

monitor our performance? 

 

All readmissions are reported via 
the Datix system for peer review.  
The outcome of the peer review 
data are then fed quarterly to the 
Speciality and Divisional 
Governance meetings. 

 
 

 

Did we achieve our intended 

target? 

 

There is clear evidence of this 
being embedded within General 
Surgery. 

 

The governance processes are 
not fully embedded within other 
specialties, and this will be tracked 
through newly formed Clinical 
Delivery Group (CDG) and 
Divisional Governance meetings. 

 

How and where was progress 

reported? 

 

Progress within General Surgery 
is tracked through Speciality 
meetings, Divisional Governance, 
with exceptions being reported 
through reports to the Risk and 
Compliance Group (now Clinical 
Effectiveness Group). 

 

Our key achievements 

 

 Consolidated systems in 

place across General 
Surgery Speciality 

 

The Trust is committed in continuing to work on its previous    

quality priorities, particularly focussing on any that were not 

achieved.   

In order to continue to drive quality improvements across the 

Trust, the 2016/17 quality priorities will either be incorporated 

into a work stream already identified as part of the Every Patient 

Every Day programme of quality improvement (page 36) or will 

be considered for inclusion into operational delivery group       

activities with appropriate governance  processes supporting it. 

We aim to assure both internal and external stakeholders,      

patients and the public that we have clear oversight of our          

responsibilities to provide safe, effective and high quality care to 

all.  

 Developments in re-
admission reviews within 
gynaecology and maternity 
speciality. 
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Our priorities for improvement in 2017/18  

Qualitative information from a number of sources including patient surveys, staff 
surveys, complaints, compliments and the views or staff and public governors has 
helped inform the Trust’s priorities for 2017/18. 

Patient safety priority: 
Reduction of inpatient falls 
per 1000 bed days to below 
5 and a reduction by >30% of 
hospital acquired pressure 
ulcers (total numbers) 
compared to 2016/17 
(identified through incident 

reporting) 

Why is this a priority? 

 

Ensuring that our patients come to 
‘no harm’ during their admissions 
is a key priority for any healthcare 
provider.  The impact on patients 
when suffering from pressure 
damage or an injury following a 
fall are wide ranging and complex.     

The Trust is committed to 
ensuring that, wherever possible, 
no patient suffers from harm whilst 
receiving care, and therefore, this 
has been identified as the key 
patient safety priority for 2017/18. 

Lead Director 
Director of Nursing 
 
2016/17 performance 
  
The Trust had 5.9 falls per 1000 
bed days in March 2017, and 111 
hospital acquired pressure ulcers 
for the financial year. 
 
What is our target? 

 Patient falls reduction to below 

5 per 1000 bed days 

 Reduction by >30% of hospital 

acquired pressure ulcers (total 
numbers). 

 
What will we do to improve our 
performance? 

  Development of Trust-wide 

improvement plans for Falls 
and Pressure Ulcers 

  Aggregated action plans for all 

pressure ulcer and falls 
incidents resulting in harm 

 Development of tissue viability 

and falls service within 
Corporate Nursing and Quality 

Clinical effectiveness 

priority: 

Ensure that the Trust has 
completed its requirements 
relation to NatSSIPs in >80% 

of settings  

 
Why is this a priority? 
  

The National Safety Standards for 
Invasive Procedures (NatSSIPs) 
were published in September 
2015 to support NHS 
organisations in providing safer 
care and to reduce the number of 
patient safety incidents related to 
invasive procedures in which 
surgical Never Events can occur.  
 
The principle behind the NatSSIPs 
is that organisations will review 
their current local processes for 
invasive procedures and ensure 
that they are compliant with the 
new national standards. This will 
be done by organisations working 
in collaboration with staff to 
develop their own set of ‘Local 
Safety Standards for Invasive 
Procedures’ (LocSSIPs).  The 
NatSSIPs cover all invasive 
procedures, including those 
performed outside of the operating 
department.  The Trust will use 
the key elements of safe care as a 
basis for the development of Local 
Standards for Invasive Procedures 
(LocSSIPs).  
 
Lead Director 
Medical Director 
 
2016/17 performance 
  
A Patient Safety Alert (PSA) was 
published by NHS England on 14 
September 2015 asking all NHS 
organisations to undertaken a 
series of actions—the Trust has 
complied with the following: 
 

 The Medical Director has 
been identified as the 
responsible lead; 

Divisions, with strategic 
leadership provided by the 
Deputy Director of Nursing on 
behalf of the Director of 
Nursing 

 Engagement with national 

programmes for quality 
improvements, including the 
National Falls Collaborative 
and Pressure Ulcer campaign. 

 
How will we measure and 
monitor our performance? 

 Incident reporting of all 

pressure ulcers and falls will 
be monitored weekly through 
Patient Safety and Quality 
team and reported through 
Ward Safety Dashboard to 
Matrons Group, chaired by 
Director of Nursing; 

 Early investigation of all 

pressure ulcers and falls 
resulting in harm to be 
reviewed through weekly Harm 
Free Panel, chaired by Deputy 
Director of Nursing, to identify 
immediate learning and quality 
improvement plans; 

 Monthly review of pressure 

ulcers and falls activity will 
form part of the Patient Safety 
and Experience report; 

 Triangulation of all falls and 

pressure ulcers with PALs, 
Complaints and Safeguarding 
information will inform any 
emerging themes and trends in 
specific areas of the Trust, to 
provide ‘early warning’ signals 
for immediate QI action to be 
undertaken. 

 
How and where will progress be 
reported? 
 
Regular reports and updates to: 
  

 Matrons Meeting 

 Patient Safety and 

Experience Group 

 Nursing, Midwifery and 

Therapies Board 

 Quality and Patient Safety 
Committee. 
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Our priorities for improvement in 2017/18 

The quality priorities set out below for 2017/18 are three key areas for improvement 
which are not included in our ‘Every Patient Every Day’ programme  

Patient experience 

priority: 

Improved Friends and 
Family Test (FFT) 
performance across all 
required domains to upper 
quartile in response rate 
whilst maintaining >95% 

positive recommendation   

 
Why is this a priority? 

 

The Friends and Family Test 
provides real-time feedback on the 
true experience of patients, 
relatives and carers and provides 
healthcare providers with the 
opportunity to improve services 
and respond immediately to any 
emerging concerns.  The FFT 
supports the Trust in achieving its 
goal to be the most caring 
healthcare provider. 

Lead Director 
Director of Nursing 
 
2016/17 performance 

  
What is our target? 

 Upper quartile response rate in 

all areas, which includes 
inpatients, outpatients, 
accident and emergency and 
maternity (all four areas)  

 To maintain or improve to 

greater than 95% positive 
recommendation in all areas. 

 The Trust has compiled a 
centralised database of 
procedures across all 
clinical settings where 
NatSSIPs are applicable, 
further procedures 
continue to be identified 
and logged; 

 Work has commenced for 

the identified clinical 
procedures, to develop and 
test LocSSIPs based on 
the relevant 
NatSSIPs.  Where a policy/
procedure/guideline 
already exists, specialty 
areas have been asked to 
review the current 
document and benchmark 
them against both the 
national standards and 
LocSSIPs; 

 Links have been made with 
Ipswich Hospital to work 
collaboratively and to share 
good practice. 

 
What is our target? 

  To identify all invasive 

procedures which are identified 
by NatSSIPs as requiring 
LocSSIPs 

 To ensure >80% of all 

identified invasive procedures 
have LocSSIPs as required. 

 
What will we do to improve our 
performance? 

 Project management by the 

transformation team 

 Project team enlisted to drive 

improvements and ensure 
deadlines are met. 

 
How will we measure and 
monitor our performance? 

 Development of LocSSIPs will 

be reported monthly through 
Clinical Effectiveness Group. 

 
How and where will progress be 
reported? 

 Clinical Effectiveness 
Group 

 Patient Safety & Quality 

Committee. 

 
What will we do to improve our 
performance? 

 Project plan to change FFT to 

electronic system as a joint 
working project with Ipswich 
Hospital NHS Trust 

 Ward champions to be further 

developed to ensure every 
opportunity for FFT completion 
is exploited to ensure the voice 
of the patient is heard 

 FFT compliance to be tracked 

as part of the senior nursing 
accountability programme. 

 FFT metrics to be utilised 

within the Trust’s 
Accountability Framework.. 

 
How will we measure and 
monitor our performance? 
 

 FFT weekly, monthly tracking 

through Patient Safety and 
Experience Group and assured 
through Quality and Patient 
Safety Committee  

 Benchmark comparison to be 

sought through Model Hospital 
Portal and NHS England 
Patient Experience Highlight 
Metrics Report 

 Programme oversight for new 

FFT system implementation to 
be tracked through PMO office. 

 
How and where will progress be 
reported? 
 
Regular reports and updates to: 
 

 Divisional Governance 
meetings 

 Patient Safety and 
Experience Group 

 Quality and Patient Safety 

Committee 

 Weekly Matrons Meetings 

 Divisional Integrated 
Performance Meetings 

 Trust Board through 

Integrated Performance 
Report. 

  

Inpatient return 
38.9% 

Inpatient  

recommend 
97.8% 

A&E return 
21.1% 

A&E recommend 
87.8% 

Maternity (inpatient) 

return 
35.1% 

Maternity (inpatient) 

recommend 
96.9% 
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Provided and sub-contracted 
services 

During 2016/17 Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust provided and/ or 

sub-contracted 64 relevant health 

services.  
 
Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust has 
reviewed all the data available to 

them on the quality of care in 64  
of these relevant health services.  
 
The income generated by the 
relevant health services reviewed 
in 2016/17, represents 100% of the 
total income generated from the 
provision of relevant health 
services by Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust 
for 2016/17. 
 
The data reviewed covers the 
three dimensions of quality: 
patient safety, clinical 
effectiveness and patient 
experience. All relevant data has 
been reviewed. 

Colchester ‘At Our Best’  Award winners 

Colchester Hospital ’At Our Best’ Award is a staff recognition scheme which says thank you to colleagues who live 
the hospital values. The nominations are judged by a panel of colleagues and patients.  
 

Provided and sub-contracted services  

 
. 

 
 
'This individual is consistently named in complimentary feedback from 
patients. One patient stated "The cleaner would come in every morning 
and would be cheery, speaking  to patients as they cleaned the ward and 
stopping to help them reach for a drink, or just chatting about the news 

outside of the hospital." Another patient described this individual as "a 
quiet ambassador of the ward". Always cheerful, as well as being sup-
portive to both staff and patients. They go out of their way to ensure our 
patients have a positive experience with us, at what can be a very difficult 
time for them. If you were to ask me what At Our Best looked like, she 
would be the example that I would show you. Her pride and passion for 
her work shines through 
 

“The staff make you feel so relaxed. The whole place is very 

relaxing and it really is very good here.” 

William, in the Radiotherapy Centre at Colchester General 

Hospital , March 2017. 
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Participation in clinical audit 

During 2016/17, 37 national clinical 
audits and 5 national confidential 
enquiries covered relevant health 
services that Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust 
provides. 
 
During 2016/17 Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in 
81% of the national clinical audits 
and 100% of the national 
confidential enquiries of the 
national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries which it was 
eligible to participate in. 
 
The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries that 
Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust was eligible 
to participate in during 2016/17 are 
as follows: 

 

 

Clinical Audits  

Heart  

1 Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute Myocardial Infarction (MINAP)  

2 Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) 

3 National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA)  

4 National Heart Failure Audit  

5 National Vascular Registry  

Acute  
6 Asthma (paediatric and adult) care in emergency departments  

7 Case Mix programme (CMP) (ICNARC) 

8 Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit Programme (FFFAP)  

9 Major Trauma Audit (TARN) 

10 National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA)  

11 National Joint Registry (NJR) 

12 Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock - care in emergency departments  

Women and Children  
13 Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA)  

14 Neonatal Intensive and Special Care (NNAP)  

15 Paediatric Pneumonia  

16 Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme 

17 Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme 

Older People  

18 National Audit of Dementia  

19 Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)  

Long Term Conditions  
20 Adult Asthma  

21 Endocrine and Thyroid National Audit 

22 Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) programme   

23 National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit programme  

24 National Diabetes Audit - Adults  

25 Radical Prostatectomy Audit  

26 Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory Arthritis  

27 Stress Urinary Incontinence Audit  

Cancer 
28 Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP) 

29 Head and Neck Cancer Audit 

30 National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA)   

31 National Prostate Cancer Audit  

32 Oesophago-gastric Cancer (NAOGC)  

Haematology  

33 
National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion - Audit of Patient Blood 

Management in Scheduled Surgery   

Other  
34 Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)   

35 Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR Programme) 

36 National Ophthalmology Audit  

37 Medical & Surgical Clinical Outcome Review Programme 

National Confidential Enquiries  

1 Cancer in Children, Teens and Young Adults Study 

2 Chronic Neurodisability 

3 Non Invasive Ventilation Study 

4 Young People's Mental Health 

5 Mental Health 
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Participation in clinical audit 

The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries 
that Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in during 2016/17 are 
as follows: 
 
The national clinical audits and 
national confidential enquiries 
that Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in, and for which data 
collection was completed during 
2016/17, are listed below 
alongside the number of cases 
submitted to each audit or 
enquiry as a percentage of the 
number of registered cases 
required by the terms of that audit 
or enquiry: 
 
*no submissions required in 16/17 

**audit in progress at time of reporting 

***data correct up to time of report 

Continued... 

   Clinical Audits Cases Cases % 

 Heart        
1 Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute Myocardial 227 227 100% 

2 Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) 321 321 100% 

3 National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA)  78 78 100% 

4 National Heart Failure Audit  404 404 100% 

5 National Vascular Registry  146 308 47% 

 Acute        
6 Asthma (paediatric and adult) care in 69 69 100% 

7 Case Mix programme (CMP) (ICNARC) 503 503 100% 
8 Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit Programme 614 614 100% 

9 Major Trauma Audit (TARN) 397 397 100% 
10 National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA)  179 179 100% 
11 National Joint Registry (NJR) 845 845 100% 

12 Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock - care in 50 50 100% 
 Women and Children        
13 Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA)  0* NA NA 

14 Neonatal Intensive and Special Care (NNAP)  1356*** 1356 100% 

15 Paediatric Pneumonia  0** NA NA 

16 Child Health Clinical Outcome Review 

Programme 

0* NA NA 

17 Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome 

Review Programme 

31 31 100% 

  Older People        
18 National Audit of Dementia  61 61 100% 

19 Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 379 379 100% 

 Long Term Conditions     
20 Adult Asthma  27 27 100% 

21 Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) programme   14 14 100% 

22 National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 

Disease (COPD) Audit programme  

673*** 673 100% 

23 National Diabetes Audit - Adults  40 40 100% 
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Participation in clinical audit 

   Clinical Audits 
Cases 

submitted 

Cases 

expected 
% 

 Cancer    
24 Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP) 339**** 339 100% 

25 Head and Neck Cancer Audit 0* NA NA 

26 National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA)   408**** 408 100% 

27 Oesophago-gastric Cancer (NAOGC)  64*** 64 0% 

 Haematology     
28 National Comparative Audit of Blood 

Transfusion - Audit of Patient Blood 

94 94 100% 

 Other     
29 Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)   219 1511 14% 

30 Medical & Surgical Clinical Outcome Review 4 4 100% 

  National Confidential Enquiries 
Cases 

submitted 

Cases 

expected 
% 

1 Cancer in Children, Teens and Young 

Adults Study* 

0 0 NA 

2 Chronic Neurodisability 2 2 100% 

3 Non Invasive Ventilation Study** 1 1 100% 

4 Young People's Mental Health* 0 3 NA 

5 Mental Health 4 5 80% 

 *Studies still open.  

**Organisational questionnaire required 

only.  

   

 

‘The River of Life’ artwork launch at  

Colchester Hospital in 2017 to           

recognise the amazing Gift of Life that 

organ donation represents—the work 

was commissioned by the Trust’s     

Organ Donation Committee. 

Materials were donated by local people 

including staff, donor families and organ 

recipients. 

Colchester Hospital University NHS 

Foundation Trust is incredibly proud to 

dedicate the artwork to local donors and 

their families. 
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Participation in clinical audit 

The reports of  5  national 

clinical audits were reviewed by 

the provider in 2016/17 and 

Colchester Hospital University 

NHS Foundation Trust intends 

to take the following actions to 

improve the quality of 

healthcare provided:  

 

 

National Confidential 

Enquiry and Patient 

Outcome Data (NCEPOD) 

- Acute Pancreatitis 2016 

Report.  

 

The report demonstrated that the 

Trust is fully compliant with 11 of 

the 18 recommendations, partially 

compliant with 6, and 1 

recommendation was not relevant 

to the trust. Of those 6, work 

related to achieving full compliance 

includes; improving the quality and 

accuracy of clinical coding has 

occurred through education of 

clinicians and weekly monitoring of 

MUST compliance to support 

improvement work.  

National Cardiac Arrest 

Audit  

The trust has re-commenced 

submitting data to this national 

audit in 2016 after a period of non-

submission. Cumulative reports 

are received quarterly and are 

reviewed at the Resuscitation 

Group. Results demonstrate that 

our rate of cardiac arrests per 1000 

admissions is 0.75 and less than 

the national average rate of 1.2. 

The ratio of observed to predicted 

survivors to hospital discharge 

remains stable at 0.99.   

National Emergency 

Laparotomy Audit 

Trust: 5 areas good. 5 areas 

amber. 1 area red – assessment 

by elderly medicine specialist      

in patients aged 70 years and 

over. 

Local audits being carried out to 

assess the quality of the data 

being submitted. 

National Joint Registry 

We constantly review our 

performance on the NJR both as 

individual surgeons and as a 

trust.  In the past this has 

identified issues with prostheses 

and techniques which have been 

addressed and our implant 

revision rate improved.  We now 

have a weekly lower limb 

arthroplasty MDT where registry 

data  is analysed and discussed 

and problems identified and 

actions discussed to improve 

performance.   These meetings 

are attended by surgeons 

performing lower limb arthroplasty 

and are minuted. 

The current report has flagged 

consent rate for the registry, 

quality of trainee operations and 

individual revision rates for 

surgeons.  We are 

instituting  changes to our practise 

and documentation to improve 

them. 

 

 

National Bowel Cancer 

Report 2016 
This report covers patient 

diagnosed with bowel cancer. In 

91% of cases the patient is seen 

by a Clinical Nurse Specialist. 

Mortality outcomes and 

readmission rates are within limits. 

MINAP 

In general, we are better or similar 

to national standards (eg patients 

seeing a Cardiologist, being 

admitted to a cardiology ward, 

having angiography if appropriate 

and receiving the full package of 

secondary prevention therapies). 

 

We are worse for our length of 

stay for NSTEMI and our ability to 

provide angiography/PCI within 72 

hours of admission (the NICE 

QS). Both these areas are due to 

the inability of the tertiary centre to 

accept patients for angiography/

PCI in an appropriate timescale.  

 

Further improvements will come 

from moving to a 7/7 Consultant 

service (which will be achieved 

with 2 additional Consultant 

appointments, currently out to 

advert). A 7/7 Clinical Nurse 

Specialist service will also improve 

our NICE QS in NSTEMI and 

heart failure. 
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Participation in clinical audit 

The reports of the 85 local 

clinical audits were reviewed by 

the provider in 2016/17 and 

Colchester Hospital University 

NHS Foundation Trust intends 

to take the following actions to 

improve the quality of 

healthcare provided: 

Trust wide large scale 

NEWS & Sepsis audit  

The Trust undertook a large scale 

audit of compliance with the use of 

nationally recommended NEWS 

protocol and Sepsis screening and 

treatment. As a result of this audit 

wards have intensified the 

frequency of auditing, using a 

more comprehensive audit tool, 

addressing issues at the time with 

staff. A ward education pack has 

been produced and circulated to 

the ward teams. The trust has also 

instigated the development of 

electronic vital signs monitoring.  

 

Do Not Attempt Cardio- 

Pulmonary Resuscitation 

(DNACPR)  

Monthly audits of 50 patient deaths 

are sampled to examine 

compliance with the completion of 

the DNACPR tool. Compliance has 

remained static around the 85% 

mark. Feedback is provided to the 

relevant clinical teams to improve 

the completion of the 

documentation. This is in addition 

to the work surrounding DNACPR 

decision making by the End of Life 

Steering Group and the EOL work 

stream as part of the Every 

Patient, Every Day improvement 

programme.  

 

Last Days of Life Audit 

This audit looks at the care 

provision for patients at the end of 

their life and whether the 

Integrated Care Record for the 

Last Days of Life (ICRLDL) is 

utilised and the compliance with 

the completion of the ICRLDL. 

Utilising the ICRLDL has assisted 

in the provision of good end of life 

care. Improvement work focuses 

on the identifying patients within 

the last days of life , as per the 

Every Patient, Every Day 

programme.  

 

Classic Safety 

Thermometer Audit 

This audit focuses on the 

provision of harm free care. 

Overall the Trust is slightly above 

the national median of 97.86% at 

98.7% due to the incidence of 

urinary catheters and new UTIs. A 

catheter passport is commenced 

when a patient is catheterised for 

the first time to facilitate the 

monitoring of patients with 

catheters both in the acute and 

community settings.  

Medication Safety 

Thermometer audit 

Four wards participate in this 

audit . Compliance has been 

variable across the year. Where 

poor compliance has been 

recognised the ward nursing staff 

have received reminders, intense 

teaching sessions and where 

appropriate performance 

monitoring . Improvements have 

subsequently occurred.  
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Participation in clinical audit 

Continued... 

  
Medical Division 
  
No. Audit 

  
Description of actions 

1 

Thrombo-
lysis - Door 
to Needle 
Time 

Key Findings 
• No real statistically significant difference between specialty and DtN 
– Stroke consultant 
• Mean time = 54.9 mins, Median time = 50 mins, Breaching = 29.6% 
– Non-stroke consultant 
• Mean time = 51.1 mins, Median time = 49 mins, Breaching = 28.1% 
• Stroke consultants thrombolysed 71.9% more cases than non-stroke consultants overall 
• Out of Hours (5pm – 9am) – statistically significant difference in DtN (increase in time) 
– 35% chance of breach compared with 16.9% (more than double chance) 
– Median 
• Within time = 41 mins 
• OOH time = 55 mins 
– Slight increase of DtN OOH for Stroke compared to Non-stroke Consultants 
Key Learning Points 
No significant difference in door to needle time between stroke and non-stroke consult-
ants 
Out of Hours effect noted (increased time) 
Actions: Further audit of reasons for time delay in Out of Hours (e.g. if Night Hawk sys-
tem, time for consultant to come in, presence of Acute Stroke Nurse) 

2 

Off-line neu-
rophysiology 
data analy-
sis (ulnar 
nerve  
response) in 
frequency 
domain 

Key Findings 
The Matlab transformation produced a number of frequency values through FFT (Fast 
Fourier Transform) and PSD (Power Spectrum Density). 
Result: After the statistically analysis, it was concluded that the data is not normally dis-
tributed.  Man Whitney test revealed that there is no difference between symptomatic and 
asymptomatic hands when compared through frequency and power spectrum. One can-
not reject the null hypothesis. Key Learning Points 

Dominant frequency of the signal 
Secondary frequency 
Power of a signl (max) & (mean) 
Frequency peak power 
FFT (Fast fourier Transformation) 
PSD (Power Spectral Density) 

Actions: None 

3 

Evaluation 
and  
manage-
ment of 
stroke in 
young 
adults  
presenting 
to CHUFT 

Key Findings 
• All young stroke patients presenting to CGH were managed by the stroke service team. 
• All young stroke patients have access to all basic and extended investigations but not 
all patients had the investigations.. 
• Majority of patients were discharged home with minimum support. 
•  Advanced rehabilitation was offered to all young stroke patients when required. 
Key Learning Points 
1) All young adult patients presenting with ischaemic stroke should basic investigations 
including Homocysteine, Patent foramen ovale, CT angiogram and thrombophilia screen 
2) Emotional support should be readily available to all young stroke patients 
3) There should be easier access to phone consultation 
4) Continuity of care after discharge should always be in place when required 
5) There is no local register for all young stroke patient presenting to CHUFT, this should 
be available to enable easy access to data 
Actions: None 
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4 

Positive  
predictive 
rate  
performance 
of  
angiography 
via rapid 
access chest 
pain clinic 

Key Findings 
• Total 1212 patients referred to RAPC; Mean age = 61 years old; Female patients re-
ferred = 618; Male patients referred = 594 
• Majority of referrals are from GPs (81.4%) 
• Majority of referrals are discharged home with no change in management (49.3%) 
• 40.9% of referrals underwent further investigations; 28% of these patients referred for 
angiograms 
• 6.6% of referrals discharged on medical management 
Of all OP angiogram referrals in 1 year period: 
• 73.9% were following initial referral from RAPC, remaining were after f/u 
• 9.2% were cancelled 
• 23.2% were normal 
• 15.7% showed mild CAD 
• 15.1% showed moderate CAD 
• 36.8% showed severe CAD. Key Learning Points 
• Majority of referrals were from the GP, and almost 50% of referrals were discharged 
without any interventions. 
 Do GPs abuse the clinic in order to get patients seen faster e.g. for breathlessness? 
• Out of the angiograms that were done, the majority required some kind of intervention 
We have a very good hit rate for triaging patients at high risk of cardiac events. 
Actions: None. 

5 
Diagnostic 
pleural  
aspiration 

Key Findings 
• 67 patients over a 4 month period underwent a pleural aspiration 
• 64% male and 36% female with a mean age of 73.2 years 
• 89.5% of samples were sent for pleural fluid protein and 86.6% sent for pleural fluid LDH 
• 31% of patients had a paired serum protein sample and only 4.5% had a paired serum 
LDH sample 
• 100% of samples sent to microbiology for MC&S analysis 
• 91% of samples sent for cytological analysis 
• 26.9% of pleural samples were sent for pH 
Key Learning Points 
• Pleural aspiration and subsequent analysis is a common procedure within the hospital 
• Key areas of good practice: 100% of samples obtained were sent for microbiological 
analysis with 91% of samples sent to cytology (only a small area of improvement required) 
• Key areas for improvement: 
- paired serum samples to be sent for both protein and LDH 
- all samples to be sent for pleural fluid protein and LDH 
Actions: Implementation of a pleural diseases algorithm for investigating pleural effusions. 
Implementation of a checklist for all pleural procedures. 

6 

Accuracy of 
drug chart 
transcription 
and  
requested 
outpatient 
investiga-
tions  
recorded in 
discharge 
summary for 
hip fracture 
patients 

Key Findings 
40 out of 100 patients (40%) had at least one regular medications stopped or dose changed. 
Only 14 out of 40 discharge summaries (35%) contained information/ explanation to GP regarding the 
change. 
82 out of 100 patients (88%) had at least one new medication initiated. 
63 out of 82 discharge summaries (77%) contained information/ explanation for initiating a new medi-
cation. 
11out of 100 patients (11%) were to have DEXA scans as out-patient. 
2 out of 11 discharge summaries (21%) contained information to GPs regarding the planned DEXA 
scan. 
Only 29 out of 100 discharge summaries (29%) were checked by a pharmacist. 
Key Learning Points 
Although large numbers of our patients have their medications changed or stopped, there were docu-
mentation errors in discharge summaries and not enough information is given to GPs in the discharge 
summaries regarding stopping or dose changing. Better results were noted in discharge summaries 
where new medications were initiated. 
Not enough information was given to GPs regarding the planned DEXA scans. 
The number of discharge summaries checked by pharmacy was poor.  
Actions: More pharmacy check is needed 
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Participation in clinical audit 

Continued... 

  
Surgery Division 
  
No. Audit 

  
Description of actions 

1 

Critical Care emergency 
drug preparation and 
storage 
  

Each new trainee now receives an induction with regards to the preparation and 
storage of drugs with guidelines being available on the local intranet. 
  

2 

Peripheral insertion of 
central catheter (PICC) 
lines 
  

Proposed the development of a PICC/Vascular access service to enable safe 
insertion of appropriate vascular access devices on the right environment, by a 
suitably qualified practitioner. 

3 

Surgical versus  
percutaneous trache-
ostomies on ITU - Re-
audit 2015-16 
  

1. Use of the percutaneous tracheostomy safety checklist must become standard 
practice. 
 
2. Consideration should be given to increasing the number of trained percutane-
ous tracheostomy inserters to further reduce waiting times and perhaps bring the 
ratio of percutaneous vs. surgical tracheostomy insertions in line with the national 
average. This may be done through a local training program. 
 
3. Consent, especially regarding surgical tracheostomy insertion, needs to be 
better recorded and then filed in the notes. This should be the responsibility of the 
person taking consent.  
 
4. In line with NCEPOD guidance, the use of variable length or extended length 
tracheostomy flanges should be considered more often especially in the obese 
  

4 

Compliance of surgical 
site marking with Na-
tional Guidance 
  

* A new checklist will need to be fixed to patient notes and completed for each 
new surgical procedure 
* Therefore, CHUFT will need to ensure that copies of the checklist are repro-
duced and made available. 
* Additional safeguards are needed where patients refuse pre-operative skin 
marking. 
  

5 

NELA data entries in a 
District General Hospi-
tal: An audit looking at 
completeness and ac-
curacy of entries 
  

Further education is required to emphasise the importance of complete and accu-
rate data entries. 

6 

  
Missed drug doses 
  

Critical/High risk medications should not be omitted and measures should be 
taken to ensure these are found and given, and in the event this is not possible to 
escalate the issue. 
Ensure that any omission should have the correct clinical codes documented 
Document in nursing and medical notes when omitting medications 
Avoid having blank boxes in the drug cards – blank boxes should be investigated 
and placed on Datix 
When medications are not available, to follow local protocol of ordering medica-
tions on intranet and in clinical preparation areas 
Findings should be relayed to doctors, pharmacists and nurses through regular 
team meetings to emphasise the need for improvement 

7 

Outcome After ‘decision 
not to Operate’ on 
acutely unwell High risk 
Surgical Patients 
  

To do a prospective study with a well-designed proforma for all such patient for 
decision not to operate is taken 
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Participation in clinical audit 

  
Surgery Division 
  
No. Audit 

  
Description of actions 

8 

Audit of diabetic reti-
nopathy service consul-
tation time for screen 
positive patients 
  

*Continue as now to maintain 100% of urgent referrals meeting National Standard 
*To improve the non-urgent referral wait for appointments to meet minimum 95% 
seen in time frame. 
  

9 

Evaluation of Clinical 
Utility of Humphrey 
Standard Automated 
Static Perimetry for Non
-Glaucoma Patients at 
ECH 

* Build-up of new service entitled Glaucoma Monitoring Service 
* Neurological visual field defects to be evaluated with Goldmann kinetic perime-
try 

10 
Orthoptics - Patient 
Satisfaction Survey 
  

Continue with current practice 

11 

Tonsillectomy Haemor-
rhage Audit 
  

Introduction of local policy for cold steel to be the preferred tonsillectomy tech-
nique 
Ensure that patients are aware of the local rates of tonsillar haemorrhages with 
the different techniques when consenting 
Provide patients with the NICE “Information for the public” guidance prior to the 
procedure 

12 

Nasal fracture manipu-
lation & success related 
to timing 
  

* We believe that it is reasonable to offer patients (with appropriate informed con-
sent) trial of manipulation, even beyond the traditional 2 week window. 
* This work has been presented at several national and regional meetings. 

13 

Recognition and treat-
ment of button battery 
ingestion audit 
  

To design and implement button battery management flowchart for the Trust 
Re-audit 

14 

ENT inpatient notes - 
documentation stand-
ards (audit and re-audit) 
  

Areas for improvement: 
   *Full name and ID no on EVERY page 
   *PRINTED name AND designation on every entry 
   *All errors to be countersigned, with date and time 
   *Contact numbers to be left in all entries 

15 

Analysis of admissions 
data across ENT/
orthopaedics depart-
ments following imple-
mentation of a 'hospital 
at night' model 
  

Orthopaedic rota coordinator to be sent the ENT handover pack to disseminate to 
orthopaedic trainees to help them with their assessment and management of 
ENT patients. 

16 

Patient Satisfaction 
following manipulation 
of fractured nose 
  

It is reasonable to offer patients, with appropriate consent, trial of manipulation 
beyond the traditional 2 week window. 

17 

Assessment and docu-
mentation of Neurovas-
cular status in upper 
and lower limb trauma 
patients 
  

A pro-forma that shows how to perform a neurovascular examination as well as 
help improve its documentation. Will also improve overall documentation and 
continuity of care. We hope to implement the pro-forma over a 1 week period and 
re-audit. We will also produce an educational poster to circulate amongst staff 
  

18 
Outcomes of total elbow 
replacement 

Disseminated to teams. 
Re-audit in 1 yr 
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Participation in clinical audit 

Continued... 

  
Surgery Division 
  
No. Audit 

  
Description of actions 

19 

Timely Evaluation - 
Management of Ankle 
Fracture Dislocations 
  

*Documentation of Neurovascular/Skin status in all cases 
*Rapid assessment and reduction should take priority however if this can be 
achieved with incorporation of a pre-reduction radiograph it may help operative  
* Try to perform operative fixation within the first 24hrs days to avoid swelling and 
long delays 
Timely Evaluation - Management of Ankle Fracture Dislocations 
Re-audit in a year. 

20 

Thromboprophylaxis 
and Complications in 
Ankle Fracture Disloca-
tions 

Better guidelines needed to help health care professionals make decisions on 
Clexane. 
  

21 
Thromboprophylaxis in 
neck of femur fractures 
  

SHO on call to consider kidney status of patient by checking eGFR on admission 
before prescribing Clexane 
To be re-audited. 

22 

Timely evaluation of 
surgical management of 
neck of femur fractures 
  

Recommendations to SHOs: 
SHO on-call to treat all the correctable medical conditions during admission 

and seek medical SpR input in A&E where necessary 
Not to prescribe blood thinners on the drug chart 
SHO on-call to see to that 2 group & save samples are done 
SHO on-call to prescribe all the necessary medications (eg. Insulin/inhalers) 

during admission 

23 

Evaluation of calcium 
and iron prescription in 
orthopaedic wards 
  

*To prescribe calcium and Iron at different times of the day (Minimum 2 Hours 
apart) 
*When patients are being clerked, SHO on-call to prescribe them at different 
times on the drug chart even if the patient already comes in with them administer-
ing at same times. 

24 

Assessment of the effi-
cacy of Colchester Gen-
eral's Stone Pathway 
  

*Greater access to CEPOD  would improve pathway 
*Ensure all patient are added to stent register 

25 
Segmental Ureterecto-
my in Ureteric TCC 
  

Segmental ureterectomy offers good oncological outcome 

26 
Assessing the role of X 
Ray KUB in the Haema-
turia work up 

Continue with X ray KUB for now 
To be re-audited with a larger sample size. 

27 

Routine Post-operative 
Bloods Check in TURP 
Patients (REAUDIT) 
  

Outcome of audit to be disseminated to all clinical staff 
Laminated signs to be put up on the ward, doctors office and theatres (Th 3 and 
Th 12) 

28 

Recognition and treat-
ment of button battery 
ingestion audit 
(REAUDIT) 

Second cycle re-audit post-intervention of management leaflets, departmental 
teaching session and protocol flowchart demonstrated an improvement on all 
domains of management between 89%-100%. 
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Participation in clinical audit 

  
Cancer and Clinical Support Services 

  
No. Audit 

  
Description of actions 

1 

Open Access Follow Up service for 
Breast Cancer Patients 

Ensure all topics are covered in nurse led consultation, 
as per holistic needs assessment (HNA), Re-profile clinic 
to allow additional 15min per patient to cover all topics 
based on HNA following recruitment as per business 
case/ identification of clinical space, Re-develop work-
shop with Breast Care Care  (BCC) facilitation and invite 
all suitable patients on OAFU, Streamline pathway for 
DEXA results, Improve timeliness of mammogram results 

2 
Breast Screening  
Assessment Clinic 

Review audit questions to focus on anxiety of attending 
assessment clinic, Change contact details to mobile only 

3 
Lung Cancer Patient Satisfaction 
Survey 

Review of existing service, Review current questionnaire 
and update accordingly. 

4 

Urology Advanced Nurse Practi-
tioner Led Post Radical Prostatec-
tomy clinic  

The consultant responsible for penile rehab has now re-
turned from a period of sabbatical leave.  He will be run-
ning a penile rehab clinic regularly every 6 weeks moving 
forward.  Waiting list to be monitored on a fortnightly ba-
sis 

5 
Comparative audit of local and 
teaching hospital’s interpretation of 
Lymphoma Cases   

Reopen discussions re IOG guidance regarding SIHMDS 
facilities with finance department 

6 

Positive predictive values for co-
lonic lesions in CT pneumocolon 
studies at Colchester General Hos-
pital 

Collect data from CT pneumocolon scans over 3 years, 
Present findings to National Bowel Screening Pro-
gramme Inspection 

7 

Deep Inspiration Breath Hold 
(DIBH) technique used in the Radi-
otherapy Department 

For the patient information sheet to be made into a de-
partmental leaflet, To implement the technique for all left 
sided breast cancer patients who can tolerate the tech-
nique, Notify clinical effectiveness committee, To be 
agreed and included into the breast radiotherapy  clinical 
protocol, To present findings of audit and update of DIBH 
to the radiotherapy department. 
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Participation in clinical audit 

Continued... 

  
Womens and Children Division 

  
No. Audit 

  
Description of actions 

1 

Management of Epilepsy 
in Pregnancy 

Write leaflet for women regarding epilepsy in pregnancy. 
Updating epilepsy guideline. 
•There are still some improvements needed: 
•All women should be booked into the maternal medicine ALYNE as soon as 
possible in pregnancy  (some were MLC and not referred until late in pregnan-
cy) 
•Documentation of seizure history and management plans could improve 
•Documentation of counselling can improve 
•An information leaflet has been designed for pregnant women with epilepsy 
which can also cover basic information around SUDEP, UK epilepsy register, 
medication, postnatal advice, contraception etc. 
•Our guideline conflicts with RCOG and have been reviewed. 

2 

Management of Cardiac 
Disease in Pregnancy 

The clinic is a mixture (at the moment) of ladies with known cardiac disease 
and those with symptoms that may turn out to be due to cardiac disease but 
usually aren’t 

If referring for symptoms please follow guideline of organising relevant inves-
tigations (24 hr tape/ ecg/echo) then refer if these are abnormal 

Most women have mild/corrected disease and have good outcomes 
All women with congenital heart disease need to be discussed with fetal med 

for fetal echo 
All women should have clear plans in the notes using appendix 2 and 3 in the 

guidelines 
All women with cardiac disease should be reviewed by a registrar and anaes-

thetist in labour and the plans reviewed 
Monitoring postnatally is important as are discussions about contraception/ 

prenatal counselling and cardiology review 

3 

Failed Instrumental Deliv-
eries 

Local practice appears to be in line with national guidelines. 
Failure rates are low. 
Complication rates are low and the only case involving questionable practice 
(no harm done) was subject to a swift and detailed investigation. 

4 

Endometriosis centre au-
dit 2016 

Re-Audit in 2-3 years 
Comply with all international standards in terms of outcome and more           
financially beneficial to the trust than routine gynaecological work. 
 
Waiting times for Outpatients and theatres comparable to other  

5 
Maternal O2 Usage on 
Delivery Suite 

All staff should be aware that following an emergency event that O2 usage 
should be documented and relevant prescriptions and O2 therapy should be 
planned and prescribed. 

6 

Analysis of Appropriate 
use and Implementation of 
the Developmental  
Dysplasia of the Hip 
Screening and Investiga-
tion Pathway 

To retrain midwives. 
To chase all babies lost to follow up. 
New and clearer DDH pathway to be introduced. 
•To refresh and emphasize guidelines to all health care professionals doing 
baby checks – ie posters 
•Healthcare professionals should use the NIPE smart system to record their 
actions and finding in detail – i.e radiology request and specific examination 
findings 
•To check if NIPE can include differentiation between simple and extended 
breech 



Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust—Quality Report 2016/17

31 

Participation in clinical audit 

  
Womens and Children Division 

  
No. Audit 

  
Description of actions 

7 

Regional Gastrostomy 
Study 

More liaisons with the dieticians pre and post the procedure. 
More close follow up to the growth and development of children with gastrosto-
my tubes. 
•To refresh and emphasize guidelines to all health care professionals taking 
care of children who are in need for gastrostomy. 
•Healthcare professionals in the region of East of England should be close to 
the criteria and guidelines of gastrostomy to provide the best service for these 
children. 
•More strict follow ups and good data recording to be sure those children with 
gastrostomy are growing well. 

 8 

Prolonged Jaundice 
Workup According to 
NICE Guidelines 

More training on samples extractions to avoid rejections or haemolysis. 
Additional support to the clinic by the phlebotomist to increase the efficiency of 
the samples and decrease the recall rate. 
•To refresh and emphasize guidelines to all health care professionals doing 
prolonged jaundice clinic – i.e. posters 
•Healthcare professionals should use the NICE guidelines to provide the best 
service for the babies. 
•More strict follow ups and good data recording to be sure not to miss a diagno-
sis. 
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Participation in clinical research 

Commitment to research as 
a driver for improving the 
quality of care and patient 
experience. 

 

The number of patients 

receiving relevant health 

services provided or sub-

contracted by the 

Colchester Hospital 

University NHS 

Foundation Trust in 

2016/17 that were recruited 

during that period to 

participate in research 

approved by a research 

ethics committee  is 576.  .  
 

The Trust is a member of 

Clinical Research Network 

CRN Eastern and is required 

to deliver research across 

the 6 clinical divisions as 

defined by the NIHR local 

clinical research network 

structure, comprising 30 

specialities. 

 

The trust should commit to 
research activity in all 
specialties that have access to 
in-patients and an increase in 
recruitment activity can only be 
achieved, once all clinical 
services and workforce embed 
research into their everyday 
clinical practice.  Research not 
only improves the quality of 
patient care but also attracts 
new staff. 
  
Participation in clinical research 
demonstrates Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust’s commitment 
to improving the quality of care 
we offer and to making our 
contribution to wider health 
improvement. 
 
Colchester Hospital University NHS 

Foundation Trust was involved in 
conducting 61clinical research 
studies during 2016/17, examples 
of which include:  
 

Chart 2—number of recruited research participants within region 

1. The Maven study – A randomised controlled clinical trial comparing 

the effectiveness of bandaging compared to the Juxta CuresTM de-

vice in the MAnagement of people with VEnous ulceratioN: Feasibility 

Study. 

This is a Trust sponsored, led by a consultant vascular surgeon and 

Colchester is the only site in UK. The study is open to recruitment and 

has a study target of 50. Since fully opening in February, the team 

have already recruited 3 patients into this trial.  

2. A commercial ophthalmology trial, to determine the efficacy and dura-

bility (treatment interval) of 2 mg IVT aflibercept in a T&E regimen 

over a treatment period of 76 weeks using protocol-defined visual and 

anatomic criteria in subjects with macular oedema secondary to cen-

tral retinal vein occlusion The Trust was the first site open in the UK, 

recruited within one week of opening and has recruited 50% of its tar-

get of 4 patients. 

3. National Studies of Rare Kidney Diseases. known as RaDaR collects 

information from patients who have certain kidney diseases. This will 

allow a much better understanding of how the condition affects peo-

ple. It will also speed up research. If the research leads to benefits, 

such as better diagnosis, treatments or general advice, the registry is 

set up to feedback results to patients themselves. 

This an observational registry study and although a recruitment target 

was set at 15, the team have  97 patients recruited into this trial. 
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Monitoring quality 

When we talk about quality 
care we mean care that is 
safe, responsive to people’s 
needs and contributes to a 
positive patient experience. 

 
 
Use of the Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
payment framework 
 
The CQUIN payment framework 
enables our commissioners to 
reward excellence and innovation, 
by linking a proportion of the 
Trust’s income to the achievement 
of locally-agreed quality 
improvement goals.   
 
A proportion of Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust’s 
income in 2016/17 was conditional 
upon achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals 
agreed between Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust and any person 
or body they entered into a 
contract, agreement or 
arrangement with for the provision 
of relevant health services, through 
the Commissioning for Quality and 
InnovatioN payment framework.  
 
Further details of the agreed goals 
for 2017/18 and for the following 
12 month period are available 
electronically at: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-
standard-contract/cquin/cquin-17-19/ 

The monetary total for income in 
2016-17, based on plan and 
conditional upon achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals, 
was c. £4.2m. The monetary total 
for income in 2015-16, based on 
plan and conditional upon 
achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals, was c. £5.7m. 
The CQUINs for 2016-17 are 
according to the national CQUINs 
available at the web link above and 
were supplemented with locally 
defined schemes. The listing of 
schemes being: 

 

 NHS Staff Health & Well-

being 

 Timely identification & 

treatment of Sepsis 

 Antimicrobial Resistance 

and Antimicrobial 
Stewardship 

 End of Life 

 Perinatal Mental Health 

 Consultant / Urgent connect 

 Dose banding 

 NICU – hypothermia 

 NICU – two year follow up 

 Armed forces policy 

 Dental dashboard. 

For 2017-18, the agreed schemes 
are a combination of the national 
schemes and local schemes 
(schemes to be agreed): 

 NHS staff health and 

wellbeing (all providers) 

 Proactive and safe 

discharge (acute and 
community providers) 

 Reducing the impact of 

serious infections (acute 
providers); 

 Improving services for 

people with mental health 
needs who present to A&E 
(acute and mental health 
providers); 

 R-referrals (acute 

providers, 2017/18 only). 
This linked to the 
requirement for all referrals 
to the Trust to be made 
electronically from April 17; 

 Preventing ill health by risky 

behaviours – alcohol and 
tobacco  (acute providers, 
2018/19 only); 

 Advice and guidance 

services (acute providers); 
 
 

 STP - Provider 

engagement and 
commitment to the STP 
process; 

 STP - Risk reserve, to 

complement the 

introduction of system 

control totals at STP level; 

 Dose banding; 

 Optimising Palliative 

Chemotherapy Decision 

Making; 

 Hospital Pharmacy 

Transformation and 

Medicines Optimisation; 

 AAA screening; 

 Breast screening; 

 Dental dashboard; 

 Enhanced Armed Forces 

covenant. 

Table 1 overleaf demonstrates 
the actual performance for the 
CQUIN indicators for 2016/17 
for Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation 
Trust. 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/cquin-17-19/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/cquin-17-19/
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Monitoring quality 

Table 1 – Actual performance for the CQUIN indicators for 2016/17 

The total payment represents 2% of Actual Outturn Value of Contract. 

CCG Scheme Sub-scheme   
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

1a 

NHS Staff health and 
wellbeing 

Introduction of health and wellbeing initiatives (option B)     

1b Healthy food for NHS Staff, visitors and patients     

1c Improving the uptake of flu vaccinations for front line staff within 
Providers 

    

2a 

Timely identification and 
treatment of sepsis 

Timely identification and treatment for sepsis in emergency 
departments 

    

2b Timely identification and treatment for sepsis in acute inpatient 
settings 

    

3a 
Antimicrobial Resistance 
and Antimicrobial 

Reduction in antibiotic consumption per 1000 admissions     

3b Empiric review of antibiotic prescriptions     
4a 

End of Life  

EOL education about the sPICT delivered to each adult inpatient 
ward by end of Q4 

    

4bi After an unplanned admission or a decline in health status, the 
Consultant in charge of the patient should consider SPICT initial 
trigger statements 1-3 for adult inpatients 

    

4bii Patients who have been identified from SPICT trigger statements 1-3 
have the 4 interventions been implementation and documented 

    

4c Feedback to clinical teams to enable action for improvement     
5a 

Perinatal Mental 

Health 

Evidence of 10 CHUFT midwives attending the approved course     
5b Pathways to be shared with commissioner     
5c Minutes of quarterly perinatal mental health network meetings     
5d Date and time for perinatal mental health network event     
6a 

Consultant/ Urgent 

Connect 

Number of additional specialties implementing Consultant Connect     

6b % of calls that are answered by CHUFT consultants/clinicians     

6c % of calls where feedback is given after the call by CHUFT 
consultants/clinicians 

    

Key 
Green Standard achieved   Amber  Standard partially achieved 

Red Standard not achieved   Grey Development, implementation or not deliverable for this Quarter 

Specialist Commissioning Scheme 

Scheme  Sub-scheme    Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

7 Dose banding Dose Banding     

8 NICU—Hypothermia NICU—Hypothermia     

9 NICU—2 year follow up NICU – 2 year follow up     

10a NHS Staff health and 

well-being 

Introduction of  health and wellbeing initiatives (option b)     

10b Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients     

10c Improving the uptake of flu vaccinations for frontline staff  within 
providers 

    

11 Armed forces policy Armed forces policy     

12 Dental quality 

dashboard 

Dental Quality dashboard     
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How healthcare is regulated 

Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust is 
required to register with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) and 
its current registration status is 
full registration. Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust has the 
following conditions on its 
registration: 

 
Following an unannounced inspection in 
July 2015 a Section 31 notice was 
issued in relation to induction of staff in 
clinical areas.  The Trust responded 
robustly in undertaking a new practice to 
ensure patient safety and the notice was 
lifted on 6th October 2015.  
 
Two further Section 31 notices were 
issued in July 2015.  One of the notices 
was issued to the Emergency 
Department (ED) to ensure that patients 
attending ED are streamed to the 
appropriate pathways.  In addition there 
was to be a sufficient number of suitably 
qualified skilled and experienced nurses 
to support the streaming of patients into 
these pathways.   
 
The second notice was issued to the 
Surgical Theatre department to ensure 
the Trust operates effective audit and 
monitoring system that provides 
accurate assurance that the safer 
surgery checklist is being consistently 
carried out in accordance with the 
recommendations of the World Health 
Organisation Safer Surgery Checklist 
(2016). The Trust continues to provide 
weekly evidence and updates to CQC 
on compliance.  
 
A section 29a Warning Notice was 
served on the Trust in December 2015, 
giving the Trust 90 days to significantly 
improve the quality of services delivered 
by the Trust. 
 
The Care Quality Commission has not 
taken further enforcement action against 
Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust during 2016/17. 
 
Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust has not participated in 
any special reviews or investigations by 
the Care Quality Commission during the 
reporting period. 

 

CQC monitoring and inspection 
process 
Inspections by the Care Quality 
Commission 
The CQC regularly inspects Trusts and 
continues to re-inspect those services 
which fail to meet the Fundamental 
Standards of Quality and Safety, and 
inspect any service at any time if there 
are concerns raised. 
 
Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust in September 2015 
received a rating of ‘Inadequate’. The 
full report can be viewed on the CQC 
website. The following table indicates 
that areas that were deemed 
inadequate, requires improvement or 
good.  
 

How we addressed the issues 
raised by the CQC: 

 The CQC revisited the Trust in 

September 2015 and the resulting 
report was published on 19 January 
2016.; 

 

 Following an unannounced 

inspection by CQC on 4 and 5 April 
2016, on 13 April 2016 the 
Chairman, the executives, the Non-
Executive Directors and the 
Divisional Directors were 
interviewed to gain an 
understanding of the progress 
made at Board level to date. While 
senior staff had been able to 
describe improvements made in 
response to CQC’s previous 
inspection, it was deemed by the 
CQC that the Trust had not taken a 
sufficiently proactive approach to 
addressing wider issues in the 
Trust; 

 

 A long term partnership between 

Colchester General Hospital and 
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust was 
recommended jointly by the CQC 
Chief Inspector of Hospitals, 
Professor Sir Mike Richards, and 
the Chief Executive of NHS 
Improvement, Jim Mackey as the 
only way of securing services for 
patients long into the future; 

 

 Mr Nick Hulme was appointed as 

Chief Executive and Mr David 
White as Chair of the Trust Board 
on 17 May 2016 and diagnostic 
phase commenced to best 
determine the urgent priorities to be 
addressed. A plan for improvement 
has been developed which 
superseded the Quality 
Improvement Programme and drive 
forward quality of care across the 
Trust; 

 

 The trusts are working together to 

establish a long-term partnership.  
Areas of opportunities/efficiency 
have already been found, for 

example, the sharing of on call 

Doctors across both Trusts as 
where previously these were hard 
to fill, given the vacancy levels at 
the Trust at this time; 

  

 The Trust started the 

implementation of embedding a 
new programme of continuous 

improvement. The programme is 

called “Every Patient, Every Day” . 
In summary this programme plans 
to touch every aspect of working 
life; ensuring staff provide the 
quality of care the NHS aspires to 
and which patients expect and 
deserve.  
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Every Patient Every Day 

There are 11 key work streams 

within the programme, which 

are: 

 Cost Improvement Plans 

(CIP) 

 Deteriorating Patient 

 End of Life Care 

 Governance 

 Ipswich Hospital Trust 

Collaboration 

 Operational Improvement 

 Outpatients 

 Patient Flow 

 Planned Care 

 Urgent & Emergency 

Care 

 Workforce. 

Each of the workstreams is led 

by an Executive Senior  

Responsible Officer (“SRO”) 

and an Operational Lead who 

drives the day to day activities.  

Every Patient, Every 

Day is about providing safe, 

compassionate care to patients 

both as an organisation and as 

individual members of staff, 

each and every day, in a sys-

tematic and caring way. Discus-

sions last summer led to a com-

mitment from NHS Improve-

ment (NHSI) to fund this pro-

gramme so that the Trust could 

continue to focus its existing 

resources on direct patient care. 

The programme is centred on 

three key modules of work: 

1. Quality & Governance, 

End of Life Care and the 

Deteriorating Patient; 

2. Operational Grip & Cost 

Improvement Plans (CIP) 

delivery; 

3. Cross-cutting themes 

such as patient flow and 

planned care. 

There are activities in each 

work stream that involves    

divisions, departments, teams 

and individuals across the 

Trust. This complements the 

current work being done and 

helps unblock issues, increas-

ing the rate of improvement.  

Establishing genuine clinical 

and team leadership is essen-

tial and it is recognised that 

critical to the success of this 

programme is the importance 

of bringing every member of 

our staff with us to change the 

way the Trust does things.  

More than 10 Briefing newslet-

ters have been designed and 

circulated to all Trust Staff.  

Each edition focusses on a 

couple of different work 

streams from the   

programme. Each provides a  

reference point for anyone to 

see what is happening in each 

workstream.  
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Statements relating to the quality of relevant health services provided 

NHS number and General 
Medical Practice Code validity 
Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust submitted records 
during 2016/17 to the Secondary 
Uses Service for inclusion in the 
Hospital Episode Statistics which 
are included in the latest published 
data.  
 
The percentage of records in the 
published data which included the 
patient’s valid NHS number was: 

 99.3% for admitted patient care; 

 99.8% for outpatient care; and 

 98.0% for accident and 

emergency care. 
 
The percentage of records in the 
published data which included the 
patient’s valid General Medical 
Practice Code was: 

 100% for admitted patient care; 

 99.9% for outpatient care; and 

 99.9% for accident and 

emergency care. 
 
Source: NHS and Social Care Information 
Centre data quality dashboards. 

 

Information Governance Toolkit 
attainment levels 
Colchester Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust’s Information 
Governance Assessment Report 
overall score for 2016/17 was 87% 
and was graded satisfactory 
(green). 
 
The published score in March 2017 
of 88% maintains a high score for 
the Information Governance Toolkit. 
The Trust scored a minimum of 
Level 2 on all 45 requirements. Our 
final position was satisfactory 
(Green). 
 
The Information Governance Toolkit 
is available on the HSCIC website:  
www.igt.hscic.gov.uk 
The information/evidence is 
uploaded directly to the Information 
Governance Toolkit. 
 
 
 
 

Clinical coding 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the 
Payment by Results clinical coding audit during 2016/17 by the Audit Commission. 
 
However, there is a yearly departmental audit (last one January 2017) to 
comply with Information Governance Toolkit 505.  The aim of this Clinical 
Coding Audit is to improve the data quality of the coded clinical record which 
underpins organizational management and planning, commissioning of 
services for the population, clinical research and financial flows.  
 
The objectives are to evaluate the accuracy and completeness of coded 
clinical data against the source document, which in this audit, is the  patient 
case note and the impact of data collection procedures which underpin the 
coding process, to help sustain high standards of reliable clinical information 
and inform and effect improvements where required. 
 
Summary of errors 16/17 as follows; 
 

 
Data Quality 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following 
actions to improve data quality as follows: 

Primary 
diagno-
sis cor-
rect % 

Secondary 
diagnoses 
correct % 

Primary 
proce-
dure cor-
rect % 

Secondary 
proce-
dures cor-
rect % 

Unsafe 
to Audit 

Total %  
FCEs  
resulting 
in  HRG 
change 

91% 89.6% 91.4% 94% 0 14 (7%) 

Data Quality 

Indicator 

Data 
Quality 
or Data 

Flow 

When Update 

Information 
Governance Toolkit 
attainment levels 

Data 
Quality 

On-going The Trust will continue to maintain an 
action plan to evidence Level 2 
submission against all 45 
requirements, monitored through the 
Information Governance Steering 
Group, chaired by the Medical 
Director (Caldicott Guardian) or by 
the Director of Finance (Senior 
Information Risk Owner). 

Clinical coding Data 
Quality 

On-going An internal on-going training 

programme has been established and 

will run throughout the year covering 

all aspects of coding and will continue 

to re-enforce quality issues. 

Operations sheets, where available, 

will be used to support coding. 

The identification and coding of 

comorbidities will be reviewed and 

new codes introduced. 

Practice will be audited and results 

fed back to staff so that improvements 

can be made. 
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Core Quality Indicators 
The data given within the Core Quality Indicators is taken from the Health and Social Care 

Information Centre Indicator Portal (HSCIC), unless otherwise indicated. 

Indicator:  Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI)  

SHMI is a hospital-level indicator which measures whether mortality associated with a stay in hospital was in line with 
expectations.  SHMI is the ratio of observed deaths in a Trust over a period of time divided by the expected number 
given the characteristics of patients treated by the Trust.  SHMI is not an absolute measure of quality, however, it is a 
useful indicator to help Trusts understand mortality rates across every service provided during the reporting period.  

The data made available to the Trust by 
the HSCIC with regard to: 

Reporting period 
CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

Banding 

The value and banding of the SHMI for the 
Trust for the reporting period 

Apr 15—Mar 16 1.081 1 1.171 0.694 2 

Jul 15—Jun 16 1.085 1 1.171 0.694 2 

Oct15—Sep 16 1.086 1 1.163 0.6897 2 

The percentage of patient deaths with 
palliative care coded at either diagnosis or 
speciality level for the Trust for the 
reporting period 
(the palliative care indicator is a contextual 
indicator) 

Apr 15—Mar 16 24.0% 27.0% 54.83% 0.6%  

Jul 15—Jun 16 24.0% 27.0% 54.83% 0.6%  

Oct 15—Sep 16 24.9% 29.7% 56.3% 0.4%  

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

 Trust is banded as a ‘2’ which is ‘as expected’ mortality.  This correlates with the information gained from local 

morbidity & mortality meetings. 
  

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so 
the quality of its services, by: 

 

 The Palliative care team and coders continue to work cohesively to ensure correct coding of palliative patients 
across the trust; 

 The Watchpoint list for last days of life patients has been formulated and is becoming embedded to ensure 

that as a trust we are recognising the patients who are deteriorating and potentially in the last days of their 
lives so that supportive assessment and care can be provided  timely and appropriately. This early recognition 
then facilitates the use of the Individualised Care Record for the Last Days of life to support a patients and 
family’s end of life care needs. The development of a Band 6 Palliative and End of Life Clinical Skills nurse 
has been fundamental in deepening the awareness and education of peers across the organisation in 
providing best supportive end of life care; 

 The use of My Care Choices register in the support of accessing the patient’s wishes and preferences are 

known and facilitated as early as possible after their admission into hospital continues to be embedded into 
practice; 

 Improved communication to GP’s on discharge through greater clinical information sharing on the patients 

electronic discharge summary continues. 
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Core Quality Indicators 

Indicator:  Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) scores 

PROMs measures a patient’s health-related quality of life from the patient’s perspective using a questionnaire 
completed by patients before and after four particular surgical procedures.  These questionnaires are important as 
they capture the extent of the patient’s improvement following surgery. 

The data made available to the Trust by the 
HSCIC with regard to: 

Reporting period 
CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

The Trust’s patient reported outcome measures 
scores for groin hernia surgery during the 
reporting period 

2014/15 0.096 0.085 0.108 0.053 

2015/16 0.057 0.084 0.154 0.027 

2016/17  0.089 0.119 0.021 

The Trust’s patient reported outcome measures 
scores for varicose vein surgery during the 
reporting period 

2014/15  0.094 0.154 0.009 

2015/16  0.095 0.149 0.018 

2016/17  0.099 0.125 0.083 

The Trust’s patient reported outcome measures 
scores for hip replacement surgery during the 
reporting period 

2014/15 0.42 0.436 0.524 0.331 

2015/16 0.43 0.438 0.510 0.320 

2016/17  0.449 0.508 0.431 

The Trust’s patient reported outcome measures 
scores for knee replacement surgery during the 
reporting period 

2014/15 0.33 0.315 0418 0.204 

2015/16 0.292 0.320 0.398 0.198 

2016/17  0.337 0.430 0.261 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

 

 Insufficient sample size data has been supplied by the Trust to provide PROMs scores to date via the national 

database; 

 There were 690 eligible hospital episodes and 120 pre-operative questionnaires returned - a headline 

participation rate of 17.4% (76.2% in England); 

 Of the 27 post-operative questionnaires sent out, 6 have been returned - a response rate of 22.2% (41.1% in 

England). 

 

  

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken and intends to take the following actions to improve 
this score, and so the quality of its services, by: 

  

 Improving patient information on returning questionnaires to ensure that the Trust improves its return rate to be 
included within the national data set, led by ward based clinicians. 
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Core Quality Indicators 

Indicator:  Responsiveness to the personal needs of patients during the reporting period 

The data made available to the Trust by the 
HSCIC with regard to: 

Reporting period 
CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

The Trust’s responsiveness to the personal needs 
of its patients during the reporting period  

2013/14 67.3 68.7 84.2 54.4 

2014/15 63.9 68.9 86.1 59.1 

2015/16 64.9 69.6 86.2 58.9 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

 National data sets are not available for readmission rates as provided by NHS Digital (HSCIC) 

 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so 
the quality of its services, by: 

 Feedback from patients, relatives and carers from sources such as local engagement events, Friends & Family 

test, Patient Advice & Liaison Service and complaints are reviewed to ensure that areas for improvements are 
identified and actioned; 

 Colchester Hospital implemented a new patient user group providing a forum for patient experience including 

external stakeholders of Public Governors, local health forum committee members and Healthwatch members. 

Indicator: Readmission rates 

The percentage of patients readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the Trust within 28 days of being discharged 
from a hospital which forms part of the Trust during the reporting period.  

The data made available to the Trust by the 
HSCIC with regard to: 

Reporting period 
CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

% of patients aged 0-15 years readmitted 
within 28 days  

2010/11 8.79 10.42 14.11 0 

2011/12 8.35 10.44 14.94 0 

% of patients aged 16 years or over 
readmitted within 28 days  

2010/11 9.89 11.43 14.06 0 

2011/12 10.35 11.45 13.8 0 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

 Recent national data sets are not available for readmission rates as provided by NHS Digital (HSCIC). 

 Local data sets have provided the following data for readmission rates 

 

 

 

 

 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so 
the quality of its services, by: 

 improved rigour to identify causes for re-admissions through speciality reviews. 

Reporting Period 0-15 years 16+ years 

2014/15 9.2% 4.11% 

2015/16 9.84% 4.49% 

2016/17 10.04% 3.97% 



Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust—Quality Report 2016/17

41 

Core Quality Indicators 

Indicator:  Staff recommendation (Friends and Family Test) 
Taken from Question 21d of the NHS staff survey 

The data made available to the Trust by the 
HSCIC with regard to: 

Reporting period 
CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

The % of staff employed by or under contract to 
the Trust during the reporting period who would 
recommend the Trust as a provider of care to 
their family and friends.“ 
 

2015/16 62% 69% 89% 46% 

2016/17 59% 70% 91% 48% 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

 Indicator methodology used as published on HSCIC - Percentages added for  options 'agree' and 'strongly 

agree'. 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so 
the quality of its services, by: 

 The Organisational Development strategy that was approved in 15/16 has commenced delivery.  It has been used 

to supported organisational change and the commencement of a leadership development suite of interventions 
which launched in December 2016; 

 

 During 2016/17 there has been the continuation of the monthly staff involvement groups.  Led by the Director of 
Finance the Staff involvement Groups seeks to find solutions to issues that affect staff and patients.  One 
suggestion from the group was to have minutes and note taking courses for staff.  This has been developed and 
delivery commenced in February 2017; 

 

 In September 2016 a leadership event took place where circa 100 leaders came together to review and discuss 

progress with the “Every Patient Every Day” workstreams, the progress made during the “Red to Green” weeks 
and to look at and learn from a series of patient complaints. 

Indicator:  Patient recommendation (Friends and Family Test) 

The data made available to the Trust by the 
HSCIC with regard to: Reporting period 

CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

All acute providers of adult NHS funded care, 
covering services for inpatients and patients 
discharged from A&E (type 1—inpatients and 
type 2—A&E patients) 
 
 
 
 
 
* 2016/17 YTD (Apr 2016—Feb 2017) 

2014/15 (type 1) 96.29% 94.01% 100% 78.18% 

2015/16 (type 1) 97.01% 95.40% 100% 83.3% 

2016/17* (type 1) 97.84% 95.39% 100% 75.55% 

2014/15 (type 2) 75.19% 86.84% 98.61% 57.78% 

2015/16 (type 2) 82.08% 87.69% 98.9% 49.3% 

2016/17* (type 2) 87.88% 86.16% 100% 47.80% 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

  Indicator methodology used as per  NHS Digital (HSCIC) guidelines. 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so 
the quality of its services, by: 

  Identifying both response rates and recommender rates as a key quality priority for 2017/18. 
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Indicator:  Risk assessment for venous thromboembolism (VTE) 

The data made available to the Trust by the 
HSCIC with regard to: 

Reporting period CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

% of patients who were admitted to hospital and 
who were risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism during the reporting period  
 
 

2014/15 92.7% 96.07% 100& 70.32% 

2015/16 94.7% 95.73% 100% 77.55% 

Apr 2016-
Dec2016 

96.1% 96.00% 100% 71.3% 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

  The indicator as reported nationally is the national data set and confirms local data analysed and reported 

internally 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so 
the quality of its services, by: 
 

 Education of doctors; 
 

 Twice daily report from informatics on outstanding VTE RAs which go to all ward sisters to highlight to 
their medical teams to complete; 

 

 Support from the VTE nurse team in capturing any outstanding VTE RAs in ward areas. 

Core Quality Indicators 

Indicator:  Clostridium difficile infection rate 

The data made available to the Trust by the 
HSCIC with regard to: 

Reporting period CHUFT 
score 

National 
average 

Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

the rate for 100,000 bed days of cases of 
Clostridium difficile infection reported within the 
Trust amongst patients aged 2 or over during the 
reporting period  

Apr 13—Mar 14 8.6 14.7 37.1 0 

Apr 14—Mar 15 15.5 15 62.6 0 

Apr 15—Mar 16 12.3 14.9 66 0 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

 There is a rigorous checking process in place  before data is  submitted; 

 The data is cross-checked with laboratory data and is subject to external assurance. 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, and so 
the quality of its services, by: 

 Improving mandatory IPC education compliance  rates across the organisation; 

 IPC e-learning including regular updates best practice in relation to C difficile best practice management; 

 Increased IPC face to face sessions with staff through the winter months regarding C difficile and Norovirus  

management in particular; 

 Ribotyping of all positive cases of C difficile to identify trends and cases of cross infection; 

 Antimicrobial and C difficile ward rounds to assist in the promotion and review of antimicrobial use and thereby 
optimal use. 
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Core Quality Indicators 

Continued... 

Indicator:  Patient safety incident rate 

The data made  

available to the Trust 

by the HSCIC with    

regard to:   

Reporting 

period 
Colchester 
Score 

National  

average 
Highest 
score 

Lowest 
score 

  Number Rate Number Rate Number Rate Number Rate 

the number and rate 

of patient safety inci-

dents reported within 

the Trust during the 

reporting period   

(please note that the 

reporting period 

changed to ‘per 

1,000 bed days’ in 

April 2014) 

October 15- 

March 16 
3969 40.94 655193 75.5 11998 40.89 1499 14.77 

April 16- Sep-

tember 16 
3789 39.79 673865 76   11627    86.2      851  53.9 

October 16-

March 17 
Data not available at time of publishing. 

the number and per-

centage of such pa-

tient safety incidents 

that resulted in se-

vere harm or death 

during the reporting 

period 

  Number % Number % Number % Number % 

October 15- 

March 16 

  

32 0.8 2642 0.4 91 1.7 0 0 

April 16- Sep-

tember 16 
16 0.4 2516 0.4 98 1.4 1 0.01 

October 16- 

March 17 
Data not available at time of publishing.    

“The care here has been brilliant for me, 

my sister and my dad.” 

 

 

Harvey, aged 10, MRI appointment, March 

2017.” 
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Indicator:  Patient safety incident rate 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

 All incidents are reviewed by the Patient Safety & Quality Team to assess and validate the level of harm 

reported and ensure those reported as no and low harm are accurately graded.  There is also clinical 
judgement in the classification of an incident as moderate and above harm as it requires moderation and 
judgement against subjective criteria and processes.  All incidents are investigated to ensure that lessons are 
learned to safeguard future patient care. All patient safety incidents (irrespective of level of harm) are 
uploaded to the NRLS within one month of reporting; and those initially considered to have caused severe 
harm or above are reported within 72 hours; 

 

 The last data set reported from the NRLS shows the Trust to be slightly above average reporters of incidents, 

and this trend has steadily increased since 2013.  Trusts which are high reporters of incidents are very good 
indicators of a strong reporting culture. We have robust processes in place to capture incidents. However 
there are risks at every trust relating to the completeness of data collected for all incidents (regardless of their 
severity) as it relies on every incident being reported. We have provided training to staff and there are various 
policies in place relating to incident reporting but this does not provide full assurance that all incidents are 
reported. We believe this is in line with all other trusts; 

 

 The percentage of high harm and death incidents taken from the NRLS report (as mandated by the Quality 

Account Guidance) for October 2015 – March 2016 is 0.8% for the Trust, slightly above the national average 
for medium acute Trusts which is 0.5%.  The Trust has implemented a robust process for the investigation of 
all potential serious incidents despite the initial grading chosen by the reporter.  All incidents are reviewed by 
the Patient Safety & Quality Team and where there is a suspicion of harm or a near miss further information or 
a 24 hour review is requested.  The 24 hour report is presented at SI Panel, held twice weekly and chaired by 
either the Medical Director or Director of Nursing; and a decision made as to level of harm caused and 
whether or not the incident fits SI criteria.  Within the open reporting culture of the Trust, staff are encouraged 
to identify and escalate any Serious Incidents (SIs) and as with any other incident the Trust reviews SIs for 
trends and themes to look for opportunities for improvement. 

 

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust is taking the following actions to improve this score, and so the 
quality of its services, by: 

 Continue to build our culture for reporting patient safety incidents at all levels of harm.  An E-learning training 

package has been designed and implemented to encourage reporting of incidents and near misses as well as 
give guidance for risk assessment and escalation of incidents.  The Trusts Procedure for the Management of 
Incidents and Serious Incidents gives staff clear guidance on how to report and escalate and also details the 
SI process; 

 Develop key performance indicators for the management of incidents and SI’s and include these within our 

Accountability Framework. 

Core Quality Indicators 
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Part 3 - Other information  

Patient safety 
Infection prevention and control 

Year 

Number of cases 
of MRSA 
bacteraemia 
apportioned to 
Colchester 
Hospital  

Target  

 2014/15 0 
 Zero 
cases 

2015/16 2 
Zero 
cases 

2016/17 
 2 (1 of which 
was a 
contaminant) 

Zero 
cases 

Chart 3 –    

The performance of 
Colchester Hospital in rates 
of MRSA bacteraemia, 
compared with the other 
hospitals in the East of 
England region for 2016/17 

Achieve Trust Target of zero 

for MRSA cases in 2016/17 

Staphylococcus aureus (S. aure-

us) is a bacterium that commonly 

colonises human skin and mucosa 

without causing any problems. It 

can also cause disease, particu-

larly if there is an opportunity for 

the bacteria to enter the body, for 

example through broken skin or a 

medical procedure. 

Most strains of S. aureus are sen-

sitive to the more commonly used 

antibiotics, and infections can be 

effectively treated. Some S. aure-

us bacteria are more resistant. 

Those resistant to the antibiotic 

methicillin are termed methicillin 

resistant Staphylococcus aureus 

(MRSA) and often require different 

types of antibiotic to treat them. 

Those that are sensitive to methi-

cillin are termed methicillin sus-

ceptible Staphylococcus aureus 

(MSSA). MRSA and MSSA only 

differ in their degree of antibiotic 

resistance: other than that there is 

no real difference between them.  

(PHE 2017); 

All Acute Trusts have participated 

in PHE mandatory enhanced sur-

veillance of MRSA bacteraemia 

since October 2005: 

 The root cause of the 

MRSA bacteraemia case in 

2016/17, related to periph-

eral intravenous line man-

agement.  There has been 

further training locally and 

across the Trust relating to 

intravenous line manage-

ment, the policy was updat-

ed and promoted. There 

was a Grand Round and 

Infection Control confer-

ence with the affected pa-

tient involvement which 

was extremely powerful in 

supporting improvement in 

practice; 

 

 There was a blood sample 

which was a contaminant 

and was not an infection in 

a patient.  However, the 

opportunity was taken to 

review the blood culture 

taking procedure with new 

packs introduced to reduce 

the risk of contamination of 

samples. 

 

 

Chart 3—number of MRSA bed rates per year compared with re-

gional Trusts 
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Patient safety 
Infection prevention and control 

Year 

Number of cases of 
Clostridium difficile 

apportioned to 
Colchester Hospital  

Target  

2014/15 32 cases 20 cases 

2015/16 24 cases – 14 non-trajectory 18 cases 

2016/17 33 cases – 23 non-trajectory 18 cases 

 

Clostridium difficile infec-

tion (C-Diff) remains an un-

pleasant, and potentially severe 

or fatal infection which occurs 

mainly in the elderly or other vul-

nerable groups especially those 

who have been exposed to antibi-

otic treatments.  

The Trust has made great strides 

in reducing the number of people 

affected by CDI, however, the rate 

of improvement has slowed over 

recent years and it is recognised 

that some infections are a conse-

quence of factors outside of the 

control of the NHS organisation 

that detected the infection. (NHS 

England 2016/17). Each case 

identified in the Trust is subject to 

post infection review.  If all care 

and treatment is managed within 

nationally and locally recognised 

policy the Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) scrutiny panel may 

agree that it is deemed as ‘Non 

trajectory’ (2015/16 onwards). 

23 c difficile cases  for Colchester 

have been agreed as non- trajec-

tory 2016/17. 

 There had been an in-

creased incidence in cases 

with 3 cases linked on the 

Stroke Unit December 

2015 – March 2016.  An 

investigation took place 

with a comprehensive ac-

tion plan drawn up and 

implemented which includ-

ed two deep cleaning epi-

sodes for this area a few 

months apart with some 

environmental refurbish-

ment taking place. Target-

ed education and intensive 

support from the infection 

control team. 

 

 Patients identified as carri-

ers are monitored closely 

and managed in much the 

same way as patients with 

CDI. 

 

 Work continues through 

scrutiny panel reviews with 

Clinical Commissioning 

Group to identify areas 

which may impact on fur-

ther reduction of cases.  

Including looking at antimi-

crobial prescribing in the 

local health care economy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The incidence of cases of 

Chart  4a – The performance of Colchester Hospital in rates of Clostridium difficile, compared 

with the other hospitals in the East of England region for 2016/17 
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Patient safety 
Infection prevention and control 

 

Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAIs) 

The Trust participated in the 5th UK and European Healthcare Associated 

Infection (HCAI) and Antimicrobial study which was completed during Oc-

tober 2016.  The Trust has taken part in the 4 previous studies and have 

been able to utilise the local and comparative data to progress best prac-

tice. 

The complete comparative data for this study will be available in its entirety 

later in 2017. However, we are able to report the findings as below. 

Clostridium difficile is high-

er in Medicine and Care of 

the Elderly Wards, 7 of the 

8 Wards have had a signifi-

cant investment in refur-

bishments in the past 3 

years with a plan for the 

final COTE Ward to be 

refurbished in the coming 

financial year.  This sup-

ports the appropriate posi-

tioning of patients in an 

environment which allows 

for better isolation with an 

ability to clean effectively. 

 

 Continue to investigate and 

invest in new cleaning 

technologies to support 

best practice and efficiency 

including the use of HPV 

fogging, micro-fibre for 

example. 

Chart  4b – The performance of Colchester Hospital in rates of avoidable and no identified lapses 

of care Clostridium difficile cases following independent review for 2016/17 

  Health Care Associated 
Infection Prevalence 

Antimicrobial Usage 

2016 2011 2016 2011 

CHUFT 4.85% 4.8% 36% 31.9% 

All participating  
Hospitals 

7% 6% 38% 35% 
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Patient safety 
 Prevention of pressure ulcers which develop in hospital 

Our key achievements 

  

What is a pressure ulcer? 

A pressure ulcer is damage that occurs to the skin 

and  or underlying tissues over a bony promi-

nence or area in contact with direct pressure. 

Pressure ulcers are caused by extrinsic factors, 

including: 

 Pressure 

 friction and shearing 

 moisture (causes the skin integrity to deteri-

orate) 

Identifying risk 

Some acute or chronic conditions can predis-

pose patient’s to pressure damage such as 

diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, heart 

failure, respiratory conditions, impaired mobility, 

stroke and reduced appetite, this list in not ex-

haustive. It is important patient’s are risk as-

sessed on admission and at regular intervals to 

ensure all preventative measures are in place 

and care plans reflect the patient’s needs,. 

Braden tool is the pressure ulcer risk assess-

ment used at CHUFT. 

Where do they occur? 

The most common places for 

pressure ulcer to develop are 

the bony prominences such 

as heels, sacrum, spine, el-

bows, back of head however 

any area in contact with di-

rect pressure is at risk.  

Inpatient support 

On admission a full skin in-

spection and risk assess-

ments relating to pressure 

ulcers, nutrition and moving 

and handling will be complet-

ed on admission.  Daily skin 

inspections, 3x daily heel 

checks, nutrition advice, as-

sistance with repositioning 

and continence support will 

be provided by ward staff.  

CHUFT have a specialist 

Tissue viability nurse who 

provides support to patients 

and wards with individual 

care plans, dressing advice 

and review of complex 

wounds.  

Our key achievements 

 Reduction in  avoidable hospital acquired pressure ulcers. 

 Implementation of ASKIN within surgery, medicine and COTE to focus 

on daily re-assessment, highlighting risk and individual care planning 

(see below). 

 Ad hoc update teaching on wards where education needs highlighted 

 Pressure ulcer prevention teaching on induction for all new starters  

 Link nurse meetings held monthly with new topics for staff to take back 

to ward areas. 

 Twice yearly full study days arranged and open to all ward staff, both 

well attended with positive feedback and support from senior mangers. 

Education provided  by internal and external speakers. 

 An increased focus on heel checks with wards continuing a sustained 

improvement.  

 Development of an MDT harm free panel which meets weekly to 

discuss the root cause of all grade 3 and 4 hospital acquired pressure 

ulcer incidences to discuss learning and required actions. 

 Piloting outpatient tissue viability service to reduce length of stay and 

improve patient experience.  
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Patient safety 

Prevention of pressure ulcers which develop in hospital 

Aims and goals for 

2017/18 

 

1. Continue to reduce all 

inpatient hospital-acquired 

pressure ulcers.  

2. Review all pressure relieving 

equipment within Quarter 1 

2017/18 to ensure it is both 

beneficial to patients and cost 

effective.  

3. Review of Tissue viability 

service to enhance ward 

support, staff and patient 

education. 

4. Re–launch Tissue viability 

outpatient service to reduce 

length of stay, waiting times 

and improve patient 

experience. 

Chart 5 – Our performance over the last three years: Avoidable pressure ulcers per 1,000 bed 

days 

How pressure ulcers are 
graded  
European Pressure 
Advisory Panel (EPUAP) 
Classifications 

Grade 1 

Non-blanchable erythema of intact 
skin.  Discolouration of the skin, 
warmth, oedema, induration or 
hardness may also be used as 
indicators, particularly on 
individuals with darker skin. 

Grade 2 
Partial thickness skin loss 
involving epidermis, dermis, or 
both.  The ulcer is superficial and 
presents clinically as an abrasion 
or blister. 

Grade 3 
Full thickness of skin involving 
damage to, or necrosis of, 
subcutaneous tissue that may 
extend down to but not underlying 
fascia - the skin may be unbroken. 

Grade 4 
Extensive damage, tissue necrosis 
or damage to muscle, bone or 
supporting structures with or 
without full thickness skin loss. 

Key challenges 

We have not achieved the rate 

of improvement that we set 

ourselves for 2016/17, which is 

disappointing. 

 

By focussing on ‘Harm Free’ 

care rather than the separation 

of Tissue Viability and Falls, we 

are confident that a re-

energised corporate resource, 

with a clear focus on delivery 

for harm free care, will help the 

Trust deliver the standard of 

care that any of patients should 

expect to receive. 

 

This is the rationale for the 

Trust Board deciding that 

‘Harm Free’ care will be the 

patient safety quality priority for 

2017/18, with stretch but 

achievable targets for the year 

ahead. 

 

Avoidable Pressure Ulcers Grades 2 to 4  

 Avoidable incidents 
Bed 

days 
Avoidable PUs per 1000 bed days 

2014/15  39 207884 0.19 

2015/16  24 200493 0.12 

2016/17 to Jan 17 34 169432 0.20 

NB:   the bed day activity is an adaption of the standard KH03 report: it excludes day case, but includes critical 
care and maternity services where there is overnight bed occupancy so that incidents are reflective of activity. 
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Patient safety 
Learning from incidents, SIRIs and Never Events 

Learning from incidents 

All reported incidents are 

investigated and any lessons that 

can be learnt are shared within the 

clinical area at Divisional Board 

meetings, and via the intranet for 

hospital areas outside the scope of 

the Division involved in the 

incident.  Lessons learnt are also 

shared at the Trust’s Quality and 

Patient Safety Committee. 

It is important that when serious 

incidents occur, they are reported 

and investigated in a timely 

manner, not only to ensure that 

the correct action can be taken, 

but also to ensure the Trust learns 

from the incident to help prevent 

recurrence. 

The higher level incidents are 

categorised as Serious Incidents 

Requiring Investigation (SIRIs) 

and are reported to the North East 

Essex Clinical Commissioning 

Group.  These incidents are 

investigated, a comprehensive 

report written and actions 

implemented and the learning 

shared. 

The percentage of patient safety 

incidents resulting in severe harm 

or death is subject to external 

assurance.  The detailed definition 

for this performance indicator is 

presented on page 43. 

The changes we have 
made as a result of 

lessons learnt: 

  An electronic solution to 
requesting and receiving the 
reports for diagnostic tests 
which introduces a system to 
ensure the report is read by the 
requesting clinician; 

 

 A safer process for the 
insertion and management of 
NG Tubes; 

 

 Introduction of ‘Credit Card’ 

information for the safe use of 
antibiotics in patients with a 
known allergy to penicillin for 
all staff.  Red, Green and 
Amber lists to ensure safe 
prescribing and administration; 

 
 A safer policy and procedure 

for the management of chest 
drains within the Trust. 

 

Duty of Candour 

Open and honest communication 

with patients is essential to 

collaborative working and directly 

impacts the experience and 

outcomes for the patient as well 

as for staff in the delivery of safe 

care.  Healthcare professionals 

must be open and honest with 

patients when something that 

goes wrong with their treatment or 

care causes, or has the potential 

to cause, harm or distress.  

Duty of Candour ensures 

healthcare professionals are open 

and honest with their colleagues, 

employers and relevant 

organisations, and take part in 

reviews and investigations when 

requested.  

The Trust extends the Duty of 

Candour process to the ‘Being 

Open’ policy which encourages 

staff to have open and honest 

conversations for all incidents 

which are not specific to the Duty 

of Candour statutory 

requirements.   

What are we doing to 

make improvements: 

 Face to face and E-Learning  
training for Incidents, SI’s  and 
Duty of Candour; 

 Root Cause Analysis Training 
for SI’s; 

 Incident investigation 

introduced as part of Health & 
Safety Managers course to 
target key staff; 

 Review of process of sharing 
SI’s and lessons learned  
within the area affected and 
wider as a Trust; 

 Revised VTE RCA and 
process to facilitate learning 
from  possible  hospital 
acquired DVT’s or PE’s. 

Chart 6—Duty of Candour Compliance 2016/17 
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Patient safety 
Learning from incidents, Serious Incidents and Never Events  

 

 

Table 2 – Adverse events and SIRIs reported 

For the year 2016/17, there have been the following adverse events (categorised as no harm to severe harm) 

  Total 

Advice & Information (pt) 174 

Anaesthetics Clinical Management 48 

Appointments/ Clinics 244 

Blood & Blood Products (Transfusion) - Other blood products (old) 57 

Cardiac Arrest / Cardiac Call 152 

Communication - Electronic e.g. phones (non pt) (old) 814 

Delays in Care/ Waiting Times 750 

Diagnosis/Treatment - all 852 

Environment  (non pt) 118 

Equipment/ Electrical 479 

Slip, Trip, Falls (all) 1099 

Gynaecology 11 

Healthcare Records/ Xrays/ Scans (documentation) - all 266 

Infection related - all 133 

Information Security & Confidentiality (all) 194 

IT & Clinical Systems (all) 61 

Laboratory Specimens 113 

Maternity (all) 609 

Medication (all) 907 

Patient Actions 141 

Patient Injuries including Near Misses  426 

Privacy & Dignity  49 

Radiation (all) 169 

Safeguarding - all 1363 

Security (all) 375 

Sharps (all) 176 

Staff Injuries at work & well being (all) 287 

Staffing Levels 347 

Tissue Viability 1747 

Transport 112 

Unacceptable Behaviour (staff/ Visitors) 71 

Unescorted Patients 28 

Venous Access - all 54 

Visitors/ Contractors Injuries & Well Being - all 28 

Total 12454 
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Patient safety 
Learning from incidents, Serious Incidents and Never Events 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

 9 4 3 

 Never Events 

Never Events are serious, 
largely preventable patient 
safety incidents that should not 
occur if the available 
preventative measures have 
been implemented.  
 
The list of Never Events for 
2016/17 are: 
 
1 Wrong site surgery  
2 Wrong implant/prosthesis  
3 Retained foreign object 

post-procedure 
4 Mis-selection of a strong 

potassium containing solution 
5 Wrong route administration of 

medication 
6 Overdose of insulin due to 

abbreviations or incorrect 
device 

7 Overdose of methotrexate for 
non-cancer treatment 

8 Mis-selection of high strength 
midazolam during conscious 
sedation 

9 Failure to install functional 
collapsible shower or curtain 
rails 

10 Falls from poorly restricted 
windows 

11 Chest or neck entrapment in 
bedrails 

12 Transfusion or transplantation 
of ABO-incompatible blood 
components or organs 

13 Misplaced naso- or oro-gastric 
tubes  

14 Scalding of patients. 
 
There are exclusions to each 
Never Event category as set by 
NHS Improvement. 
 
The Trust reported three Never 
Events occurred in 2016/17:  
 

 Wrong site surgery 

 Misplaced naso- or oro- 

gastric tubes 

 Wrong implant/prosthesis. 

Type of Adverse Event meeting SI criteria No. of SIs 

Alleged/Actual Abuse 1 

Confidential Information leak 5 

Diagnostic Incident 24 

HCA/Infection Control Incidents 1 

Hospital acquired (g3) pressure ulcer 10 

Maternity/Obstetric Incident: Baby only 1 

Maternity/Obstetric Incident: mother and baby 3 

Medication Incident 7 

Operation/Treatment Without Consent 2 

Pending Review 1 

Screening Issues 1 

Slip/Trip/Falls 17 

Sub-optimal care of deteriorating patient 17 

Surgical Invasive Procedure Incident 13 

Treatment Delay 26 

VTE 2 

Maternity/Obstetric Incident: mother only 1 

Blood Product/Transfusion Incident 1 

Specimen Issues 1 

 134 

Table 3—Number of Serious Incidents declared 2016/17 

Chart 7—60 day Serious Incident investigations compliance 
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Patient Safety 

Sign Up to Safety 

Sign Up to Safety 

Sign Up to Safety is a national 

patient safety campaign with the 

mission to strengthen patient safe-

ty in the NHS and make it the saf-

est healthcare system in the world.  

Its ambition is to halve avoidable 

harm in the NHS over the next 

three years, and save 6000 lives 

as a result.  This is supported by a 

campaign that aims to listen to 

patients, carers and staff, learn 

from what they say when things go 

wrong and take action to improve 

patient safety helping to ensure 

patients get harm free care every 

time, everywhere. 

Organisations who Sign Up to 

Safety commit to strengthen pa-

tient safety by: 

 Setting out the actions they 

will undertake  in response 

to the five Sign up to Safety 

pledges and agree to pub-

lish this on their website for 

staff, patient and the public 

to see; and 

 Committing to turn these 

actions into a safety im-

provement plan which will 

show how organisations 

intend to save lives and 

reduce harm for patients 

over the next 3 years. 

The five Sign up to Safety  

pledges: 

 Putting safety first 

Commit to reduce avoida-

ble harm in the NHS by half 

and publicise locally devel-

oped goals and plans; 

 Continually learn 

Make organisations more 

resilient to risks, by acting 

on the feedback from pa-

tients and staff and con-

stantly measuring and mon-

itoring how safe services 

are; 

 Being honest 

Be transparent with people 

about progress to tackle 

patient safety issues and 

support staff to be candid 

with patients and their fam-

ilies if something goes 

wrong; 

 Collaborating 

Take a lead role in support-

ing local collaborative 

learning, so that improve-

ments are made across all 

of the local services that 

patients use; 

 Being supportive 

Helping people understand 

why things go wrong and 

how to put them right.  

Give staff the time and 

support to improve and 

celebrate progress. 

We intend for the Safety            

Improvement Plan to be a living 

document, with the express wish 

to improve safety for all patients 

who come into contact with Col-

chester Hospital University NHS 

Foundation Trust services.  The 

plan will be reviewed quarterly by 

the Quality and Patient Safety 

Committee. 
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Clinical effectiveness 
Stroke care 

increased awareness of falls 
prevention and a sustained 
reduction in the number of falls 
since September 2016. 
 
The Stroke Unit team are proud 
that no patients have developed a 
hospital acquired pressure ulcer of 
grade 2 and above since April 
2016. This is an especially worthy 
achievement considering the high 
level of disability and dependency 
of patients post stroke.  
 
Commitment to regular checking of 
skin condition, position changes 
and good communication of 
patients at risk has led to this 
achievement. 
 
An on-going programme of 
multidisciplinary team days are 
planned and run throughout the 
year, each team member attends 
three days per year and there is a 
strong focus on improving 
specialist stroke knowledge and 
skills and completion of stroke 
specific competencies.  The Stroke 
Competency Toolkit (SCoT) is a 
set of multidisciplinary 
competencies that have been 
locally applied and launched on the 
unit at the end of 2016 and have 
replaced the East of England 
Stroke Competencies that required 
updating and lacked a 
multidisciplinary approach.   
 
Development of staff and their 
commitment to the unit is evident 
by the number continuing with their 
education and their desire to 
remain on the unit when qualified.  
Six nursing rehabilitation staff have 
undertaken or are working toward 
their foundation degree.  Two staff 
progressed to work based learning 
for their qualification as Registered 
Nurses (RN) and two nurses have 
just qualified through this program 
and are working on the unit as a 
qualified RNs.   
 
The CHUFT Stroke Unit has 
developed and produced a 
bespoke mouth care assessment 

Specialist stroke care - the 

impact on recovery 

By working together, using new 
ways of thinking and working, 
pooling our expertise, experience 
and learning, the multi-disciplinary 
team on the Stroke Unit has 
improved on a number of quality 
standards and stroke metrics over 
the last year. The following is a 
summary of some of our recent 
achievements. 
 
All the projects outlined in this 
report have a major impact on our 
patient’s recovery and standards of 
care provided, many of them are 
elements of the National Stroke 
Specific National Audit Program 
(SSNAP) audit, therefore 
improvement in these areas 
resulted in improved SSNAP 
scores.   
 
Currently the Colchester Stroke 
Unit holds 9th place in the SSNAP 
rankings.  This national audit aims 
to improve the quality of stroke 
services and patient care by 
reviewing care against set 
standards. The unit held 1st place 
nationally in 2014, a decline in 
some areas of performance was 
noted in the winters quarters of 
2014 –15 and 2015 –16.  In 
response to this the Stroke Unit 
introduced a SSNAP improvement 
plan; this has seen a consistent 
sustainable improvement in 2016-
2017 performance across the 
standards.   
 
Analysis and learning from 
previous incidents and close 
working with the Falls Prevention 
Practitioner have identified a 
number of themes, enabling us to 
take practical actions that make a 
difference to patients.  
 
By embracing the practice of 
cohorting, actively discussing falls 
risks at board rounds and daily 
team briefs, new ways of working 
have become embedded in day to 
day activity. This has resulted in an 

tool and protocol which has been 
adopted across the East of 
England and is supported by the 
Eastern Academic Health Science 
Network.  
 
An e-module acts as a learning 
resource for new starters.   
Research is embedded within the 
unit with all Consultants GCP 
trained and acting as Principal 
Investigators supported by a 
dedicated research nurse 
currently recruiting to 4 
interventional studies with 3 more 
in the pipeline. The team also aims 
to implement research evidence 
and national guidelines promptly.   
 
For example implementation of a 
Very Early Mobilisation programme 
was facilitated by the therapy team 
in 2013 and is currently being 
updated based on new evidence.   
 
A program to implement a standard 
operating procedure for Intermittent 
Pneumatic Compression (IPC) for 
prevention of venous 
thromboembolism was 
implemented in 2015.  Both 
projects aimed at preventing stroke 
complications.   
 
Research evidence shows a strong 
correlation between adequate 
hydration and nutrition and optimal 
recovery from stroke. As a result 
patients on the Stroke Unit 
routinely receive oral or enteral 
nutrition within 24 hours of 
admission, with nurses, dieticians 
and speech therapy colleagues 
working together to achieve this 
important standard.   
 
An increase in the frequency of 
auditing the MUST tool with an 
analysis of themes has allowed us 
to focus on this issue to ensure that 
MUST assessment has improved 
over the past quarter.  
  
The CHUFT Stroke Unit has 
developed and produced a Stroke 
Continence Assessment this has 
recently been developed into a 
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Clinical effectiveness 
Stroke care 

Chart 8 – Our performance over the last three years: % of 

people admitted to a Stroke Unit within 4 hours 

Chart 9 – Our performance over the last three years:   % of 

people treated on a Stroke Unit for >90% of the time 

Stroke Continence Integrated 
Care Pathway.  Currently 100% of 
appropriate patients have a 
continence assessment on 
admission. The new ICP will 
provide a structured approach to 
continue assessment and 
implementation of a continence 
plan, ensuring optimum 
opportunity for patients return to 
continence following their stroke.  
 
The team have also focused on 
the environment as this has an 
impact on delivery and experience 
of care for patients and their 
families. A project led by the 
rehabilitation assistant team has 
led to refurbishment of the dining 
room area on the unit. This now 
gives additional space for patients 
to socialise with families and also 
provides another area for group 
therapy sessions or self-directed 
therapy to run on most days of the 
week, enhancing patients 
rehabilitation.  
 
The unit has successfully 
implemented 7 day therapy from 
occupational and physiotherapy.  
Assessment within 72 hours of 
admission has consistently met a 
high average standard over the 
last 12 months of 2016 -2017, with 
physiotherapy achieving 97% and 
occupational therapy 96%. Other 
Therapy innovations and 
improvements have been made 
with the introduction of the 
electronic Joint Care Plan, Speech 
and Language Therapy using 
Apps on an ipads and 
Improvements in psychology 
staffing support.  A team focus on 

Year 2014 2015 2016 

Quarter     Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

 64.20 58.20 67.20% 74.40% 70.80% 77.10% 

Year 2014 2015 2016   

Quarter     Q1   Q2   Q3   Q4 

  81.00 76.00 80.70% 81.60% 75.20% 88.00% 

meeting the 4 hour admission, 
direct to stroke unit standard (ASI 
2), has seen steady progress 
within a challenging hospital 
environment where availability of 
beds has been at a premium.  The 
unit’s performance this winter has 
improved to 77% in Quarter 4 
2016 see Chart 8.   
 
Chart 9 shows the unit’s 
performance to the 90% of stay on 
the Stroke unit (ASI 3) achieving 
88% in quarter 4 of 2016.   
 

Maintaining a higher performance 
in the 4 hour target and the 90% 
of stay on the unit has an impact 
on the quality of stroke care the 
patient receives and their 
outcome. 
 
The senior members of the 
multidisciplinary team are 
dedicated to maintaining the 
stroke unit performance, sustained 
clinical engagement, supervision 
within the clinical environment, 
supporting junior and new team 
members, listening to concerns 
and creating a positive working 
environment.   
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Clinical effectiveness 
Emergency care 

Chart 10 – Our performance over the last two years: 4 hours to 

discharge from Emergency Department** 

Chart 11– Our performance over the last three years:  

Emergency Department activity 

Waiting for treatment for a 
long time can potentially 
impact on clinical outcomes 
and certainly does not result 
in a good patient 
experience. 

The Emergency Department has 

faced challenges in achieving the 

95% target of patients spending 

four hours or less from arrival to 

admission, transfer or discharge. 

These including sustained 

pressures on bed capacity, 

difficulties in establishing complete 

medical and nursing staff numbers 

and a 50% vacancy rate for 

Emergency Assessment Unit 

Consultants. There have been 

initiatives taken both locally within 

Emergency care and also in the 

wider Trust. These include: 

A commitment to long term 

bookings of both Doctors and 

Nurses to ensure a higher fill rate. 

Every Patient Every Day including 

The Emergency Department’s 

Super Week during February. This 

aimed to:  

 Standardise and embed ED 

processes so that these are 

adhered to 24 hours per day 

 Embed the use of the 

Escalation and Whole Hospital 

Response policy and Action 

Cards 

 Trial the use of the ED Trigger 

Tool in conjunction with the 

Escalation and Whole Hospital 

Response policy and Action 

Cards 

 Monitor breaches, identify 

breach reasons and hold 

people/areas to account for 

these. 

  2015/16 2016/17 

 Target 

CHUFT 

Perfor-

mance 

National 

Average 

CHUFT 

Perfor-

mance 

National 

Average 

Apr 95.00% 89.6% 89.84% 73.7% 85.0% 

May 95.00% 92.7% 91.27% 85.3% 85.4% 

Jun 95.00% 85.6% 92.26% 86.2% 85.8% 

Jul 95.00% 81.9% 92.52% 87.9% 85.4% 

Aug 95.00% 84.5% 91.41% 81.6% 86.4% 

Sept 95.00% 77.3% 90.16% 94.4% 86.0% 

Oct 95.00% 81.2% 88.57% 85.7% 83.7% 

Nov 95.00% 80.9% 87.02% 87.2% 82.7% 

Dec 95.00% 80.8% 86.56% 70.6% 79.3% 

Jan 95.00% 83.1% 83.03% 76.4% 77.6% 

Feb 95.00% 76.66% 81.62% 87.8% 81.2% 

Mar 95.00% 71.62% 80.86% 91.8% - 

YTD 95.00% 80.30% 87.36% 84.1% 84.42% 

Financial Year 
Total number of 

attendances 
4hr Perfor-

mance 

2014-15 78,878 87.4% 

2015-16 82,189 80.3% 

2016-17 87,313 84.1% 

 Throughout 2016/17 the Emergency Department have        

ensured that shifts are mapped to activity on a daily basis. 

**  Type 1 A&E department = A consultant led 24 hour service with full 

resuscitation facilities and designated accommodation for the reception of 

accident and emergency patients 
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Since the launch of Red to Green 

in September, we have seen 

improvements in patient flow, in 

bed capacity and in performance 

against the Emergency 

Department standards.  

A Green day is a day when the 

patient has received an 

intervention in accordance with 

their care plan to support their 

journey through to discharge to 

meet the identified ‘Earliest 

Discharge Date’ (EDD). Therefore 

a Red day is when the patient 

‘does not’ receive an intervention 

which was requested or planned, 

to support their journey through to 

discharge to meet the identified 

EDD. 

Clinical effectiveness 
Emergency care 

From the time of admission 

clinicians should be concentrating 

on getting patients home from 

Colchester General Hospital as 

quickly as possible and with the 

right support.  

Once a patient is medically fit, 

delaying their discharge results in 

deterioration of mobility and loss 

of independence. We ask all 

clinicians to think about what is 

really needed to support patients. 

Sometimes the situation is made 

worse as medically fit patients end 

up being delayed and then end up 

needing more support. 

The Trust continues to run these 

intensive Red to Green weeks in 

order to embed the processes into 

our systems. Red to Green aims 

to break the cycle of repeated 

escalation measures and end the 

continuing disruption to normal 

clinical business, which 

disadvantages patients.  
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Clinical effectiveness 
Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI)    

What is SHMI? 

The Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator is a ratio 

of the observed number of deaths to the expected 

number of deaths for a trust.  The SHMI differs from 

some other measures of mortality by including both in-

hospital deaths and deaths of patients occurring within 

30 days of discharge from hospital. 

Why is SHMI important? 

We need to know what our ratio of actual deaths against 

expected deaths is, in order to assess and measure how 

good the care and treatment is. 

 

 

How does SHMI work? 

SHMI, like the HSMR, is a ratio of the observed number 

of deaths to the expected number of deaths.  The 

calculation is the total number of patient admissions to 

hospital which result in a death either in hospital or 

within 30 days of discharge.  Like all mortality indicators, 

the SHMI shows whether the number of deaths linked to 

a particular hospital is more or less than expected, and 

whether that difference is statistically significant. 

What is HSMR? 

The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio is the ratio of 

observed deaths to expected deaths for a basket of 56 

diagnosis groups, which represent approximately 80% of 

in-hospital deaths.  It is a subset of all and represents 

about 35% of admitted patient activity. 

Chart 12 - Mortality: SHMI trend June 2012 – July 2016     

 

For more information about our performance with regard to SHMI, please see the SHMI Core Quality Indicator on 

page 38. 
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Clinical effectiveness 
Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) 

SHMI for the 12 months to 

June 2016 was 108.53 (within 

the ‘as expected’ range placing 

the Trust 109/136). 

Quarterly trend data indicates 

that over the last 12 reporting 

periods, the Trust has been an 

outlier on 4 occasions.  

SHMI alongside HSMR is 

reviewed at the Mortality 

Review Group with divisional 

representation.  

Nationally there has been an 

increased number of deaths in 

January and February (the 

latter saw a 12% increase) 

which will affect both mortality 

indicators for this fiscal year.  

There were 207 deaths in 

January (20 ED/187 IP) – the 

highest number of deaths in 

one month for the last 6 years 

(January average for the last 5 

years was 164). The Trust 

undertook a full review of the 

deaths to ensure that care was 

effectively delivered.  The 

Office for National Statistics 

has reported significant 

increases in registered deaths 

in England and Wales in 

calendar weeks 2 (+8%) and 3 

(+16%) based on an average 

of the last 5 years.  

 

 

Metric Result 

HSMR 108.2 ‘higher than expected’ range  

HSMR position vs. 

East of England 

peers 

The Trust is 1 of 6 within the peer group of 17 that 
sit within the ‘higher than expected’  

HSMR diagnosis 
groups attracting 
higher than expected 
deaths 

There are 4 outlying groups attracting significantly 

higher than expected deaths. 
COPD and bronchiectasis RR = 144.7 (63 

deaths vs. 43.5 expected) – continues to 
alert 

Septicaemia (except in labour) RR = 122.4 
(125 deaths vs. 102.1 expected) – 
continues to alert 

Other lower respiratory disease RR = 165.5 
(20 deaths vs. 12.1 expected) – continues 
to alert 

Cancer of bronchus, lung RR = 136.8 (48 
deaths vs. 35.1 expected)  

HSMR Weekday/

Weekend Analysis 

There is a difference between weekday and 

weekend mortality. Weekday HSMR is higher 

than expected, weekend HSMR is as expected.  

For one period in the year there was a significant 
mortality risk if admitted on a Wednesday.  

SHMI (April 2015 to 

March 2016) 

108.53 ‘as expected’ (band 2) 

7 outlying SHMI groups  

Table 4 -  Results summary for January 2016 -  

December 2016    

In-hospital mortality, for all in-patient admissions to Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust for the period January to December 2016 
has been reviewed.  The SHMI is updated and rebased quarterly. 
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Key achievements 

We aimed to ensure that we 
delivered first class care by 
continuing to demonstrate 
kindness, compassion, 
professionalism and skill, together 
with an ambition to do even better 
for our patients, relatives and 
carers.  
 
We strongly believe that care 
should be delivered in partnership 
and we will continue to ensure the 
patient, relative and carer is heard 
and they are at the heart of 
everything we do.  
 
Last year saw some innovative 
schemes to support our patients 
experience, this included as 
follows: 
 
Improved Estate and Facilities 
for our most vulnerable patients 
 

 The Estates and Facilities 

team worked with our 
clinical teams to really 
ensure that Colchester 
Hospital met the needs of 
the service users to make 
their stay in hospital as 
comfortable as possible. 
For our elderly patients it 
can be a very scary 
experience being away 
from their loved ones or 
carers, so by working with 
the experts, they were able 
to come up with designs 
that supported exactly what 
they need.  

 

 This has included ensuring 
that floors are not blue, 
trying to stay away from 
carpet or mats at entrances 
and designing comfortable 
day rooms with 
memorabilia. A lot of work 
also took place with 
signage to support the 
patients along with wet 
room bathrooms and grab 
rails for their own safety. 
Better lighting was 

facilitated over the beds so 
that patients could have 
their lights on at night and 
would not disturb sleeping 
patients. 

 

Making care less scary for our 

paediatric patients 

 Colourful clown doctors 
(pictured below) continue 
to visit the children’s ward 
two to three times a month. 
They support our young 
patients stay being more 
fun, especially when they 
are on their own. The 
clown doctors arrive with 
puppets, balloons, ukuleles 
and other props to support 
their fun making 
experience. Doctors and 

nurses can be very busy 
and this allows the clown 
doctors to spend some real 
quality time with our young 
patients at what can be a 
very scary time for them 
and their family. 

Improving awareness of key 
issues for our patients, relatives 

and carers 

 The patient experience 

team have held many 
awareness days to educate 
patients, relatives and 
carers.  

 Working collaboratively 
with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and 
Health Forum Committee 
and Action for Family 
Carers to raise awareness 

“Clown Doctors” preparing to make our paediatric patients smile 

while delivering care on the ward 
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of the help that is available 
to everyone at the hospital 
and other providers.  

 It can also educate people 
to self-care, not to come to 
A&E unless it is an 
emergency and offering 
advice for local GP 

practices. 

Highlighting the importance of 
Carers in our community 
(picture attached)   
 

 It is so very important to 
recognise that carers need 
support too when their 
loved ones are in hospital.  

 

 Colchester Hospital works 

very closely with Action for 
Family Carers. Family 
members can drop into the 
PALS Office during the 
week to seek support and 
guidance on what may be 
happening to their loved 
one. The team also visits 

wards daily speaking to 
carers to offer guidance 
and support. Family Action 
Carers days are regularly 
held throughout the 
hospital to raise awareness 
and educate not only 
carers but staff of the role 
they undertake. 

 

Improving access for our 
patients with physical 

disabilities 

 Mr O’Connell kindly  

(pictured below) gave up 
his time for him and his 
dog to spend some quality 
time with the Head of 
Patient Experience and 
Head of Estates and 
Facilities, where he 
educated both of them 
what we as a hospital, 
should be considering 
when opening up new 
PALS hubs that would 
allow access for his 
wheelchair and dog.  

 We all visited clinic rooms 
within the Outpatients 
Department to ensure 
there was sufficient amount 
of room for his wheelchair 
and dog to be able to 
manoeuvre appropriately to 
ensure the least amount of 
stress when attending for 
hospital appointments. 

 
Comments from patients 
 
‘The care and treatment he 
received was above and beyond 
all expectations. The A&E 
department was exceptionally 
busy, however we was extremely 
well looked after’ 
 
‘The NHS comes in for a lot of 
stick in the media but I felt I must 
advise that my treatment was first 
class yesterday.   Many thanks’ 
 
‘The staff worked to the highest 
level, administrating the upmost 
care and support. Thank you to all 
involved in my sons care’ 
 
 

  
 

Our Action for Family Carers team available to support our 

patients, their carers and families   

Mr O’Connell and his working Labrador 

meeting our Head of Facilities to improve 

services for our patient with disabilities 
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Why was this a priority?  
 
Each year the number of people 
living with dementia is growing 
and this number is expected to 
double during the next 30 years. It 
is estimated that over 40% of 
people aged over 65 in general 
hospitals have a dementia 
diagnosis or a cognitive 
impairment. Being in an unfamiliar 
environment such as a hospital 
can be very frightening and 
distressing and can reduce the 
person’s level of independence. 
Creating Patient dementia friendly 
wards to reduce the anxiety of 
patients with dementia was 
identified as a key priority through 
the PLACE programme (detail 
found on page 69) in the ward 
refurbishment plans at CHUFT. It 
is well known that reducing 
distress in patients can reduce 
length of stay, falls and other 
potential complications associated 
with admission to hospital. 
 
What was our target?  
 
As part of the Trust’s continued 
refurbishment plans a further four 
in patient wards have been fully 
refurbished; two care of the elderly 
and two medical wards. Plans are 

underway to complete 
refurbishment of wheelchair 
services and Gainsborough 
outpatients department. 
 
 
What did we do to improve our 
performance?  
 
The Dementia care nurse 
specialists have been instrumental 
in advising the estates and 
facilities department regarding the 
creation of dementia friendly 
environments using evidence 
based practice. The Dementia 
care nurse specialists are 
members of the Trusts 
refurbishment work stream and 
ensure that key areas of creating 
environments such as flooring, 
lighting, signage and quiet spaces 
are now incorporated into the 
ward and department plans as 
standard. 
 
We have continued to expand our 
distraction therapy initiatives 
across wards and departments at 
CHUFT. In addition to the very 
successful pet therapy the Trust 
has introduced sensory bands 
across all wards and departments 
and an electronic distraction unit 
within orthopaedics to enable 
photographs, films and music 

personal to the patient can be 
viewed. 
 
We have implemented the All 
about me document to enable 
carers and patients to inform staff 
about the person living with 
dementia. 
 
We have initiated Dementia 
champions within all ward areas 
who receive additional training to 
support patients, carers and their 
colleagues in improving patient 
experience. 
 
The Trust’s thanks go to our 
charity CoHoC who have 
supported many interventions in 
improving the experience for 
patients with dementia. 
 
 
How did we measure and 
monitor our performance? / 
How and where was progress 
reported? 
 
Feedback from staff, patients and 
carers is reviewed and reported 
through the Dementia 
Management group which meets 
quarterly and shared at the patient 
experience group. The feedback 
helps to further improve 
environments within the hospital. 
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Care Quality Commission 
National Patient Surveys 

Patients are asked to answer 
questions about different aspects 
of their care and treatment.  Based 
on their responses, each NHS 
Trust is given a score out of 10 for 
each question (the higher the score 
the better).  The question scores 
presented here have been rounded 
up or down to a whole number. 
 
Each Trust also receives a rating of 
‘Above’, ‘Average’ or ‘Below’. 

 Above (Better): the Trust is 

better for that particular 
question than most other 
trusts that took part in the 
survey. 

 Average (About the same): the 

trust is performing about the 
same for that particular 
question as most other trusts 
that took part in the survey. 

 Below (Worse): the trust did 

not perform as well for that 
particular question as most 
other trusts that took part in 
the survey.  

 
Where there is no section score 
(‘overall score unavailable’), this is 
because one or more questions 
are missing from that section 
(‘score unavailable’). This means 
that no section score can be given. 
 
There is no single overall rating for 
each NHS trust. This would be 
misleading as the survey assesses 
a number of different aspects of 
people’s experiences (such as care 
received from doctors and nurses, 
tests, views on the hospital 
environment eg cleanliness) and 
performance varies across these 
different aspects. 
 
The structure of the questionnaires 
mean that there are a different 
number of questions in each 
section. This means that it is not 
possible to compare trusts overall. 
Full reports can be found at 
www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RDE/
surveys 

National Inpatient Survey 

The Inpatient Survey was carried 
out by Picker on behalf of 
Colchester Hospital. The survey is 
part of a series of annual surveys 
required by the Care Quality 
Commission for all NHS Acute 
trusts in England. The survey was 
based on a sample of discharged 
patients who attended the Trust in 
July 2016. The purpose of the 
survey is to understand what 
patients think of healthcare 
services provided by Colchester 
Hospital. A total of 1250 patients 
was sent a questionnaire, 1144 
were eligible for the survey of 
which 523 returned a completed 
questionnaire giving the Trust a 
response rate of 46% .  The Trust 
was about the same in all 

categories. 
 
The survey highlighted many 
positive aspects of the patient 
experience: 
 

 85% rated care 7+ out of 

10 

 81% was treated with 

dignity and respect 

 79% had confidence and 
trust in Doctors 

 99% thought the room or 
ward was fairly clean 

 96% thought toilets and 

bathrooms was fairly clean 

 90% thought there was 

always enough privacy 
when being examined or 
treated. 

Table 5 – Based on patients’ responses to the National 

Inpatient Survey, this is how Colchester Hospital 

The Emergency/A&E Department 

(answered by emergency patients only) 
8.3/10  

Waiting lists and planned admissions 

(answered by patients referred to hospital) 
 8.5/10  

Waiting to get a bed on a ward  7.6/10  

The hospital and ward  8.0/10  

Doctors 8.3/10  

Nurses 8.1/10  

Care and treatment  7.6/10  

Operations and procedures  

(answered by patients who had an operation 

or procedure) 
 8.5/10  

Leaving hospital 6.8/10  

Overall views of care and services  5.7/10  

Overall experience 7.8/10  
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.” 

 

Inpatients FFT 

Response rates have met the 30% 

level throughout the year. There is 

an expectation to keep levels at 

30% in accordance with our 

general contract obligations. 

The ‘recommender rate’ has been 

consistently above 97%.  

Emergency Department FFT 

There is an expectation to keep 

levels at 20% in accordance with 

our general contract obligations. 

This has mostly been achieved 

except for 2 months at 19.5% and 

19.8% respectively.  

‘Recommender rates’ fluctuate 

within a ~5% range.  

Outpatients FFT 

‘Recommender rates’ have been 

consistency excellent above 

96.9%. There is no national target 

for response rates. 

Maternity FFT - antenatal, birth 

ward, post birth ward and post 

birth community 

The FFT question is asked at four 

‘contact points’ along the mother’s 

maternity journey - antenatal, 

Friends and Families Test (FFT)  

 April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Inpatient FFT return  

% 
31.4% 45.4% 43% 

47.3

% 
41.2% 

41.3

% 

41.4

% 
37.8% 30.6% 35.8% 33.2% 

D
ata n

o
t valid

ated
 at ti

m
e o

f p
u

b
licati

o
n

 

Inpatient 

recommenders % 
98.1% 97.3% 98.1% 

97.6

% 
97.6% 

98.3

% 

97.6

% 
97.8% 97.5% 98.2% 98.1% 

ED FFT return  % 22.7% 20.4% 19.5% 
20.1

% 
20.5% 

21.5

% 
23% 22.8% 19.8% 21.7% 20.8% 

ED recommenders  % 84.2% 87.2% 88.5% 86% 87.7% 
89.9

% 

88.4

% 
89.5% 87.3% 89.6% 88.4% 

Outpatient FFT return  

% 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Outpatient 

recommenders% 
97.7% 96.9% 99.1% 

98.6

% 
99.6% 

99.7

% 

97.1

% 
98.6% 99.6% 96.9% 97% 

Maternity FFT return  

% 
40.6% 34% 37.6% 

41.6

% 
38.8% 30% 

35.4

% 
30% 35.3% 28.4% 34.5% 

Antenatal return  % Not Reported by Unify 

Antenatal 

recommenders % 
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

100

% 
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

D
ata n

o
t valid

ated
 

Birth return  % 14% 11% 10.8% 8.7% 15.2% 
11.7

% 

13.4

% 
16.7% 14.5% 12.4% 21.7% 

Trust-wide Birth 

recommenders  % 
97% 100% 100% 100% 95% 97% 100% 98% 100% 100% 100% 

Postnatal ward  % Not Reported by Unify 
Trust-wide Postnatal 

ward recommenders  

% 
94% 90% 93% 87% 91% 93% 100% 85% 95% 97% 87%  

Postnatal community  

% 
Not Reported by Unify 

Trust-wide Postnatal 

community 

recommenders % 
100% 100% 

0 

Retur

ns 

100% 

0 

Return

s 

100

% 
100% 100% 

0 

Retur

ns 

100% 100%  

birth, postnatal ward and 

postnatal community.  

 

 

The Trust scores are on a par 

with the national FFT % 

recommending scores for each.  

Antenatel recommendations have 

remained at 100% this year.  

Birth recommendations varied 

between 95-100%.  

Postnatal ward rates are not 

consistent due to the variability in 

response ratesfrom 69 to 149 a 

month.  

Table 6—Friends and Family Test performance year to date 
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community engagement and patient feedback 

Community Engagement —

Tendring Show 

Every July since 2010, our Trust 

brings together 25+ stands and 

100+ staff in a 100ft marquee to 

show people at the Tendring Show 

that the future of their health is in 

their hands. Over 25,000 people 

from across Essex and Suffolk – 

the Trust’s catchment area for 

public members – came to the 

county's premier agricultural event. 

Thousands of people venture into 

the 100ft NHS marquee and many 

positive comments are made 

about the Trust.  

Last summer, our 100ft NHS mar-

quee won "best of breed" for the 

sixth time in a row! The NHS won 

the "Most Informative &            

Educational Trade-Stand" for, as 

the judge commented, "its         

innovative stands and for its      

interactivity with the public". 

There were 27 stands in 2016 and 

more than 100 staff from CHUFT 

and other organisations in the mar-

quee. Visitors could find out about 

Mobile Chemotherapy Unit 

‘Maureen’ launched in Colches-

ter 

Cancer charity Hope for Tomorrow 

has provided Colchester Hospital 

University NHS Foundation Trust 

with a state-of-the-art Mobile 

Chemotherapy Unit (MCU), 

named 'Maureen' after Maureen 

Dore, a Colchester nurse and long

-term supporter of the charity. On 

Tuesday, 19th July 2016, in a   

special ceremony at Colchester 

General Hospital, Maureen's sis-

ter, Liz Burton, cut the ribbon at 

the official launch of the MCU.  

Christine Mills, MBE, Founder and 

Trustee of Hope for Tomorrow, 

said: "I'm delighted to name this 

MCU after Maureen Dore. She 

was a wonderful supporter of the 

charity.” 

The East Essex MCU is the     

eleventh Unit to be put into opera-

tion. The Unit visits Tiptree,    

Clacton, Halstead and Stanway, 

with further locations to be added. 

10 to 15 patients a day benefit 

from the new mobile service. 

a wide range of health issues from 

Stroke Awareness to diabetes, as 

well as about advances in health 

treatments and more. Eleven 

stands were new for 2016. High-

lights included: 

 27ft long walk-through in-

flatable colon highlighting 

bowel cancer screening 

 Midwives and their birthing 

pool 

 Free fruit (from ACE) 

 Health check corner (from 

ACE)  

 Recruitment stand for   

Colchester Proud 

 Emergency ambulance first 

responders  

 Fun competitions 

 An Occupational Therapy 

zone 

 The League of Friends 

kindly supplied free tea and 

coffee to staff and visitors. 

Liz Burton, opening the MCU 

‘Maureen’ to help deliver ser-

vices to patients in out local 

community 

The CHUFT health stand at the 

Tendring Show in summer 

2016. 

CHUFT staff demonstrating 

how the human body works to 

young and old in the  

community 
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What are complaints? 

Complaints and concerns can be written or verbal communications from patients and/or relatives who are 

unhappy regarding an aspect of their interaction with Colchester Hospital.  These are a valuable tool to identify 

trends which enable us to improve the service where it may be necessary. 

 

Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust is 
committed to providing a 
complaints service that is fair, 
effective and accessible to all.  
Complaints are a valuable 
source of feedback about our 
services.  We undertake to be 
open and honest and where 
necessary, make changes to 
improve our service. 
 
Complaints Service 
  
Complaints are taken extremely 
seriously as they are a tool to 
identify when we have let our 
patients and their families down. 
Each and every complaint is used 
as an opportunity  to improve the 
services that we offer and enable 
us to achieve our goal of being the 
most caring healthcare provider. 
Every complaint is treated with 
respect, dignity and every 
complainant is treated as an 
individual. Complaints are never 
held on the patients’ medical 
notes and will never harm or 
prejudice the care provided to 
them. Complaints are welcomed 
into Colchester Hospital to ensure 
that we continue on our journey of 
improvement.  

 
How complaints are managed 
within the hospital 
  
Every complaint should be 
responded to within 28 working 
days from receipt.  The 
complainant is kept abreast of the 
progress of their complaint to 
ensure they are involved and 
understand the process.  
 
The Trust has been aiming to 
ensure that a senior manager 
within the appropriate service area 
contacts the complainant with 24 
Hours to talk through their 
complaint, gain clarity on the 
concerns raised, apologise in the 
first instance and offer any support 
or guidance that may be required. 
This then aids the service area  to 
gain an understanding of the key 
issues to be investigated,  to 
ensure a more meaningful and 
thorough investigation and 
response. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Reopened complaints 
  
During the reporting period 36 
complaints were reopened. The 
main reasons identified for 
complaints being reopened are 
poor investigation, responses that 
do not address all the concerns 
raised and responses that do not 
address the concerns raised with 
empathy or evidence of 
understanding the patient’s 
experience. 
 
Complaints to the Parliamentary 
and Health Service Ombudsman 
(PHSO)  handling process.  
 
During the reporting period 11 
cases were referred to the PHSO, 
these remain under investigation. 
 
What are we doing to make 
improvements to complaints 
handling? 
  
To give Trust staff a greater 
understanding of the complaints 
handling process a series of 
Complaint Training Workshops 

Complaints are categorised in three ways, depending on their severity: 

 

High level 
Multiple issues relating to a longer period of care including an event resulting in serious 
harm.  

Medium level 
Several issues relating to a short period of care including, for example, failure to meet care 
needs, medical errors, incorrect treatment, attitude of staff or communication.  

Low level 
Simple, non-complex issues including, for example, delayed or cancelled appointments, lack 
of cleanliness, transport problems. 
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are being provided by the 
Complaint Service Manager. This 
training is linked to the Trust’s 
Licence to Lead programme and 
in addition to explaining the 
complaints process, the workshop 
explores what can cause patients 
to complain, how the Trust strives 
to learn from complaints and the 
Trust’s expectations of how to 
write a letter of response. 
 
An effective escalation process 
has been implemented to ensure 
that Lead Investigators discuss 
complaint investigations with a 
member of the Executive Team in 
cases where a first extension to 
the agreed timeframes is likely to 
be breached. 
 
Learning from complaints 
  
It has been identified that there 
needs to be Trust wide 
improvement in identifying and 
reporting on lessons learned and  
actions taken from complaints. 

 
Through the new divisional 
accountability and performance 
framework we expect to be able to 
see clear evidence of learning  
from complaints and this is very 
ad hoc at present. With this in 
mind the Complaints Service 
Manager is working closely with  
the complaints team and 
colleagues across the Trust to 
ensure measures are put in place 
to improve performance in this  
area.   
 
Some examples of lessons 
learned and actions taken 
following complaints: 
 
Concern – Failure to have a 
biopsy performed in the 
appropriate timeframe 
 
Action – Fault in the newly 
installed electronic radiology 
system rectified 
 
 

 
Concern - Staff in the General 
Office and Welcome Desk caused 
offence when trying to advise a 
patient 
 
Action – Staff training has been 
reviewed to ensure that staff have 
a better understanding of how to 
manage difficult situations 
without causing offence 
 
Concern – Staff failed to give their 
nursing PIN when asked 
 
Action – Staff have been 
reminded that they should provide 
their PIN number if requested 
 
Concern – Poor communication 
between Theatres, ECC and the 
TWOC clinic 
 
Action – Case discussed at the 
audit meeting and within the 
teams to ensure better 
communication. 
 

Chart 13 – Our performance over the last three years:  

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

105%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Complaints 3 Day Acknowledgement Target of 100% Achieved - Monthly -
2014 - 2017

2014 - 2015

2015 - 2016

2016 - 2017
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PALS (Patient Advice and 

Liaison Service)   

 
The PALS team handle enquiries 
and concerns in a practical way, 
resolving and addressing  issues 
at source to avoid matters 
escalating. This is seen as a really 
positive step towards taking more 
responsibility for issues as they 
arise.  In line with National 
guidance PALS address non-
complex concerns aiming to 
resolve problems quickly thus 
improving patient experience and 
avoiding the need to raise a 
complaint.  
 
Following a review of the PALS 
service PALS have been graded 
and logged as either PALS 1 or 
PALS 2.  
 
PALS 1 contacts relate to matters 
that require the team to provide 
straightforward information or 
signposting.  
 
PALS 2 contacts relate matters 
that are non-complex but do need 
to be resolved or addressed. 
 
Typical matters raised with PALS 
include:- 
 

 Problems booking Clinical 

Services 

 Enquiries about treatment 

plans 

 Patients chasing test 

results 

Top three subjects of complaints 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Treatment Plan Attitude Attitude 

Attitude Treatment Plan Treatment Plan 

Booking Clinical 
Service 

Clinical Communication 
& Co-ordination 

Discharge 

 Problems with access to 

Clinical Services 

 Ward related concerns. 

 
Some examples of matters raised 
with PALS and actions taken as a 
result:- 
 

 Concern raised by a 
patient and his daughter as 
they were concerned about 
side effects  the patient 
was having following 
various treatments and 
medications for his bladder 
and prostate cancer.  

 

 PALS liaised with the 

Urology nurse who then 
spoke with the patient and 
his family to address their 
concerns.  

 

 Concerns raised by a 
patient on the ward as she 
had not been seen by a 
doctor or a Neurologist. 

 

 PALS liaised with ward 

staff to ensure the 
appropriate doctors 
reviewed the patient. 

 

Never Complaints 

As part of the Every Patient Every 

Day Programme the Trust 

launched the concept of “Never 

Complaints”.  

A Never Complaint is a complaint 

for which the Trust has decided to 

adopt a ‘zero tolerance’ approach, 

by focusing on issues which are 

within its control, and which is 

believed  can be completely 

eliminated.   

The Trust  has defined a Never 

Complaint as one which relates to 

either: 

 unacceptable staff 

behaviour in the form of 

verbal aggression,  

 an active disregard of 

compassion to patients and 

their relatives, or  

 a situation where a 

patient’s privacy or dignity 

has been neglected 

Never Complaints will be reported 

and managed in the same way as 

Never Events, and the process 

has been outlined in an update to 

the Complaints Policy and 

Procedure. 

The ability to completely eliminate 

this type of complaint lies with 

each and every member of staff; 

the way staff conduct themselves  

has a huge impact on the people 

they meet and care for. Learning 

opportunities associated with 

Never Complaints will be hosted 

so staff can work more closely 

with patients and their families, 

allowing everyone the opportunity 

to learn and improve the way they 

work, making sure that every 

patient receives the best possible 

experience.  Everyone at the Trust  

can make every patient contact 

count.  It’s up to us to be the 

change we want to see and 

deliver the care we would expect 

to receive. 
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Patient-Led Assessment of the 
Care Environment (PLACE) is a 
self-assessment of a range of 
assessment of non-clinical 
services which contribute to 
healthcare delivered in both the 
NHS and independent/private 
healthcare sector in England.   
 
The self-assessments are carried 
out voluntarily and were introduced 
in April 2013 to replace the former 
Patient Environment Action Team 
(PEAT) assessments which ran 
from 2000- 2012 inclusive.  
 
Through focusing on the non-
clinical areas which matter to 
patients, their families and carers, 
the PLACE programme considers: 
 

 how clean the environment 

is; 

 what the condition of the 

environment is – both inside 
and outside the hospital; 

 how well the buildings meet 

the needs of the people 
who use it; 

 the quality and availability of 

food and drinks; 

 how well the environment 

protects people’s privacy 
and dignity; 

 whether the hospital 

buildings are equipped to 
meet the needs of dementia 
sufferers; 

 whether the hospital is able 

to meet the needs of people 
with disabilities.  (New in 
2016). 

 
N.B.  It should be noted that 
PLACE inspections do not focus 
on clinical care.   
 
The programme encourages the 
involvement of patients, the public 
and other stakeholders with an 
interest in Healthcare.  
Consequently the Patient 
Assessors who assisted with the 
2016 annual  PLACE inspection 
consisted of people from all walks 
of life with an interest in Colchester 

hospital and the Healthcare it 
provides. 
 
The role of the patient assessor 
 
The role of the assessors is to be 
a critical friend , and requires 
people who are unbiased and 
objective in order that they can: 
 

 assess what matters to 

patients/the public; 

 report what matters to 

patients/the public; and 

 ensure the patient/public 

voice plays a significant 
role in determining the 
outcome. 

 
The assessment teams must 
always consist of at least 50% 
Patient assessors and at 
Colchester the teams are usually 
made up of two or three patients 
assessors, a member of the 
Facilities Team such as the 
Patient Environment manager, 
and a Matron or Infection Control 
nurse.  Teams are always 
accompanied by a ‘scribe’ who 
records observations and scores 
throughout the day.   
 
Anyone who takes part in the 
assessments is offered training on 
an annual basis. 
 
Scope of the assessment 
 
A minimum of 25% of wards (or 
ten, whichever is the greater) and 
a similar number of non-ward 
areas must be assessed. Each 
area assessed must be: 
sufficient to allow the PLACE 
team to make informed 
judgements about those parts 
of the hospital it does not visit; 
 

 where possible, focus on 

areas of the hospital not 
included in recent PLACE 
assessments so that over a 
period of time all areas will 
be assessed; 

 include all buildings of 

different ages and 
conditions; and 

 include departments/wards 

where a high proportion of 
patients have dementia or 
delirium. 

 
Each team makes the final 
decision on which patient areas 
they will inspect, but they must 
ensure that the wards and areas 
chosen are reflective of the range 
of services and buildings across 
the hospital. 
  
Scoring 
 
Scores are based on what is 
observed at the time of the 
assessment.  It is made clear to 
assessors that they must score 
the hospital on how it delivers 
against the defined criteria and 
guidance. 
  
To achieve a pass, all aspects of 
all items must meet the definition/ 
guidance as set out in the 
assessment criteria.  When the 
definition criteria are not met, the 
score will either be a fail or a 
qualified pass.   
 
A qualified pass is awarded when 
the criteria are generally met, but 
there may be a minor exception, 
i.e. the walls on a ward are mostly 
in a good  state of repair, but one 
wall may not be up to the required 
standard.  This is detailed and a 
qualified pass is awarded/scored. 
  
Assessment teams therefore need 
to be able to exercise judgement, 
and will discuss and agree which 
score to apply. 
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Patient experience 
Patient-Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE)  

 PLACE recognises that hospital 
buildings vary in age and design; 
which may impact  on their ability 
to meet the criteria. However, it is 
important that the assessment is 
based on standard criteria and no 
allowances are made for such 
factors.  
 
The scores awarded reflect what 
was seen on the day.   
 
The assessments take place 
annually, and results are reported 
publicly by the Health and Social 
Care Information Centre (HSCIC) 
to drive improvement. Due to 
changes in methodology, 
comparison between 2015, 2014 
and 2013 is difficult. 
 
The PLACE process requires 
organisations to respond formally 
to their assessments and develop 
plans for improvement. 
 
Areas assessed in 2016 
 
The following areas were 
assessed in 2016: 
 
Wards: 
 
Layer Marney            Birch 
Great Tey                  Lexden 
Peldon                      Copford 
Langham                   Wivenhoe 
Children’s                   Dedham 
Mersea                      Aldham 
 
Outpatient Clinics: 
 
Haematology            Ante-Natal 
X-Ray                       CDU 
Main Outpatients      SAU  
Hydrotherapy 
 
Food audits were conducted 
on: 
 

 Children’s Ward 

 Mersea Ward 

 Peldon Ward 

 Layer Marney Ward. 
 
 
 

General areas (these must be 
assessed every year): 
 

 Emergency Department 

 Communal areas inside the 

hospital building 

 External grounds 

 Main Reception. 

 
Next steps 
 
Trusts are required to formally 
respond to the findings of a 
PLACE assessment and develop 
an action plan for improvement. 
 
The action plan is monitored 
through the PLACE Steering 
Group.  This is a group which 
meets quarterly and which is 
attended by the Patient assessors 
who take part in the inspection 
process. 
 
The Director of Estates & Facilities 
reports to the Trust Board on the 
findings from the Place 
assessments.  The report also 
includes information relating to not 
only how well the Trust performed, 
but also considers the information 
against scores from previous 
years, the national average and 
performance against other local 
Trusts. 
 
What are we doing to make 
improvements? 
 

 Improving bathrooms on 

some wards 

 providing day rooms/social 

spaces on wards 

 improving how dementia 
friendly our wards are 

 improving the availability of 
finger foods for specific 
groups of patients 

 agreeing a standard 
specification for various 
items of furniture on wards 
and departments 

 improve signage and 
wayfinding around the site. 

Food audits 
 
Teams must base their scoring on 
what is observed and said rather 
than rely on assertions of what 
usually happens. Assessors must: 
 

 undertake the assessment 

on the ward, from the same 
food as provided to 
patients; 

 if possible, assess both the 

lunchtime and evening 
meal services to obtain a 
rounded view and to 
improve the accuracy of 
the assessment; 

 taste all food on offer to 

patients; 

 taste food at the end of 

patient meal service to 
ensure that temperatures 
have been maintained at 
an acceptable level for the 
last patient to be served; 

 watch how food is served 

to check for the care taken 
in presentation; and 

 observe how staff are 

involved in the meal 
service and how they 
provide help for those 
patients who require it. 

 
The assessments 
 
Trusts are given six weeks’ notice 
by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre (HSCIC) of the 
specified timeframe during which 
the PLACE assessment must 
occur. 
 
At Colchester, the assessments 
took place over a week and at 
different time of the day.  This was 
to ensure that as many assessors 
who were available had an 
opportunity to take part in the 
assessment process, that 
assessors were able to observe 
breakfast, lunch and supper 
service, and finally to ensure that 
assessors did not have to spend 
overly long days at the hospital. 
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Patient experience 
Patient-Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) 

Organisational Name 
Cleanli-

ness 

Food 

and Hy-

dration 

Privacy, 

Dignity 

and Well-

Condition, 

Appearance  

& Mainte-

Demen-

tia 

Disabil-

ity 

Colchester Hospital University  

NHS Foundation Trust 
99.43% 88.82% 89.16% 93.80% 68.53% 71.58% 

Southend University Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust 
95.60% 89.33% 87.60% 86.46% 72.60% 82.28% 

Mid Essex Hospital 99.48% 88.80% 88.80% 93.58% 69.33% 74.83% 

Basildon & Thurrock University 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
99.94% 92.57% 91.44% 99.59% 93.68% 94.35% 

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust 96.18% 79.39% 77.90% 85.27% 58.26% 59.61% 

Norfolk & Norwich University 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
99.39% 85.33% 90.23% 92.94% 82.55% 78.91% 

Cambridge University Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust 
98.33% 78.56% 87.11% 92.98% 81.25% 84.16% 

PLACE CRITERIA National Average 
Colchester General 

2016 

Colchester General 

2015 

Cleanliness 98.10% 99.43% 99.13% 

Food and Hydration 88.20% 88.82% 90.61% 

Privacy, Dignity and Wellbeing 84.20% 89.16% 89.33% 

Condition, Appearance  & Mainte-

nance 
93.40% 93.80% 93.00% 

Dementia 75.30% 68.53% 66.09% 

Disability 78.80% 71.58%   

Chart 14 – CHUFT Site PLACE scores, 2015/16 and comparators 
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Cancer Care Delivery 
Improving performance   
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Ensuring that patients with either a 

suspected cancer are diagnosed 

quickly and receive effective treat-

ment is a key priority for all staff at 

Colchester Hospital. 

 

Cancer performance is managed 

by a weekly cancer Red to Green 

meeting every Tuesday where 

Cancer management meet with all 

services to go through issues and 

blocks within their PTLs and     

discuss escalations, where re-

quired. 

  

This is followed later in the week 

by a Cancer PTL meeting every 

Thursday chaired by the Director 

of Operations, where  long wait-

ers, overall performance and   

cancer TSSG Remedial Action 

Plans (RAP) discussed.  Each 

RAP has been agreed and signed 

up to by the Service lead, the 

head of division and the clinical 

lead for that service is terms of 

trajectory and outcomes.  These 

RAPs have been shared directly 

with NHSI. 

 

 

In addition to this, the Root Cause 

Analysis process has been agreed 

for both 62 and 104 day delays. 

104 day waiting numbers are  

reducing significantly and the 

Trust has a Standard Operating 

Procedure (SOP) in place which 

each specialty is working to.  

Weekly 104 day breach panel 

meetings are in place (the full re-

port of which goes directly to NHS 

Improvement).  The panels also 

ascertain whether any clinical 

harm has come to the patient (if 

known) and whether the delay 

was   avoidable or non-avoidable.  

All patients that have breached 

104 days are presented to the 

panel regardless of whether they 

are a confirmed cancer or not. 

A 62 day breach panel is in place 

monthly.  These are for all       

patients with a confirmed cancer 

that have been treated within the 

previous month. Clinical harm is 

established and whether the 

breach was avoidable or non-

avoidable.  There is a separate 

SOP in place for these panels. 

There is also the cancer RAP and 

every specialty has signed up 

(lead clinician as well as service 

lead and divisional director) to 

deliver the 62 day standard. Some 

specialties are already achieving  

but work continues for a Trust-

wide consistent            improve-

ment.  Some specialties The 

RAPS contain actions and trajec-

tories for all specialties and each 

service presents its update at the 

weekly Cancer PTL meeting. 

In addition, there is also the week-

ly Cancer Red to Green meeting 

and the Every Patient Every Day 

cancer work stream. 

Chart 15—Cancer performance to date  
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Cancer Care Delivery 
Cancer Patient’s Experience  

The Healthwatch Essex (2014) 

document entitled ‘Cancer 

Services in Colchester: A 

Study of Patient and Carer 

Experience highlighted the 

importance of listening to pa-

tient stories and utilising them 

to identify areas in which may 

need changing or improving. 

The Trust was successful in be-

coming a pilot site to embed the 

MacMillan Values Based Stand-

ards (VBS) project. This is a pro-

ject where by clinical areas work 

together with their patients/carers 

to improve cancer patient experi-

ence. This is now underway on 

Tiptree and Layer Marney Wards. 

An observational study was un-

dertaken by a Macmillan Volun-

teer and has successfully fed 

back the findings to the ward 

teams including Heads of Nursing.  

As a result of this feedback the 

wards expressed a wish to have 

‘ward companions’ to be an inte-

gral part of the team whereby we 

have recruited 10 volunteers to 

undertake this role.  

The volunteers on Tiptree Ward 

are now in place with final prepa-

ration for the latter ward.  There is 

a meeting with Macmillan and our 

Director of Nursing in April to dis-

cuss the progress of this project 

and we are looking at another 2 

areas to roll out to for 2017 which 

will focus on our oncology areas. 

The Trust that we have been suc-

cessful in embarking on a Macmil-

lan electronic holistic needs as-

sessment  (eHNA) as a pilot site 

whereby we will be testing tablet 

devices for patients to undertake 

a concerns check list. This should 

assist in empowering patients to 

highlight their concerns prior to 

their consultant with a healthcare 

professional with a care plan gen-

erated dependent on their needs. 

The project has had some unex-

pected delays but we are now in a 

position to purchase the electronic 

equipment. Nationally we have 

contributed to some major design 

changes in the Somerset Cancer 

Register which will assist in Can-

cer and Palliative Care teams to 

undertake a robust HNA and rec-

ord where the patient is being 

tracked within the Trust. 

 

Macmillan Information Manager 

and Head of Cancer Nursing un-

dertook a post diagnosis pre-

treatment pilot session for new 

patients and carers last year and 

are pleased to report the first ses-

sion was held in January 2017. 

We are now looking to combine all 

tumour sites to avoid repetition 

and provide a place where people 

with similar experiences can net-

work which has been positively 

reported in the evaluations.  

The Trusts cancer user group 

underwent a recruitment drive and 

has welcomed new members they 

have received informative talks 

about cancer patient pathways 

and will be reviewing all patient 

information for cancer to provide 

recommendations to improve writ-

ten information of services to pa-

tients. 

We are awaiting the 2016 results 

of the National Cancer Patient 

survey due for release later this 

year and continue to monitor the 

progress on the actions from last 

year’s results these are namely 

access to a Holistic Needs As-

sessment which has been dis-

cussed earlier in the report and 

also access to Benefits. We are 

working with the local Macmillan 

benefits service to set up in reach 

support in the Trust from April 

2017 so that people affected by 

cancer can have direct access to 

specialist benefits support. 

The Trust under took an End of 

Life Care ‘In your shoes event’ in 

April 2016 where people were 

invited to attend if they have either 

complimented end of life care at 

the hospital or we have received a 

complaint. 
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CHUFT Performance National Average Target

  2015/16 2016/17 

% of patients 
currently waiting 
under 18 weeks 
on Incomplete  

Pathway 

Target 
CHUFT Perfor-

mance 
National Aver-

age 
CHUFT Perfor-

mance 
National Aver-

age 

April 92% * 93.09% 86.45% 91.34% 

May 92% 89.35% 93.26% 87.05% 91.56% 

June 92% 88.51% 92.98% 87.35% 91.27% 

July 92% 87.76% 92.62% 94.75% 97.75% 

August 92% 87.47% 92.33% 94.73% 97.47% 

September 92% 87.67% 92.24% 95.04% 97.05% 

October 92% 86.18% 92.06% 93.62% 98.34% 

November 92% 87.86% 92.14% 95.36% 96.62% 

December 92% 87.41% 91.59% 95.44% 95.96% 

January 92% 87.40% 91.75% 86.2% 89.7% 

February 92% 88.00% 91.88% 86.3% 89.7% 

March 92% 86.05% 91.22% Not available Not Available 

End of Year posi-
tion 

92% 87.75% 92.40% 86.59% 90.63% 

      

      
*CHUFT did not submit RTT data between December 2014 and April 
2015    

Referral to Treatment Times (RTT) 
Improving performance   

Chart 16—the percentage of patients waiting under 18 weeks on Incomplete Pathway 
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Referral to Treatment Times (RTT) 
Improving performance   

Colchester Hospital University 

NHS Foundation Trust is fo-

cussed on improving access 

and reducing waiting times for 

patients referred for elective 

treatment, reducing the amount 

of time patients are waiting to 

be seen – either for their outpa-

tient appointments or for their 

procedures.   

 

By targeting support to these areas 

during October 2016 the Trust 

started to see marked improve-

ments, most notably an improve-

ment in national referral to treat-

ment waiting times standard with 

an additional 700 patients seen 

within 18 weeks of referral.  Cru-

cially 10 more specialties met na-

tional waiting times standard in 

October compared with September 

2016. 

 

Similarly in November, the Trust 

reduced the number of unfilled ses-

sions in theatres thereby providing 

16 additional theatres session com-

pared with September, largely driv-

en by embedding a clear theatres 

management process working 

closely with selected specialities 

via theatre rota and referral to treat-

ment time (RTT) meetings to book 

to available capacity. 

 

A set of process observations were 

undertaken for inpatient and outpa-

tient CT scanner usage to identify 

process issues and key areas for 

improvement, which subsequently 

led to a plan for improved process 

management.  out RTT ‘deep 

dives’ were undertaken in four of 

the lowest performing RTT spe-

cialties and work continues with 

clinical and operational colleagues 

from these areas to agree and 

implement performance-improving 

actions.  

 

In addition, the Trust continues to 

train staff to ensure everyone un-

derstands the access policy, the 

national RTT rules and the imple-

mentation of both. To this end we 

created an internal ‘RTT validation 

assessment’ to provide a clear 

understanding of our strengths 

and to direct where our teams 

need more support. We have also 

put in an interim patient pathway 

validation support for key under-

performing specialties to cleanse 

booking lists and thereby maintain 

their accuracy going forward. 

 

We have refreshed the tools and 

processes we are using to man-

age our waiting lists to ensure we 

are booking in order and accord-

ing to clinical need.  We have our 

access policy training tools and 

have started a face to face training 

programme in outpatients; we 

have already delivered some pre-

liminary sessions to consultants. 

We continue to work with our ser-

vice management teams to ensure 

the data they have to book pa-

tients for appointments and opera-

tions is as up-to-date as possible 

enabling quicker booking and 

helping to reduce cancellations 

and DNAs. We expanded the role 

of the fitness for anaesthetic (FFA) 

pre-assessment clinics enabling 

patients to be pre-assessed on the 

day of their outpatient clinic or 

booked immediately into a con-

sultant clinic if required.   

We continue to tackle long waits in 

our some specialties by pulling 

forward appointments and proce-

dure dates, delivering additional 

sessions and using capacity at 

strategic partners to continue to 

work through our waiting lists in 

order. 

All activity is reported through the 

Planned Care work stream as part 

of the Every Patient Every Day 

programme. 

 

Further work is planned to contin-

ue to improve performance in the 

coming year, which includes: 

 

 Closing the leadership and 

management gap in some 

areas through targeted 

recruitment 

 Ensuring the effectiveness 

of the RTT training with key 

staff to improve              

performance 

 Short-term resources are 

to be embedded within 

existing job roles to ensure 

sustainability 

 Centralised/standardised 

pre assessment processes 

to be rolled out across   

specialties 

 Increased focus on known 

specialities that remain 

challenged to achieve tra-

jectory improvements and 

compliance. 
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Safeguarding  

Adult, Children, Maternity and Learning Disability Teams  

Colchester Hospital University 

NHS Foundation Trust (CHUFT) 

is committed to the protection of 

all children, young people and 

adults at risk from abuse and 

has signed up to the guidelines 

agreed between the Southend, 

Essex and Thurrock (SET) local 

authorities and their respective 

strategic partners.  

Safeguarding individuals is an 

integral part of patient care. Du-

ties to safeguard patients are 

required by professional regula-

tors, service regulators and sup-

ported by law.  It is imperative 

that all staff involved with the 

care and wellbeing of children, 

young people and adults at risk 

understand what is meant by 

abuse and what must happen 

when abuse is suspected or dis-

covered.  Abuse does not just 

happen outside the organisation, 

but potentially may occur within 

it.  All CHUFT staff have a duty 

of care towards patients. Omis-

sions in care may lead to signifi-

cant harm (e.g. the development 

or worsening of pressure ulcers 

or an increased incidence of 

falls). 

The Head of Safeguarding leads 

on the safeguarding of all chil-

dren, young people and adults at 

risk within the safeguarding team 

at CHUFT.   

Governance: Safeguarding 

families 

To continue to promote a 

“safeguarding families” approach 

to safeguarding within CHUFT 

supported by the Head of safe-

guarding, the safeguarding team 

include the dementia care nurse 

specialist and learning disabili-

ties hospital liaison nurse.  This is 

achieved by joint working, proce-

dure management, and attend-

ance at the safeguarding manage-

ment groups (SMG) and commit-

tee. 

Safeguarding Training 

Trajectories for each quarter are 

set to achieve the targets agreed 

in the 2016/17 contract standards 

and maintain PREVENT (counter 

terrorism) training trajectories to 

meet the target 80% set by the 

Home Office (which the Trust has 

successfully done throughout the 

year).  Currently Child Protection 

L3 and Looked After Children 

(LAC) training are below the 95% 

trajectory set in 2016/17 and this 

will be a priority in the next year. 

Actions to take will include a 

monthly review of staff training 

deficits carried out by the Head of 

Safeguarding and Named Nurse 

for Children’s Safeguarding at all 

levels and in response to the inter-

collegiate document requirements 

for children and the proposed in-

tercollegiate document  for adults. 

Any concerns will be escalated to 

the Safeguarding Committee and 

Quality and Patient Safety (QPS). 

Safeguarding Supervision 

Providing safeguarding supervi-

sion is an integral part of support-

ing staff who regularly work with 

children, young people and adults 

at risk. Safeguarding supervision 

is currently provided quarterly to 

staff who regularly work with chil-

dren and in midwifery services. 

However for staff groups working 

regularly with adults this is not so 

well established.  

The target moving forward next 

year will be to develop and facili-

tate safeguarding supervision to 

appropriate staff groups by identi-

fying the most effective way this 

can be achieved within CHUFT 

and undertaking regular supervi-

sion sessions for staff regularly 

working with adults at risk.  

Trajectories will be identified and 

the feedback from safeguarding 

supervision sessions will be pro-

vided to the SMG’s and committee 

through the governance reporting 

structure. 

Reporting 

Quarterly reports and updates are 

provided at the Safeguarding of 

Adults at Risk Management Group 

(SAMG) and Safeguarding Chil-

dren Management group (SCMG). 

Each management group is 

chaired by the named doctor and 

deputy chair is the Head of     

Safeguarding and Named Nurse 

Children Safeguarding.  

These groups have multi-

disciplinary and relevant divisional 

and safeguarding agency repre-

sentation.  The groups provide a 

forum for service leads to work 

together to address safeguarding 

issues within the acute setting and 

to lead the strategic direction of 

safeguarding within CHUFT.   

The SMGs provide a report to the 

quarterly Safeguarding Committee 

chaired by the Director of Nursing 

as Executive Lead and exception 

reports to the Quality and Patient 

Safety Committee and Trust 

Board. An annual safeguarding 

adult and children report is      

produced and shared with local 

safeguarding boards, stakeholders 

and the public.  
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Staff Survey 

Equality & Diversity 

  

The Trust continues to work towards the achievement of the NHS pledges as outlined in the NHS 
Constitution to ensure that all staff feel trusted, actively listened to, provided with meaningful feed-
back, treated with respect at work, have the tools, training and support to deliver compassionate 
care, and are provided with opportunities to develop and progress. 

National NHS Staff Survey 
 
The Trust aims to ensure that the 
highest quality of care is 
consistently delivered to our 
patients.  To enable that we strive 
to ensure that all our staff have the 
training and support to deliver 
exceptional care.  Our ambition is 
that our staff would recommend the 
Trust as a place to work and to be 
treated.    
 
The survey was undertaken using 
a questionnaire sent in September/
October 2016.  The Trust used a 
mixed mode approach (both paper 
and online). 
 
For 2016, NHS England guidance 
advised that an increased number 
of staff members could be included 
in the ‘basic sample’.   
 
1250 staff were included in the 
initial mailing. A total of 414 
responses were receiving giving a 
return rate of 33.9%.  this was an 
increase on the 30.7% who 

responded in 2015.  The average 
for Picker Trusts was 39.9%. 
 

Key Findings: 
 

 When looking at the 2016 

survey the Trust increased their 
scores in 2 of the 31 key finding 
indicators compared to 2015 
and did better than average in 
4; 

 There were no statistically 

significant changes to the key 
finding indicators since the 
2015 however it needs to be 
acknowledged that the trust 
scored in the worst 20% of 
acute Trusts for 15 of the 31 
key finding indicators; 

 

 The findings on two key metrics 

relating to bullying and 
harassment, and opportunities 
for career progression are 
provided at Chart xx . 

 
The trust's score of 3.70 was in the 
lowest (worst) 20% when 
compared with trusts of a similar 
type. 
 
The full and summary survey 
reports for Colchester Hospital is 
available at  
www.nhsstaffsurveys.com. 
 
Equality and Diversity  
 

There have been a number of 
developments regarding Equality 
and Diversity both for patients, 
service users and the workforce.  
The Equality and Diversity 
governance framework for NHS 
Trusts features the Equality 
Delivery System 2 (EDS2).  Within 
the EDS2, there are four goals, 
which the Trust has adopted as 
Equality Objectives: 

 Better Health Outcomes 

 Improved Patient Access 

and Experience. 

 A representative and 

supported workforce 

 Inclusive Leadership 

 
During 2015/16, the Trust reviewed 
the governance arrangements in 
place to embed the equality 
agenda, and introduced the role of 
Diversity Champions. 
 
Working with Stonewall 

 
Colchester Hospital also became 
one of Stonewall’s Diversity 
Champions, and has started 
working in partnership with 
Stonewall on Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual and Transgender 
developments and issues, which 
commenced with a training session 
provided by Stonewall. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Key Finding 

2016 Average 
(median) for 
acute Trusts 
2016 

2015 

KF26 % experiencing     
harassment,            
bullying or abuse 
from staff in the last 
12 months 

28% 25% 24% 

KF21 % believing that Trust 
provides equal       
opportunities for   
career progression or 
promotion 

78% 87% 79% 

Chart 17—2 Key Findings from NHS Staff Survey Results  

http://www.nhsstaffsurveys.com


Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust—Quality Report 2016/17 

78 

Equality & Diversity 
 

Workforce Race Equality 
Scheme 
 
2015/16 saw the second year of 
the National Workforce Race 
Equality Standard, with 
benchmarking analysis comparing 
Colchester Hospital favourably to 
many other Trusts.  The standard 
consists of nine metrics, three of 
which are workforce data and five 
related to the national staff survey 
indicators.  There is also an 
indicator which requires Boards to 
be representative of the 
communities they serve. 
 
Accessibility Information 
Standard 
 
The Accessible Information 
Standard directs and defines a 
specific, consistent approach to 
identifying, recording, flagging, 
sharing and meeting the 
information and communication 
support needs of patients, service 
users, carers and parents, where 
those needs relate to a disability, 
impairment or sensory loss. 
It is of particular relevance to 
individuals who are blind, d/Deaf, 
deafblind and / or who have a 
learning disability, although it will 
support anyone with information or 
communication needs relating to a 
disability, impairment or sensory 
loss, for example people who have 
aphasia or a mental health 
condition which affects their ability 
to communicate. 
 
The Standard specifically aims to 
improve the quality and safety of 
care received by individuals with 
information and communication 
needs, and their ability to be 
involved in autonomous decision-
making about their health, care and 
wellbeing. 
 

There are five basic steps which 
make up the Accessible 
Information Standard: 

1. Ask: identify / find out if an 

individual has any 

communication / 
information needs relating 
to a disability or sensory 
loss and if so what they are. 

2. Record: record those 

needs in a clear, 
unambiguous and 
standardised way in 
electronic and / or paper 
based record / 
administrative systems / 
documents. 

3. Alert / flag / highlight: 

ensure that recorded needs 
are ‘highly visible’ whenever 
the individuals’ record is 
accessed, and prompt for 
action. 

4. Share: include information 

about individuals’ 
information / 
communication needs as 
part of existing data sharing 
processes (and following 
existing information 
governance frameworks). 

5. Act: take steps to ensure 

that individuals receive 
information which they can 
access and understand, 
and receive communication 
support if they need it. 

Key actions we have taken: 

The Trust set up an Accessible 
Information Standard working 
group, chaired by the Deputy 
Director of Nursing with 
membership including individuals 
who are able to deliver on all key 
aspects of the standard 
requirements. 

The following actions have been 
taken to ensure we support our 
patients and meet the Standard: 

 Ask – the team have 

developed a strapline that 
will be included in all 
documentation sent from 
the Trust, as follows; 

Can we communicate with you 
more effectively? Please let us 
know how by telephoning PALS 
on 01206 742683 or email: 
PALS@colchesterhospital.nhs.u
k  

 Record – Portal Alert 

system updates the records 
electronically and a manual 
form is also completed that 
sits within the record until 
the Trust moves to digitised 
records management. 

 Alert/Flag/Highlight - the 

Portal Alert system has 
been updated to include all 
specific communication 
needs as outlined within the 
standard.  Staff will be 
alerted to this so that they 
are able to update 
information when they ask 
patients. 

 Share – we have liaised 

with our Learning Disability 
and Mental Health partners 
to provide us with 
information.  
Communication has been 
sent from the CCG to GP 
practices so that they can 
alert us when they identify 
patients with 
communication needs.  The 
Standards are shared on 
the Trust’s intranet and 
internet to ensure that 
patients, public and staff 
are aware of what can be 
expected. 

 Act – Trust policies and 

procedures are being 
updated with the Accessible 
Information Standard.  The 
Essential Standard relating 
to Privacy and Dignity 
includes specific instruction 
in ensuring that patients’ 
communication needs are 
identified, recognised and 
acted upon. 
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 Distribute monies received 
as a result of fines for safety 
breaches 

 Provide assurance on safe 
working and compliance   
with Terms and Condition. 

 
In addition to the above it is a 
requirement that The Board will 
receive a quarterly report from the 
guardian, which will include:  
 

 Aggregated data on 

exception reports (including 
outcomes), broken down by 
categories such as specialty, 
department and grade  

 Details of fines levied 

 Data on rota gaps 

 Data on locum usage 

 Other data deemed to be 

relevant by the guardian 

 A qualitative narrative 

highlighting areas of good 
practice and / or persistent 
concern. 

 
The first report was presented to 
the board sub-committee People 
and Organisational Development on 
25 January 2017. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Guardian of Safe Working 
Hours (GSWH) 
 
In 2016 the Trust implemented the 
new junior Doctors Contract.  As 
part of the implementation process 
it was agreed that there should be 
an independent person 
responsible for championing safe 
working hours and as such the 
Trust appointed a Guardian of 
Safe working.  The main duties 
and responsibilities include:- 
 

 Champion safe working 
hours 

 Oversee safety related 

exception reports and 
monitor compliance 

 Escalate issues for action 

where not addressed 
locally 

 Require work schedule 

reviews to be undertaken 
where necessary 

 Intervene to mitigate safety 

risks 

 Intervene where issues are 

not being resolved 
satisfactorily 

Freedom to Speak Up Guardian 
Our new Freedom to Speak Up 
Guardian, Tom Fleetwood, took 
up his post on 1 December 2016.  
Tom is working across both 
Colchester and Ipswich Hospitals 
for three days each week. 
 
Guardians have a key role in 
helping to raise the profile of 
raising concerns in their 
organisation and provide 
confidential advice and support to 
staff in relation to concerns they 
have about patient safety and/or 
the way their concern has been 
handled.   
 
Tom grew up around the 
Colchester area and was a non-
executive director of Colchester 
Hospitals University NHS 
Foundation Trust until taking up 
the Guardian role.  He had a long 
career in the Army, the last three 
years of which were spent as the 
Commander of Colchester 
Garrison.  
 
Tom said: “I am very honoured to 
be appointed to this role and to be 
given the opportunity to support all 
staff, at every level.  This will be a 
challenging job, but with 
considerable opportunity and I am 
looking forward to it." 

 
The Freedom to Speak Up 
Guardian role was developed as a 
recommendation of the Francis 
Review, looking at failings in care 
at Mid-Staffordshire Trust to make 
sure that hospitals have a 
dedicated ‘go to’ person for when 
staff need to speak up and other 
avenues are not suitable.  
 
Acting in a genuinely independent 
capacity, Tom will work alongside 
both boards of directors and 
executive teams  to continue 
developing both organisations as 
open and transparent places to 
work. 

 

 

. 

Tom Fleetwood 

Freedom to Speak Up  

Guardian 
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Workforce 

Health & Wellbeing 
 

The patient is at the centre of 
all we do.  In supporting our 

workforce to uphold this principle, 
the Trust continues to embed the 
pledges to our staff within the NHS 
Constitution, providing a positive 
working environment, promoting 
an open culture, engaging staff in 
decisions, providing staff develop-
ment and encouraging and sup-
porting staff in raising concerns as 
soon as possible. 
 
To enable staff to be more closely 
involved in decisions, a new or-
ganisational structure has been 
introduced, with senior clinicians 
forming part of the decision mak-
ing Boards and Committees.  
 
There has been close working with 
our partner Trust, the Ipswich Hos-
pital NHS Trust, sharing good 
practice for both, and improving 
together.   
 
All wards have an Executive Direc-
tor as a senior “Buddy”, and our 
Directors are often out in the clini-
cal areas, being accessible to staff 
and patients. 
 
We work in partnership with a 
number of Trade Unions, develop-
ing policies and procedures to 
provide a framework for supporting 
and developing our workforce. 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
The Trust provides a Health and 

Wellbeing (H&W) service which all 

staff have access to.  The H&W is 

staffed by a multidisciplinary team 

to include specialist practitioners in 

occupational health, a registered 

mental health nurse, and occupa-

tional therapist, clinical nurses, 

technicians and a part time con-

sultant.   

All Staff have direct rapid access 
to physiotherapy to enable them to 
receive treatment and advice 
speedily.  In addition the Occupa-

tional therapist undertakes home 
and work assessments  providing 
aids to staff to enable them to 
manage their chronic health condi-
tions more effectively and reduc-
ing sickness. 
 
 Staff also have access to an Em-

ployee Assistance Programme 

(EAP) for psychological support, 

The EAP and also access to citi-

zen’s advice database for non-

psychological problems, and a 

managers helpline to support 

mangers with work issues. 

The Trust has signed up/ achieved 

the Staying Healthy at work 

award.  This has a focus on sup-

porting staff with mental health 

issues and to this end the Trust 

has also signed up to being a 

“mindful employer”.  

The H&W service facilitates men-

tal health first aid providing man-

gers with the skills to recognise 

and support staff with mental 

health issues.  In addition emo-

tional resilience sessions are pro-

vided for all staff, enabling them to 

identify their stressors and how 

they re-act to stress  and by em-

ploying cognitive behavioural tech-

niques to manage their stress. 

External trainers attend to provide 

yoga, mindfulness and relaxation 

sessions for staff. 

During the year the a number of 

wellbeing events are arranged and 

articles published on wellbeing 

that follows the national wellbeing 

agenda see calendar of activities  

below.    

 

 

Schwartz rounds  

The Trust introduced Schwartz 

Rounds in September 2015, 558 

staff have attended.  Schwartz 

Rounds provide a confidential 

environment and an opportunity 

for staff to talk about the emotional 

and challenges that they experi-

ence when caring for patients.  

The Rounds are held monthly with 

a panel of three or four who pro-

vide a synopsis of an event in how 

they felt about that event. Once all 

panellists have told their story the 

facilitators open the discussion to 

the floor enabling others to reso-

nate with what they have heard 

and how they have felt in similar 

situations.  Studies have shown 

that Schwartz rounds leads to an 

increase in confidence in dealing 

with difficult and sensitive issues 

both clinical and non-clinical.    

Schwarts Rounds in  2016/17 

have included the following topics: 

 Mental capacity  where a 

patient chooses not to be 

treated and is supported in 

their final weeks 

 Resuscitation 

 On the other side- staff 

being a patient  

 End of life dilemmas  

 a patient says thankyou  

 “working without cure”  the 

chronic pain patient. 

Pop up Schwartz Rounds have 

also been facilitated in areas 

where staff have found it hard to 

leave their clinical areas. 
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Professional Practice & Volunteering 

Increased absence monitoring 
aims to reduce absence levels to 
an acceptable minimum consistent 
with genuine illness. The Trust has 
successfully implemented robust 
systems and processes to manage 
sickness absence at divisional and 
manager level with support from 
the HR and Health and Wellbeing 
teams. 

 
Volunteers 
 
More than 200 active volunteers 
work throughout the hospital, who 
provide their time and commitment 
to improve patients’ experience of 
their time in hospital.  Every one 
of our volunteers makes a real 
difference to people in hospital.    
 
The CCVS Voluntary service co-
ordinator, was appointed to work 
with the Trust in February 2016 
with a site presence of 3 days per 
week  
 
In the first 12 months of introducing 
the voluntary services co-ordinator 
role, significant progress has been 
made in the developing the 
service, including:- 
 

 A refreshed volunteers 
database with all previously 
recorded volunteers 
contacted and where still 
interested in supporting the 
Trust subject to a robust 
vetting and induction 
process; 

 We currently have 215  
active volunteers in the 
hospital, each doing a 
minimum of two hours a 
week.; 

 A monthly induction 

programme is now 
established which delivers 
an average of 15 new 
volunteers with each 
session; all of whom are 
screened, trained and 
supported in accordance 
with NHS Governance & 
Best Practice.  

Appraisal & Revalidation  
(medical and nursing staff) 
 
Nursing & Midwifery 
Revalidation 
 
NMC Nurse Revalidation went live 
in April 2016, so far 407 Trust staff 
have successfully been through 
the process.  Revalidation 
Workshops are run on a monthly 
basis, as well as regular one to 
one meetings with the 
Revalidation Officer.  
 
To ensure that we are aware that 
people are on track with 
revalidating the Nursing & 
Midiwfery Revalidation Officer has 
requested to be sent copies of the 
confirmation forms.  Ward Sisters, 
Matrons and Heads of Nursing are 
advised of staff who are due to 
revalidate and when, and staff are 
advised of the process via letter to 
home address in the first instance 
at least six months prior to 
revalidation date (ensuring we 
capture those on maternity 
leave).  Staff are then advised via 
trust email address; when the 
application is open, when they 
have a month to submit and when 
they only have one week 
remaining. Also as the NMC do 
not advise us we are also asking 
staff to let us know if they are 
asked to provide further 
information for auditing purposes.   
 
Medical Revalidation 
 
Revalidation is the process by 
which a doctor’s license to 
practice is renewed and is based 
on local organisational systems of 
annual medical appraisal and 
clinical governance.  Licenced 
doctors are required to have a 
formal link known as a prescribed 
connection with a single 
organisation, identified as their 
Designated Body and headed up 
by a Responsible Officer, which 
will provide support with their 
appraisal and ultimately their 
revalidation.  Following the launch 

of Medical Revalidation in 2012, 
the Trust has been committed to 
strengthening processes to 
ensure that all doctors with a 
prescribed connection are in the 
system to undertake annual 
appraisal and revalidation.   
 
The Trust is required to provide 
assurance to the Board, our 
regulators and commissioners 
that we have effective systems in 
place to ensure we meet with 
nationally agreed standards for 
medical appraisal and 
revalidation.   
 
The Annual Organisational Audit 
(AOA) is a tool used to achieve a 
robust, consistent system of 
revalidation compliant with the 
Responsible Officer 
Regulations.  The mandatory 
audit contained within the AOA 
report provides a process by 
which every Responsible Officer, 
on behalf of their designated 
body, provides a standardised 
return to the higher level 
Responsible Officer.  The collated 
audit then forms the basis of a 
report to Ministers and ultimately 
the public on the overall 
performance of revalidation 
across England. 
 
The Trust currently has 315 
doctors with a recognised 
prescribed connection and in the 
last three years has successfully 
revalidated 209 doctors. 
 
Staff sickness 
 
The health of our staff is 

important, and providing support 

through what may be difficult 

times due to ill health is another 

way in which we demonstrate the 

At Our Best Values to our staff.   

The Trust’s rolling 12 month 
sickness rate is at 3.77% (12 
months to 31 March 2016).  This 
compares to 3.82% in March 
2016. 
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Education and training of staff 

aims to strengthen Preceptorship 
for all newly registered 
professionals (non-medical) in the 
trust to enhance learning and 
support in the first 12 months post 
registration. As part of this the trust 
has committed to protected 
“Preceptorship “time for all newly 
qualified registered professionals. 
Our successful nursing 12 month 
Preceptorship programme is now 
available for all non-medical newly 
registered professionals.  
 
Allied Health Professionals 
(AHPs) 
 
Our AHPs have been busy this 
year undertaking a variety of 
courses to enhance their skills:  
This year the Trust has funded the 
following: 
 

 A Physiotherapist is 
undertaking a course in 
cancer care, in order to 
develop the essential 
knowledge and skills 
required to support and 
care for people with cancer 
and their family; 

 

  A Physiotherapist is 
undertaking a course in 
contemporary issues in limb 
loss, this is part of our 
succession planning within 
the department but also 
offers the staff member the 
opportunity to develop skills 
and knowledge in the key 
issues that impact on the 
delivery of amputation and 
prosthetic rehabilitation in a 
range of settings to 
continue to develop the 
service provided to 
patients; 

 

 A Physiotherapist is 

completing a course in 
Respiratory care, this is 
enabling the practitioner to 
up-skill in the recognition 
and assessment of complex 
patients with respiratory 
disease as well as 

The Trust is committed to 
providing a multifaceted learning 
environment for all staff and 
trainees to ensure it has a high 
quality workforce which is 
committed, engaged, trained and 
supported to deliver safe, 
effective, dignified and 
respectful care. 
 
One of the Trust’s key aims is for 
people in training to recommend us 
as a place to train. 
 
Medical Education 
 
Undergraduate Education 
 
Currently the Trust hosts circa 250 
students from Barts and the 
London.  In 2016 following 
discussion with the University of 
East Anglia the Trust agreed to 
host 24 medical students.    
The Trust received a site visit 
relating to undergraduate education 
on 29.9.16.  Highlights from the 
verbal feedback have shown: 
 

 Good high standard of 

training 

 Students made to feel very 

welcome 

 Educators were very 

engaging  

 Students value the teaching 

experience 

 Wi-Fi has improved 

 Positive about 

accommodation. 
 
Nurse & Midwifery Education 
  
Chart 18: Pre-registration 
nursing—number of students, 
2016/17: 

 

 
Work based learning 
 
This year saw our first group of 12 
staff complete their registered 
nurse training through the new 
work-based learning programme, 
where they worked part time as 
either a healthcare assistant or 
associate practitioner whilst they 
studied for the BSc (Hons) Adult 
nursing. There are another 15 of 
our staff currently studying 
towards this.  
 
Preceptorship 
 
Preceptorship is a  “a period of 
structured transition for the Newly 
Qualified Practitioner (NQP) 
during which he or she will be 
supported by a Preceptor, to 
develop their confidence as an 
autonomous professional, refine 
skills, values and behaviours and 
to continue on their journey of life-
long learning” (DOH 2010). 
 
The benefits of undertaking a 
period of Preceptorship include 
enhancement of quality care, 
improved recruitment and 
retention, developing an 
understanding of the 
organisational objectives, 
supporting lifelong learning, 
making care the priority and 
enhancing the image of health 
care professionals (DoH 2009).  
 
The process supports the newly 
qualified practitioner (Preceptee) 
to develop and apply the key skills 
necessary at foundation level of 
the knowledge and skills 
framework under the guidance 
and supervision of an experienced 
practitioner (Preceptor).  
 
The trust has recently launched its 
new Multidisciplinary 
Preceptorship policy in line with 
Health Education England 
Standards that makes 
Preceptorship a mandatory 
requirement for all new non-
medical registrants. The policy 

Return to Practice 4 

Child 29 

General Nursing 112 

Midwifery 52 
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developing awareness of 
the impact of long-term 
conditions on a patient’s 
self-management; 

 

 An Orthoptist is completing 

a course in in neuro-
opthalmology. As well as 
developing the 
practitioners skills in 
diagnosing and managing 
neuro-ophthalmological 
conditions to improve 
patient care; the Trust is 
beginning to provide 
placements for Orthoptic 
students and is ensuring 
the educators have the 
relevant knowledge to 
provide the support 
needed; 

 

  An Occupational Therapist 
is undertaking a 5 day key 
trainer course in manual 
handling. This course not 
only provides up to date 
training in complex manual 
handling use of equipment 
and risk assessments etc. 
but also how to train 
others. This enables  
specialist in-house training 
courses to be developed 
as well as “on the job 
training”. This improves 
safety and competence of 
staff as well as the safety 
of patients. 

 
Healthcare Assistant training 
 
It is a requirement for all 
Healthcare Assistants and 
Maternity Support workers to 
undertake the care certificate.  
During 2016, 179 support workers 
started on the care certificate with 
65 successfully completing the 
qualification to date.  A celebration 
event was held on 10th October 
2016 where attendees were 
presented with a certificate and a 
care certificate badge by the 
Deputy Director of Nursing.   
 

To provide on-going assistance 
with the qualification the trust has 
also trained 16 “buddies” who 
provide workplace support and 
assessment.  
 
The care certificate equips our 
support workers with the skills and 
training they need to ensure they 
consistently provide high quality 
care.  As the care certificate is 
linked to national occupational 
standards it provides our support 
workers with platform to continue 
with a further qualification such as 
an apprenticeship.  All practical 
teaching and theory related to the 
15 domains of Care are provided 
Certificate during Healthcare 
Assistant induction and aims to 
equip new starters with the 
fundamental skills to provide 
quality care for our patients.    
 
A gradual roll out to offer this to 
existing clinical support workers in 
the trust has commenced.   
 
Support Staff 
 
The Trust is committed to 
developing its support workforce.  
It is known that this group of staff 
make up 40% of the workforce but 
generally only receive an 
investment of 5% of the training 
budget.  As well as the 
aforementioned care Certificate 
the Trust has continues to support 
existing staff progress in their 
work based learning by offering 
level 2 and level 3 apprenticeship 
opportunities.  In 2016 37 existing 
staff signed up to undertake 
apprenticeships. 
 
Non-registered nursing career 
pathway 
 
As part of the trust’s commitment 
to “growing our own” staff a non-
registered nurse career pathway 
has been developed that provides 
the structure through which non-
registered nursing staff can 
progress and develop a career. 
Commencing with the Trainee 

Healthcare Assistant programme 
staff have the potential for career 
progression, gain qualifications 
and potentially obtain nursing 
registration through our BSc Work 
based learning (WBL). 
 
Trainee Healthcare Assistant 
programme  
 
In collaboration with Colchester 
Institute this 18 month 
apprenticeship aims to provide 
Health and Social care college 
leavers their first career step, 
providing them with paid clinical 
employment whilst completing a 
clinical qualification. On 
successful completion trainees will 
be offered a permanent Band 2 
HCA post and have the necessary 
qualifications to move upwards 
onto the next stage of the Non-
registered nursing career ladder 
(Foundation degree (FdSc) in 
Health and Social Care). The first 
cohort commenced in January 
2017 with plans to commence a 
second cohort in July 2017. 
 
New role to assist doctors’ 
workload 
 
The trust has hosted 4 Physicians 
educational placements that form 
the second year of their 
qualification.  Physicians 
Associates are healthcare   
professionals who are trained in a 
medical model and when qualified 
will work as part of the medical 
team with doctors providing 
medical care.   Currently there are 
circa 320 physician’s associates 
working across the country in over 
20 specialities and demand is 
outstripping supply.   
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Quality Improvement 
Performance Framework (QIPF) 
 
The QIPF is a process to quality 
assure the education 
commissioned by Health 
Education England (HEE) 
delivered on behalf of employers 
providing NHS commissioned care 
in the East of England. Non-
medical education is reviewed 
annually using this process.  
 
The Trust underwent its annual 
review in June 2016 and was 
visited by HEE. Following this 8 
out of 8 Key Performance 
Indicators were scored as green. 
We are continuing to improve the 
education environment for all 
learners as well as improving our 
Workforce strategy. 
  
Apprenticeships 

 
2016/17 has seen us further 
develop the opportunities for 
integrating apprenticeships across 
the health and social care sector 
and enabling all departments 
within the hospital to welcome 
apprentices to their teams. 
 
Health Ambassadors 
 
The Talent for Care ‘Get in’ 
Agenda is about ensuring NHS 
staff are actively involved in 
getting more young people 
interested in careers within the 
NHS. Back in February 2016 a 
selection of Health Ambassador 
sign up events were launched to 
form a network of staff who would 
be happy to promote their careers 
to the younger generation. The 
only requirement in becoming a 
Health Ambassador is that you are 
passionate about what you do and 
if possible to try and give time to 
attend 2 events per year. The 
array of staff signed up range from 
Doctors and Nurses to non-clinical 

roles within HR, Education and 
Estates management staff.  So far 
we have 49 Health Ambassadors 
signed up across the organisation. 
 
Enhanced Practice Support 
Framework (EPSF)  
 
This year in collaboration with our 
local Higher Education Institutes 
we launched EPSF which is a 
coaching method for educating 
student nurses in practice. This 
approach to practice learning is 
based on a framework which is 
composed of three key roles 
within each clinical placement: A 
lead mentor, mentors and 
coaches. This has created an 
environment in which practice 
learning became the responsibility 
of all registered nurses with 
involvement from other registered 
members of the multidisciplinary 
team. This has provided a more 
focused learning experience and 
the opportunity to work with and 
learn from a wide range of 
registered practitioners. 
 
Medical Training  
 
There were a number of quality 
visits to the hospital in 2016 
including the site visit (referred to 
above), a desktop review of 
education by Health Education 
England and a visit from the 
School of Anaesthetics.   
 
For Anaesthetics areas of good 
practice included: 
 

 Strong commitment 

towards training by the 
senior management team 
and the core group of 
anaesthetic trainers; 

 In Anaesthetics all would 
recommend their current 
post with all describing the 
department as an 
extremely friendly place to 
work, knew how to 
escalate concerns, met 
regularly with their 
education supervisors, and 

had receipt of the relevant 
training workbook.  
Trainees described good 
levels of Consultant 
support. No trainee had 
been asked to work 
beyond their level of 
competency. 

  
Areas where improvement is 
required include: 
 

 There is a need to develop 

a specific in-house novice 
teaching/tutorial 
programme - 2 novices 
started in the department in 
February 2017 and in 
addition to the existing 
novice programme specific 
simulation sessions will be 
run in the local teaching 
schedule; 

 There is a need to 

incorporate lessons 
learned from the Mortality 
and Morbidity sessions into 
the monthly audit 
meetings. In addition, 
Trainees should be 
encouraged to present 
interesting cases at the 
audit meeting to share 
learning - In December 
2016 there were three 
specific trainee delivered 
audit and governance 
projects including case 
presentations and lessons 
learned from critical 
incidents in the labour 
suite. 

  
In the feedback report from the 
Desktop Review the visiting team 
commented that they were 
encouraged and reassured by the 
discussions and wished to 
congratulate the Trust on the 
areas of notable achievement 
highlighted in the report.  These 
areas included: 
  
 
 
 

Number of 
apprentices 

37  
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 General positive feeling 
with constructive input from 
the Trust team in particular 
from Deputy Director of 
Nursing and Professional 
Practice Lead – Education, 
DME, MD, Education and 
Development Manager 
who provided reassurance 
that actions are being 
implemented; 

 Medical Governance 
arrangements are robust 
with clear lines of 
accountability and reports 
to the Board; 

 Hospital at Night is to be 

commended as one of the 
most effective in the 
region; 

 There is a strong trainee/
student voice with active 
engagement in the Trust’s 
trainee and student for a; 

 
 

Workforce 

Education and training of staff 

 There is an effective 
electronic patient tracking 
and task management 
system; 

 There is improved 

consultant presence in the 
twilight period and positive 
support from the night 
matron. 

  
There are areas where 
improvement is required and 
these include : 
 

 The need for improved 

feedback in Care of the 
Elderly – since the visit the 
College tutor has 
appointed 3 associate 
tutors (trainees) who will be 
tasked with taking on 
focused feedback and 
undertaking a programme 
to improve the overall 

trainee experience; 

 Improvement in out of 

hours supervision – this is 
being monitored via the 
Medical Education 
committee; 

 Improvement in the training 

infrastructure to allow the 
delivery of mandatory 
Quality improvement 
projects for core medicine, 
other medical trainees and 
learners, as part of their 
curriculum requirements – 
a number of Chief 
residents presented QI 
projects in February 2017 
to the regional group. 

  
Areas for improvement are 
monitored through the Medical 
and Non-Medical Education 
Committees, with key senior 
individuals identified as 
responsible for delivery.  

Healthcare assistants receiving their Care Certificate qualification from the                

Deputy Director of Nursing at a celebration in 2016. 
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Workforce 

Corporate Learning and Organisational Development 

Corporate Learning and  

On-going Development  

The Trust has continued to 

improve its compliance with 

mandatory training.  In April 2016 

compliance stood at 85.13% and 

this has increased to 91.34% as at 

the end of February 2017.  

Measures to help staff increase 

their compliance in include weekly 

e-mails to remind staff if they have 

a renewal due or if they have 

expired on any aspect.  There has 

also been the development of a 

training portal on the Trusts 

intranet.  Well received by staff 

this allows individuals to view their 

own compliance records and also 

assists managed when planning 

for the release of staff to attend 

taught training session.   

In 2015 the board agreed 

significant investment for the 

following financial year in 

Leadership and Organisational 

Development for the Trust.   

Working with divisional leads and 

other stakeholders such as the 

staff involvement group a suite of 

development opportunities are 

being launched across the Trust.  

The CHUFT Leadership 

Programme—License to Lead 

Licence to Lead is the Trust’s new 

Leadership Development 

programme. It contains a number 

of management practice modules 

to equip Supervisors and 

Managers with the knowledge, 

skills and practical application 

required to be an effective and 

well-rounded leader. Delivery 

commenced in December 2016 

and to date feedback has been 

extremely positive.   

 

The programme is delivered at 

different levels.  These are not 

aimed at certain bandings; the 

structure is very much based on 

any manager working at any level 

can attend any level of training, as 

long as it relates directly to their 

current job role, or any personal 

development plans that are in 

place to assist with progression 

opportunities and personal growth. 

 

As a part of the Leadership 

development Steering Group, it 

was discussed and agreed that to 

begin the programme the focus 

would be on the trust’s top training 

needs and topics included difficult 

conversation, customer service 

and team development.   

 

Mary Seacole Local 

Developed by the leadership 

Academy, The Mary Seacole 

programme is aimed towards 

clinical and non-clinical colleagues 

who are moving towards their first 

recognised leadership or team 

management role and want to do 

more to champion compassionate 

patient care. It’s delivered through 

a combination of face to face and 

online learning. 

 

Building on the success of the 

national programme the Essex 

Workforce Partnership has worked 

with the Leadership Academy to 

become an early adopter of “Mary 

Seacole Local”.  NHS 

organisations across Essex have 

joined forces to deliver the 

programme in venues across the 

county which started January 

2017.  Working collaboratively 

across organisations, the 

programme supports leaders to 

create a shared understanding of 

the leadership challenges and 

opportunities we all face by 

sharing and learning together.  

Staff Development Programme 

– Licence to Learn 

Sitting along the Licence to Lead 

programme, Licence to learn is a 

series of development 

opportunities for all staff who are 

not in leadership positions. 

 

Licence to Learn contains a 

number of useful modules to 

enable staff to increase their 

knowledge, skills and practical 

application in a number of areas. 

Taking feedback from the Staff 

Involvement Group and also via 

survey monkey a number of 

sessions have been developed 

that will address immediate needs. 

 

Courses commenced in February 

2017 include: 

 Bitesize WORD 

 Bitesize EXCEL 

 Bitesize OUTLOOK 

 Bitesize ONENOTE 

 Minutes and Notetaking 

 Customer Service Skills.  

Library development 

During 2016 the Trust has been 

working in partnership with the 

library knowledge and skills 

partnership at Basildon and 
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Harlow with the aim of improving 

access to clinical librarians and 

the facilities at Colchester. We 

have agreed and are 

implementing a 24/7 access to the 

library to meet the challenges of 

improving access to educational 

resource that is highlighted in the 

2016 GMC Trainee survey. 

A major overhaul and 

improvement of the library facility’s 

opening hours is almost 

completed and a review of its 

stock and use of electronic books 

and journals is improving access 

for all staff to gain the information 

they need whether on-site or 

through remote access. 

 

Valuing our staff  

The Trust launched its At Our Best 

Awards in October 2011 to 

recognise staff and volunteers' 

achievements and thank them for 

what they do with awards being 

presented to an individual, a 

volunteer and a team.  This is a 

chance for colleagues, patients 

and the public to nominate the 

people they feel have made 

outstanding contributions at our 

Trust and to write 50 or so words 

about why they deserve to win - 

known as the citation. 

Entries judged on the 50 or so 

words written where a person or 

team demonstrates the At Our 

Best behaviours standards and 

values. 

 

 

 

 

Workforce 

Organisational Development—Valuing our staff 

The Spring 2016 the short listing 

panel of clinical, non-clinical staff, 

Board members and governors 

got the entries down to: 

 11 individuals 

 13 teams. 

 

Every nominated person gets a 

letter from the chief executive with 

the citation included. If the entry is 

for a team then the chief executive 

sends a letter with the citation to 

the team manager. 

 

On 27 July 2016 we held an At 

Our Best Awards event for 

everyone shortlisted between May 

2015 and May 2016. As usual, 

anyone - colleagues, patients and 

the public - could nominate an 

individual or a team they felt had 

made an outstanding contribution 

at our Trust. Public support has 

been steady with 8 out of 10 

entries by the public or from 

patients. 

'This individual took the time and trouble to go through my husband's 

notes in detail for the whole of last year, as he'd been in and out of 

hospital. Nothing was too much trouble, he spent time talking to my-

self and family about the care for my husband and what he needed. 

The patient and family were always at the forefront of his mind. We 

were able to ask any questions, no matter how small and he would 

answer in his caring manner - which made things easier to absorb. He 

went above the call of duty and wasn't afraid to help. He ensured the 

care was second-to-none; this is one of the best wards my husband 

was in, especially in his last few days; even when my husband passed 

away this member of staff supported us by making tea and ensuring if 

we needed anything, we only had to ask.' 
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Statements from key stakeholders 

 

 

 

 North Essex Clinical Commissioning Group response to Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust 

Quality Account report for 2016- 2017  

North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) welcomes this Quality Account as a commitment to an 

open and honest dialogue with patients and the public regarding the quality of care provided by Colchester Hos-

pital University NHS Foundation Trust. The CCG is commenting on this provider’s Quality Account for 2016-17.  

Though the CCG are commenting on a final draft version of the Quality Account, we are pleased to be able to 

assure the accuracy of the content in general. We have fed back our comments on the draft report and can con-

firm that the majority of the proposed changes and recommendations have been made to the final published 

version.  

This has been another challenging year for the Trust, with changes in several executive, senior management and 

leadership posts whilst under the constant observation of the Care Quality Commission (CQC), National Health 

Services Improvement (NHSI), CCG and other stakeholders. Added to this has been the requirement to partici-

pate in the national Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) whilst delivering day to day high quality ser-

vices for patients.  

The priorities for improvement during this year centred on 3 main areas; patient safety, patient experience and 

clinical effectiveness. Of the 12 priorities the Trust set itself, 5 were delivered and 7 were partially delivered. The 

Trust demonstrated marked improvement in the management and response to complaints; reductions in missed 

dose medications; compliance with surgical site safety checklist; improved performance in Friends and Families 

Test; and reported compliance with venous thromboembolism (VTE) testing. However, the considerable delay in 

investigating post admission deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism events continues to be challenging 

for the Trust. The Trust demonstrated good compliance in the management of Clostridium difficile (C.diff) com-

ing in under the anticipated trajectory, however there were 2 Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus 

(MRSA) cases reported. The Trust reported improvements in the application of ‘My Care Choices’ and providing 

patients with information regarding their condition. The CCG feel that the level of electronic discharge letters is a 

limited measure in improving patient information and the actions and measures could have been broader.  

The CCG supports the identified priorities for 2017/18; reduction in falls, application of NatSSIPs, improved per-

formance in Friends and Family Test performance.  

The Trust participated in 81% of the national clinical audits; 100% of national confidential enquiries; and com-

pleted an extensive programme of local audits. Through participating in research studies, the Trust continues to 

demonstrate its commitment to improving the quality of care and treatments, not only to its own client group 

but to the wider population.  

In 2016/17, the Trust signed up to three national and three local Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

schemes (CQUINs). These schemes covered a variety of areas including;  
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improving staff health and wellbeing; antimicrobial stewardship; timely treatment of sepsis; identification of 

patients with a palliative diagnosis; perinatal mental health services; and consultant/urgent connect. These 

schemes were largely successful and nearly all of the milestones were achieved. It would have been helpful to 

have some commentary or analysis to describe the improvements implemented. The CQUIN schemes for 

2017/18 have not been identified within the document.  

The CCG recognises the information pertaining to the long-term partnership agreement between Colchester and 

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trusts. This partnership was recommended jointly by the CQC Chief Inspector of Hospitals, 

Professor Sir Mike Richards, and the Chief Executive of NHS Improvement, Jim Mackey as the only way of secur-

ing quality services for patients longer term. The CCG welcomes and supports the implementation of the plan for 

improvement, Every Patient Every Day, which supersedes the previous Quality Improvement Programme.  

The CCG notes the Trust’s performance against the core quality indicator standards required by the regulatory 

framework. Of particular concern are; SHMI above the national indicator; insufficient sample size to review 

PROMS; the percentage of high harm and death incidents being above the national average; and the staff re-

sponse to Friends and Family Test. We note that each standard has clear and measurable actions to improve 

performance over the next 12 months.  

The Staff Survey was disappointing with little improvement on the previous year. We hope that the ‘Every pa-

tient every day’ work-stream on Workforce Development will help improve staff morale in the coming year.  

The conclusion of the NHS North East Essex CCG is that Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust’s 

Quality Account 2016-17 provides a clear picture of the Trust’s performance, improvements and future ambi-

tions for improving quality and safety in your services. The CCG are in agreement with the broad areas of priority 

you have identified for 2016-17.  

The CCG looks forward to continue working with the Trust in 2017/18, to implement and sustain the multiple 

and wide-ranging improvements and initiatives to improve the quality of its services for our patients and local 

population  

 

 

 

 

Lisa Llewelyn  

Director of Nursing and Clinical Quality  

NHS North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group  
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Response to Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust (CHUFT) Quality Account 2016-17 from 

Healthwatch Essex 

Healthwatch Essex is an independent organisation that works to provide a voice for the people of Essex in helping 

to shape and improve local health and social care services. We believe that health and care services should use 

people’s lived experience to improve services. Understanding what it is like for the patient, the service user and 

the carer to access services should be at the heart of transforming the NHS and social care as it meets the chal-

lenges ahead of it.  

We recognise that Quality Accounts are an important way for local NHS services to report on their performance 

by measuring patient safety, the effectiveness of treatments that patients receive and patient experience of care. 

They also present a useful opportunity for Healthwatch to provide a critical, but constructive, perspective on the 

quality of services, and we will comment where we believe we have evidence – grounded in people’s voice and 

lived experience – that is relevant to the quality of services delivered by CHUFT.  

As with last year’s report, the Quality Account for 2016-17 shows how consistency of quality of care remains an 

issue for CHUFT, a fact reflected in the Trust’s lengthy period of time in special measures and the ongoing scruti-

ny of the Trust’s performance by regulators. The report identifies many areas of good and improving practice, but 

also shows examples of poor or declining performance, and where the data presents a conflicting or unclear pic-

ture of actual performance.   

Since 2013, Healthwatch Essex has been closely involved in the workings of the Trust. With this history of involve-

ment, we are pleased to commend the Trust’s leadership for its efforts to secure organisational grip, and for its 

patient-focused improvement plan, ‘Every Patient, Every Day’. We know, from our interactions with a variety of 

clinical and non-clinical staff (at different levels of the organisation), that there is a good degree of determination 

to tackle the deep-seated challenges at CHUFT. 

In terms of progress, we note the targets met in terms of the WHO checklist (for example), and for progress 

made in terms of missed doses of medication and improved use of My Care Choices. However, it is disappointing 

that there remains a lack of compliance with targets around Serious Incident timescales, as this has been a recur-

rent issue for the Trust over a number of years. Higher than expected levels of mortality is also an indicator of 

progress still yet to be made. 

Healthwatch Essex has worked with the Trust on a number of specific projects, including a research study on pa-

tient, carer and staff experience of hospital discharge, and an engagement project which has focussed on peo-

ple’s lived experience of neurological conditions. We are pleased to note the Trust’s positive response to our 

findings, as well as note that our work around cancer services (undertaken in 2013-14) is still referenced by the 

Trust in this report and in other settings. This suggests that the Trust is adopting a more open, evaluative and 

reflective approach to improving the quality of its care and its efforts to listen to the experience of patients. That 

said, our work around hospital discharge suggests that the Trust (in common with the other Trusts featured in 
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the study) experiences issues that affect the quality care patients receive, not least around communication and 

information and continuity of care. Our study also found that resource issues and poor aftercare further com-

pounded problems around discharge. Staff at Colchester, however, were often highly praised in this study, 

amongst other positive aspects of care detailed in our reports. 

Healthwatch Essex also notes the improvements made by CHUFT in its patient experience and PALS functions, 

and notes the ongoing efforts of the Trust to focus on FFT results as a measure of patient experience. However, 

we would encourage the Trust to ensure that, wherever possible, high-quality, qualitative evidence of people’s 

lived experience of care is captured in a timely and meaningful way, and used as part of continuous improvement 

and service change. 

Healthwatch Essex’s own evidence of service quality at CHUFT gathered through our Information Service and 

online Feedback Centre is mixed, often reflecting a commonly-observed dichotomy between people who em-

phatically commend the Trust, and those who emphatically criticise the Trust. People leaving reviews on the 

Feedback Centre were, in the vast majority, positive, and the Trust received an average of 4.6 out of 5 ‘stars’, 

based on 25 reviews. Overall the service was rated highly across all areas, with the majority of patients reporting 

good quality of care, a comfortable environment, useful information provided and that they felt listened to. 9 out 

of the 25 reviews were about A&E care and all were positive; 24 out of the 25 reviews mentioned caring and re-

spectful treatment by staff; almost half of reviewers mentioned that staff were working under pressure and/or 

without enough resources, whilst a minority of reviewers felt that the service could have been better in terms of 

diagnosis and communication. 

 Callers to our Information Service, as would perhaps be expected, often reported a negative picture, with people 

describing poor administrative systems and processes, poor planning and communication around discharge, and 

occasionally poor and distressing experiences of care. Callers also commented on caring staff.  

We also note the priorities for improvement in 2017-18 and recognise these as being back-to-basics measures of 

quality and care. Healthwatch Essex hopes to continue working with the Trust, not least through our ongoing in-

volvement in the Programme Oversight Group, Ipswich/Colchester Long Term Partnership Clinical Reference 

Group, STP Programme Board, and other forums and settings. 

Listening to the voice and lived experience of patients, service users, carers, and the wider community, is a vital 

component of providing good quality care and by working hard to evidence that lived experience, we hope we 

can continue to support the work of CHUFT. 

Dr Tom Nutt 
Chief Executive Officer, Healthwatch Essex 
 
April 2017 

 

Statements from key stakeholders 
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Statement from Trust Governors 

 

 

 

Essex Health Oversight Scrutiny Committee  

The Essex HOSC discussed its approach to Quality Accounts/Reports at its last meeting on 20 March 
2017. Due to imminent county council elections, the Essex Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
does not intend to comment individually on NHS Quality Accounts this year.  This should in no way be 
taken as a negative response.  The Committee has, in the main, been content with the engagement of 
local healthcare providers in its work over the past year.  In the last year your organisation has 
responded to requests for information and attended meetings to assist the HOSC discuss CQC 
performance concerns, the progress on the strategic partnership between Colchester and Ipswich 
Hospitals and the broader development of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for North East 
Essex and Suffolk.  
  
The Committee is aware that local Healthwatch also reviews Quality Accounts/Report and is content 
that they can represent the patient and public voice and comment accordingly. 

 

 

Statement of Governors—Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust 

The governors of Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust are pleased to have the opportunity to com-

ment on the draft Quality Account for 2016/17. 

We support the Trust’s focus on patient safety, experience and quality and take this opportunity to reinforce our 

view that safety of patients is paramount. We were particularly encouraged by the emphasis made on the patient 

experience and placing patients, relatives and carers at the heart of everything the Trust does, as we believe this is 

key to achieving consistent and high quality care. 

Both governors and the members continue to be concerned that the Trust’s performance remains below the stand-

ards to which it aspires. However, we are more assured that with a substantive Executive Team in place, we will 

begin to see improvements. 

The governors role is to hold the Non-Executive Director to account, who in turn will hold the Executive Team to 

account. We are confident that by continuing to maintain our role as the ‘critical friend’ by continuing to observe 

Board Assurance Committees, undertaking regular walkabouts with Non-Executive Director colleagues and attend-

ing PLACE visits and inspections, we will be in a much better position to provide assurance to our members. 

We support the actions being taken to further improve quality and look forward to working closer with the Board 

during the coming year and continue to support them in making the Trust the most caring and compassionate pro-

vider of healthcare. 

 
Response to stakeholder comments 
 
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust thanks its stakeholders for their 
comments on the 2016/17 Quality Account. 
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Statement of assurance from the Board of Directors  

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality Account 

The directors are required 
under the Health Act 2009 to 
prepare a Quality Account for 
each financial year.  

NHS Improvement has issued 
guidance to NHS Foundation 
Trust Boards on the form and 
content of annual Quality 
Accounts (which incorporate 
the above legal requirements) 
and on the arrangements that 
NHS Foundation Trust boards 
should put in place to support 
the data quality for the 
preparation of the quality 
account.  

In preparing the Quality 
Account, directors are required 
take steps to assure 
themselves that:  

 the content of the Quality 

report meets the 
requirements set out in the 
NHS foundation trust annual 
reporting manual 2016/17 
and supporting guidance  

 the content of the Quality 

Report is not inconsistent 
with internal and external 
source of information 
including: 

 Board minutes and papers 

for the period April 2016 to 
April 2017 

 Papers relating to quality 

reported to the board over 
the period April 2016 to April 
2017 

 Feedback from 

commissioners dated 
26/04/2017 

 Feedback from governors 

dated 24/04/2017 

 Feedback from local 

Healthwatch organisations 
dated 28/04/2017 

 Feedback from Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 
dated 12/04/2017 

 The Trust’s complaints 

report published under 
regulation 18 of the Local 
Authority Social Service and 
NHS Complaints 
Regulations 2009, (pending 
completion). 

 The national patient survey 

01/2017 (pending national 
publication). 

 The national staff survey 

(pending national 
publication) 

 The Head of Internal Audit’s 

annual opinion of the trust’s 
control environment dated 
May 2017 

 CQC Inspection report 

dated 15/07/2017 

 The Quality Report 

presents a balanced 
picture of the NHS 
Foundation Trust’s 
performance over the 
period. 

 The performance 

information reported in the 
Quality Report is reliable 
and accurate 

 There are proper internal 

controls over the collection 
and reporting of the 
measures of performance 
included in the Quality 
Report, and these controls 
are subject ot review to 
confirm that they are 
working effectively in 
practise. 

 The data underpinning the 

measures of performance 
reported in the Quality 
Report is robust and 

reliable, conforms to 
specified data quality 
standard and prescribed 
definitions, is subject to 
appropriate scrutiny and 
review 

 The Quality report has 

been prepared in 
accordance with NHS 
Improvement’s annual 
reporting manual and 
supporting guidance 
(which incorporates the 
Quality Accounts 
regulations) as well as the 
standards to support data 
quality for the preparation 
of the Quality Report. 

The directors confirm to the 
best of their knowledge and 
belief that they have complied 
with the above requirements in 
preparing the Quality Account.  

 

By order of the Board 

 

 

 

 

 

David White, Chair 
Date: 30 May 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

Nick Hulme, Chief Executive 
Date: 30 May 2017 
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Glossary 

Bed days The measurement of a day that 
a patient occupies a hospital bed as part 
of their treatment. 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) The 
regulatory body for all health and social 
care organisations in England.  The CQC 
regulates care provided by the NHS, local 
authorities, private companies, voluntary 
organisations and aims to make sure 
better care is provided for everyone in 
hospitals, care homes and people’s own 
homes. 
CCU Critical Care Unit. 
Clinical Coding The translation of medi-
cal terminology as written in a patient’s 
medical records to describe a problem, 
diagnosis, treatment of a medical problem, 
into a coded format. 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
CCGs are responsible for commissioning 
(planning, designing and paying for) all 
NHS services. 
Clinical Delivery Group (CDG) CDGs 
are sub-groups of one of the Trust’s three 
clinical divisions.  Each CDG is accounta-
ble to its Divisional Governance Board for 
all aspects of performance, including 
patient safety, patient and carer experi-
ence, operational standards, financial 
performance and staff engagement. 
Clostridium difficile or C.diff A spore-
forming bacterium present as one of the 
normal bacteria in the gut. Clostridium 
difficile diarrhoea occurs when the normal 
gut flora is altered, allowing Clostridium 
difficile bacteria to flourish and produce a 
toxin that causes watery diarrhoea. 
Colonisation The presence of bacteria on 
a body surface (such as the skin, mouth, 
intestines or airway) without causing dis-
ease in the person. 
CQUIN The CQUIN (Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation) framework ena-
bles commissioners to reward excellence 
by linking a proportion of the Trust’s in-
come to the achievement of local quality 
improvement goals. 
Datix A Trust-wide computer system used 
to record and aid analysis of all incidents, 
claims, complaints and PALS enquiries. 
Dementia A set of symptoms which in-
clude loss of memory, mood changes, and 
problems with communication and reason-
ing. 
Division The hospital is divided into three 
distinct clinical divisions: Medicine includ-
ing Emergency Care; Surgery and Can-
cer; Women and Children and Clinical 
Support Services. There is an additional 
division which manages the corporate 
functions such as Governance, Education, 
Operations, Human Resources, Finance, 
Performance, and Information.  Each 
Divisional Board is chaired by a consultant 
(Divisional Director) together with nursing. 
and operational leads.  The Head of 
Nursing/Midwifery provides senior nursing 
and quality of care expertise, with the 
Head of Operations providing expert oper-

ational advice to the Divisional Boards. 
DNACPR Do not attempt cardio-
pulmonary resuscitation.  A formal deci-
sion made when it is not in the best inter-
ests of the patient to be resuscitated in 
certain circumstances. 
Dr Foster Provider of comparative infor-
mation on health and social care issues. 
ED Emergency Department, also known 
as A&E, Accident and Emergency De-
partment or Casualty. 
Harm-free care National patient safety 
initiative targeted at high impact areas 
such as pressure ulcers, catheter care, 
VTE and falls. 
HDU High Dependency Unit. 
Quality & Patient Safety Committee 
The Trust Board sub-committee respon-
sible for overseeing quality within the 
Trust. 
HealthWatch Champions the views of 
local people to achieve excellent health 
and social care services in Suffolk. 
HSMR Hospital Standardised Mortality 
Rate.  An indicator of healthcare quality 
that measures whether a hospital’s death 
rate is higher or lower than expected. 
North East Essex Clinical Commis-
sioning Group The main commissioner 
of services provided by Colchester Hos-
pital University NHS Foundation Trust. 
MDT Multi-disciplinary team. 
Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus 
Aureus (MRSA) MRSA is an antibiotic-
resistant form of the common bacterium 
Staphylococcus Aureus, which grows 
harmlessly on the skin in the nose of 
around one in three people in the UK. 
MRSA bacteraemia is the presence of 
Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus 
Aureus in the blood. 
NEWS National Early Warning Score.  A 
system of recording vital signs observa-
tions which gives early warning of a dete-
riorating patient. 
MEOWS Modified Early Obstetric Warn-
ing Score.  A system of recording vital 
signs observations which gives early 
warning of a deteriorating obstetric pa-
tient. 
Morbidity and Mortality (M&M) meet-
ings Morbidity and mortality meetings 
are held in each Clinical Delivery Group. 
The goal of such meetings is to derive 
knowledge and insight from surgical error 
adverse events. M&M meetings look at: 
What happened? Why did it occur? How 
could the issue have been prevented or 
better managed? What are the key learn-
ing points? 
NCEPOD National Confidential Enquiry 
into Patient Outcome and Death. 
Never Events Serious, largely preventa-
ble patient safety incidents that should 
not occur if the available preventative 
measures have been implemented. 

Operation Red to Green A concept 

recommended nationally by the Emer-

gency and Urgent Care Intensive Team 

which ensures all the processes required 

to support flow through the hospital run 

‘perfectly’ so that there are no unneces-

sary delays that slow down transfers of 

care.  There is input from the whole or-

ganisation and joint working between the 

Trust and its health partners across Es-

sex.  All non-essential meetings are 

cancelled to ensure that all staff can fully 

commit to the week, without compromis-

ing clinical care. 

PALS Patient Advice and Liaison Ser-
vice. For all enquiries to the hospital such 
as cost of parking, ward visiting times, 
how to change an appointment etc. 
PLACE Patient-Led Assessment of the 
Care Environment.  Annual self-
assessment of a range of non-clinical 
services by local volunteers. 
PSG Patient Safety  Group. 
Q1 or Quarter 1 April - June 2016 
Q2 or Quarter 2 July - September 2016 
Q3 or Quarter 3 October - December 
2016 
Q4 or Quarter 4 January - March 2017 
RCA Root Cause Analysis. A structured 
investigation of an incident to ensure 
effective learning to prevent a similar 
event from happening. 
SHMI Summary Hospital-Level Mortality 
Indicator. An indicator for mortality. The 
indicator covers all deaths of patients 
admitted to hospital and those that die up 
to 30 days after discharge from hospital. 
SI Serious Incident  
SLA Service Level Agreement.  A con-
tract to provide or purchase named ser-
vices. 
Essex Family Carers A registered chari-
ty working with unpaid family carers 
across Essex, supporting family carers 
with information, advice and guidance. 
SUS Secondary Uses Service.  Provides 
anonymous patient-based information for 
purposes other than direct clinical care 
such as healthcare planning, public 
health, commissioning, clinical audit and 
governance, benchmarking, performance 
improvement, medical research and 
national policy development. 
The King’s Fund A charity that seeks to 
understand how the health system in 
England can be improved and helps to 
shape policy, transform services and 
bring about behaviour change. 
VTE Venous Thrombo-embolism. Also 
known as a blood clot, a VTE is a compli-
cation of immobility and surgery. 
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Independent Practitioner's 
Limited Assurance Report to the 
Council of Governors of 
Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust on the 
Quality Report 
 
We have been engaged by the 
Council of Governors of Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust to perform an 
independent limited assurance 
engagement in respect of 
Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality 
Report for the year ended 31 
March 2017 (the “Quality Report”) 
and certain performance indicators 
contained therein against the 
criteria set out in the 'NHS 
foundation trust annual reporting 
manual 2016/17' and additional 
supporting guidance in the 
‘Detailed requirements for quality 
reports for foundation trusts 
2016/17’ (the 'Criteria'). 
 
Scope and subject matter 
The indicators for the year ended 
31 March 2017 subject to the 
limited assurance engagement 
consist of the national priority 
indicators as mandated by NHS 
Improvement: 

 percentage of incomplete 

pathways within 18 weeks 
for patients on incomplete 
pathways at the end of the 
reporting period (see page 
74); 

 percentage of patients with 

a total time in A&E of four 
hours or less from arrival to 
admission, transfer or 
discharge (see page 56). 

 
We refer to these national priority 
indicators collectively as the 
'Indicators'. 
 
Respective responsibilities of 
the directors and Practitioner   
The directors are responsible for 
the content and the preparation of 
the Quality Report in accordance 
with the criteria set out in the 'NHS 

foundation trust annual reporting 
manual 2016/17' and supporting 
guidance issued by NHS 
Improvement. 
 
Our responsibility is to form a 
conclusion, based on limited 
assurance procedures, on 
whether anything has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe 
that: 

 the Quality Report is not 

prepared in all material 
respects in line with the 
Criteria set out in the NHS 
foundation trust annual 
reporting manual 2016/17 and 
supporting guidance; 

 the Quality Report is not 

consistent in all material 
respects with the sources 
specified in NHS 
Improvement's 'Detailed 
requirements for external 
assurance for quality reports 
for foundation trusts 2016/17’; 
and 

 the indicators in the Quality 

Report identified as having 
been the subject of limited 
assurance in the Quality 
Report are not reasonably 
stated in all material respects 
in accordance with the 'NHS 
foundation trust annual 
reporting manual 2016/17' 
and supporting guidance and 
the six dimensions of data 
quality set out in the 'Detailed 
requirements for external 
assurance for quality reports 
for foundation trusts 2016/17. 

 
We read the Quality Report and 
consider whether it addresses the 
content requirements of the ‘NHS 
foundation trust annual reporting 
manual 2016/17’ and supporting 
guidance, and consider the 
implications for our report if we 
become aware of any material 
omissions. 
 
We read the other information 
contained in the Quality Report 
and consider whether it is 

materially inconsistent with:  

 Board minutes for the period 

1 April 2016 to 30 May 2017 

 papers relating to quality 

reported to the Board over the 
period 1 April 2016 to 30 May 
2017; 

 feedback from 

Commissioners dated 24 April 
2017 

 feedback from Governors 

dated 24 April 2017 

 feedback from local 

Healthwatch organisations 
dated 28 April 2017 

 feedback from Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee dated 12 
April 2017 

 the national patient survey 

dated 8 June 2016 

 the national staff survey 

published on 7 March 2017 

 the Trust’s complaints report 

published under regulation 18 
of the Local Authority Social 
Services and NHS 
Complaints Regulations 2009, 
dated 26 May 2016 

 the Care Quality Commission 

inspection report dated 15 
July 2016; and 

 the Head of Internal Audit’s 

annual opinion over the 
Trust’s control environment 
dated 10 May 2017. 

 
We consider the implications for 
our report if we become aware of 
any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with 
those documents (collectively, the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other 
information. 
 
The firm applies International 
Standard on Quality Control 1 and 
accordingly maintains a 
comprehensive system of quality 
control including documented 
policies and procedures regarding 
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compliance with ethical 
requirements, professional 
standards and applicable legal 
and regulatory requirements. 
 
We are in compliance with the 
applicable independence and 
competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales (ICAEW) 
Code of Ethics. Our team 
comprised assurance practitioners 
and relevant subject matter 
experts. 
 
This report, including the 
conclusion, has been prepared 
solely for the Council of Governors 
of Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust as a body, 
to assist the Council of Governors 
in reporting Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust’s 
quality agenda, performance and 
activities. We permit the 
disclosure of this report within the 
Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2017, to enable the 
Council of Governors to 
demonstrate they have discharged 
their governance responsibilities 
by commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection 
with the indicators. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Council of 
Governors as a body, and 
Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust for our 
work or this report, except where 
terms are expressly agreed and 
with our prior consent in writing. 
 
Assurance work performed 
We conducted this limited 
assurance engagement in 
accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – 
‘Assurance Engagements other 
than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information’ 
issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). 
Our limited assurance procedures 

included: 

 evaluating the design and 

implementation of the key 
processes and controls for 
managing and reporting the 
indicators; 

 making enquiries of 

management; 

 limited testing, on a selective 

basis, of the data used to 
calculate the indicators tested 
back to supporting 
documentation; 

 comparing the content 

requirements of the 'NHS 
foundation trust annual 
reporting manual 2016/17' 
and supporting guidance to 
the categories reported in the 
Quality Report; and 

  reading the documents. 

  
A limited assurance engagement 
is narrower in scope than a 
reasonable assurance 
engagement. The nature, timing 
and extent of procedures for 
gathering sufficient appropriate 
evidence are deliberately limited 
relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement.  
 
Limitations 
Non-financial performance 
information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the 
characteristics of the subject 
matter and the methods used for 
determining such information. 
 
The absence of a significant body 
of established practice on which to 
draw allows for the selection of 
different but acceptable 
measurement techniques which 
can result in materially different 
measurements and can affect 
comparability. The precision of 
different measurement techniques 
may also vary. Furthermore, the 
nature and methods used to 
determine such information, as 
well as the measurement criteria 
and the precision of these criteria, 

may change over time. It is 
important to read the Quality 
Report in the context of the criteria 
set out in the 'NHS foundation 
trust annual reporting manual 
2016/17' and supporting guidance. 
 
The scope of our limited 
assurance work has not included 
governance over quality or non-
mandated indicators which have 
been determined locally by 
Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust.  
 
Our audit work on the financial 
statements of Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust 
is carried out in accordance with 
our statutory obligations and is 
subject to separate terms and 
conditions. This engagement will 
not be treated as having any effect 
on our separate duties and 
responsibilities as Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust’s external 
auditors. Our audit reports on the 
financial statements are made 
solely to Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust's 
members, as a body, in 
accordance with paragraph 24(5) 
of Schedule 7 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006. Our 
audit work is undertaken so that 
we might state to Colchester 
Hospital University NHS 
Foundation Trust’s members 
those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. Our 
audits of Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust’s 
financial statements are not 
planned or conducted to address 
or reflect matters in which anyone 
other than such members as a 
body may be interested for such 
purpose. In these circumstances, 
to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume 
any responsibility to anyone other 
than Colchester Hospital 
University NHS Foundation Trust 
and Colchester Hospital University 
NHS Foundation Trust’s members 
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as a body, for our audit work, for 
our audit reports, or for the 
opinions we have formed in 
respect of those audits. 

Basis for qualified conclusion  
The indicator reporting the 
“percentage of incomplete 
pathways within 18 weeks for 
patients on incomplete pathways 
at the end of the reporting period” 
did not meet all six dimensions of 
data quality in the following 
respects: 

 Accuracy - For 6 of the 25 

cases we tested  we were 
unable to confirm the start 
date to source documents 
within patient files. Our testing 
also identified 1 case where 
the clock stop date had  
passed, but the case had not 
been marked on the system 
as completed 

 Validity - Our testing identified 

2 cases out of the 25 cases 
we tested where the referral 
was not a consultant-led 
service and therefore should 
not have been included in the 
indicator. 

Qualified conclusion 
Based on the results of our 
procedures, with the exception of 
the matter(s) reported in the basis 
for qualified conclusion paragraph 
above, nothing has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe 
that, for the year ended 31 March 
2017:  

 the Quality Report is not 

prepared in all material 
respects in line with the 
Criteria set out in the NHS 
foundation trust annual 
reporting manual 2016/17 and 
supporting guidance; 

 the Quality Report is not 

consistent in all material 
respects with the sources 
specified in NHS 
Improvement's 'Detailed 
requirements for external 

assurance for quality reports 
for foundation trusts 2016/17'; 
and 

 the indicators in the Quality 

Report identified as having 
been the subject of limited 
assurance in the Quality 
Report have not been 
reasonably stated in all 
material respects in 
accordance with the 'NHS 
foundation trust annual 
reporting manual 2016/17' 
and supporting guidance. 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
 
Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
London 
 
31 May 2017 
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How to provide feedback 
on this Quality Account 

If you would like to provide 

feedback on this account or 

would like to make suggestions 

for content for future accounts, 

please email  

info@colchesterhospital.nhs.uk 

or write to: 

Trust Offices, 

Colchester Hospital University 

NHS Foundation Trust,  

Turner Road, 

Colchester   

Essex  CO4 5JL 

Thank you 

We would like to take this 

opportunity to thank all those 

involved with Colchester Hospital 

University NHS Foundation 

Trust: our fantastic staff and 

volunteers, all of our patients and 

visitors, our valuable fundraisers, 

local media organisations, our 

local Members of Parliament and 

health colleagues across the 

East of England.  

Thank you for all that you do 

to make this a hospital we can 

all be proud to be part of. 

Percentage of patient safety incidents 
resulting in severe harm or death 
 
Detailed descriptor 
Percentage of reported patient safety 
incidents resulting in severe harm or death 
during the reporting period. 
 
Data definition 
Numerator: Number of reported patient 
safety incidents resulting in severe harm or 
death at a trust reported through the 
National Reporting and Learning Service 
(NRLS) during the reporting period. 
Denominator: Number of reported patient 
safety incidents at a trust reported through 
the NRLS during the reporting period. 
 
Details of the indicator 

The scope of the indicator includes all patient 
safety incidents reported through the NRLS. 
This includes reports made by the trust, staff, 
patients and the public.  From April 2010 it 
became mandatory for trusts in England to 
report all serious patient safety incidents to the 
Care Quality Commission. Trusts do this by 
reporting incidents on the NRLS. 
 
A case of severe harm is defined in ‘Seven 
steps to patient safety: a full reference 
guide’, published by the National Patient 
Safety Agency in 2004, as “(a)ny patient 
safety incident that appears to have resulted 
in permanent harm to one or more persons 
receiving NHS-funded care”, “Permanent 
harm directly related to the incident and not 
related to the natural course of the patient’s 
illness or underlying condition is defined as 
permanent lessening of bodily functions, 
sensory, motor, physiologic or intellectual, 
including removal of the wrong limb or 
organ, or brain damage.” 
 
This indicator does not capture any 
information about incidents that remain 
unreported. Incidents with a degree of harm 
of ‘severe’ and ‘death’ are now a mandatory 
reporting requirement by the CQC, via the 
NRLS, but the quality statement states that 
underreporting is still likely to occur. 
 
Timeframe 
Six-monthly data produced for April to 
September and October to March of each 
financial year. 
 
Detailed guidance 

More detail about this indicator and the data 
can be found on the Patient Safety section 
of the NHS England website and on the 
HSCIC website in NHS Outcomes 
Framework > Domain 5 Treating and Caring 
for People in a Safe Environment and 
Protecting Them From Avoidable Harm > 
Overarching indicators > 5b Severity of 
harm. 
Source: NHS England 
 
Data relating to the percentage of patient 
safety incidents resulting in severe harm 

or death can be found on page 41. 

Percentage of patients risk-assessed for 
venous thromboembolism (VTE)  
 
Detailed descriptor 
The percentage of patients who were 
admitted to hospital and who were risk 
assessed for venous thromboembolism 
(VTE) during the reporting period.  
 
Data definition 
Numerator: Number of adults admitted to 
hospital as inpatients in the reporting who 
have been risk assessed for VTE according 
to the criteria in the national VTE risk 
assessment tool during the reporting period.  
Denominator: Total number of adults 
admitted to hospital in the reporting period.  
 
Details of the indicator 

The scope of the indicator includes all adults 
(those aged 18 at the time of admission) who 
are admitted to hospital as inpatients 
including: 

 surgical inpatients;  

 in-patients with acute medical illness (for 

example, myocardial infarction, stroke, 
spinal cord injury, severe infection or 
exacerbation of chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease); trauma inpatients;  

 patients admitted to intensive care units;  

 cancer inpatients;  

 people undergoing long-term 

rehabilitation in hospital;  

 patients admitted to a hospital bed for 

day-case medical or surgical 
procedures; and  

 private patients attending an NHS 

hospital.  
 
The following patients are excluded from the 
indicator:  

 people under the age of 18 at the time of 

admission;  

 people attending hospital as outpatients;  

 people attending emergency 

departments who are not admitted to 
hospital; and  

 people who are admitted to hospital 

because they have a diagnosis or signs 
and symptoms of deep vein thrombosis 
(DVT) or pulmonary embolism.  

 
Timeframe  
Data produced monthly for the 2015-16 
financial year.  
 
Detailed guidance 
More detail about this indicator can be found 
on the NHS England website. The data 
collection standard specification can be 
found here.  
Source: NHS England 
 
Data relating to the percentage of patients 
risk-assessed for venous thrombo-
embolism (VTE) can be found on page 40. 
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